
 

 
 

Chancellor's Advisory Council 
Meeting Agenda – June 14, 2024, 9:00-10:30 a.m. 

 

 

 

Zoom: https://fhda-

edu.zoom.us/j/86550257678?pwd=m90dBaBBVkbEgpuLS7aonx734NRA5h.1 

AGENDA TOPIC PURPOSE/DESIRED OUTCOME 
DISCUSSION 

LEADER 

1. Welcome and introductions 

I – Allow council members and guests to identify 

each other by name and constituent group 

represented and/or role at the colleges/district. 

Lee Lambert 

2. Approval of May 24, 2024 meeting summary (coming soon) A – Provide accurate record of previous meetings. Lee Lambert 

3. Discuss District Opening Day – Call for Proposals 

I/D – Please send any proposals for workshops to 

the following email address for consideration to: 

 

chancellor@fhda.edu 

 

2024 District Opening Day on Wednesday, 

September 18, 2024. 

Lee 

Lambert/Carla 

Maitland 

4.  Existing Board Policies and Administrative Procedures to be 

Retired:  

• BP 5065 Counseling 

• BP 6210 Philosophy for Counseling Program 

• BP 2306 Representative to Vote for County Committee 

(County Committee on School District Organization)  

 

 

 

 
Proposed to Retire:  

• BP 1140 Community Service; last updated in 1993 

• BP 1150 Community Services Short Courses and Fee-

Based Programs; last updated in 1993 

• BP 1800 Auxiliary Organizations – we last updated in 

1996 – should we retire? 

BP 5065 and BP 6210 are now outdated and some 

of the content is redundant given we are 

developing a new BP 5110 Counseling in 

alignment with Community College League 

CCLC numbering that will include the relevant 

information from these BPs. BP 5110 Counseling 

will likely come to CAC for a first read in June 

2024. 

BP 2306 is being retired because language from 

this is being merged into BP 2305 (which will be 

reviewed in agenda item no. 7). 

For the BPs being proposed to retire, most of these 

were last updated in early 1990s, are not legally 

required or advised for districts to have and have 

outdated language. Please review to determine if 

there is still a need to keep these. 

Lee Lambert/ 

Anu Khanna 

 

5.  Revisions to Board Policies and Administrative Procedures 

• BP 2010 Board Membership - accreditation-related 

revision 

• BP 2100 Board Elections – legally required revision 

• BP 2110 Vacancies on the Board – legally required 

revision 

• AP 2110 Vacancies on the Board – legally advised 

revisions to update language and explanation of vacancy 

notices 

• BP 2210 Officers of the Board – legally required 

revision 

• BP 2220 Committees of the Board – legally required and 

legally advised revisions 

• BP 2305 Annual Organizational Meeting – legally 

required revision; includes language from BP 2306 so we 

can retire that one. 

• BP 2310 Regular Meetings of the Board 

See notes to guide your review of these items. 

 

Lee Lambert/ 

Anu Khanna 

https://fhda-edu.zoom.us/j/86550257678?pwd=m90dBaBBVkbEgpuLS7aonx734NRA5h.1
https://fhda-edu.zoom.us/j/86550257678?pwd=m90dBaBBVkbEgpuLS7aonx734NRA5h.1


• BP 2315 Closed Session – legally required revision (very 

minor) 

• BP 2320 Special and Emergency Meetings – legally 

required revision (very minor) 

• AP 2320 Specially and Emergency Meetings – legally 

required revision (very minor) 

• BP 2330 Quorum and Voting – legally-required revision 

(very minor) 

 
• BP 2015 Student Members – legally required revision + 

language simplification 

• BP 2200 Board Philosophy, Mission, and Roles and 

Responsibilities 

6. Campus Enrollment Updates (standing item) 

I/D – Gain understanding of enrollment initiatives, 

provide feedback/advice, and share information 

with constituencies. 

Kris Whalen 

Christina 

Espinosa-Pieb 

7. District Governance Committee/Constituent Group Reports 

• Affordable Housing Task Force 

• District Budget Advisory Committee 

https://www.fhda.edu/_about-

us/_participatorygovernance/district-budget-advisory-

committee-@dbac~/ 

• Energy and Sustainability Advisory Committee 

https://www.fhda.edu/_about-

us/_participatorygovernance/energy-and-sustainability-

advisory-committee-@esac~/ 

• Police Chief’s Advisory Committee 

https://www.fhda.edu/_about-

us/_participatorygovernance/police-chiefs-advisory-

committee-@pcac~/ 

• Human Resources Advisory Committee/District 

Diversity and Equity Advisory Committee  

https://www.fhda.edu/_about-

us/_participatorygovernance/human-resources-advisory-

committee-@hrac~/ 

• Educational Technology Advisory Committee 

https://www.fhda.edu/_about-

us/_participatorygovernance/educational-technology-

advisory-committee-@etac~/ 

I – Broaden awareness. Provide information for 

council members to disseminate to constituents 

about work/actions of districtwide governance 

groups and constituent groups. 

All 

I – Information, D – Discussion, A – Action 

 
Topic: Chancellor's Advisory Council | 06/14/2024 

Time: Jun 14, 2024 09:00 AM Pacific Time (US and Canada) 

 

Join Zoom Meeting 

https://fhda-edu.zoom.us/j/86550257678?pwd=m90dBaBBVkbEgpuLS7aonx734NRA5h.1 

 

Meeting ID: 865 5025 7678 

Passcode: 547175 

 

One tap mobile 

+16694449171,,86550257678# US 

+16699006833,,86550257678# US (San Jose) 

 

Dial by your location 

+1 669 444 9171 US 

+1 669 900 6833 US (San Jose) 

+1 408 638 0968 US (San Jose) 

https://www.fhda.edu/_about-us/_participatorygovernance/_affordablehousingtaskforce.html
https://www.fhda.edu/_about-us/_participatorygovernance/district-budget-advisory-committee-@dbac~/
https://www.fhda.edu/_about-us/_participatorygovernance/district-budget-advisory-committee-@dbac~/
https://www.fhda.edu/_about-us/_participatorygovernance/district-budget-advisory-committee-@dbac~/
https://www.fhda.edu/_about-us/_participatorygovernance/energy-and-sustainability-advisory-committee-@esac~/
https://www.fhda.edu/_about-us/_participatorygovernance/energy-and-sustainability-advisory-committee-@esac~/
https://www.fhda.edu/_about-us/_participatorygovernance/energy-and-sustainability-advisory-committee-@esac~/
https://www.fhda.edu/_about-us/_participatorygovernance/police-chiefs-advisory-committee-@pcac~/
https://www.fhda.edu/_about-us/_participatorygovernance/police-chiefs-advisory-committee-@pcac~/
https://www.fhda.edu/_about-us/_participatorygovernance/police-chiefs-advisory-committee-@pcac~/
https://www.fhda.edu/_about-us/_participatorygovernance/human-resources-advisory-committee-@hrac~/
https://www.fhda.edu/_about-us/_participatorygovernance/human-resources-advisory-committee-@hrac~/
https://www.fhda.edu/_about-us/_participatorygovernance/human-resources-advisory-committee-@hrac~/
https://www.fhda.edu/_about-us/_participatorygovernance/educational-technology-advisory-committee-@etac~/
https://www.fhda.edu/_about-us/_participatorygovernance/educational-technology-advisory-committee-@etac~/
https://www.fhda.edu/_about-us/_participatorygovernance/educational-technology-advisory-committee-@etac~/
https://fhda-edu.zoom.us/j/86550257678?pwd=m90dBaBBVkbEgpuLS7aonx734NRA5h.1


+1 346 248 7799 US (Houston) 

+1 719 359 4580 US 

+1 253 205 0468 US 

+1 253 215 8782 US (Tacoma) 

+1 507 473 4847 US 

+1 564 217 2000 US 

+1 646 876 9923 US (New York) 

+1 646 931 3860 US 

+1 689 278 1000 US 

+1 301 715 8592 US (Washington DC) 

+1 305 224 1968 US 

+1 309 205 3325 US 

+1 312 626 6799 US (Chicago) 

+1 360 209 5623 US 

+1 386 347 5053 US 

Meeting ID: 865 5025 7678 
Find your local number: https://fhda-edu.zoom.us/u/ksYx2HR3Z 

 

 

https://fhda-edu.zoom.us/u/ksYx2HR3Z


Book Board Policy

Section Chapter 5 - Student Services (including former Article 5 - Students)

Title Counseling

Code BP 5065

Status Active

Legal California Code of Regulations, Title 5, Section 51018

Education Code Section 72620

Adopted January 4, 1999

Office College Presidents

Upload February 18, 2015

Foothill and De Anza College will provide an organized and functioning counseling program which shall include, but not be limited to the
following:

1.  Academic counseling in which the student is assisted in assessing, planning, and implementing his/her immediate and long-range goals.

2. Career counseling, in which the student is assisted in assessing his/her aptitudes, abilities, and interest, and is advised concerning the
current and future employment trends.

3. Personal crisis counseling in which the student is assisted with personal, family or other social concerns, when that assistance is related to
the student’s education.

4. Coordination with other services to students, which include, but are not limited to, those provided for students with special needs, (e.g.
disabled, disadvantaged, re-entry, and military students), skills testing programs, financial assistance programs, health services programs, and
job placement services.

Counseling services shall be available to all students and prospective students. Counselors trained in specialized mental and health areas may
be a part of the regular staff so that necessary referrals may be made to them by other members of the counseling and/or faculty.

Approved 1/4/99
RETIR

E

https://govt.westlaw.com/calregs/Document/I459B22A0D48411DEBC02831C6D6C108E?contextData=(sc.Search)&rank=1&originationContext=Search+Result&navigationPath=Search%2fv3%2fsearch%2fresults%2fnavigation%2fi0ad600560000014b9f257251b4223238%3fstartIndex%3d1%26Nav%3dREGULATION_PUBLICVIEW%26contextData%3d(sc.Default)&list=REGULATION_PUBLICVIEW&transitionType=SearchItem&listSource=Search&viewType=FullText&t_T1=5&t_T2=51018&t_S1=CA+ADC+s
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=EDC&sectionNum=72620.
Carla Maitland
Cross-Out

Carla Maitland
Cross-Out

Carla Maitland
Cross-Out

Carla Maitland
Cross-Out

Carla Maitland
Cross-Out

Carla Maitland
Cross-Out

Carla Maitland
Cross-Out

Carla Maitland
Cross-Out

Carla Maitland
Cross-Out

Carla Maitland
Cross-Out

Carla Maitland
Cross-Out



Book Board Policy

Section Chapter 4 - Academic Affairs (including former Article 6 - Instruction and Curriculum)

Title Philosophy for Counseling Program

Code BP 6210

Status Active

Adopted December 4, 1961

Last Revised June 3, 1963

Office College Presidents

Upload February 18, 2015

Because of the varied backgrounds of the students attending De Anza and Foothill Colleges and because of the multi-phased instructional
program of the Colleges, it is essential that each College maintain a guidance and counseling program adequate to assist these students. 
Counselors with adequate training will be obtained for this activity.

Approved 12/4/61
Amended 6/3/63

RETIR
E

Carla Maitland
Cross-Out

Carla Maitland
Cross-Out

Carla Maitland
Cross-Out

Carla Maitland
Cross-Out

Carla Maitland
Cross-Out

Carla Maitland
Cross-Out

Carla Maitland
Cross-Out

Carla Maitland
Cross-Out

Carla Maitland
Cross-Out

Carla Maitland
Cross-Out

Carla Maitland
Cross-Out



Book Board Policy

Section Chapter 2 - Board of Trustees (including former Article 2 - Administration and Article 9 - Bylaws)

Title Representative to Vote for County Committee (County Committee on School District Organization)

Code BP 2306

Status Active

Adopted March 2, 1964

Last Revised February 3, 1997

Last Reviewed May 5, 2014

Origin formerly BP 9121

Office Chancellor's Office

At the annual organizational meeting the newly elected President of the Board will appoint a member to serve as a representative of the Board
to vote for members of the County Committee on School District Organization.
 

Approved 3/2/64
Revised 2/3/97

Renumbered 5/5/14 (formerly BP 9121)
 

RETIR
E

Carla Maitland
Cross-Out

Carla Maitland
Cross-Out

Carla Maitland
Cross-Out

Carla Maitland
Cross-Out

Carla Maitland
Cross-Out

Carla Maitland
Cross-Out

Carla Maitland
Cross-Out

Carla Maitland
Cross-Out

Carla Maitland
Cross-Out

Carla Maitland
Cross-Out

Carla Maitland
Cross-Out

Carla Maitland
Cross-Out



Book Board Policy

Section Chapter 1 - The District (including former Article 1 - Community Relations and Service)

Title Community Service

Code BP 1140

Status Active

Legal Education Code Section 10900

Education Code Section 66010.4

Education Code Section 82542

Education Code Section 82537

Adopted December 17, 1962

Last Revised November 15, 1993

Origin CCLC 4400

Recognizing that community services is one of the major purposes and an authorized function of public community colleges, the
Foothill-De Anza Community College District will provide a program of educational, personal growth, enrichment, cultural and recreational
community services.  This program shall be so structured as to supplement, extend and enhance the instructional and student activity programs
of the colleges.

Approved 12/17/62
Amended 3/8/72, 11/15/93

PROPOSE TO R
ETIR

E

http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=EDC&sectionNum=10900.
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=EDC&sectionNum=66010.4.
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=EDC&sectionNum=82542.
http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=EDC&sectionNum=82537.


Book Board Policy

Section Chapter 1 - The District (including former Article 1 - Community Relations and Service)

Title Community Services Short Courses and Fee-Based Programs

Code BP 1150

Status Active

Adopted March 7, 1966

Last Revised November 15, 1993

Origin CCLC 4400

The Foothill-De Anza Community College District, dedicated to the principle of freedom of inquiry and recognizing an obligation to provide
its community with extended opportunities for education, personal growth, and enrichment beyond that provided by the regular college
curriculum, will offer a diversified and balanced program of Community Services short courses.  Selection of these short courses will be
governed by the following guidelines:

A. All new and continuing courses to be offered will be reviewed and approved by the Board of Trustees.

B. Courses will be approved if they conform to principles enumerated below:

1. Are appropriate to post-secondary education for adult offerings.

2. Are appropriate to elementary and secondary education, i.e., in the case of College for Kids, Sports Camp and Summer Swim.

3. Do not carry college credit.

4. Continuing education classes may be eligible for continuing education units.

5. Are supported by participant fees.

6. Emphasize personal and/or professional development and enrichment.

7. Are part of a program designed to satisfy a wide range of public interest.

8. Provide opportunities for introductory courses which might promote interest and participation in the regular course program.

9. Attempt to appeal to all citizens in the community including those not ordinarily involved in other District programs.

10. Emphasize the objective imparting of information.

11. Do not advocate or denigrate any religious philosophy or doctrine.

12. Do not proselytize for the benefit of organizations or individuals.

13. Do not promote a commercial interest.

Approved 3/7/66
Amended 3/8/72; 4/4/77; 11/15/93

PROPOSE TO R
ETIR

E



Book Board Policy

Section Chapter 1 - The District (including former Article 1 - Community Relations and Service)

Title Auxiliary Organizations

Code BP 1800

Status Active

Legal Education Code Sections 72670-72682

Adopted June 3, 1996

Origin CCLC 3600

The Board shall from time to time form and/or recognize a California Non-Profit Corporation or other entity as an Auxiliary Organization of
the District within the meaning of Education Code sections 72670-72682.  In order to facilitate that process, the Board shall:

1. After due hearing, adopt a set of Board Regulations generally governing the purpose and operation of such Auxiliary Organizations, and
obtain approval of same from the State Chancellor.  Upon adoption and approval, a certified copy of said regulations shall be appended to this
Board policy, and shall become a part hereof.

2. Describe the respective rights and obligations of the District and each of its Auxiliary Organizations in a Master Agreement between the
District and each Auxiliary Organization.

In its execution of this policy, the administration is directed to take all necessary steps to comply with applicable laws, regulations and policies
pertaining to the creation, recognition, and governance of Auxiliary Organizations.

Approved 6/3/96

PROPOSE TO R
ETIR

E

http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=EDC&sectionNum=72670.


 
 

BP 2010 
 

Board Policy 
Chapter 2 – Board of Trustees 

 
 

BP 2010 Board Membership 
 
References: 

Education Code Sections 72023, 72103, and 72104; 
ACCJC Accreditation Standard IV.C.6 4 and Eligibility Requirement 7 

 
 
The Board of Trustees will be composed of five trustees elected by the qualified voters 
of the district.  Members shall be elected by trustee area as defined in BP 2100 Board 
Elections. 
 
Any person who meets the criteria contained in law is eligible to be elected or appointed 
a member of the Board. 
 
Employees of the District may not be sworn into office as an elected or appointed 
member of the governing Bboard of Trustees unless the employee resigns as an 
employee. 
 
No member of the Governing Board of Trustees shall, during the term for which the 
member is elected, hold an incompatible office. 
 
Members of the Governing Board of Trustees shall not, during the term for which they 
were elected, be eligible to serve on the governing board of a high school district whose 
boundaries are coterminous with those of the community college district. 
 
NOTE:  Attorney General (AG) Opinion 01-112 (8/3/01) clarified employment of a board 
member as a part-time or substitute instructor.  Education Code Section 72103 
subdivision (b)(2) makes an exception for individuals who are usually employed in an 
occupation other than teaching and who are employed by the district to teach no more 
than one course per semester or quarter in the subject matter of the individual’s 
occupation.  The AG Opinion states that this exception applies only when the contract to 
teach has already been executed at the time of the election to the board. 
 
Government Code Sections 1090 and 87100 and common law principles of conflict of 
interest prohibit such office-holding, and inclusion of this exception is not recommended. 
 
Also see BP/AP 2015 Student Members, BP/AP 2100 Board Elections, BP/AP 2105 
Election of Student Members, and BP 2200 Board Duties and Responsibilities. 



 
 
 
NOTE:  This policy is legally required.  The language in red ink is recommended by the Policy & Procedure 
Service and its legal counsel (Liebert Cassidy Whitmore).  The Policy & Procedure Service provided legal 
updates to this policy in September 2001, April 2015, April 2016, and April 2024 (new 2024 ACCJC 
Accreditation Standard Section).  The language in black ink is from current FHDACCD BP 2010 Board 
Membership adopted on 3/2/64 and amended on 5/3/82, 2/7/11, amended (and renumbered) on 6/3/13 
(formerly BP 9110), and 7/11/22.  The language in blue ink is included for consideration.  The language in 
yellow highlighting is included to draw the reviewers’ attention, and this language will be removed upon final 
approval.  The legal citation language reflected after the page break (below) should be removed 
following review and revision. 

 

Adopted:  3/2/64 
Amended Revised:  5/3/82, 2/7/11, 6/3/13, 
7/11/22, ________ 
 

 

  



 
Legal Citation for BP 2010 

 
Education Code Sections 72023, 72103, and 72104 
 
EDUCATION CODE - EDC 

TITLE 3. POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION [66000 - 101060] 

  ( Title 3 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 
DIVISION 7. COMMUNITY COLLEGES [70900 - 88810] 
  ( Division 7 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

PART 45. DISTRICTS AND GOVERNING BOARDS [72000 - 72701] 

  ( Part 45 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 
CHAPTER 1. General Provisions [72000 - 72036.5] 
  ( Chapter 1 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

 
ARTICLE 3. Organization of District Boards [72022 - 72036.5] 
  ( Article 3 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 
 

72023. 
In every community college district in which trustee areas have not been established, 
there shall be a governing board of either five or seven members elected at large from 
the district to serve a term of four years. If trustee areas have been established in a 
community college district the governing board shall consist of a member or members 
from each trustee area. The terms of trustees shall, except as otherwise provided, be 
staggered so that as nearly as practicable one-half of the trustees shall be elected in 
each odd-numbered year. 
In the Peralta Community College District, the governing board may consist of not to 
exceed 15 members, if the governing board so determines, whether or not trustee areas 
have been established. 
The governing board of the Redwoods Community College District may consist of eight 
members, provided the area contained in the Fort Bragg Unified School District and the 
Mendocino Unified School District is annexed to the Redwoods Community College 
District, and provided an additional coterminous trustee area of the district is established 
including such territory. Such governing board may consist of nine members if, in 
addition to the annexation specified above, the area contained within Del Norte County 
is annexed to the Redwoods Community College District, and provided an additional 
coterminous trustee area of the district is established including such territory. 
(Amended by Stats. 1977, Ch. 36.) 
 
 
EDUCATION CODE - EDC 

TITLE 3. POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION [66000 - 101060] 
  ( Title 3 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

DIVISION 7. COMMUNITY COLLEGES [70900 - 88810] 
  ( Division 7 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

PART 45. DISTRICTS AND GOVERNING BOARDS [72000 - 72701] 
  ( Part 45 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 



 
CHAPTER 2. Meetings and Members [72101 - 72129] 
  ( Chapter 2 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

 
ARTICLE 1. Membership [72101 - 72104] 
  ( Article 1 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 
 
72103. 
(a) Any person, regardless of sex, who is 18 years of age or older, a citizen of the state, 
a resident of the community college district, a registered voter, and who is not 
disqualified by the Constitution or laws of the state from holding a civil office, is eligible 
to be elected or appointed a member of a governing board of a community college 
district without further qualifications. 
(b) (1) An employee of a community college district may not be sworn into office as an 
elected or appointed member of that community college district’s governing board 
unless and until he or she resigns as an employee. If the employee does not resign, the 
employment will automatically terminate upon being sworn into office. 
(2) For any individual who is an employee of a community college district and an elected 
or appointed member of that community college district’s governing board prior to 
January 1, 1992, this subdivision shall apply when he or she is reelected or 
reappointed, on or after January 1, 1992, as a member of the community college 
district’s governing board. This section does not apply to an individual who is usually 
employed in an occupation other than teaching and who also is employed part time by 
the community college district to teach no more than one course per semester or 
quarter in the subject matter of that individual’s occupation. 
(c) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the governing board of a community 
college district may adopt or the residents of the community college district may 
propose, by initiative, a proposal to limit or repeal a limit on the number of terms a 
member of the governing board of the community college district may serve on the 
governing board of a community college district. Any proposal to limit the number of 
terms a member of the governing board of a community college district may serve on 
the governing board of a community college district shall apply prospectively only and 
shall not become operative unless it is submitted to the electors of the community 
college district at a regularly scheduled election and a majority of the votes cast on the 
question favor the adoption of the proposal. 
(d) (1) An initiative measure proposed pursuant to subdivision (c) shall be subject to the 
procedures set forth in Chapter 4 (commencing with Section 9300) of Division 9 of the 
Elections Code. 
(2) A proposal submitted to the electors by the governing board pursuant to subdivision 
(c) shall be subject to the procedures set forth in Chapter 6 (commencing with Section 
9500) of Division 9 of the Elections Code. 
(Amended by Stats. 1995, Ch. 432, Sec. 3. Effective January 1, 1996.) 
 
 



 
EDUCATION CODE - EDC 

TITLE 3. POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION [66000 - 101060] 
  ( Title 3 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

DIVISION 7. COMMUNITY COLLEGES [70900 - 88810] 
  ( Division 7 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

PART 45. DISTRICTS AND GOVERNING BOARDS [72000 - 72701] 
  ( Part 45 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

CHAPTER 2. Meetings and Members [72101 - 72129] 
  ( Chapter 2 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

 
ARTICLE 1. Membership [72101 - 72104] 
  ( Article 1 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 
 
72104. 
No member of the governing board of a community college district shall, during 
the term for which he or she was elected, be eligible to serve on the governing 
board of a high school district whose boundaries are coterminous with those of 
the community college district. 
(Amended by Stats. 2005, Ch. 654, Sec. 3. Effective October 7, 2005.) 
 
 
http://www.scribd.com/doc/266437/Opinion-of-the-California-Attorney-General-96703 
 
 

2024 ACCJC Accreditation Standards & Eligibility Requirements 
 

Standard 4: Governance and Decision-Making 
 
The institution engages in clear and effective governance practices that support the 
achievement of its mission.  Governance roles and responsibilities are delineated in 
widely distributed policies, and institutional decision-making processes provide 
opportunities for meaningful participation and inclusion of relevant stakeholders. 
 
4.1 The institution upholds an explicit commitment to principles of academic freedom, 

academic integrity, and freedom of inquiry. 
 
4.2. Roles, responsibilities, and authority for decision-making are clearly defined and 

communicated throughout the institution.  The institution’s structure for decision-
making provides opportunities for stakeholder participation and ensures the 
inclusion of relevant perspectives. 

 
4.3. The institution’s decision-making structures are used consistently and effectively.  

Institutional decision-making practices support a climate of collaboration and 
innovation that advances the mission and prioritizes equitable student outcomes. 

 

http://www.scribd.com/doc/266437/Opinion-of-the-California-Attorney-General-96703


 
4.4. Acting through policy, the governing board takes responsibility for the overall 

quality and stability of the institution, and regularly monitors progress towards its 
goals and fiscal health. 

 
4.5. The governing board selects and evaluates the institution’s chief executive officer 

(CEO).  The governing board gives the CEO full authority to implement board 
policies and ensure effective operations and fulfillment of the institutional 
mission. 

 
4.6. The governing board functions effectively as a collective entity to promote the 

institution’s values and mission and fulfill its fiduciary responsibilities.  The 
governing board demonstrates an ability to self-govern in adherence to its bylaws 
and expectations for best practices in board governance. 

 
 
Required Documentation – Governance and Decision-Making 
 
Within the Institutional Self-Evaluation Report, the institution will provide narratives and 
a variety of evidence sources to describe and demonstrate alignment with each 
Standard.  Institutions must also include documentation of the required items below.  
This documentation can be included as supporting evidence for the Standard narratives 
if appropriate, or they may be provided as stand-alone files.  Peer Review Teams will 
confirm these items during the comprehensive review process using a checklist. 
 

• Governing board policies/procedures for selecting and regularly evaluating its 
chief executive officer 

 

• Governing board policies/procedures/bylaws related to Board Ethics 
 

• Governing board policies/procedures/bylaws related to conflict of interest 
 
 

ACCJC Accreditation Eligibility Requirement 7 
 
Introduction 
 
The Commission’s Eligibility Requirements represent the minimum qualifications for 
institutions seeking an accredited status with ACCJC.  An institution must first 
demonstrate that it meets all of the Eligibility Requirements, and must provide the 
attached required documentation, in order to be eligible to apply for Candidacy status 
(also referenced as “preaccreditation” in federal regulations). 
 
ACCJC only awards Candidacy status (preaccreditation) to those institutions it 
determines are likely to be successful in obtaining initial accreditation and sustaining 
compliance with the Commission’s Eligibility Requirements, Accreditation Standards, 



 
and policies (hereafter referred to as the Commission’s Standards).  Therefore, 
institutions preparing for Eligibility are advised to become familiar with the Accreditation 
Standards and Commission policies, in addition to the Eligibility Requirements.  
Application procedures and information about the Commission’s eligibility and 
candidacy review processes can be found in ACCJC’s Accreditation Handbook. 
 
Member institutions are expected to maintain compliance with the Eligibility 
Requirements at all times.  During an institution’s comprehensive peer review process, 
peer review teams will monitor an institution’s ongoing compliance with Eligibility 
Requirements through its evaluation of the institutional self-evaluation report, evidence, 
and other required documentation per Commission policies. 
 
7. Governing Board 
 
The institution has a functioning governing board responsible for the academic quality, 
institutional integrity, and financial stability of the institution and for ensuring that the 
institution's mission is achieved.  This board is ultimately responsible for ensuring that 
the financial resources of the institution are used to provide a sound educational 
program.  Its membership is sufficient in size and composition to fulfill all board 
responsibilities. 
 
The governing board is an independent policy-making body capable of reflecting 
constituent and public interest in board activities and decisions.  A majority of the board 
members have no employment, family, ownership, or other personal financial interest in 
the institution.  The board adheres to a conflict of interest policy that assures that those 
interests are disclosed and that they do not interfere with the impartiality of governing 
body members or outweigh the greater duty to secure and ensure the academic and 
fiscal integrity of the institution. 
 



 
 

BP 2100 
 

Board Policy 
Chapter 2 – Board of Trustees 

 
 

BP 2100 Board Elections 
 
References: 

Education Code Sections 5000 et seq. and 72036 
 
 
The term of each trustee will be four years, commencing on the second Friday in 
December, following certification of the election results.  Terms of trustees will be 
staggered so that, as nearly as practical, one half of the trustees shall be elected at 
each even numbered year. 
 
The Board of Trustees has provided for the election of trustees by trustee area.  Trustee 
areas established as of February 14, 2022, are: 
 

Area 1 - Mountain View and portions of north Sunnyvale and northeast Los Altos - 
November 2024 election and every four years thereafter 
 
Area 2 - Sunnyvale (central) - November 2022 election and every four years 
thereafter 
 
Area 3 - Los Altos, Los Altos Hills, and portions of south Sunnyvale and northwest 
Cupertino - November 2024 election and every four years thereafter 
 
Area 4 - Cupertino and small portions of west San Jose, southwestern Santa 
Clara, and northern Saratoga - November 2022 election and every four years 
thereafter 
 
Area 5 - Palo Alto and Stanford - November 2024 election and every four years 
thereafter 
 

Trustee Area Map 
 
The election of a Board member residing in and registered to vote in the trustee area 
he/she/they seek to represent shall be only by the registered voters of the same trustee 
area. 
 

https://go.boarddocs.com/ca/fhda/Board.nsf/files/CDFL5S54CE38/$file/Foothill%20De%20Anza%20CCD%20Final%20Plan%202022%20with%20Cities.pdf


 
The Chancellor shall submit recommendations to the Board regarding adjustments 
made to the boundaries of each trustee area, if any adjustment is necessary, after each 
decennial federal census.  The Chancellor shall submit the recommendations in time for 
the Board to act as required by law. 
 
Also see BP 2010 Board Membership, AP 2100 Board Elections, and BP/AP 2105 
Election of Student Members. 
 
 
NOTE:  This policy is legally required and the language in red ink is recommended by the Policy & 
Procedure Service and its legal counsel (Liebert Cassidy Whitmore) to comply with the law.  The Policy & 
Procedure Service provided legal updates to this policy in March 2012 and March 2019.  The language in 
black ink is from current FHDACCD BP 2010 Board Membership adopted on 3/2/64 and amended on 
5/3/82, 2/7/11, amended (and renumbered) on 6/3/13 (formerly BP 9110), and 7/11/22.  The language in 
blue ink is included for consideration.  The language in yellow highlighting is included to draw the reviewers’ 
attention, and this language will be removed upon final approval.  The language in gray highlighting was 
uniquely added by the FHDACCD and requires careful review by leaders to ensure the language remains 
accurate and up-to-date.  The legal citation language reflected after the page break (below) should be 
removed following review and revision. 

 

Adopted:  6/3/13 
Amended Revised:  7/11/22, ________ 
 

 

  



 
Legal Citations for BP 2100 

 
Education Code Sections 5000-5033 
 
EDUCATION CODE - EDC 

TITLE 1. GENERAL EDUCATION CODE PROVISIONS [1. - 32500.] 
  ( Title 1 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

DIVISION 1. GENERAL EDUCATION CODE PROVISIONS [1. - 32500.] 
  ( Division 1 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

PART 4. ELECTIONS [5000. - 5442.] 
  ( Part 4 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

CHAPTER 1. Election of School District Board Members [5000. - 
5095.] 

  ( Chapter 1 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 
 
ARTICLE 1. Elections [5000. - 5033.] 
( Article 1 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 
 
5000. 
After the initial election of governing board members in any school district or 

community college district, a governing board member election shall be held 
biennially on the first Tuesday after the first Monday in November of each 

succeeding odd-numbered year to fill the offices of members whose terms expire 
on the first Friday in December next succeeding the election.  Except as 
provided in this chapter, or in Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 5200), the 

elections shall be held and conducted in accordance with Chapter 3 (commencing 
with Section 5300). 
(Amended by Stats. 1996, Ch. 1143, Sec. 1. Effective September 30, 1996.) 

5009. 
The governing board of any school district or community college district having 

trustee areas and which elects more than one member from any of such trustee 
areas may, by resolution, provide for the staggering of terms of members elected 

from any of such multiple-member trustee areas. 
The resolution shall provide that at the initial election after adoption of the 
resolution, one or more members elected from a trustee area will be elected for 

two-year terms and that one or more members elected from such trustee area will 
be elected for four-year terms, and that thereafter all members elected from such 

trustee area will be elected for four-year terms. Immediately after the initial 
election, the newly elected members from such trustee area shall draw lots to 

determine which of the members shall serve a two-year term and which of the 
members shall serve a four-year term. 
(Enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010.) 

javascript:submitCodesValues('5009.','1.1.4.1.1','1976','1010','',%20'id_cc36a0e9-291e-11d9-971e-9b808ee35dd0')


 
5013. 
The form of ballot for governing board member elections shall be governed by 

Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 13100) of Division 13 of the Elections Code. 
(Amended by Stats. 1994, Ch. 923, Sec. 9. Effective January 1, 1995.) 

5014. 
Any election held for the purpose of electing governing board members of any 
school district, or community college district, including additional governing board 
members as provided by Section 5018 shall be held and conducted in accordance 

with the uniform procedures set forth in Chapter 3 (commencing with Section 5300) 
of this part. 
(Enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010.) 

5015.7. 
If the governing board of Santa Clarita Community College adopts election 

procedures with number assignments to each board seat pursuant to Section 
5015.5, this system shall remain in effect until the governing board, by a resolution 

adopted by a two-thirds vote of the board, discontinues numbered seats and 
returns to procedures under Section 5015. 
(Added by Stats. 1983, Ch. 271, Sec. 1.) 

5016. 
(a) If a tie vote makes it impossible to determine either which of two or more 
candidates has been elected to the governing board or the term of office of a 

governing board member, the county superintendent of schools having jurisdiction 
shall so certify to the governing board. 

(b) The governing board may either call a runoff election or determine the winner 
or winners by lot. Prior to conducting any school board election on or after March 1, 

1977, the governing board of each school district shall establish which of such 
procedures is to be employed by the district in the event of a tie vote. 
(c) If the governing board decides to determine the winner by lot, the governing 

board shall forthwith notify the candidates who have received the tie votes to 
appear before it either personally or by a representative at a time and place 

designated by the governing board. The governing board shall at that time and 
place determine the winner or winners by lot. 

(d) If the governing board decides to call a runoff election, it shall call a runoff 
election to be held in the district on the sixth Tuesday following the election at 

which the tie vote occurred. Only the candidates receiving the tie votes shall appear 
on the ballots. Any member of the governing board who will be succeeded by a 

winner of the runoff election and whose term would expire before the winner of the 
runoff election would be determined shall continue to discharge the duties of his 

office until his successor has qualified. The runoff election shall be called and 
conducted substantially in the manner provided in Chapter 3 (commencing with 

javascript:submitCodesValues('5019.7.','1.1.4.1.1','1990','648','3',%20'id_cc39ae3b-291e-11d9-971e-9b808ee35dd0')
javascript:submitCodesValues('5019.7.','1.1.4.1.1','1990','648','3',%20'id_cc39ae3b-291e-11d9-971e-9b808ee35dd0')
javascript:submitCodesValues('5019.7.','1.1.4.1.1','1990','648','3',%20'id_cc39ae3b-291e-11d9-971e-9b808ee35dd0')
javascript:submitCodesValues('5019.7.','1.1.4.1.1','1990','648','3',%20'id_cc39ae3b-291e-11d9-971e-9b808ee35dd0')


 
Section 5300) of this part, provided, that the governing board shall determine the 

adjustments of the time requirements prescribed therein which would be necessary 
in order to conduct the runoff election. 
(Amended by Stats. 1977, Ch. 1205.) 

5017. 
Each person elected at a regular biennial governing board member election shall 
hold office for a term of four years commencing on the second Friday in 

December next succeeding his or her election.  Any member of the governing 
board of a school district or community college district whose term has expired shall 

continue to discharge the duties of the office until his or her successor has qualified. 
The term of the successor shall begin upon the expiration of the term of his or her 

predecessor. 
(Amended by Stats. 2018, Ch. 146, Sec. 3. (AB 2449) Effective January 1, 2019.) 

5018. 
Any elementary school district having a governing board of three members may, 

and any elementary school district having a governing board of three members 
whose average daily attendance during the preceding fiscal year was 300 or more 

shall do either of the following: 
(a) By its own action determine that the number of members of the governing 

board shall be increased to five, in which case two additional members shall be 
elected at an upcoming established election date, as specified in Section 1000 of 

the Elections Code, determined by the board. 
(b) Request the county superintendent of schools having jurisdiction to submit the 

question of whether the number of members of the governing board shall be 
increased to five to the voters of the elementary school district at an upcoming 

established election date, as specified in Section 1000 of the Elections Code, 
determined by the county superintendent of schools. At the same election, two 
additional members shall be elected to take office if the number of governing board 

members is increased. 
Candidates for the two additional offices shall state in the declarations of candidacy 

filed for the election that the candidates are candidates for the two additional 
offices separately from the other offices to be filled in the election and shall clearly 

indicate to the voters that they may vote for two of the candidates to take office if 
the voters approve the proposed increase in the number of board members. 

If the voters at the election do not approve the increase in membership of the 
governing board, the same question may be submitted to the voters at subsequent 

governing board member elections. Requests to the county superintendent to 
submit the question to the voters of a district shall be filed with him or her by the 

governing board of the district no later than 100 days prior to the election. 
If, pursuant to either subdivision (a) or subdivision (b), two additional governing 

board members are authorized and elected, the one receiving the higher number of 
votes shall hold office for a term commencing the first day of the month following 

javascript:submitCodesValues('5019.7.','1.1.4.1.1','1990','648','3',%20'id_cc39ae3b-291e-11d9-971e-9b808ee35dd0')
javascript:submitCodesValues('5019.7.','1.1.4.1.1','1990','648','3',%20'id_cc39ae3b-291e-11d9-971e-9b808ee35dd0')


 
the election until the first Friday in December in the second succeeding year 

following the election in which a regular governing board election is held, and the 
other one shall hold office for a term commencing the first day of the month 

following the election until the first Friday in December in the first succeeding 
year following the election in which a regular governing board election is held. 

Thereafter the governing board shall be composed of five members elected in the 
same manner and for the same term as governing boards having five members. 
(Amended by Stats. 2006, Ch. 588, Sec. 2. Effective January 1, 2007.) 

5019. 
(a) (1) In any school district or community college district, the county committee 
on school district organization may establish trustee areas, rearrange the 

boundaries of trustee areas, abolish trustee areas, and increase to seven from five, 
or decrease from seven to five, the number of members of the governing board, or 

adopt one of the alternative methods of electing governing board members 
specified in Section 5030. 

(2) For any school district whose average daily attendance during the preceding 
year was less than 300, the county committee on school district organization may 

decrease from five to three the number of members of the governing board, or 
adopt one of the alternative methods of electing governing board members 
specified in Section 5030. 

(3) Notwithstanding paragraph (1), the county committee on school district 
organization shall not rearrange trustee area boundaries in a school district or 

community college district that has established a hybrid or independent 
redistricting commission for this purpose pursuant to Section 23003 of the 

Elections Code, the charter of a city or city and county, or a legal settlement. 

(b) The county committee on school district organization may establish or abolish a 

common governing board for a high school district and an elementary school district 
within the boundaries of the high school district. The resolution of the county 

committee on school district organization approving the establishment or abolition 
of a common governing board shall be presented to the electors of the school 

districts as specified in Section 5020. 
(c) (1) A proposal to make the changes described in subdivision (a) or (b) may be 

initiated by the county committee on school district organization or made to the 
county committee on school district organization either by a petition signed by 5 

percent or 50, whichever is less, of the qualified registered voters residing in a 
district in which there are 2,500 or fewer qualified registered voters, by 3 percent 

or 100, whichever is less, of the qualified registered voters residing in a district in 
which there are 2,501 to 10,000 qualified registered voters, by 1 percent or 250, 
whichever is less, of the qualified registered voters residing in a district in which 

there are 10,001 to 50,000 qualified registered voters, by 500 or more of the 
qualified registered voters residing in a district in which there are 50,001 to 

100,000 qualified registered voters, by 750 or more of the qualified registered 

javascript:submitCodesValues('5019.7.','1.1.4.1.1','1990','648','3',%20'id_cc39ae3b-291e-11d9-971e-9b808ee35dd0')


 
voters residing in a district in which there are 100,001 to 250,000 qualified 

registered voters, or by 1,000 or more of the qualified registered voters residing in 
a district in which there are 250,001 or more qualified registered voters or by 

resolution of the governing board of the district. For this purpose, the necessary 
signatures for a petition shall be obtained within a period of 180 days before the 

submission of the petition to the county committee on school district organization, 
and the number of qualified registered voters in the district shall be determined 

pursuant to the most recent report submitted by the county elections official to the 
Secretary of State under Section 2187 of the Elections Code. 

(2) When a proposal is made pursuant to paragraph (1), the county committee 

on school district organization shall call and conduct at least one hearing in the 
district on the matter. At the conclusion of the hearing, the county committee on 

school district organization shall approve or disapprove the proposal. 

(d) If the county committee on school district organization approves pursuant to 

subdivision (a) the rearrangement of the boundaries of trustee areas for a 
particular district, then the rearrangement of the trustee areas shall be effectuated 

for the next district election occurring at least 125 days after its approval, unless at 
least 5 percent of the registered voters of the district sign a petition requesting an 

election on the proposed rearrangement of trustee area boundaries. The petition for 
an election shall be submitted to the county elections official within 60 days of the 

proposal’s adoption by the county committee on school district organization. If the 
qualified registered voters approve pursuant to subdivision (b) or (c) the 

rearrangement of the boundaries to the trustee areas for a particular district, the 
rearrangement of the trustee areas shall be effective for the next district election 

occurring at least 125 days after its approval by the voters. 
(e) Trustee areas shall comply with the requirements and criteria of Section 21130 

of the Elections Code. 
(Amended by Stats. 2023, Ch. 343, Sec. 6. (AB 764) Effective January 1, 2024.) 

5019.5. 
(a) Following each decennial federal census, the governing board of each school 
district or community college district in which trustee areas have been established 

shall adopt trustee area boundaries pursuant to Chapter 2 (commencing with 
Section 21100) of Division 21 of the Elections Code. 

(b) Notwithstanding subdivision (a) of Section 21130 of the Elections Code, if a 
school district or community college district has one or more multiple-member 

trustee areas, the governing board shall adopt the boundaries of the areas of the 
district so that the population of each area is substantially the same proportion of 

the total population of the district as the ratio that the number of governing board 
members elected from the area bears to the total number of members of the 

governing board, as required by the United States Constitution. Substantial 
proportionality of population shall be based on the total population of residents as 

provided in paragraphs (1) and (2) of subdivision (a) of Section 21130 of the 
Elections Code. 

javascript:submitCodesValues('5019.7.','1.1.4.1.1','1990','648','3',%20'id_cc39ae3b-291e-11d9-971e-9b808ee35dd0')


 
(c) Except as provided in subdivision (a), the authority to establish or abolish 

trustee areas, rearrange the boundaries of trustee areas, increase or decrease the 
number of members of the governing board, or adopt any method of electing 

governing board members may be exercised only as otherwise provided under this 
article and Division 21 (commencing with Section 21000) of the Elections Code, as 

applicable. 
(Amended by Stats. 2023, Ch. 343, Sec. 7. (AB 764) Effective January 1, 2024.) 

5020. 
(a) (1) The resolution of the county committee approving a proposal to establish or 
abolish trustee areas, to adopt one of the alternative methods of electing governing 

board members specified in Section 5030, or to increase or decrease the number of 
members of the governing board shall constitute an order of election, and the 

proposal shall be presented to the electors of the district not later than the next 
succeeding election for members of the governing board. 

(2) Notwithstanding paragraph (1), a county committee may, by resolution, 
approve a proposal to establish trustee areas and to elect governing board 

members using district-based elections, as defined in subdivision (b) of Section 
14026 of the Elections Code, without being required to submit the resolution to 

the electors of the district for approval. A resolution adopted pursuant to this 
paragraph shall include a declaration that the change in the method of electing 

members of the governing body is being made in furtherance of the purposes of 
the California Voting Rights Act of 2001 (Chapter 1.5 (commencing with Section 
14025) of Division 14 of the Elections Code). The resolution shall take effect upon 

adoption and shall govern all elections for governing board members occurring at 
least 125 days after the adoption of the resolution. 

(b) If a petition requesting an election on a proposal to rearrange trustee area 
boundaries is filed, containing at least 5 percent of the signatures of the district’s 

registered voters as determined by the elections official, the proposal shall be 
presented to the electors of the district, at the next succeeding election for the 

members of the governing board, at the next succeeding statewide primary or 
general election, or at the next succeeding regularly scheduled election at which the 

electors of the district are otherwise entitled to vote if there is sufficient time to 
place the issue on the ballot. The rearranged trustee areas shall comply with the 

criteria and requirements in Section 21130 of the Elections Code. 
(c) If a petition requesting an election on a proposal to establish or abolish trustee 

areas, to increase or decrease the number of members of the board, or to adopt 
one of the alternative methods of electing governing board members specified in 

Section 5030 is filed, containing at least 10 percent of the signatures of the 
district’s registered voters as determined by the elections official, the proposal shall 

be presented to the electors of the district, at the next succeeding election for the 
members of the governing board, at the next succeeding statewide primary or 

general election, or at the next succeeding regularly scheduled election at which the 
electors of the district are otherwise entitled to vote if there is sufficient time to 

javascript:submitCodesValues('5033.','1.1.4.1.1','2014','327','1',%20'id_34ec5412-898b-11e4-bd2c-91def9f759f9')


 
place the issue on the ballot. Before the proposal is presented to the electors, the 

county committee on school district organization may call and conduct one or more 
public hearings on the proposal. 

(d) The resolution of the county committee approving a proposal to establish or 
abolish a common governing board for a high school and an elementary school 

district within the boundaries of the high school district shall constitute an order of 
election. The proposal shall be presented to the electors of the district at the next 

succeeding statewide primary or general election, or at the next succeeding 
regularly scheduled election at which the electors of the district are otherwise 
entitled to vote if there is sufficient time to place the issue on the ballot. 

(e) For each proposal there shall be a separate proposition on the ballot. The ballot 
shall contain the following words: 

“For the establishment (or abolition or rearrangement) of trustee areas in ____ 
(insert name) School District—Yes” and “For the establishment (or abolition or 

rearrangement) of trustee areas in ____ (insert name) School District—No.” 
“For increasing the number of members of the governing board of ____ (insert 

name) School District from five to seven—Yes” and “For increasing the number of 
members of the governing board of ____ (insert name) School District from five to 

seven—No.” 
“For decreasing the number of members of the governing board of ____ (insert 

name) School District from seven to five—Yes” and “For decreasing the number of 
members of the governing board of ____ (insert name) School District from seven 

to five—No.” 
“For the election of each member of the governing board of the ____ (insert name) 

School District by the registered voters of the entire ____ (insert name) School 
District—Yes” and “For the election of each member of the governing board of the 

____ (insert name) School District by the registered voters of the entire ____ 
(insert name) School District—No.” 
“For the election of one member of the governing board of the ____ (insert name) 

School District residing in each trustee area elected by the registered voters in that 
trustee area—Yes” and “For the election of one member of the governing board of 

the ____ (insert name) School District residing in each trustee area elected by the 
registered voters in that trustee area—No.” 

“For the election of one member, or more than one member for one or more trustee 
areas, of the governing board of the ____ (insert name) School District residing in 

each trustee area elected by the registered voters of the entire ____ (insert name) 
School District—Yes” and “For the election of one member, or more than one 

member for one or more trustee areas, of the governing board of the ____ (insert 
name) School District residing in each trustee area elected by the registered voters 

of the entire ____ (insert name) School District—No.” 
“For the establishment (or abolition) of a common governing board in the ____ 

(insert name) School District and the ____ (insert name) School District—Yes” and 
“For the establishment (or abolition) of a common governing board in the ____ 

(insert name) School District and the ____ (insert name) School District—No.” 



 
(f) If more than one proposal appears on the ballot, all must carry in order for any 

to become effective, except as follows: 
(1) A proposal to adopt one of the methods of election of board members 

specified in Section 5030 that is approved by the voters shall become effective 
unless a proposal that is inconsistent with that proposal has been approved by a 

greater number of voters. 

(2) An inconsistent proposal approved by a lesser number of voters than the 

number which have approved a proposal to adopt one of the methods of election 
of board members specified in Section 5030 shall not be effective. 

(Amended by Stats. 2023, Ch. 343, Sec. 9. (AB 764) Effective January 1, 2024.) 

5021. 
(a) If a proposal for the establishment of trustee areas formulated under Sections 
5019 and 5020 is approved by a majority of the voters voting at the election, or by 

the county committee on school district organization when no election is required, 
any affected incumbent board member shall serve out the board member’s term of 

office and succeeding board members shall be nominated and elected in accordance 
with Section 5030. If two or more trustee areas are established at an election that 

are not represented in the membership of the governing board of the school district 
or community college district, the county committee shall determine by lot the 
trustee area from which the nomination and election for the next vacancy on the 

governing board shall be made. 
(b) If a proposal for rearrangement of boundaries is approved by a majority of the 

voters voting on the measure, or by the county committee when no election is 
required, or by the board, and if the boundary changes affect the board 

membership, any affected incumbent board member shall serve out the board 
member’s term of office and that member shall continue to represent the 

constituents residing in the area boundaries from which the member was elected 
for the duration of that term of office. Succeeding board members shall be 

nominated and elected in accordance with Section 5030. This section does not 
prevent a board from assigning a trustee or school district or community college 

district official to provide constituent services to residents of an area that is 
temporarily not represented by a trustee due to redistricting. 

(c) If a proposal for abolishing trustee areas is approved by a majority of the voters 
voting at the election, the incumbent board members shall serve out their terms of 

office and succeeding board members shall be nominated and elected at large from 
the district. 
(Amended by Stats. 2023, Ch. 343, Sec. 10. (AB 764) Effective January 1, 2024.) 

5022. 
If the number of members of the governing board is increased from five to seven, 
the two additional members of the board of trustees shall be appointed by the 

javascript:submitCodesValues('5021.','1.1.4.1.1','2023','343','10',%20'id_fb92bce1-8890-11ee-82fd-ff38053c7c11')
javascript:submitCodesValues('5033.','1.1.4.1.1','2014','327','1',%20'id_34ec5412-898b-11e4-bd2c-91def9f759f9')


 
governing board of the district, with the term of one of those two additional 

appointees being designated to expire on the first Friday in December of the next 
succeeding odd-numbered year and the term of the other appointee being 

designated to expire on the first Friday in December of the second succeeding odd-
numbered year. 
(Amended by Stats. 1992, Ch. 970, Sec. 1. Effective January 1, 1993.) 

5023. 
(a) Whenever an elementary, high school, or unified school district, or a portion of 
any such district, is annexed to another school district in which trustee areas have 

been established, the county committee on school district organization of the 
county having jurisdiction over the annexing district shall study and make 

recommendations with respect to trustee areas of the annexing district as enlarged. 
If the recommendations include moving territory from an existing trustee area in 

the annexing district to another trustee area of the annexing district, the 
recommendations shall comply with the criteria and requirements in Section 21130 

of the Elections Code. Procedures contained in Section 5019 shall be used for 
purposes of this section. 

(b) Recommendations adopted under provisions of subdivision (a), if approved by 
the electors, shall become effective on the same date that the annexing district as 
enlarged becomes effective for all purposes. 
(Amended by Stats. 2023, Ch. 343, Sec. 11. (AB 764) Effective January 1, 2024.) 

5024. 
The county committee may provide that an election to elect trustees, pursuant to 
its recommendations under Section 5023, shall be held at the same time as is held 

the election to effect a change in trustee areas. 
(Enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010.) 

5025. 
If an election is called or a resolution of the county committee approving a proposal 

to establish trustee areas is adopted, as applicable, pursuant to Section 5020, the 
county superintendent of schools having jurisdiction shall, as to each trustee area 

having more than its allotted number of representatives in the membership of the 
governing board for the next succeeding school year, determine by lot which of said 

representatives shall relinquish their offices either immediately upon the election 
and qualification of the governing board members who are elected as provided in 

Section 5024 or on the first day of April next succeeding the election or the 
adoption of the resolution, as applicable, establishing trustee areas in the district, 

whichever is the later. 
(Amended by Stats. 2021, Ch. 139, Sec. 5. (SB 442) Effective January 1, 2022.) 

5026. 

javascript:submitCodesValues('5033.','1.1.4.1.1','2014','327','1',%20'id_34ec5412-898b-11e4-bd2c-91def9f759f9')
javascript:submitCodesValues('5033.','1.1.4.1.1','2014','327','1',%20'id_34ec5412-898b-11e4-bd2c-91def9f759f9')
javascript:submitCodesValues('5033.','1.1.4.1.1','2014','327','1',%20'id_34ec5412-898b-11e4-bd2c-91def9f759f9')
javascript:submitCodesValues('5033.','1.1.4.1.1','2014','327','1',%20'id_34ec5412-898b-11e4-bd2c-91def9f759f9')


 
Members elected to fill vacancies created pursuant to Section 5025 shall serve out 

the unexpired term of the office that was terminated. 
The county committee shall designate by lot for each newly formed trustee area the 

expiring term of office for which a member shall be elected. 
(Enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010.) 

5027. 
Notwithstanding Section 5019, Section 5019.5, or Chapter 2 (commencing with 

Section 21100) of Division 21 of the Elections Code, whenever the boundaries of a 
county high school district are coterminous with the boundaries of a county, the 

board shall consist of one member from each supervisorial district in the county 
elected at large from the district, and the high school district shall not go through a 

redistricting process separate from the process for redistricting the county board of 
supervisors. 
(Amended by Stats. 2023, Ch. 343, Sec. 12. (AB 764) Effective January 1, 2024.) 

5028. 
In every community college district that was divided into five trustee areas on or 

before September 7, 1955, one member of the board shall be elected from each 
trustee area by the registered voters of the trustee area. Following each federal 

decennial census, the governing board shall, by resolution, adopt boundaries for all 
of the trustee areas pursuant to Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 21100) of 

Division 21 of the Elections Code. 
(Amended by Stats. 2023, Ch. 343, Sec. 13. (AB 764) Effective January 1, 2024.) 

5029. 
Notwithstanding Section 5028, when a community college trustee ward boundary 

line falls upon an election precinct boundary line, and the election precinct 
boundary line is changed pursuant to Chapter 3 (commencing with Section 12200) 
of Division 12 of the Elections Code, the governing board of the district shall, at 

least 120 days prior to any trustee election, change the ward boundary line to 
conform to precinct boundary lines, where possible. 
(Amended by Stats. 1994, Ch. 923, Sec. 12. Effective January 1, 1995.) 

5030. 
Except as provided in Sections 5027 and 5028, in any school district or community 

college district having trustee areas, the county committee on school district 
organization and the registered voters of a district, pursuant to Sections 5019 and 

5020, respectively, may at any time recommend one of the following alternate 
methods of electing governing board members: 
(a) That each member of the governing board be elected by the registered voters of 

the entire district. 

javascript:submitCodesValues('5033.','1.1.4.1.1','2014','327','1',%20'id_34ec5412-898b-11e4-bd2c-91def9f759f9')
javascript:submitCodesValues('5033.','1.1.4.1.1','2014','327','1',%20'id_34ec5412-898b-11e4-bd2c-91def9f759f9')
javascript:submitCodesValues('5033.','1.1.4.1.1','2014','327','1',%20'id_34ec5412-898b-11e4-bd2c-91def9f759f9')
javascript:submitCodesValues('5033.','1.1.4.1.1','2014','327','1',%20'id_34ec5412-898b-11e4-bd2c-91def9f759f9')


 
(b) That one or more members residing in each trustee area be elected by the 

registered voters of that particular trustee area. 
(c) That each governing board member be elected by the registered voters of the 

entire school district or community college district, but reside in the trustee area 
which he or she represents. 

The recommendation shall provide that any affected incumbent member shall serve 
out his or her term of office and that succeeding board members shall be 

nominated and elected in accordance with the method recommended by the county 
committee. 
Whenever trustee areas are established in a district, provision shall be made for 

one of the alternative methods of electing governing board members. 
In counties with a population of less than 25,000, the county committee on school 

district organization or the county board of education, if it has succeeded to the 
duties of the county committee, may at any time, by resolution, with respect to 

trustee areas established for any school district, other than a community college 
district, amend the provision required by this section without additional approval by 

the electors, to require one of the alternate methods for electing board members to 
be utilized. 
(Amended by Stats. 1992, Ch. 350, Sec. 3. Effective January 1, 1993.) 

5030.5. 
Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the members of the governing board in 
the Sweetwater Union High School District may be elected under a method, as 

approved pursuant to Section 5019, that would require all of the following: 
(a) That each membership position on the governing board be identified, by 

number or otherwise. 
(b) That each person seeking election to the governing board be required to declare 

his or her candidacy for only one of those identified membership positions. 
(c) That each of those identified membership positions on the governing board be 

filled by the election of registered voters of the entire district. 
(Added by Stats. 1990, Ch. 37, Sec. 1. Effective April 3, 1990.) 

5030.6. 
Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the members of the governing board of 

the Chula Vista Elementary School District may be elected under a method, as 
approved pursuant to Section 5019, that would require all of the following: 

(a) That each membership position on the governing board be identified, by 
number or otherwise. 

(b) That each person seeking election to the governing board be required to declare 
his or her candidacy for only one of those identified membership positions. 

(c) That each of those identified membership positions on the governing board be 
filled by an election that includes the registered voters of the entire district. 
(Added by Stats. 1994, Ch. 76, Sec. 1. Effective May 20, 1994.) 

javascript:submitCodesValues('5030.5.','1.1.4.1.1','1990','37','1',%20'id_cc3cbb93-291e-11d9-971e-9b808ee35dd0')
javascript:submitCodesValues('5030.6.','1.1.4.1.1','1994','76','1',%20'id_cc3cbb95-291e-11d9-971e-9b808ee35dd0')


 
5030.7. 
Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the members of the governing board of 

the Santee Elementary School District may be elected under a method, as approved 
pursuant to Section 5019, that would require all of the following: 

(a) That each membership position on the governing board be identified, by 
number or otherwise. 

(b) That each person seeking election to the governing board be required to declare 
his or her candidacy for only one of those identified membership positions. 

(c) That each of those identified membership positions on the governing board be 
filled by an election that includes the registered voters of the entire district. 
(Added by Stats. 1996, Ch. 48, Sec. 1. Effective May 15, 1996.) 

5031. 
Whenever a school district or community college district is divided for governing 
board membership purposes into wards, supervisorial districts, or trustee areas, the 

county superintendent of schools shall prepare and keep in his or her office a map 
showing the boundaries of such subdivisions of all districts under his or her 

jurisdiction. Whenever a proposal to initiate a change in trustee area boundaries is 
submitted to a county committee on school district organization pursuant to Section 

5019 by resolution of the governing board of a district, and the proposal is 
approved, the costs of preparing, developing, and duplicating the maps and legal 

descriptions shall be borne by the district. 
The county superintendent shall also prepare and keep in his or her office a record 

of all actions taken by the county committee on district organization in connection 
with trustee area boundaries. 
(Amended by Stats. 1982, Ch. 678, Sec. 1.) 

5033. 
A member of the governing board of a district wholly or partially included in a 
unified school district formed under the provisions of Chapter 4 (commencing with 

Section 35700) of Part 21 of Division 3 of Title 2 shall not be a member of the 
governing board of the unified school district unless elected to that governing 

board. 
(Amended by Stats. 2014, Ch. 327, Sec. 1. (AB 1599) Effective January 1, 2015.) 
 
 
EDUCATION CODE - EDC 

TITLE 3. POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION [66000 - 101149.5] 
  ( Title 3 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

DIVISION 7. COMMUNITY COLLEGES [70900 - 88933] 
  ( Division 7 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

PART 45. DISTRICTS AND GOVERNING BOARDS [72000 - 72701] 
  ( Part 45 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

CHAPTER 1. General Provisions [72000 - 72036.5] 
  ( Chapter 1 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

javascript:submitCodesValues('5030.7.','1.1.4.1.1','1996','48','1',%20'id_cc3e4237-291e-11d9-971e-9b808ee35dd0')
javascript:submitCodesValues('5033.','1.1.4.1.1','2014','327','1',%20'id_34ec5412-898b-11e4-bd2c-91def9f759f9')
javascript:submitCodesValues('5033.','1.1.4.1.1','2014','327','1',%20'id_34ec5412-898b-11e4-bd2c-91def9f759f9')


 
 

ARTICLE 3. Organization of District Boards [72022 - 72036.5] 
  ( Article 3 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

 

72036. 
Notwithstanding any other law, the governing board of a community college district 
may change election systems, in accordance with the provisions of this section and 

the California Voting Rights Act of 2001 (Chapter 1.5 (commencing with Section 
14025) of Division 14 of the Elections Code), upon the adoption by the board of 

trustees of a resolution in support of electing the trustees in accordance with this 
section and upon the approval of the Board of Governors of the California 

Community Colleges, as follows: 

(a) The governing board of a community college district may establish elections by 

trustee areas. In establishing trustee areas, the territory of a district shall be 
divided into trustee areas, and one member of the governing board shall be elected 

from each trustee area. A candidate for election as a member of the governing 
board shall reside in, and be registered to vote in, the trustee area the 
candidate seeks to represent.  The governing board shall set the initial 

boundaries of each trustee area to reflect substantially equal population in each 
district as enumerated in the most recent decennial federal census. Thereafter, the 

boundaries of trustee areas shall be adjusted pursuant to Section 5019.5, and may 
be abolished or adjusted as otherwise provided in this code. 

(b) The governing board of a community college district may establish a top-two 
primary election system. Candidates for election as a member of a governing board 

of a district shall be nominated by trustee area at a district primary election held on 
the date of the statewide direct primary election. At the district primary election, 

the two candidates receiving the highest number of votes within the trustee area 
shall be nominees for the district general election for that trustee area, and the 

nominee who receives a majority of the votes cast by the voters of the trustee area 
in the district general election shall be elected to represent that trustee area. The 

district general election shall be held on the same date as the statewide general 
election. 

(c) The governing board of a community college district may determine the number 
of trustees pursuant to this subdivision. The governing board of a community 

college district shall be composed of not less than five members and not more than 
nine, as determined by the governing board. Sections 5019 to 5030, inclusive, do 
not apply to the governing board’s determination of the number of members 

pursuant to this subdivision. If the number of members of a governing board is 
increased or decreased, a governing board shall establish new trustee areas, 

abolish trustee areas, or adjust the boundaries of trustee areas so that the number 
of trustee areas is equal to the number of governing board members. If the number 

of members of a governing board is increased, the additional members of the 
governing board shall be elected at the next regular district general election of 

board members occurring at least 125 days after the governing board approved the 



 
increased number of board members. Before the next district general election, the 

governing board shall divide by lot the additional trustee area positions that are 
created so that the term of one-half of the board members elected to those 

positions shall expire on the first Friday in December following the next district 
general election. The term of the other board members elected to fill the remainder 

of the additional positions shall expire on the first Friday in December following the 
second district general election succeeding their election. 

(d) This section shall not apply to any community college district that has been 
authorized by statute to provide for its own trustee elections. 

(Amended by Stats. 2021, Ch. 139, Sec. 6. (SB 442) Effective January 1, 2022.) 
 



 
 

BP 2110 
 

Board Policy 
Chapter 2 – Board of Trustees 

 
 

BP 2110 Vacancies on the Board 
 
References: 

Education Code Sections 5090-5095 et seq.; 
Government Code Section 1770; 
Elections Code Division 1, Chapter 1, Section 1000 et. seq. 

 
 
Vacancies on the Board of Trustees may be caused by any of the events specified in 
Government Code Section 1770 or any applicable provision in the Elections Code, or by 
a failure to elect.  Resignations from the Board shall be governed by Education Code 
Section 5090.  The governing board shall carefully follow Education Code Ssections 
5090-5095 in the event of a vacancy or deferred resignation. 
 
Within 60 days of the vacancy or filing of a deferred resignation, the Board shall either 
order an election or make a provisional appointment to fill the vacancy.  In the event that 
the governing board fails to make a provisional appointment or order an election within 
the prescribed 60-day period as required by Education Code Section 5091, the county 
superintendent of schools shall order an election to fill the vacancy. 
 
If an election is ordered, it shall be held on the next regular election date not less than 
130 days after the occurrence of the vacancy (pursuant to Education Code Ssections 
5090-5095). 
 
If a provisional appointment is made, it shall be subject to the conditions in Education 
Code Section 5091.  The person appointed to the position shall hold office only until the 
next regularly scheduled election for district governing board members, when the 
election shall be held to fill the vacancy for the remainder of the unexpired term.  The 
provisional appointment will be made by a majority public vote of the Board members at 
a public meeting. 
 
The Chancellor shall establish administrative procedures to solicit applications that 
assure ample publicity to and information for prospective candidates.  The Board will 
determine the schedule and appointment process, which may include interviews at a 
public meeting. 
 
Also see BP 2010 Board Membership, AP 2110 Vacancies on the Board, and BP 2750 
Board Member Absence from the State. 

http://leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes_displaySection.xhtml?lawCode=ELEC&sectionNum=1000.


 
 
 
NOTE:  This policy is legally required and the language in red ink is recommended by the Policy & 
Procedure Service and its legal counsel (Liebert Cassidy Whitmore) to comply with the law.  The Policy & 
Procedure Service provided a legal update to this policy in September 2001.  The language in black ink is 
from current FHDACCD BP 2110 Vacancies on the Board adopted on 3/2/64 and amended and 
renumbered 2/3/14 (formerly BP 9111).  The language in blue ink is included for consideration.  The 
language in yellow highlighting is included to draw the reviewers’ attention, and this language will be 
removed upon final approval.  The language in gray highlighting was uniquely added by the FHDACCD 
and requires careful review by leaders to ensure the language remains accurate and up-to-date.  The legal 
citation language reflected after the page break (below) should be removed following review and 
revision. 

 

Adopted:  3/2/64 
Amended Revised:  2/3/14, ________ 
 

 

  

  



 
 

Legal Citations for BP 2110 
 

Education Code Sections 5090 et seq. 
 
EDUCATION CODE - EDC 

TITLE 1 GENERAL EDUCATION CODE PROVISIONS [1. - 32500] 
  ( Title 1 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

DIVISION 1 GENERAL EDUCATION CODE PROVISIONS [1. - 32500] 
  ( Division 1 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

PART 4. ELECTIONS [5000 - 5442] 
  ( Part 4 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

CHAPTER 1. Election of School District Board Members [5000 - 5095] 
  ( Chapter 1 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

 
ARTICLE 3. Vacancies [5090 - 5095] 
  ( Article 3 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 
 
5090. 
Vacancies on school district governing boards or community college district boards 
are caused by any of the events specified in Section 1770 of the Government Code, 

or by a failure to elect. A vacancy resulting from resignation occurs when the 
written resignation is filed with the county superintendent of schools having 

jurisdiction over the district, except where a deferred effective date is specified in 
the resignation so filed, in which case the resignation shall become effective on that 

date. A written resignation, whether specifying a deferred effective date or 
otherwise, shall, upon being filed with the county superintendent of schools be 

irrevocable. 
(Enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010.) 

5091. 
(a) (1) If a vacancy occurs, or if a resignation has been filed with the county 

superintendent of schools containing a deferred effective date, the school district or 
community college district governing board shall, within 60 days of the vacancy or 

the filing of the deferred resignation, either order an election or make a provisional 
appointment to fill the vacancy. A governing board member may not defer the 

effective date of the member’s resignation for more than 60 days after the member 
files the resignation with the county superintendent of schools. 

(2) In the event that a governing board fails to make a provisional appointment 
or order an election within the prescribed 60-day period as required by this 
section, the county superintendent of schools shall order an election to fill the 

vacancy. 

javascript:submitCodesValues('5090.','1.1.4.1.2','1976','1010','',%20'id_cc3e423f-291e-11d9-971e-9b808ee35dd0')
javascript:submitCodesValues('5091.','1.1.4.1.2','2014','909','1',%20'id_3d6ab4b4-898b-11e4-bd2c-91def9f759f9')


 
(b) When an election is ordered, it shall be held on the next established election 

date provided pursuant to Chapter 1 (commencing with Section 1000) of Division 1 
of the Elections Code not less than 130 days after the order of the election. 

(c) (1) If a provisional appointment is made within the 60-day period, the 
registered voters of the district may, within 30 days from the date of the 

appointment, petition for the conduct of a special election to fill the vacancy. A 
petition shall be deemed to bear a sufficient number of signatures if signed by at 

least the number of registered voters of the district equal to 11/2 percent of the 
number of registered voters of the district at the time of the last regular election for 
governing board members, or 25 registered voters, whichever is greater. However, 

in districts with less than 2,000 registered voters, a petition shall be deemed to 
bear a sufficient number of signatures if signed by at least 5 percent of the number 

of registered voters of the district at the time of the last regular election for 
governing board members. 

(2) (A) The petition shall be submitted to the county superintendent of schools 
having jurisdiction who shall have 30 days to verify the signatures. If the petition 

is determined to be legally sufficient by the county superintendent of schools, the 
provisional appointment is terminated, and the county superintendent of schools 

shall order a special election to be conducted not less than 88, nor more than 
125, days following the order of the election. 

(B) Notwithstanding subparagraph (A), the election may be conducted within 
180 days after the issuance of the order so that the election may be 

consolidated with a regularly scheduled election. 

(3) For purposes of this section, “registered voters” means the following: 

(A) If the district uses the at-large method of election, as defined in 
subdivision (a) of Section 14026 of the Elections Code, registered voters of 

the entire school district or community college district. 

(B) If the district uses district-based elections, as defined in subdivision (b) of 
Section 14026 of the Elections Code, registered voters of the election district. 

(d) A provisional appointment made pursuant to subdivision (a) confers all powers 
and duties of a governing board member upon the appointee immediately following 

that appointment. 
(e) A person appointed to fill a vacancy shall hold office only until the next regularly 

scheduled election for district governing board members that is scheduled 130 or 
more days after the effective date of the vacancy, whereupon an election shall 

be held to fill the vacancy for the remainder of the unexpired term. A person 
elected at an election to fill the vacancy shall hold office for the remainder of the 

term in which the vacancy occurs or will occur. 
(f) (1) If a petition calling for a special election is circulated, the petition shall meet 

all of the following requirements: 



 
(A) The petition shall contain the election official’s estimate of the cost of 

conducting the special election and those estimated costs expressed on a per-
pupil or per-student basis. 

(B) The name and residence address of at least one, but not more than five, 
of the proponents of the petition shall appear on the petition, each of which 

proponents shall be a registered voter of the school district or community 
college district, as applicable. 

(C) None of the text or other language of the petition shall appear in less than 
six-point type. 

(D) The petition shall be prepared and circulated in conformity with Sections 

100 and 104 of the Elections Code. 

(2) If any of the requirements of this subdivision are not met as to any petition 

calling for a special election, the county superintendent of schools shall not verify 
the signatures, nor shall any further action be taken with respect to the petition. 

(3) No person shall permit the list of names on petitions prescribed by this 
section to be used for any purpose other than qualification of the petition for the 

purpose of holding an election pursuant to this section. 

(4) The petition filed with the county superintendent of schools shall be subject to 

the restrictions in Article 2 (commencing with Section 7924.100) of Chapter 2 of 
Part 5 of Division 10 of Title 1 of the Government Code. 

(g) Elections held pursuant to subdivisions (b) and (c) shall be conducted in as 
nearly the same manner as practicable as other governing board member elections. 
(Amended (as amended by Stats. 2021, Ch. 615, Sec. 60) by Stats. 2022, Ch. 831, Sec. 1. (SB 1061) Effective 

January 1, 2023.) 

5092. 
(a) If a provisional appointment is made to the governing board of a school district 
to fill a vacancy that occurs or will occur pursuant to Section 5091, the board shall, 

within 10 days of the provisional appointment, provide notice of both the actual 
vacancy or the filing of a deferred resignation and also the provisional appointment 

by all of the following methods: 
(1) Posting the notice in three public places in the school district. 

(2) Publishing the notice pursuant to Section 6061 of the Government Code. If 
there is no newspaper of general circulation published in the district, notice need 

not be published. 

(3) Posting the notice on the school district’s internet website. 

javascript:submitCodesValues('5095.','1.1.4.1.2','1976','1010','',%20'id_cc414f89-291e-11d9-971e-9b808ee35dd0')


 
(b) The notice shall state all of the following: 

(1) The fact of the vacancy or resignation. 

(2) The date of the occurrence of the vacancy or the date of the filing of, and the 

effective date of, the resignation. 

(3) The full name of the provisional appointee to the board and the date of the 

provisional appointee’s appointment. 

(4) That unless a petition calling for a special election, containing a sufficient 

number of signatures, is filed in the office of county superintendent of schools 
within 30 days of the date of the provisional appointment, it shall become an 
effective appointment. 

(Amended by Stats. 2023, Ch. 68, Sec. 1. (AB 1326) Effective January 1, 2024.) 

5093. 
(a) There shall be no special election or appointment to fill a vacancy on a 
governing board if the vacancy occurs within four months of the end of the term of 

that position. 
(b) Section 5091 shall not apply to a vacancy on a governing board if the vacancy 

occurs, or a resignation specifying a deferred effective date is filed with the county 
superintendent of schools, during the period between six months and 130 days 

prior to a regularly scheduled governing board election and the position is not 
scheduled to be filled at such election. In such a case, the position shall be filled at 

a special election for that position to be consolidated with the regular election. A 
person elected to fill a position under this subdivision shall take office at the next 

regularly scheduled meeting of the governing board following the certification of the 
election and shall serve only until the end of the term of the position which he or 

she was elected to fill. 
(c) If a special election pursuant to Section 5091 could be consolidated with the 

next regular election for governing board members, and the vacant position is 
scheduled to be filled at such regular election, there shall be no special election. 
(Amended by Stats. 1984, Ch. 32, Sec. 2.) 

5094. 
If for any reason vacancies should occur in a majority of the offices on any school 

district or community college district governing board, the president of the county 
board of education having jurisdiction may appoint members of the county board of 

education to the district governing board until new members of the governing board 
are elected or appointed. 
(Enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010.) 

5095. 

javascript:submitCodesValues('5095.','1.1.4.1.2','1976','1010','',%20'id_cc414f89-291e-11d9-971e-9b808ee35dd0')
javascript:submitCodesValues('5095.','1.1.4.1.2','1976','1010','',%20'id_cc414f89-291e-11d9-971e-9b808ee35dd0')
javascript:submitCodesValues('5095.','1.1.4.1.2','1976','1010','',%20'id_cc414f89-291e-11d9-971e-9b808ee35dd0')


 
Whenever any of the offices on any school district governing board or community 

college district governing board is vacant, the remaining governing board member 
or members, if any, and any governing board member or members elected or 

appointed to fill the vacancies, who have qualified, shall have all the powers and 
perform all the duties of the governing board. 
(Enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010.) 

 
 
GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV 

TITLE 1. GENERAL [100 - 7914] 
  ( Title 1 enacted by Stats. 1943, Ch. 134. ) 

DIVISION 4. PUBLIC OFFICERS AND EMPLOYEES [1000 - 3599] 
  ( Division 4 enacted by Stats. 1943, Ch. 134. ) 

CHAPTER 4. Resignations and Vacancies [1750 - 1782] 
  ( Chapter 4 enacted by Stats. 1943, Ch. 134. ) 

 
ARTICLE 2. Vacancies [1770 - 1782] 
  ( Article 2 added by Stats. 1943, Ch. 134. ) 
 
1770. 
An office becomes vacant on the happening of any of the following events before 
the expiration of the term: 

(a) The death of the incumbent. 

(b) An adjudication pursuant to a quo warranto proceeding declaring that the 

incumbent is physically or mentally incapacitated due to disease, illness, or 
accident, and that there is reasonable cause to believe that the incumbent will not 
be able to perform the duties of his or her office for the remainder of his or her 

term. This subdivision shall not apply to offices created by the California 
Constitution nor to federal or state legislators. 

(c) (1) His or her resignation, except as provided in paragraph (2). 

(2) In the case of the office of city council member, upon the delivery of a letter 

of resignation by the resigning council member to the city clerk. The letter of 
resignation may specify a date on which the resignation will become effective. 

(d) His or her removal from office. 

(e) His or her ceasing to be an inhabitant of the state, or if the office be local and 

one for which local residence is required by law, of the district, county, or city for 
which the officer was chosen or appointed, or within which the duties of his or her 

office are required to be discharged. 

(f) His or her absence from the state without the permission required by law 

beyond the period allowed by law. 



 
(g) His or her ceasing to discharge the duties of his or her office for the period of 

three consecutive months, except when prevented by sickness, or when absent 
from the state with the permission required by law. 

(h) His or her conviction of a felony or of any offense involving a violation of his or 
her official duties. An officer shall be deemed to have been convicted under this 

subdivision when trial court judgment is entered. For purposes of this subdivision, 
“trial court judgment” means a judgment by the trial court either sentencing the 

officer or otherwise upholding and implementing the plea, verdict, or finding. 

(i) His or her refusal or neglect to file his or her required oath or bond within the 
time prescribed. 

(j) The decision of a competent tribunal declaring void his or her election or 
appointment. 

(k) The making of an order vacating his or her office or declaring the office vacant 
when the officer fails to furnish an additional or supplemental bond. 

(l) His or her commitment to a hospital or sanitarium by a court of competent 
jurisdiction as a drug addict, dipsomaniac, inebriate, or stimulant addict; but in that 

event the office shall not be deemed vacant until the order of commitment has 
become final. 

(m) (1) The incumbent is listed in the Excluded Parties List System and all of the 
following subparagraphs apply: 

(A) The office is one that the incumbent holds ex officio, by virtue of holding 
another office, or as an appointee. 

(B) The appointed or ex officio office is on the governing board of a local 
agency that is, or may reasonably be expected to be, a participant or principal 

in a covered transaction, pursuant to federal law. 

(C) A federal agency head or designee has not granted the incumbent an 

exception, in writing, permitting the incumbent to participate in a particular 
covered transaction in which the local agency is, or may reasonably be 
expected to be, a participant or principal. 

(2) For purposes of this subdivision, the following terms have the following 
meanings: 

(A) “Excluded Parties List System” means the list maintained and 
disseminated by the federal General Services Administration containing names 

of, and other information about, persons who are debarred, suspended, 
disqualified, or otherwise excluded from participating in a covered transaction, 

pursuant to federal law. 

(B) “Local agency” includes, but is not limited to, a county, whether general 

law or chartered, city, whether general law or chartered, city and county, 



 
school district, municipal corporation, district, political subdivision, or any 

board, commission, or agency of one of these entities. 

(C) “Federal law” includes, but is not limited to, federal regulations adopted 

pursuant to Section 2455 of Public Law 103-355 (108 Stat. 3327), Executive 
Order No. 11738, Executive Order No. 12549, and Executive Order No. 12689. 

(3) This subdivision shall not apply to an elective office. 

(Amended by Stats. 2014, Ch. 725, Sec. 1. (AB 1795) Effective January 1, 2015.) 
 
 

Legal References Added by the FHDACCD 
 
ELECTIONS CODE - ELEC 

DIVISION 1. ESTABLISHED ELECTION DATES [1000 - 1500] 
  ( Division 1 enacted by Stats. 1994, Ch. 920, Sec. 2. ) 

 
CHAPTER 1. Election Dates [1000 - 1003] 
  ( Chapter 1 enacted by Stats. 1994, Ch. 920, Sec. 2. ) 

 
1000. 

The established election dates are as follows: 

(a) The first Tuesday after the first Monday in March of each even-numbered year 
that is evenly divisible by four. 

(b) The first Tuesday after the first Monday in March of each odd-numbered year. 
(c) The second Tuesday of April in each even-numbered year. 

(d) The first Tuesday after the first Monday in June in each even-numbered year 
that is not evenly divisible by four. 

(e) The first Tuesday after the first Monday in November of each year. 
(Amended by Stats. 2020, Ch. 111, Sec. 4. (SB 970) Effective January 1, 2021.) 

1001. 

The following are statewide elections and their dates are statewide election dates: 
(a) An election held in November of an even-numbered year. 

(b) An election held in June of an even-numbered year that is not evenly divisible 
by four and in March of each even-numbered year that is evenly divisible by four. 
(Amended by Stats. 2020, Ch. 111, Sec. 5. (SB 970) Effective January 1, 2021.) 

1002. 

Except as provided in Section 1003, notwithstanding any other provisions of law, all 
state, county, municipal, district, and school district elections shall be held on an 

established election date. 
(Amended by Stats. 1996, Ch. 1143, Sec. 19. Effective September 30, 1996.) 

javascript:submitCodesValues('1000.','3.1','2020','111','4',%20'id_bd7252ae-35b9-11eb-85c5-e3cf0180a085')
javascript:submitCodesValues('1001.','3.1','2020','111','5',%20'id_bdd05130-35b9-11eb-85c5-e3cf0180a085')
javascript:submitCodesValues('1002.','3.1','1996','1143','19',%20'id_0b1ee7c8-291f-11d9-a770-96bdf6412418')


 
1003. 

This chapter shall not apply to the following: 
(a) Any special election called by the Governor. 

(b) Elections held in chartered cities or chartered counties in which the charter 
provisions are inconsistent with this chapter. 

(c) School governing board elections consolidated pursuant to Section 1302.2 or 
initiated by petition pursuant to Section 5091 of the Education Code. 

(d) Elections of any kind required or permitted to be held by a school district 
located in a chartered city or county when the election is consolidated with a 

regular city or county election held in a jurisdiction that includes 95 percent or more 
of the school district’s population. 

(e) County, municipal, district, and school district initiative, referendum, or recall 
elections. 

(f) Any election conducted solely by mailed ballot pursuant to Division 4 
(commencing with Section 4000). 

(g) Elections held pursuant to Article 1 (commencing with Section 15100) of 
Chapter 1, or pursuant to Article 4 (commencing with Section 15340) of Chapter 2 

of, Part 10 of the Education Code. 
(Amended by Stats. 2000, Ch. 1081, Sec. 4. Effective January 1, 2001.) 

ELECTIONS CODE - ELEC 
DIVISION 1. ESTABLISHED ELECTION DATES [1000 - 1500] 
  ( Division 1 enacted by Stats. 1994, Ch. 920, Sec. 2. ) 

 
CHAPTER 2. Election Day [1100- 1100.] 
  ( Chapter 2 enacted by Stats. 1994, Ch. 920, Sec. 2. ) 

 
1100. 

No election shall be held on any day other than a Tuesday, nor shall any election be 
held on the day before, the day of, or the day after, a state holiday. 
(Amended by Stats. 1996, Ch. 1143, Sec. 20. Effective September 30, 1996.) 

ELECTIONS CODE - ELEC 
DIVISION 1. ESTABLISHED ELECTION DATES [1000 - 1500] 
  ( Division 1 enacted by Stats. 1994, Ch. 920, Sec. 2. ) 

 
CHAPTER 3. Statewide Elections [1200 - 1202] 
  ( Chapter 3 enacted by Stats. 1994, Ch. 920, Sec. 2. ) 

 
1200. 

The statewide general election shall be held on the first Tuesday after the first 
Monday in November of each even-numbered year. 
(Amended by Stats. 1996, Ch. 1143, Sec. 21. Effective September 30, 1996.) 

1201. 

javascript:submitCodesValues('1003.','3.1','2000','1081','4',%20'id_0b1ee7ca-291f-11d9-a770-96bdf6412418')
javascript:submitCodesValues('1100.','3.2','1996','1143','20',%20'id_0b1ee7ce-291f-11d9-a770-96bdf6412418')
javascript:submitCodesValues('1200.','3.3','1996','1143','21',%20'id_0b299632-291f-11d9-a770-96bdf6412418')
javascript:submitCodesValues('1201.','3.3','2020','111','6',%20'id_be2d6552-35b9-11eb-85c5-e3cf0180a085')


 
The statewide direct primary shall be held on the first Tuesday after the first 

Monday in June of each even-numbered year that is not evenly divisible by four and 
on the first Tuesday after the first Monday in March in each even-numbered year 

that is evenly divisible by four. 
(Amended by Stats. 2020, Ch. 111, Sec. 6. (SB 970) Effective January 1, 2021.) 

1202. 

The presidential primary shall be consolidated with the statewide direct primary in 

any year that is evenly divisible by four, and the consolidated primary shall be held 
on the first Tuesday after the first Monday in March. 
(Amended by Stats. 2020, Ch. 111, Sec. 7. (SB 970) Effective January 1, 2021.) 

ELECTIONS CODE - ELEC 
DIVISION 1. ESTABLISHED ELECTION DATES [1000 - 1500] 
  ( Division 1 enacted by Stats. 1994, Ch. 920, Sec. 2. ) 

 
CHAPTER 4. Local Elections [1300 - 1304] 
  ( Chapter 4 enacted by Stats. 1994, Ch. 920, Sec. 2. ) 

 
1300. 

(a) (1) An election to select a district attorney and sheriff shall be held with the 

presidential primary. 
(2) If the district attorney or sheriff is not elected pursuant to Sections 8140 and 
8141, the election described in paragraph (1) shall be deemed a primary election 

and a county general election shall be held with the presidential general election 
to select the district attorney or sheriff. 

(b) (1) Except as provided in paragraph (2) and as otherwise provided in the 
Government Code, an election to select county officers other than district attorney 

and sheriff shall be held with the statewide primary at which candidates for 
Governor are nominated. 

(2) Notwithstanding paragraph (1), and except as otherwise provided in the 
Government Code, a county board of supervisors may adopt an ordinance to hold 

an election to select any county officer other than a county superintendent of 
schools with the presidential primary. 

(3) If a county officer described in this subdivision is not elected pursuant to 
Sections 8140 and 8141, the election held pursuant to paragraph (1) or (2) shall 

be deemed a primary election and a county general election for the office shall be 
held with the following statewide general election. 

(c) Notwithstanding subdivision (b) of Section 1003 or any other law, the 
requirement that the district attorney and sheriff be elected in presidential election 

years applies to both general law and charter counties, except those charter 

javascript:submitCodesValues('1202.','3.3','2020','111','7',%20'id_be910924-35b9-11eb-85c5-e3cf0180a085')
javascript:submitCodesValues('1300.','3.4','2022','743','2',%20'id_d20950b2-65e7-11ed-a5d8-d56798e871e5')


 
counties that, on or before January 1, 2021, expressly specified in their charter 

when an election for district attorney or sheriff would occur. 
(d) A district attorney or sheriff elected in 2022 shall serve a six-year term and the 

next election for that office shall occur at the 2028 presidential primary. 
(Repealed and added by Stats. 2022, Ch. 743, Sec. 2. (AB 759) Effective January 1, 2023.) 

1301. 

(a) Except as required by Section 57379 of the Government Code, and except as 

provided in subdivision (b), a general municipal election shall be held on an 
established election date pursuant to Section 1000. 

(b) (1) Notwithstanding subdivision (a), a city council may enact an ordinance, 
pursuant to Division 10 (commencing with Section 10000), requiring its general 
municipal election to be held on the day of the statewide direct primary election, 

the day of the statewide general election, the day of school district elections as set 
forth in Section 1302, the first Tuesday after the first Monday of March in each odd-

numbered year, or the second Tuesday of April in each year. An ordinance adopted 
pursuant to this subdivision shall become operative upon approval by the county 

board of supervisors. 
(2) In the event of consolidation, the general municipal election shall be 

conducted in accordance with all applicable procedural requirements of this code 
pertaining to that primary, general, or school district election, and shall thereafter 

occur in consolidation with that election. 

(c) If a city adopts an ordinance described in subdivision (b), the municipal election 

following the adoption of the ordinance and each municipal election thereafter shall 
be conducted on the date specified by the city council, in accordance with 

subdivision (b), unless the ordinance in question is later repealed by the city 
council. 

(d) If the date of a general municipal election is changed pursuant to subdivision 
(b), at least one election shall be held before the ordinance, as approved by the 

county board of supervisors, may be subsequently repealed or amended. 
(Amended by Stats. 2016, Ch. 86, Sec. 83. (SB 1171) Effective January 1, 2017.) 

1302. 

(a) Except as provided in subdivision (b), the regular election to select governing 

board members in any school district, community college district, or county board 
of education shall be held on the first Tuesday after the first Monday in November 
of each odd-numbered year. 

(b) (1) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, and except as provided in 
Section 1302.5, after the initial election of governing board members in any school 

district, community college district, or of members of a county board of education, 
the election of governing board members for the district or of members of the 

county board of education may be established, upon the adoption of an appropriate 
resolution by the governing board or the county board of education, respectively, to 

javascript:submitCodesValues('1301.','3.4','2016','86','83',%20'id_690ac88c-c70f-11e6-aaff-f550891c4ba7')
javascript:submitCodesValues('1302.','3.4','1996','1143','25',%20'id_0b35f24e-291f-11d9-a770-96bdf6412418')


 
regularly occur on the same day as the statewide direct primary election, the 

statewide general election, or the general municipal election as set forth in Section 
1301. The resolution shall become operative upon approval by the board of 

supervisors pursuant to Section 10404.5 or 10405.7, as applicable. If a school 
district, community college district, or county board of education is located in more 

than one county, the district may not consolidate an election if any county in which 
the district is located denies the request for consolidation. 

(2) If the board of supervisors approves the resolution pursuant to Section 
10404.5 or 10405.7, as applicable, the election of the governing board members 
of the school district or community college district or of members of the county 

board of education shall be conducted on the date specified by the board of 
supervisors, in accordance with paragraph (1), unless the approval is later 

rescinded by the board of supervisors. 

(3) In the event of consolidation, the election of governing board members of the 

school district or community college district or of members of the county board of 
education shall be conducted in accordance with all applicable procedural 

requirements of the Elections Code pertaining to that primary, general, or 
municipal election, and shall thereafter occur in consolidation with that election. 

(4) If the date of an election is changed pursuant to this section, at least one 
election shall be held before the resolution, as approved by the board of 

supervisors, may be subsequently repealed or amended. 

(Amended by Stats. 1996, Ch. 1143, Sec. 25. Effective September 30, 1996.) 

1302.1. 

In a community college district that includes the trustee areas authorized to be 

established pursuant to the second paragraph of Section 72022 of the Education 
Code, the consolidation of the election of trustees on the same date as the 

statewide general election pursuant to Section 1302 may be approved by any 
county or counties for the trustee areas located entirely within the county or 

counties. Approval by any county or counties in which the other trustee areas are 
located shall be deemed to meet the requirement of staggered terms set forth in 

Section 72022 of the Education Code. 
(Added by Stats. 1996, Ch. 1143, Sec. 26. Effective September 30, 1996.) 

1302.2. 

(a) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, when an elementary, unified, high 
school, or community college district includes within its boundaries the same 

territory, or territory that is in part the same, as a chartered city, the governing 
board member elections of the elementary, unified, high school, or community 

college district may be consolidated with the city election pursuant to Part 3 
(commencing with Section 10400) of Division 10. The consolidation shall be 

effected by the officer conducting the election having jurisdiction of the elementary, 

javascript:submitCodesValues('1302.1.','3.4','1996','1143','26',%20'id_0b35f250-291f-11d9-a770-96bdf6412418')
javascript:submitCodesValues('1302.2.','3.4','1996','1143','27',%20'id_0b35f252-291f-11d9-a770-96bdf6412418')


 
unified, high school, or community college district, upon the written request of the 

governing board of the elementary, unified, high school, or community college 
district and with the written consent of the legislative body of the city. This section 

shall control in the event of any conflict with a prior order of the county 
superintendent of schools made pursuant to Section 5340 of the Education Code. 

(b) When a high school district or community college district election is consolidated 
with that of a city pursuant to this section, and the high school district or 

community college district has within its boundaries component districts whose 
elections would otherwise be held on a date specified in this code, the elections in 
the component districts may be consolidated with the election in the high school 

district or community college district. The consolidation shall be effected by the 
officer conducting the election having jurisdiction of the component districts upon 

the written request of the governing boards thereof and with the written consent of 
the governing boards of the districts whose governing board member elections are 

to be consolidated with those of the component districts. 
(c) Successors to incumbents holding office upon the effective date of this section, 

who in the absence of this section would have been elected at a different time, shall 
be chosen for office at the election nearest the time the terms of office of the 

incumbents would have otherwise expired. If an incumbent’s term of office is 
extended because of this section, he or she shall hold office until a successor 

qualifies for the office, but in no event shall the term of an incumbent be extended 
to more than four years. 
(Added by Stats. 1996, Ch. 1143, Sec. 27. Effective September 30, 1996.) 

1302.3. 

An annual election for members of the board of education shall be held in each 
unified district that is coterminous with or includes in its boundaries all or any 

portion of a chartered city or city and county the charter of which provides for a 
board of education, of five members with five-year terms, with the term of one 

member expiring each year. The election shall be held annually on the first Tuesday 
after the first Monday in November. The election shall be called by the county 

superintendent of schools and conducted in substantially the same manner as 
prescribed by Section 5000 of the Education Code. 
(Added by Stats. 1996, Ch. 1143, Sec. 28. Effective September 30, 1996.) 

1302.4. 

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a regular election for members of the 

Long Beach Community College District governing board may be held, upon the 
adoption of an appropriate resolution by the governing board, on the same date 

upon which the election for members of the City Board of Education of the Long 
Beach Unified School District is held pursuant to the City Charter of the City of Long 

Beach and Article 3 (commencing with Section 5340) of Chapter 3 of the Education 
Code. 
(Added by Stats. 1996, Ch. 1143, Sec. 29. Effective September 30, 1996.) 

javascript:submitCodesValues('1302.3.','3.4','1996','1143','28',%20'id_0b3778f4-291f-11d9-a770-96bdf6412418')
javascript:submitCodesValues('1302.4.','3.4','1996','1143','29',%20'id_0b3778f6-291f-11d9-a770-96bdf6412418')


 
1302.5. 

(a) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, upon recommendation of the county 
superintendent of schools and with the approval of the county board of supervisors, 

the election of governing board members of school districts whose boundaries are 
coterminous with the boundaries of the county, shall be consolidated with the 

November general election pursuant to Part 3 (commencing with Section 10400) of 
Division 10. 

(1) The terms of members of the governing board elected pursuant to this section 
shall begin at noon on the first Monday after the first day in January following the 

general election and shall end at noon on the first Monday after the first day in 
January four years thereafter. 

(2) The terms of members of the governing board expiring on March 31 of any 
odd-numbered year next succeeding any general election shall expire at noon on 

the first Monday after the first day in January following the general election. 

(b) When the term of an incumbent expires at midnight on March 31 of an odd-

numbered year and no successor has been elected because of the provisions of 
subdivision (a), the members of the board whose terms have not expired shall 

appoint a successor to serve until a successor is elected and qualifies pursuant to 
subdivision (a). 
(Added by Stats. 1996, Ch. 1143, Sec. 30. Effective September 30, 1996.) 

1303. 

(a) Unless the principal act of a district provides that an election shall be held on 

one of the other dates specified in Chapter 1 (commencing with Section 1000) of 
Division 1, or except as provided in Section 1500, or except as provided in 

subdivision (b), a general district election to elect members of the governing board 
shall be held in each special district subject to Division 10 (commencing with 

Section 10000) on the first Tuesday following the first Monday in November of each 
odd-numbered year. 

(b) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a governing body of a special 
district may require, by resolution, that its elections of governing body members be 

held on the same day as the statewide general election. The resolution shall 
become operative upon the approval of the board of supervisors pursuant to 

Section 10404. 
(Amended by Stats. 2003, Ch. 810, Sec. 4. Effective January 1, 2004.) 

1304. 

Unless the principal act of a district provides that an election shall be held on one of 

the other dates specified in Chapter 1 (commencing with Section 1000) of Division 
1, a general district election shall be held in each district on the first Tuesday after 

the first Monday in November in each odd-numbered year to choose a successor for 
each elective officer the term of whose office will expire on the following first Friday 

in December. 

javascript:submitCodesValues('1302.5.','3.4','1996','1143','30',%20'id_0b3778f8-291f-11d9-a770-96bdf6412418')
javascript:submitCodesValues('1303.','3.4','2003','810','4',%20'id_0b3778fa-291f-11d9-a770-96bdf6412418')
javascript:submitCodesValues('1304.','3.4','1994','920','2',%20'id_0b3778fc-291f-11d9-a770-96bdf6412418')


 
(Enacted by Stats. 1994, Ch. 920, Sec. 2.) 



 
 

AP 2110 
 

Administrative Procedure 
Chapter 2 – Board of Trustees 

 
 

AP 2110 Vacancies on the Board 
 
References: 

Education Code Sections 5090 et seq.; 
Government Code Sections 1770 and 6061 

 
 
When the Board of Trustees determines to fill the vacancy by appointment, the 
Chancellor shall assure that there is ample publicity to and information for prospective 
candidates.  Publicity shall include posting in three public places in the District, and 
publication in a newspaper of general circulation, and posting a notice on the District’s 
website.  (NOTE:  The publication in a newspaper of general circulation, which is 
required by Government Code Section 6061, is only required to be published once. If 
there is no newspaper of general circulation published in the District, notice need not be 
published.) 
 
The posted notice of vacancy must contain the following: 

1) The fact of the vacancy or resignation; 
2) The date of the occurrence of the vacancy or the date of the filing of, and the 

effective date of, the resignation; and 
3) The full name of the provisional appointee to the board and the date of the 

provisional appointee’s appointment. 
 
The posted notice of vacancy shall include directions regarding applications or 
nominations of legally qualified candidates.  Persons applying or nominated must meet 
the qualifications required by law for members of the Board. 
 
Persons applying for appointment to the Board shall receive a letter from the Chancellor 
containing application instructions and information about the District and the Board and 
including a [candidate information sheet] to be completed and returned by a specific 
date. 
 
The Board shall request personal interviews with candidates.  Interviews will be 
conducted in a public hearing scheduled for that purpose. 
 
Each Board member will review all application letters and resumes with final selection 
made by a majority vote of the Board members at a public meeting called for that 
purpose. 



 
 
Whenever a provisional appointment is made, the Board shall, within 10 days of the 
provisional appointment, post notices of both the actual vacancy or the filing of a 
deferred resignation and the provisional appointment in three public places in the 
District.  It shall also publish a notice in a newspaper of general circulation. 
 
The notice shall state the fact of the vacancy or resignation and the date of the 
occurrence of the vacancy or the date of the filing of, and the effective date of, the 
resignation.  It shall also contain the full name of the provisional appointee to the Board, 
the date of appointment, and a statement that unless a petition calling for a special 
election, containing a sufficient number of signatures, is filed in the office of county 
superintendent of schools within 30 days of the date of the provisional appointment, it 
shall become an effective appointment. 
 
A provisional appointment confers all powers and duties of a governing board member 
upon the appointee immediately following his/ or her/their appointment. 
 
A person appointed to fill a vacancy shall hold office only until the next regularly 
scheduled election for governing board members.  An election shall be held to fill the 
vacancy for the remainder of the unexpired term.  A person elected at an election to fill 
the vacancy shall hold office for the remainder of the term in which the vacancy occurs 
or will occur. 
 
Also sSee Board Policy BP 2110 Vacancies on the Board. 
 
 
NOTE:  The language in red ink is legally advised by the Policy & Procedure Service and its legal counsel 
(Liebert Cassidy Whitmore).  The Policy & Procedure Service provided a legal update to this procedure in 
April 2024 (see language in red ink).  The language in black ink is from current FHDACCD AP 2110 
Vacancies on the Board approved on 10/18/13.  The language in blue ink is included for consideration.  
The language in yellow highlighting is included to draw the reviewers’ attention, and this language will be 
removed upon final approval.  The language in gray highlighting was uniquely added by the FHDACCD 
and requires careful review by leaders to ensure the language remains accurate and up-to-date.  The legal 
citation language reflected after the page break (below) should be removed following review and 
revision. 

 

Approved:  10/18/13 
Revised:  ________ 
 

 

  

  



 
 

Legal Citations for AP 2110 
 

Education Code Sections 5090 et seq. 
 
EDUCATION CODE - EDC 

TITLE 1 GENERAL EDUCATION CODE PROVISIONS [1. - 32500] 
  ( Title 1 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

DIVISION 1 GENERAL EDUCATION CODE PROVISIONS [1. - 32500] 
  ( Division 1 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

PART 4. ELECTIONS [5000 - 5442] 
  ( Part 4 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

CHAPTER 1. Election of School District Board Members [5000 - 5095] 
  ( Chapter 1 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

 
ARTICLE 3. Vacancies [5090 - 5095] 
  ( Article 3 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 
 
5090. 
Vacancies on school district governing boards or community college district boards 
are caused by any of the events specified in Section 1770 of the Government Code, 

or by a failure to elect. A vacancy resulting from resignation occurs when the 
written resignation is filed with the county superintendent of schools having 

jurisdiction over the district, except where a deferred effective date is specified in 
the resignation so filed, in which case the resignation shall become effective on that 

date. A written resignation, whether specifying a deferred effective date or 
otherwise, shall, upon being filed with the county superintendent of schools be 

irrevocable. 
(Enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010.) 

5091. 
(a) (1) If a vacancy occurs, or if a resignation has been filed with the county 

superintendent of schools containing a deferred effective date, the school district or 
community college district governing board shall, within 60 days of the vacancy or 

the filing of the deferred resignation, either order an election or make a provisional 
appointment to fill the vacancy. A governing board member may not defer the 

effective date of the member’s resignation for more than 60 days after the member 
files the resignation with the county superintendent of schools. 

(2) In the event that a governing board fails to make a provisional appointment 
or order an election within the prescribed 60-day period as required by this 
section, the county superintendent of schools shall order an election to fill the 

vacancy. 

javascript:submitCodesValues('5090.','1.1.4.1.2','1976','1010','',%20'id_cc3e423f-291e-11d9-971e-9b808ee35dd0')
javascript:submitCodesValues('5091.','1.1.4.1.2','2014','909','1',%20'id_3d6ab4b4-898b-11e4-bd2c-91def9f759f9')


 
(b) When an election is ordered, it shall be held on the next established election 

date provided pursuant to Chapter 1 (commencing with Section 1000) of Division 1 
of the Elections Code not less than 130 days after the order of the election. 

(c) (1) If a provisional appointment is made within the 60-day period, the 
registered voters of the district may, within 30 days from the date of the 

appointment, petition for the conduct of a special election to fill the vacancy. A 
petition shall be deemed to bear a sufficient number of signatures if signed by at 

least the number of registered voters of the district equal to 11/2 percent of the 
number of registered voters of the district at the time of the last regular election for 
governing board members, or 25 registered voters, whichever is greater. However, 

in districts with less than 2,000 registered voters, a petition shall be deemed to 
bear a sufficient number of signatures if signed by at least 5 percent of the number 

of registered voters of the district at the time of the last regular election for 
governing board members. 

(2) (A) The petition shall be submitted to the county superintendent of schools 
having jurisdiction who shall have 30 days to verify the signatures. If the petition 

is determined to be legally sufficient by the county superintendent of schools, the 
provisional appointment is terminated, and the county superintendent of schools 

shall order a special election to be conducted not less than 88, nor more than 
125, days following the order of the election. 

(B) Notwithstanding subparagraph (A), the election may be conducted within 
180 days after the issuance of the order so that the election may be 

consolidated with a regularly scheduled election. 

(3) For purposes of this section, “registered voters” means the following: 

(A) If the district uses the at-large method of election, as defined in 
subdivision (a) of Section 14026 of the Elections Code, registered voters of 

the entire school district or community college district. 

(B) If the district uses district-based elections, as defined in subdivision (b) of 
Section 14026 of the Elections Code, registered voters of the election district. 

(d) A provisional appointment made pursuant to subdivision (a) confers all powers 
and duties of a governing board member upon the appointee immediately following 

that appointment. 
(e) A person appointed to fill a vacancy shall hold office only until the next regularly 

scheduled election for district governing board members that is scheduled 130 or 
more days after the effective date of the vacancy, whereupon an election shall 

be held to fill the vacancy for the remainder of the unexpired term. A person 
elected at an election to fill the vacancy shall hold office for the remainder of the 

term in which the vacancy occurs or will occur. 
(f) (1) If a petition calling for a special election is circulated, the petition shall meet 

all of the following requirements: 



 
(A) The petition shall contain the election official’s estimate of the cost of 

conducting the special election and those estimated costs expressed on a per-
pupil or per-student basis. 

(B) The name and residence address of at least one, but not more than five, 
of the proponents of the petition shall appear on the petition, each of which 

proponents shall be a registered voter of the school district or community 
college district, as applicable. 

(C) None of the text or other language of the petition shall appear in less than 
six-point type. 

(D) The petition shall be prepared and circulated in conformity with Sections 

100 and 104 of the Elections Code. 

(2) If any of the requirements of this subdivision are not met as to any petition 

calling for a special election, the county superintendent of schools shall not verify 
the signatures, nor shall any further action be taken with respect to the petition. 

(3) No person shall permit the list of names on petitions prescribed by this 
section to be used for any purpose other than qualification of the petition for the 

purpose of holding an election pursuant to this section. 

(4) The petition filed with the county superintendent of schools shall be subject to 

the restrictions in Article 2 (commencing with Section 7924.100) of Chapter 2 of 
Part 5 of Division 10 of Title 1 of the Government Code. 

(g) Elections held pursuant to subdivisions (b) and (c) shall be conducted in as 
nearly the same manner as practicable as other governing board member elections. 
(Amended (as amended by Stats. 2021, Ch. 615, Sec. 60) by Stats. 2022, Ch. 831, Sec. 1. (SB 1061) Effective 

January 1, 2023.) 

5092. 
(a) If a provisional appointment is made to the governing board of a school district 
to fill a vacancy that occurs or will occur pursuant to Section 5091, the board shall, 

within 10 days of the provisional appointment, provide notice of both the actual 
vacancy or the filing of a deferred resignation and also the provisional appointment 

by all of the following methods: 
(1) Posting the notice in three public places in the school district. 

(2) Publishing the notice pursuant to Section 6061 of the Government Code. If 
there is no newspaper of general circulation published in the district, notice need 

not be published. 

(3) Posting the notice on the school district’s internet website. 

javascript:submitCodesValues('5095.','1.1.4.1.2','1976','1010','',%20'id_cc414f89-291e-11d9-971e-9b808ee35dd0')


 
(b) The notice shall state all of the following: 

(1) The fact of the vacancy or resignation. 

(2) The date of the occurrence of the vacancy or the date of the filing of, and the 

effective date of, the resignation. 

(3) The full name of the provisional appointee to the board and the date of the 

provisional appointee’s appointment. 

(4) That unless a petition calling for a special election, containing a sufficient 

number of signatures, is filed in the office of county superintendent of schools 
within 30 days of the date of the provisional appointment, it shall become an 
effective appointment. 

(Amended by Stats. 2023, Ch. 68, Sec. 1. (AB 1326) Effective January 1, 2024.) 

5093. 
(a) There shall be no special election or appointment to fill a vacancy on a 
governing board if the vacancy occurs within four months of the end of the term of 

that position. 
(b) Section 5091 shall not apply to a vacancy on a governing board if the vacancy 

occurs, or a resignation specifying a deferred effective date is filed with the county 
superintendent of schools, during the period between six months and 130 days 

prior to a regularly scheduled governing board election and the position is not 
scheduled to be filled at such election. In such a case, the position shall be filled at 

a special election for that position to be consolidated with the regular election. A 
person elected to fill a position under this subdivision shall take office at the next 

regularly scheduled meeting of the governing board following the certification of the 
election and shall serve only until the end of the term of the position which he or 

she was elected to fill. 
(c) If a special election pursuant to Section 5091 could be consolidated with the 

next regular election for governing board members, and the vacant position is 
scheduled to be filled at such regular election, there shall be no special election. 
(Amended by Stats. 1984, Ch. 32, Sec. 2.) 

5094. 
If for any reason vacancies should occur in a majority of the offices on any school 

district or community college district governing board, the president of the county 
board of education having jurisdiction may appoint members of the county board of 

education to the district governing board until new members of the governing board 
are elected or appointed. 
(Enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010.) 

5095. 

javascript:submitCodesValues('5095.','1.1.4.1.2','1976','1010','',%20'id_cc414f89-291e-11d9-971e-9b808ee35dd0')
javascript:submitCodesValues('5095.','1.1.4.1.2','1976','1010','',%20'id_cc414f89-291e-11d9-971e-9b808ee35dd0')
javascript:submitCodesValues('5095.','1.1.4.1.2','1976','1010','',%20'id_cc414f89-291e-11d9-971e-9b808ee35dd0')


 
Whenever any of the offices on any school district governing board or community 

college district governing board is vacant, the remaining governing board member 
or members, if any, and any governing board member or members elected or 

appointed to fill the vacancies, who have qualified, shall have all the powers and 
perform all the duties of the governing board. 
(Enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010.) 

 
 
GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV 

TITLE 1. GENERAL [100 - 7914] 
  ( Title 1 enacted by Stats. 1943, Ch. 134. ) 

DIVISION 4. PUBLIC OFFICERS AND EMPLOYEES [1000 - 3599] 
  ( Division 4 enacted by Stats. 1943, Ch. 134. ) 

CHAPTER 4. Resignations and Vacancies [1750 - 1782] 
  ( Chapter 4 enacted by Stats. 1943, Ch. 134. ) 

 
ARTICLE 2. Vacancies [1770 - 1782] 
  ( Article 2 added by Stats. 1943, Ch. 134. ) 
 
1770. 
An office becomes vacant on the happening of any of the following events before 
the expiration of the term: 

(a) The death of the incumbent. 

(b) An adjudication pursuant to a quo warranto proceeding declaring that the 

incumbent is physically or mentally incapacitated due to disease, illness, or 
accident, and that there is reasonable cause to believe that the incumbent will not 
be able to perform the duties of his or her office for the remainder of his or her 

term. This subdivision shall not apply to offices created by the California 
Constitution nor to federal or state legislators. 

(c) (1) His or her resignation, except as provided in paragraph (2). 

(2) In the case of the office of city council member, upon the delivery of a letter 

of resignation by the resigning council member to the city clerk. The letter of 
resignation may specify a date on which the resignation will become effective. 

(d) His or her removal from office. 

(e) His or her ceasing to be an inhabitant of the state, or if the office be local and 

one for which local residence is required by law, of the district, county, or city for 
which the officer was chosen or appointed, or within which the duties of his or her 

office are required to be discharged. 

(f) His or her absence from the state without the permission required by law 

beyond the period allowed by law. 



 
(g) His or her ceasing to discharge the duties of his or her office for the period of 

three consecutive months, except when prevented by sickness, or when absent 
from the state with the permission required by law. 

(h) His or her conviction of a felony or of any offense involving a violation of his or 
her official duties. An officer shall be deemed to have been convicted under this 

subdivision when trial court judgment is entered. For purposes of this subdivision, 
“trial court judgment” means a judgment by the trial court either sentencing the 

officer or otherwise upholding and implementing the plea, verdict, or finding. 

(i) His or her refusal or neglect to file his or her required oath or bond within the 
time prescribed. 

(j) The decision of a competent tribunal declaring void his or her election or 
appointment. 

(k) The making of an order vacating his or her office or declaring the office vacant 
when the officer fails to furnish an additional or supplemental bond. 

(l) His or her commitment to a hospital or sanitarium by a court of competent 
jurisdiction as a drug addict, dipsomaniac, inebriate, or stimulant addict; but in that 

event the office shall not be deemed vacant until the order of commitment has 
become final. 

(m) (1) The incumbent is listed in the Excluded Parties List System and all of the 
following subparagraphs apply: 

(A) The office is one that the incumbent holds ex officio, by virtue of holding 
another office, or as an appointee. 

(B) The appointed or ex officio office is on the governing board of a local 
agency that is, or may reasonably be expected to be, a participant or principal 

in a covered transaction, pursuant to federal law. 

(C) A federal agency head or designee has not granted the incumbent an 

exception, in writing, permitting the incumbent to participate in a particular 
covered transaction in which the local agency is, or may reasonably be 
expected to be, a participant or principal. 

(2) For purposes of this subdivision, the following terms have the following 
meanings: 

(A) “Excluded Parties List System” means the list maintained and 
disseminated by the federal General Services Administration containing names 

of, and other information about, persons who are debarred, suspended, 
disqualified, or otherwise excluded from participating in a covered transaction, 

pursuant to federal law. 

(B) “Local agency” includes, but is not limited to, a county, whether general 

law or chartered, city, whether general law or chartered, city and county, 



 
school district, municipal corporation, district, political subdivision, or any 

board, commission, or agency of one of these entities. 

(C) “Federal law” includes, but is not limited to, federal regulations adopted 

pursuant to Section 2455 of Public Law 103-355 (108 Stat. 3327), Executive 
Order No. 11738, Executive Order No. 12549, and Executive Order No. 12689. 

(3) This subdivision shall not apply to an elective office. 

(Amended by Stats. 2014, Ch. 725, Sec. 1. (AB 1795) Effective January 1, 2015.) 
 
 
GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV 

TITLE 1. GENERAL [100 - 7931.000] 
  ( Title 1 enacted by Stats. 1943, Ch. 134. ) 

DIVISION 7. MISCELLANEOUS [6000 - 7599.113] 
  ( Division 7 enacted by Stats. 1943, Ch. 134. ) 

CHAPTER 1. Publications and Official Advertising [6000 - 6078] 
  ( Chapter 1 enacted by Stats. 1943, Ch. 134. ) 

 

ARTICLE 4. Manner of Publication [6060 - 6066] 
  ( Article 4 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 1587. ) 
 

6061. 
Publication of notice pursuant to this section shall be for one time. 

(Added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 1587.) 

 



 
 

BP 2210 
 

Board Policy 
Chapter 2 – Board of Trustees 

 
 

BP 2210 Officers of the Board 
 
Reference: 

Education Code Section 72000 
 
 
The Board of Trustees will shall elect the following officers at its annual organizational 
meeting:  President, Vice President, and Secretary.  The President and Vice President 
will be elected from the Board membership and the Secretary will be the Chancellor of 
the District. 
 
Terms of office shall be for one year. 
 
The duties of the President are: 

• Preside over all meetings of the Board; 

• Call emergency and special meetings of the Board as required by law; 

• Consult with the Chancellor on Board meeting agendas; 

• Communicate with individual Board members about their responsibilities; 

• Participate in the orientation process for new Board members; 

• Assure Board compliance with policies on Board education, self evaluation, and 
Chancellor evaluation; 

• Appoint Board members to committees as delineated in Board Policy. 

• Represent the Board at official events or ensure Board representation. 
 
The duties of the Vice President are: 

• Serve as President Pro Tempore in the absence of the President; 

• Perform duties as assigned by the President. 
 
The duties of the Secretary are: 

• Notify members of the Board of regular, special, emergency, and adjourned 
meetings; 

• Prepare, post, and disseminate Board meeting agendas; 

• Prepare for adoption of minutes of Board meetings; 

• Attend all Board meetings and closed sessions, unless excused, and in such 
cases to assign a designee; 

• Conduct the official correspondence of the Board; 

• Certify as legally required all Board actions; 



 
• Sign, when authorized by law or by Board action, any documents that would 

otherwise require the signature of the Secretary or the Clerk of the Board; 

• Ensure that meetings, arrangements, and materials are in compliance with the 
Brown Act; 

• Ensure the appropriate maintenance of the Board’s official minutes, records, and 
documents. 

 
NOTE:  The following language is legally advised if the Board practice is to follow an 
informal rotation of the Board presidency among its members which, if formalized, may 
be inconsistent with the requirement of Education Code Section 72000 subdivision 
(c)(2) that the president be elected from the Board’s members, suggesting that all 
members of the Board are to be considered eligible to be elected president every year. 
 
The Board does not have an official system of rotation of officers; it elects the officers 
each year from among all its members. 
 
Also see BP 2305 Annual Organizational Meeting and BP 2740 Board Education. 
 
 
NOTE:  This policy is legally required (with some suggested as good practice/optional language as well 
as legally advised language in red ink) and recommended by the Policy & Procedure Service and its legal 
counsel (Liebert Cassidy Whitmore).  The language in black ink is from current FHDACCD BP 2210 
Officers of the Board adopted on 3/2/64; amended on 2/3/97, 2/18/03, 3/7/11 and Renumbered on 5/5/14 
(formerly BP 9120).  The language in blue ink is included for consideration.  The language in yellow 
highlighting is included to draw the reviewers’ attention, and this language will be removed upon final 
approval.  The language in gray highlighting was uniquely added by the FHDACCD and requires careful 
review by leaders to ensure the language remains accurate and up-to-date.  The legal citation language 
reflected after the page break (below) should be removed following review and revision. 

 

Adopted:  3/2/64 
Amended Revised:  2/3/97, 2/18/03, 3/7/11, 
5/5/14, ________ 
 

 

  

  



 
Legal Citation for BP 2210 

 
Education Code Section 72000 
 
EDUCATION CODE - EDC 

TITLE 3. POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION [66000 - 101060] 
  ( Title 3 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

DIVISION 7. COMMUNITY COLLEGES [70900 - 88810] 
  ( Division 7 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

PART 45. DISTRICTS AND GOVERNING BOARDS [72000 - 72701] 
  ( Part 45 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

CHAPTER 1. General Provisions [72000 - 72036.5] 
  ( Chapter 1 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

 
ARTICLE 1. Naming [72000- 72000.] 
  ( Article 1 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 
 
72000 
(a)  The district and its governing board may sue and be sued,and shall act in 
accordance with Section 70902. 

(b)  The district name shall be adopted and changed as follows: 

(1)  The first governing board of any new community college district shall, at the first 
meeting of the board or as soon as practicable thereafter, name the district. The district 
shall be designated as the “____ Community College District.” 

(2)  The governing board of a community college district may, by resolution, change the 
name of the district or of any of the community colleges maintained by the district. 
However, the name shall continue to contain the words “Community College District” or 
“Community College,” as appropriate. 

(3)  Whenever a petition is presented to the governing board of a community college 
district, signed by at least 15 qualified electors of any community college district, asking 
that the name of the district, be changed, the governing board shall, at its next regular 
meeting, designate a day upon which it will conduct a hearing and act upon the petition, 
which hearing shall not be less than 10 days nor more than 40 days after that regular 
meeting. The clerk of the governing board shall give notice to all interested parties by 
sending a notice of the time for the hearing of the petition. Notices shall be mailed at 
least 10 days before the day set for the hearing. At the hearing the board shall by 
resolution either grant or deny the petition, and if the petition is granted, the clerk shall 
notify the Board of Governors of the California Community Colleges of the change of the 
name of the district or of any community college maintained by the district. 

(4)  The name “____ Community College District” and the names of community colleges 
maintained by the district are the property of the district. No person shall, without 
permission of the board, use these names, or any abbreviation of them, or any name of 
which these words are a part in any of the following ways: 



 
(A)  To designate any business, social, political, religious, or other organization, 
including, but not limited to, any corporation, firm, partnership, association, group, 
activity or enterprise. 

(B)  To imply, indicate or otherwise suggest that any organization, or any product or 
service of the organization is connected or affiliated with, or is endorsed, favored or 
supported by, or is opposed by one or more California community colleges, the Board of 
Governors of the California Community Colleges, or the office of the Chancellor of the 
California Community Colleges. 

(C)  To display, advertise, or announce these names publicly at or in connection with 
any meeting, assembly, or demonstration, or any propaganda, advertising or 
promotional activity of any kind which has for its purpose or any part of its purpose the 
support, endorsement, advancement, opposition or defeat of any strike, lockout, or 
boycott or of any political, religious, sociological, or economic movement, activity or 
program. 

(D)  The provisions of this section shall not preclude the use of the name “____ 
Community College” or “____ Community College District” by any person or 
organization otherwise subject to this section using the name immediately prior to the 
effective date of this section, so long as the name is not used in additional, different 
ways. 

(E)  Nothing in this section shall interfere with or restrict the right of any person to make 
a true and accurate statement in the course of stating his or her experience or 
qualifications for any academic, governmental, business, or professional credit or 
enrollment, or in connection with any academic, governmental, professional or other 
employment whatsoever. 

(5)  Any reference to junior colleges or junior college districts in any law shall be 
deemed to refer to community colleges and community college districts, respectively. 

(c)  Meetings of the governing board shall be held as follows: 

(1)  Within 20 days after the appointment of the community college board provided for 
by Section 72023, the board of governors shall call an initial organizational meeting of 
the board by giving at least 10 days’ notice by registered mail to each member, for the 
purposes of organizing the community college board. 

At the initial organizational meeting the community college board shall organize by 
electing a president from its members and a secretary, and may transact any other 
business relating to the affairs of the community college district. 

(2) (A) The governing board of each community college district shall hold an annual 
organizational meeting.  In a year in which a regular election for governing board 
members is conducted, the meeting shall be held on a day within a 15-day period that 
commences with the date upon which a governing board member elected at that 
election takes office.  Organizational meetings in years in which no regular election for 
governing board members is conducted shall be held during the same 15-day period on 
the calendar.  Unless otherwise provided by rule of the governing board, the day and 



 
time of the annual meeting shall be selected by the board at its regular meeting held 
immediately prior to the first day of such 15-day period, and the board shall notify the 
county superintendent of schools of the day and time selected.  The secretary of the 
board shall, within 15 days prior to the date of the annual meeting, notify in writing all 
members and members-elect of the date and time selected for the meeting. 

(B) If the board fails to select a day and time for the meeting, the county superintendent 
of schools having jurisdiction over the district shall, prior to the first day of such 15-day 
period and after the regular meeting of the board held immediately prior to the first day 
of the 15-day period, designate the day and time of the annual meeting. The day 
designated shall be within the 15-day period. He or she shall notify in writing all 
members and members-elect of the date and time. 

(C)  At the annual meeting, the governing board of the community college district shall 
organize by electing a president, from its members, and a secretary. 

(3)  As an alternative to the procedures set forth in paragraph (2), in a community 
college district the boundaries of which are coterminous with the boundaries of a city 
and county, the governing board members of which district are elected in accordance 
with a city and county charter, the annual organizational meeting of the governing board 
may be held between January 8 and January 31, inclusive, as provided in rules and 
regulations adopted by the board. At the annual organizational meeting the community 
college district governing board shall organize by electing a president and vice president 
from its members. 

(4)  Subject to this section, the governing board of any community college district shall 
hold regular monthly meetings and shall by rule and regulation fix the time and place for 
its regular meetings. The action shall be given proper notice to all members of the board 
of the regular meetings. 

(d)  The governing board shall conduct its meetings as follows: 

(1)  A notice identifying the location, date, and time of the meeting shall be posted in 
each community college maintained by the district at least 10 days prior to the meeting 
and shall remain so posted to and including the time of the meeting. 

(2)  The governing board shall conduct its meetings within the boundaries of the 
community college district, except as provided in subparagraphs (A) and (B). 

(A)  The governing board may meet outside of its district boundaries for the limited 
purpose of meeting with another local agency so long as the meeting meets both of the 
following criteria: 

(i)  The meeting occurs within the boundaries of one of the participating local agencies. 

(ii)  The meeting is open and accessible to the public, including the residents of the 
district whose board is meeting outside the boundaries of the district. 

(B)  The governing board may meet outside of its district boundaries if the board finds it 
necessary to meet in closed session with its attorney to discuss pending litigation and if 
the attorney’s office is located outside of the boundaries of the district. 



 
(3)  Except as otherwise provided by law, the governing board shall act by majority vote 
of all of the membership constituting the governing board. 

(4)  Every official action taken by the governing board of every community college 
district shall be affirmed by a formal vote of the members of the board, and the 
governing board of every community college district shall keep minutes of its meetings, 
and shall maintain a journal of its proceedings in which shall be recorded every official 
act taken. 

(5)  Notwithstanding any other provision of law, if a community college district governing 
board consists of seven members and not more than two vacancies occur on the 
governing board, the vacant position or positions shall not be counted for purposes of 
determining how many members of the board constitute a majority. Whenever any of 
the provisions of this code require unanimous action of all or a specific number of the 
members elected or appointed to the governing board, the vacant position or positions 
shall be excluded from determination of the total membership constituting the governing 
board. 

(Amended by Stats. 1991, Ch. 1038, Sec. 2. Effective October 14, 1991.) 
 



 
 

BP 2220 
 

Board Policy 
Chapter 2 – Board of Trustees 

 
 

BP 2220 Committees of the Board 
 
References: 

Education Code Sections 15278 and 15280; 
Government Code Section 54952 

 
 
The Board President may on his/ or her/ their own initiative or by Board authorization 
appoint ad hoc committees of not more than two members for special projects or 
purposes.  Such a special project or purpose may continue more than one year, and the 
Board committee may continue on without annual reappointment. 
 
The Board may invite citizens appointed by the Board to join with the Board to consider 
any subject or item of high significance so the Board may obtain a broadened 
community viewpoint or reaction. 
 
The Board may by action establish committees that it determines are necessary to 
assist the Board in its responsibilities.  Any committee established by Board action shall 
comply with the requirements of the Brown Act and with these policies regarding open 
meetings. 
 
Board committees that are composed solely of less than a quorum of members of the 
Board that are advisory are not required to comply with the Brown Act, or with these 
policies regarding open meetings, unless they are standing committees. 
 
Board committees that are only advisory have no authority or power to act on behalf of 
the Board.  Findings or recommendations shall be reported to the Board for 
consideration. 
 
The Board has established the following committee(s): 
 
Audit and Finance Committee – Acts in an advisory role to the Board in carrying out 
its oversight and legislative responsibilities as they relate to the District’s financial 
management. 
 
NOTE  The following information regarding the Audit and Finance Committee is from 
current FHDACCD BP 6401 Audit and Finance Committee.  Consider officially 
rescinding these prescriptive details from board policy and instead reflecting them in a 



 
newly created AP 2220 Committees of the Board or in a Governing Board Handbook or 
on the District website perhaps under the Board of Trustees’ webpage. 
 
An Audit and Finance Committee shall be appointed by the Board of Trustees. 
 
Section 1 – Membership 
 
The membership of the committee shall consist of two Board members and four 
members of the community at large who have special interest and knowledge in 
organizational financial matters.  The President of the Board of Trustees shall appoint 
the Board members to serve on the committee for a one-year term beginning each 
January.  The President of the Board of Trustees shall appoint one of the Board 
members as the Chair of the Audit and Finance Committee. 
 
1.1 Term.  Except as otherwise provided herein, each community member shall serve a 
term of four (4) years, commencing in January of each year.  No community member 
may serve more than two (2) consecutive terms.  At the Committee's first meeting, 
community members will draw lots or otherwise volunteer to select a minimum of two 
members to serve for an initial two (2) year term and the remaining members for an 
initial four (4) year term. 
 
1.2 Appointment.  Members of the Committee shall be appointed by the Board through 
the following process:  (a) community members will be solicited for applications; (b) the 
Chancellor or his/ or her/ their designee will review the applications in consultation with 
the Board President; and (c) the Chancellor or his or her designee, following 
consultation with the Board President, will make recommendations to the Board. 
 
1.3 Removal; Vacancy.  The Board may remove any Committee member for any 
reason, including failure to attend two consecutive Committee meetings without 
reasonable excuse or for failure to comply with the Board of Trustee Ethics Policy.  
Upon a member's removal, his/ or her/ their seat shall be declared vacant.  The Board, 
in accordance with the established appointment process, shall fill any vacancies on the 
Committee.  Vacancies shall be filled within 90 days from the initial date of each such 
vacancy. 
 
1.4 Compensation.  The Committee members shall not be compensated for their 
services. 
 
1.5 Authority of Members.  (a) Committee members shall not have the authority to 
direct staff of the District; (b) individual members of the Committee retain the right to 
address the Board, either on behalf of the Committee or as an individual; and (c) the 
Committee may only receive copies of reports and documents which have been 
previously presented to the Board and which are a public record, or those which the 
Board of Trustees have specifically designated for the Committee’s review. 
 



 
Section 2 – Meetings of the Committee 
 
2.1 Regular Meetings.  The Committee shall meet quarterly but may meet more often 
as the Committee shall determine, but no more frequently than monthly. 
 
2.2 Location.  All meetings shall be held within the boundaries of the Foothill-De Anza 
Community College District. 
 
2.3 Procedures.  All meetings shall be open to the public in accordance with the Ralph 
M. Brown Act, Government Code Sections 54950 et seq.  Meetings shall be conducted 
according to such additional procedural rules as the Committee may adopt.  A majority 
of the number of Committee members shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of 
any business of the Committee. 
 
Section 3 – Purpose 
 
The Audit and Finance Committee shall act in an advisory role to the Board in carrying 
out its oversight and legislative responsibilities as they relate to the District's financial 
management.  In this capacity the Audit and Finance Committee will: 
 

• Review and monitor budget and financial material and reports related to financial 
matters, including bonds, certificates of participation and other funding 
instruments, to come before the Board of Trustees. 

• Monitor the external audit selection and engagement process. 

• Review independent audit reports and monitor follow up activities. 

• Assure availability of the Audit and Finance Committee members to meet with 
the Board of Trustees each year at the time of presentation of the external audit 
to the Board. 

• Consult with independent auditors regarding accounting, fiscal and related 
management issues. 

• Monitor operational reviews, findings and recommendations and follow up 
activities. 

 
 
Citizens’ Bond Oversight Committee – Established pursuant to the conditions of 
Proposition 39 to: 

• inform the public about the expenditure of bond revenues; 

• review and report on the proper expenditure of taxpayers’ money for school 
construction; and 

• advise the public as to the District’s compliance with the Proposition 39 
requirements as contained in the California Constitution. 

 
Optional:  Diversity, Equity, and Inclusion (“DEI”) Standing Committee – This 
Committee helps the District further its DEI goals.  Specifically, this Committee will 



 
develop, review, and evaluate plans that create a more diverse, equitable, and inclusive 
environment. 
 
 
See Board Policy 6401 Audit and Finance Committee 
Also sSee BP 2305 Annual Organizational Meeting, BP 2740 Board Education, and 
Board Policy BP/AP 6740 Citizens’ Bond Oversight Committee. 
 
 
NOTE:  The language in red ink is legally required (with some legally advised and optional language as 
noted) and recommended by the Policy & Procedure Service and its legal counsel (Liebert Cassidy 
Whitmore).  The Policy & Procedure Service provided legal updates to this policy in August 2007 and April 
2021.  The language in black ink is from current FHDACCD BP 2220 Committees of the Board adopted 
on 3/2/64; amended on 2/3/97, 2/7/11 and Renumbered on 2/3/14 (formerly BP 9122) as well as BP 6401 
Audit and Finance Committee adopted on 4/20/92 and amended on 1/5/98, 3/20/00, 1/7/08, and 
Renumbered on 5/5/14 (formerly BP 9123).  The language in blue ink is included for consideration.  The 
language in yellow highlighting is included to draw the reviewers’ attention, and this language will be 
removed upon final approval.  The language in gray highlighting was uniquely added by the FHDACCD 
and requires careful review by leaders to ensure the language remains accurate and up-to-date.  The legal 
citation language reflected after the page break (below) should be removed following review and 
revision. 

 

Adopted:  3/2/64 (former BP 9122) and 
4/20/92 (former BP 9123) 
Amended Revised:  2/3/97 (former BP 9122), 
1/5/98 (former BP 9123), 3/20/00 (former BP 
9123), 1/7/08 (former BP 9123), 2/7/11 (former 
BP 9122), 2/3/14 (former BP 9122), 5/5/14 
(former BP 9123),  ________ 
 

 

  

  

http://www.boarddocs.com/ca/fhda/Board.nsf/goto?open&id=9TTW3E835A8B


 
Legal Citation for BP 2220 

 
GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV 

TITLE 5. LOCAL AGENCIES [50001 - 57550] 
( Title 5 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 

DIVISION 2. CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 55821] 
( Division 2 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 

PART 1. POWERS AND DUTIES COMMON TO CITIES, COUNTIES, AND 
OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 54999.7] 

( Part 1 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 
 
CHAPTER 9. Meetings [54950 - 54963] 
( Chapter 9 added by Stats. 1953, Ch. 1588. ) 
 
54952. 
As used in this chapter, “legislative body” means: 

(a) The governing body of a local agency or any other local body created by state 

or federal statute. 

(b) A commission, committee, board, or other body of a local agency, whether 

permanent or temporary, decision-making or advisory, created by charter, 
ordinance, resolution, or formal action of a legislative body.  However, advisory 

committees, composed solely of the members of the legislative body that 
are less than a quorum of the legislative body are not legislative bodies, 
except that standing committees of a legislative body, irrespective of their 

composition, which have a continuing subject matter jurisdiction, or a 
meeting schedule fixed by charter, ordinance, resolution, or formal action 

of a legislative body are legislative bodies for purposes of this chapter. 

(c) (1) A board, commission, committee, or other multimember body that governs 

a private corporation, limited liability company, or other entity that either: 

(A) Is created by the elected legislative body in order to exercise authority 

that may lawfully be delegated by the elected governing body to a private 
corporation, limited liability company, or other entity. 

(B) Receives funds from a local agency and the membership of whose 
governing body includes a member of the legislative body of the local agency 

appointed to that governing body as a full voting member by the legislative 
body of the local agency. 

(2) Notwithstanding subparagraph (B) of paragraph (1), no board, commission, 
committee, or other multimember body that governs a private corporation, 

limited liability company, or other entity that receives funds from a local agency 
and, as of February 9, 1996, has a member of the legislative body of the local 

agency as a full voting member of the governing body of that private corporation, 
limited liability company, or other entity shall be relieved from the public meeting 



 
requirements of this chapter by virtue of a change in status of the full voting 

member to a nonvoting member. 

(d) The lessee of any hospital the whole or part of which is first leased pursuant to 

subdivision (p) of Section 32121 of the Health and Safety Code after January 1, 
1994, where the lessee exercises any material authority of a legislative body of a 

local agency delegated to it by that legislative body whether the lessee is organized 
and operated by the local agency or by a delegated authority. 

(Amended by Stats. 2002, Ch. 1073, Sec. 2. Effective January 1, 2003.) 
 
 

Additional Legal References Added by the FHDACCD 
 
Education Code Sections 15278 and 15280 
 
EDUCATION CODE - EDC 

TITLE 1 GENERAL EDUCATION CODE PROVISIONS [1. - 32527] 
  ( Title 1 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

DIVISION 1 GENERAL EDUCATION CODE PROVISIONS [1. - 32527] 
  ( Division 1 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

PART 10. SCHOOL BONDS [15100 - 17204] 
  ( Part 10 repealed and added by Stats. 1996, Ch. 277, Sec. 2. ) 

CHAPTER 1.5. Strict Accountability in Local School Construction Bonds 
Act of 2000 [15264 - 15288] 

  ( Chapter 1.5 added by Stats. 2000, Ch. 44, Sec. 3. ) 
 

ARTICLE 2. Citizens’ Oversight Committee [15278 - 15282] 
  ( Article 2 added by Stats. 2000, Ch. 44, Sec. 3. ) 
 

15278. 
(a) If a bond measure authorized pursuant to paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) of 

Section 1 of Article XIII A of the California Constitution and subdivision (b) of 
Section 18 of Article XVI of the California Constitution is approved, the governing 
board of the school district or community college shall establish and appoint 
members to an independent citizens’ oversight committee, pursuant to Section 

15282, within 60 days of the date that the governing board enters the election 
results on its minutes pursuant to Section 15274. 

(b) The purpose of the citizens’ oversight committee shall be to inform the public 
concerning the expenditure of bond revenues. The citizens’ oversight committee 

shall actively review and report on the proper expenditure of taxpayers’ money for 
school construction. The citizens’ oversight committee shall advise the public as to 

whether a school district or community college district is in compliance with the 

requirements of paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) of Section 1 of Article XIII A of the 
California Constitution. The citizens’ oversight committee shall convene to provide 
oversight for, but not be limited to, both of the following: 



 
(1) Ensuring that bond revenues are expended only for the purposes described in 

paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) of Section 1 of Article XIII A of the California 
Constitution. 

(2) Ensuring that, as prohibited by subparagraph (A) of paragraph (3) of 

subdivision (b) of Section 1 of Article XIII A of the California Constitution, no 
funds are used for any teacher or administrative salaries or other school 
operating expenses. 

(c) In furtherance of its purpose, the citizens’ oversight committee may engage in 
any of the following activities: 

(1) Receiving and reviewing copies of the annual, independent performance audit 
required by subparagraph (C) of paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) of Section 1 of 

Article XIII A of the California Constitution. 

(2) Receiving and reviewing copies of the annual, independent financial audit 

required by subparagraph (C) of paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) of Section 1 of 

Article XIII A of the California Constitution. 

(3) Inspecting school facilities and grounds to ensure that bond revenues are 
expended in compliance with the requirements of paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) 

of Section 1 of Article XIII A of the California Constitution. 

(4) Receiving and reviewing copies of any deferred maintenance proposals or 

plans developed by a school district or community college district, including any 
reports required by Section 17584.1. 

(5) Reviewing efforts by the school district or community college district to 
maximize bond revenues by implementing cost-saving measures, including, but 

not limited to, all of the following: 

(A) Mechanisms designed to reduce the costs of professional fees. 

(B) Mechanisms designed to reduce the costs of site preparation. 

(C) Recommendations regarding the joint use of core facilities. 

(D) Mechanisms designed to reduce costs by incorporating efficiencies in 

schoolsite design. 

(E) Recommendations regarding the use of cost-effective and efficient 

reusable facility plans. 

(Added by Stats. 2000, Ch. 44, Sec. 3. Effective January 1, 2001.) 

 
 



 
EDUCATION CODE - EDC 

TITLE 1 GENERAL EDUCATION CODE PROVISIONS [1. - 32527] 
  ( Title 1 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

DIVISION 1 GENERAL EDUCATION CODE PROVISIONS [1. - 32527] 
  ( Division 1 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

PART 10. SCHOOL BONDS [15100 - 17204] 
  ( Part 10 repealed and added by Stats. 1996, Ch. 277, Sec. 2. ) 

CHAPTER 1.5. Strict Accountability in Local School Construction Bonds 
Act of 2000 [15264 - 15288] 

  ( Chapter 1.5 added by Stats. 2000, Ch. 44, Sec. 3. ) 
 

ARTICLE 2. Citizens’ Oversight Committee [15278 - 15282] 
  ( Article 2 added by Stats. 2000, Ch. 44, Sec. 3. ) 
 

15280. 
(a) (1) The governing board of the district shall, without expending bond funds, 
provide the citizens’ oversight committee with any necessary technical assistance 

and shall provide administrative assistance in furtherance of its purpose and 
sufficient resources to publicize the conclusions of the citizens’ oversight 

committee. 

(2) The governing board of the district shall provide the citizens’ oversight 

committee with responses to any and all findings, recommendations, and 
concerns addressed in the annual, independent financial and performance audits 

required by subparagraphs (C) and (D) of paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) of 
Section 1 of Article XIII A of the California Constitution within three months of 

receiving the audits. 

(b) All citizens’ oversight committee proceedings shall be open to the public and 

notice to the public shall be provided in the same manner as the proceedings of the 
governing board of the district. The citizens’ oversight committee shall issue regular 

reports on the results of its activities. A report shall be issued at least once a year. 
Minutes of the proceedings of the citizens’ oversight committee and all documents 

received and reports issued shall be a matter of public record and be made 
available on an Internet Web site maintained by the governing board of the district. 

(Amended by Stats. 2013, Ch. 91, Sec. 1. (SB 581) Effective January 1, 2014.) 



 
 

BP 2305 
 

Board Policy 
Chapter 2 – Board of Trustees 

 
 

BP 2305 Annual Organizational Meeting 
 
Reference: 

Education Code Section 72000 subdivision (c)(2)(A) 
Education Code Sections 5000 and 5017 

 
 
The Board of Trustees shall hold an Annual Organizational Meeting.  The annual 
organizational meeting of the Board will be held within fifteen 15 days of the date that 
elected governing board members take office, generally at the regular meeting held the 
first two weeks of December. 
 
Organizational meetings in years in which no regular election for governing board 
members is conducted shall be held during the same 15-day period on the calendar.  
The day and time of the annual meeting shall be selected by the Board at its regular 
meeting held immediately prior to the first day of such 15-day period, and the Board 
shall notify the County Superintendent of Schools of the day and time selected.  The 
Secretary of the Board shall, within 15 days prior to the day of the annual meeting, 
notify in writings all members and members-elect of the date and time selected for the 
meeting. 
 
At the annual meeting, the Governing Board shall organize by electing a President and 
a Vice President, from its members, and a Secretary. 
 
The purpose of the annual organizational meeting is to elect a President of the Board, 
Vice President of the Board, and a Secretary and conduct any other business as 
required by law or determined by the Board. 
 
 
NOTE  The following information is from current FHDACCD BP 2306 Representative to 
Vote for County Committee (County Committee on School District Organization). 
 
Representative to Vote for County Committee (County Committee on School 
District Organization) 
At the annual organizational meeting, the newly elected President of the Board will 
appoint a member to serve as a representative of the Board to vote for members of the 
County Committee on School District Organization. 
 



 
Also see BP 2210 Officers, BP 2220 Committees of the Board, and BP 2310 Regular 
Meetings of the Board. 
 
 
NOTE:  This policy is legally required and recommended by the Policy & Procedure Service and its legal 
counsel (Liebert Cassidy Whitmore).  The language in black ink is from current FHDACCD BP 2305 
Annual Organizational Meeting adopted on 2/3/97; amended and renumbered on 8/5/13 (formerly BP 
9115) as well as BP 2306 Representative to Vote for County Committee (County Committee on 
School District Organization) adopted on 3/2/64 and amended on 2/3/97 and amended and renumbered 
on 5/5/14 (formerly BP 9121).  The language in blue ink is included for consideration.  The language in 
yellow highlighting is included to draw the reviewers’ attention, and this language will be removed upon final 
approval.  The language in gray highlighting was uniquely added by the FHDACCD and requires careful 
review by leaders to ensure the language remains accurate and up-to-date.  The legal citation language 
reflected after the page break (below) should be removed following review and revision. 

 

Adopted:  2/3/97 (former BP 9115) and 3/2/64 
(former BP 9121) 
Amended Revised:  2/3/97 (former BP 9121), 
8/5/13 (former BP 9115), 5/5/14 (former BP 
9121),  ________ 
 

 

  

  



 
Legal Citation for BP 2305 

 
Education Code Section 72000 subdivision (c)(2)(A) 
 
EDUCATION CODE - EDC 

TITLE 3. POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION [66000 - 101060] 
  ( Title 3 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

DIVISION 7. COMMUNITY COLLEGES [70900 - 88810] 
  ( Division 7 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

PART 45. DISTRICTS AND GOVERNING BOARDS [72000 - 72701] 
  ( Part 45 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

CHAPTER 1. General Provisions [72000 - 72036.5] 
  ( Chapter 1 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

 
ARTICLE 1. Naming [72000- 72000.] 
  ( Article 1 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 
 
72000 
(a)  The district and its governing board may sue and be sued, and shall act in 
accordance with Section 70902. 

(b)  The district name shall be adopted and changed as follows: 

(1)  The first governing board of any new community college district shall, at the first 
meeting of the board or as soon as practicable thereafter, name the district. The district 
shall be designated as the “____ Community College District.” 

(2)  The governing board of a community college district may, by resolution, change the 
name of the district or of any of the community colleges maintained by the district. 
However, the name shall continue to contain the words “Community College District” or 
“Community College,” as appropriate. 

(3)  Whenever a petition is presented to the governing board of a community college 
district, signed by at least 15 qualified electors of any community college district, asking 
that the name of the district, be changed, the governing board shall, at its next regular 
meeting, designate a day upon which it will conduct a hearing and act upon the petition, 
which hearing shall not be less than 10 days nor more than 40 days after that regular 
meeting. The clerk of the governing board shall give notice to all interested parties by 
sending a notice of the time for the hearing of the petition. Notices shall be mailed at 
least 10 days before the day set for the hearing. At the hearing the board shall by 
resolution either grant or deny the petition, and if the petition is granted, the clerk shall 
notify the Board of Governors of the California Community Colleges of the change of the 
name of the district or of any community college maintained by the district. 

(4)  The name “____ Community College District” and the names of community colleges 
maintained by the district are the property of the district. No person shall, without 
permission of the board, use these names, or any abbreviation of them, or any name of 
which these words are a part in any of the following ways: 



 
(A)  To designate any business, social, political, religious, or other organization, 
including, but not limited to, any corporation, firm, partnership, association, group, 
activity or enterprise. 

(B)  To imply, indicate or otherwise suggest that any organization, or any product or 
service of the organization is connected or affiliated with, or is endorsed, favored or 
supported by, or is opposed by one or more California community colleges, the Board of 
Governors of the California Community Colleges, or the office of the Chancellor of the 
California Community Colleges. 

(C)  To display, advertise, or announce these names publicly at or in connection with 
any meeting, assembly, or demonstration, or any propaganda, advertising or 
promotional activity of any kind which has for its purpose or any part of its purpose the 
support, endorsement, advancement, opposition or defeat of any strike, lockout, or 
boycott or of any political, religious, sociological, or economic movement, activity or 
program. 

(D)  The provisions of this section shall not preclude the use of the name “____ 
Community College” or “____ Community College District” by any person or 
organization otherwise subject to this section using the name immediately prior to the 
effective date of this section, so long as the name is not used in additional, different 
ways. 

(E)  Nothing in this section shall interfere with or restrict the right of any person to make 
a true and accurate statement in the course of stating his or her experience or 
qualifications for any academic, governmental, business, or professional credit or 
enrollment, or in connection with any academic, governmental, professional or other 
employment whatsoever. 

(5)  Any reference to junior colleges or junior college districts in any law shall be 
deemed to refer to community colleges and community college districts, respectively. 

(c)  Meetings of the governing board shall be held as follows: 

(1)  Within 20 days after the appointment of the community college board provided for 
by Section 72023, the board of governors shall call an initial organizational meeting of 
the board by giving at least 10 days’ notice by registered mail to each member, for the 
purposes of organizing the community college board. 

At the initial organizational meeting the community college board shall organize by 
electing a president from its members and a secretary, and may transact any other 
business relating to the affairs of the community college district. 

(2) (A) The governing board of each community college district shall hold an annual 
organizational meeting.  In a year in which a regular election for governing board 
members is conducted, the meeting shall be held on a day within a 15-day period that 
commences with the date upon which a governing board member elected at that 
election takes office.  Organizational meetings in years in which no regular election for 
governing board members is conducted shall be held during the same 15-day period on 
the calendar.  Unless otherwise provided by rule of the governing board, the day and 



 
time of the annual meeting shall be selected by the board at its regular meeting held 
immediately prior to the first day of such 15-day period, and the board shall notify the 
county superintendent of schools of the day and time selected.  The secretary of the 
board shall, within 15 days prior to the date of the annual meeting, notify in writing all 
members and members-elect of the date and time selected for the meeting. 

(B) If the board fails to select a day and time for the meeting, the county superintendent 
of schools having jurisdiction over the district shall, prior to the first day of such 15-day 
period and after the regular meeting of the board held immediately prior to the first day 
of the 15-day period, designate the day and time of the annual meeting. The day 
designated shall be within the 15-day period. He or she shall notify in writing all 
members and members-elect of the date and time. 

(C)  At the annual meeting, the governing board of the community college district shall 
organize by electing a president, from its members, and a secretary. 

(3)  As an alternative to the procedures set forth in paragraph (2), in a community 
college district the boundaries of which are coterminous with the boundaries of a city 
and county, the governing board members of which district are elected in accordance 
with a city and county charter, the annual organizational meeting of the governing board 
may be held between January 8 and January 31, inclusive, as provided in rules and 
regulations adopted by the board. At the annual organizational meeting the community 
college district governing board shall organize by electing a president and vice president 
from its members. 

(4)  Subject to this section, the governing board of any community college district shall 
hold regular monthly meetings and shall by rule and regulation fix the time and place for 
its regular meetings. The action shall be given proper notice to all members of the board 
of the regular meetings. 

(d)  The governing board shall conduct its meetings as follows: 

(1)  A notice identifying the location, date, and time of the meeting shall be posted in 
each community college maintained by the district at least 10 days prior to the meeting 
and shall remain so posted to and including the time of the meeting. 

(2)  The governing board shall conduct its meetings within the boundaries of the 
community college district, except as provided in subparagraphs (A) and (B). 

(A)  The governing board may meet outside of its district boundaries for the limited 
purpose of meeting with another local agency so long as the meeting meets both of the 
following criteria: 

(i)  The meeting occurs within the boundaries of one of the participating local agencies. 

(ii)  The meeting is open and accessible to the public, including the residents of the 
district whose board is meeting outside the boundaries of the district. 

(B)  The governing board may meet outside of its district boundaries if the board finds it 
necessary to meet in closed session with its attorney to discuss pending litigation and if 
the attorney’s office is located outside of the boundaries of the district. 



 
(3)  Except as otherwise provided by law, the governing board shall act by majority vote 
of all of the membership constituting the governing board. 

(4)  Every official action taken by the governing board of every community college 
district shall be affirmed by a formal vote of the members of the board, and the 
governing board of every community college district shall keep minutes of its meetings, 
and shall maintain a journal of its proceedings in which shall be recorded every official 
act taken. 

(5)  Notwithstanding any other provision of law, if a community college district governing 
board consists of seven members and not more than two vacancies occur on the 
governing board, the vacant position or positions shall not be counted for purposes of 
determining how many members of the board constitute a majority. Whenever any of 
the provisions of this code require unanimous action of all or a specific number of the 
members elected or appointed to the governing board, the vacant position or positions 
shall be excluded from determination of the total membership constituting the governing 
board. 

(Amended by Stats. 1991, Ch. 1038, Sec. 2. Effective October 14, 1991.) 
 
 

Additional Legal References Added by the FHDACCD 
 
Education Code Sections 5000 and 5017 
 
EDUCATION CODE - EDC 

TITLE 1 GENERAL EDUCATION CODE PROVISIONS [1. - 32527] 
  ( Title 1 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

DIVISION 1 GENERAL EDUCATION CODE PROVISIONS [1. - 32527] 
  ( Division 1 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

PART 4. ELECTIONS [5000 - 5442] 
  ( Part 4 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

CHAPTER 1. Election of School District Board Members [5000 - 5095] 
  ( Chapter 1 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

 

ARTICLE 1. Elections [5000 - 5033] 
  ( Article 1 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 
 

5000. 
After the initial election of governing board members in any school district or 
community college district, a governing board member election shall be held 
biennially on the first Tuesday after the first Monday in November of each 

succeeding odd-numbered year to fill the offices of members whose terms expire on 
the first Friday in December next succeeding the election. Except as provided in this 

chapter, or in Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 5200) , the elections shall be 
held and conducted in accordance with Chapter 3 (commencing with Section 5300). 

(Amended by Stats. 1996, Ch. 1143, Sec. 1. Effective September 30, 1996.) 

 



 
 
EDUCATION CODE - EDC 

TITLE 1 GENERAL EDUCATION CODE PROVISIONS [1. - 32527] 
  ( Title 1 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

DIVISION 1 GENERAL EDUCATION CODE PROVISIONS [1. - 32527] 
  ( Division 1 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

PART 4. ELECTIONS [5000 - 5442] 
  ( Part 4 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

CHAPTER 1. Election of School District Board Members [5000 - 5095] 
  ( Chapter 1 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

 

ARTICLE 1. Elections [5000 - 5033] 
  ( Article 1 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 
 

5017. 
Each person elected at a regular biennial governing board member election shall 

hold office for a term of four years commencing on the second Friday in December 
next succeeding his or her election. Any member of the governing board of a school 

district or community college district whose term has expired shall continue to 
discharge the duties of the office until his or her successor has qualified. The term 

of the successor shall begin upon the expiration of the term of his or her 
predecessor. 

(Amended by Stats. 2018, Ch. 146, Sec. 3. (AB 2449) Effective January 1, 2019.) 



 
 

BP 2310 
 

Board Policy 
Chapter 2 – Board of Trustees 

 
 

BP 2310 Regular Meetings of the Board 
 
References: 

Education Code Section 72000 subdivision (d); 
Government Code Sections 54950 54952.2, 54953 et seq., and 54961 

 
 
Regular meetings of the Board of Trustees shall be held the first Monday of each 
month.  Regular meetings of the Board shall normally be held at: the Board Room in 
the District Office Building (D700), 12345 El Monte Road, Los Altos Hills, California. 
 
The Governing Board shall hold regular monthly meetings.  Unless the Board otherwise 
prescribes, the meetings shall occur commencing at 6:00 p.m. on the first Monday of 
each month at the Board Room in the District Office, 12345 El Monte Road, Los Altos 
Hills, California.  Notice of all regular and special meetings, and posting of agendas, 
shall be accomplished in conformity with the requirements of the Ralph M. Brown Act, 
California Government Code Ssections 54950, et seq. and with the requirements of 
California Education Code Ssection 72000 subdivision (d) and any related provisions. 
 
A notice identifying the location, date, and time of each regular meeting of the Board 
shall be posted at least ten days prior to the meeting and shall remain posted until the 
day and time of the meeting.  All regular meetings of the Board shall be held within the 
boundaries of the District except in cases where the Board is meeting with another local 
agency or is meeting with its attorney to discuss pending litigation if the attorney’s office 
is outside the District, or is meeting during a proclaimed state of emergency. 
 
All regular and special meetings of the Board shall be open to the public, be accessible 
to persons with disabilities, and otherwise comply with Brown Act provisions, except as 
required or permitted by law. 
 
NOTE:  The Policy & Procedure Subscription Service updated this policy in April 2024 
to remove provisions regarding meetings during proclaimed states of emergency 
pursuant to changes in the Government Code.  Requirements regarding 
teleconferenced meetings are in AP 2325 Teleconferenced Meetings and requirements 
regarding special or emergency meetings are in BP/AP 2320 Special and Emergency 
Meetings. 
 
Meetings During Proclaimed States of Emergency 



 
Prior to January 1, 2024, the Board may hold a regular meeting, or special or 
emergency meetings as defined in board policy 2320 Special and Emergency Meetings, 
virtually through voice or video teleconferencing services during a proclaimed state of 
emergency under the provisions of the Brown Act. 
 
In order for the Board to meet virtually during a proclaimed state of emergency under 
the relaxed teleconference rules in the Brown Act, the Board will make findings by a 
majority vote, as required by the Brown Act by way of a Board resolution. 
 
If the Board elects to meet virtually during a proclaimed state of emergency, the District 
will comply with relevant provisions of the Brown Act regarding the posting of agendas, 
public access to meetings through call-in or internet-based service options, public 
participation, and limits on Board action in the event of a meeting disruption due to 
interruption of teleconferencing services. 
 
During proclaimed states of emergency, the Board is not required to provide a physical 
location from which members of the public may attend or provide public comment. 
 
 
NOTE  The following information is from current FHDACCD BP 4165 Staff Invited to 
Board Meetings. 
 
Staff Invited to Board Meetings 
All faculty, classified staff, and administrators of the District communicate with members 
of the Board in accordance with established guidelines for communication.  All 
employees of the District are encouraged to attend Board meetings. 
 
Also see BP 2305 Annual Organizational Meeting, BP 2315 Closed Sessions, BP/AP 
2320 Special and Emergency Meetings, BP 2330 Quorum and Voting, BP/AP 2340 
Agendas, BP/AP 2345 Public Participation at Board Meeting, BP 2350 Speakers, BP 
2355 Decorum, and BP/AP 2360 Minutes 
 
 
NOTE:  The language in language in red ink is legally required (with some suggested as good practice 
language as noted) and recommended by the Policy & Procedure Service and its legal counsel (Liebert 
Cassidy Whitmore).  The Policy & Procedure Service provided a legal update to this policy in February 
2003, October 2021, April 2022, and April 2024.  The language in black ink is from current FHDACCD 
BP 2310 Regular Meetings adopted on 2/3/97 and amended on 6/18/07, amended and renumbered on 
12/9/13 (formerly BP 9125), and amended on 7/11/22 as well as BP 4165 Staff Invited to Board Meetings 
adopted on 3/4/63 and amended on 11/18/96.  The language in blue ink is included for consideration.  The 
language in yellow highlighting is included to draw the reviewers’ attention, and this language will be 
removed upon final approval.  The language in gray highlighting was uniquely added by the FHDACCD 
and requires careful review by leaders to ensure the language remains accurate and up-to-date.  The legal 
citation language reflected after the page break (below) should be removed following review and 
revision. 

 



 
Adopted:  3/4/63 (former BP 4165) and 2/3/97 
(former BP 9125) 
Amended Revised:  11/18/96 (former BP 
4165), 6/18/07 (former BP 9125), 12/9/13 
(former BP 9125), 7/11/22 (former BP 2310) 
________ 
 

 

  

  



 
Legal Citations for BP 2310 

 
Education Code Section 72000 subdivision (d) 
 
EDUCATION CODE - EDC 

TITLE 3. POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION [66000 - 101060] 
  ( Title 3 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

DIVISION 7. COMMUNITY COLLEGES [70900 - 88810] 
  ( Division 7 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

PART 45. DISTRICTS AND GOVERNING BOARDS [72000 - 72701] 
  ( Part 45 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

CHAPTER 1. General Provisions [72000 - 72036.5] 
  ( Chapter 1 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

 
ARTICLE 1. Naming [72000- 72000.] 
  ( Article 1 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 
 
72000 
(a)  The district and its governing board may sue and be sued, and shall act in 
accordance with Section 70902. 

(b)  The district name shall be adopted and changed as follows: 

(1)  The first governing board of any new community college district shall, at the first 
meeting of the board or as soon as practicable thereafter, name the district. The district 
shall be designated as the “____ Community College District.” 

(2)  The governing board of a community college district may, by resolution, change the 
name of the district or of any of the community colleges maintained by the district. 
However, the name shall continue to contain the words “Community College District” or 
“Community College,” as appropriate. 

(3)  Whenever a petition is presented to the governing board of a community college 
district, signed by at least 15 qualified electors of any community college district, asking 
that the name of the district, be changed, the governing board shall, at its next regular 
meeting, designate a day upon which it will conduct a hearing and act upon the petition, 
which hearing shall not be less than 10 days nor more than 40 days after that regular 
meeting. The clerk of the governing board shall give notice to all interested parties by 
sending a notice of the time for the hearing of the petition. Notices shall be mailed at 
least 10 days before the day set for the hearing. At the hearing the board shall by 
resolution either grant or deny the petition, and if the petition is granted, the clerk shall 
notify the Board of Governors of the California Community Colleges of the change of the 
name of the district or of any community college maintained by the district. 

(4)  The name “____ Community College District” and the names of community colleges 
maintained by the district are the property of the district. No person shall, without 
permission of the board, use these names, or any abbreviation of them, or any name of 
which these words are a part in any of the following ways: 



 
(A)  To designate any business, social, political, religious, or other organization, 
including, but not limited to, any corporation, firm, partnership, association, group, 
activity or enterprise. 

(B)  To imply, indicate or otherwise suggest that any organization, or any product or 
service of the organization is connected or affiliated with, or is endorsed, favored or 
supported by, or is opposed by one or more California community colleges, the Board of 
Governors of the California Community Colleges, or the office of the Chancellor of the 
California Community Colleges. 

(C)  To display, advertise, or announce these names publicly at or in connection with 
any meeting, assembly, or demonstration, or any propaganda, advertising or 
promotional activity of any kind which has for its purpose or any part of its purpose the 
support, endorsement, advancement, opposition or defeat of any strike, lockout, or 
boycott or of any political, religious, sociological, or economic movement, activity or 
program. 

(D)  The provisions of this section shall not preclude the use of the name “____ 
Community College” or “____ Community College District” by any person or 
organization otherwise subject to this section using the name immediately prior to the 
effective date of this section, so long as the name is not used in additional, different 
ways. 

(E)  Nothing in this section shall interfere with or restrict the right of any person to make 
a true and accurate statement in the course of stating his or her experience or 
qualifications for any academic, governmental, business, or professional credit or 
enrollment, or in connection with any academic, governmental, professional or other 
employment whatsoever. 

(5)  Any reference to junior colleges or junior college districts in any law shall be 
deemed to refer to community colleges and community college districts, respectively. 

(c)  Meetings of the governing board shall be held as follows: 

(1)  Within 20 days after the appointment of the community college board provided for 
by Section 72023, the board of governors shall call an initial organizational meeting of 
the board by giving at least 10 days’ notice by registered mail to each member, for the 
purposes of organizing the community college board. 

At the initial organizational meeting the community college board shall organize by 
electing a president from its members and a secretary, and may transact any other 
business relating to the affairs of the community college district. 

(2) (A) The governing board of each community college district shall hold an annual 
organizational meeting.  In a year in which a regular election for governing board 
members is conducted, the meeting shall be held on a day within a 15-day period that 
commences with the date upon which a governing board member elected at that 
election takes office.  Organizational meetings in years in which no regular election for 
governing board members is conducted shall be held during the same 15-day period on 
the calendar.  Unless otherwise provided by rule of the governing board, the day and 



 
time of the annual meeting shall be selected by the board at its regular meeting held 
immediately prior to the first day of such 15-day period, and the board shall notify the 
county superintendent of schools of the day and time selected.  The secretary of the 
board shall, within 15 days prior to the date of the annual meeting, notify in writing all 
members and members-elect of the date and time selected for the meeting. 

(B) If the board fails to select a day and time for the meeting, the county superintendent 
of schools having jurisdiction over the district shall, prior to the first day of such 15-day 
period and after the regular meeting of the board held immediately prior to the first day 
of the 15-day period, designate the day and time of the annual meeting. The day 
designated shall be within the 15-day period. He or she shall notify in writing all 
members and members-elect of the date and time. 

(C)  At the annual meeting, the governing board of the community college district shall 
organize by electing a president, from its members, and a secretary. 

(3)  As an alternative to the procedures set forth in paragraph (2), in a community 
college district the boundaries of which are coterminous with the boundaries of a city 
and county, the governing board members of which district are elected in accordance 
with a city and county charter, the annual organizational meeting of the governing board 
may be held between January 8 and January 31, inclusive, as provided in rules and 
regulations adopted by the board. At the annual organizational meeting the community 
college district governing board shall organize by electing a president and vice president 
from its members. 

(4)  Subject to this section, the governing board of any community college district shall 
hold regular monthly meetings and shall by rule and regulation fix the time and place for 
its regular meetings. The action shall be given proper notice to all members of the board 
of the regular meetings. 

(d)  The governing board shall conduct its meetings as follows: 

(1)  A notice identifying the location, date, and time of the meeting shall be posted 
in each community college maintained by the district at least 10 days prior to the 
meeting and shall remain so posted to and including the time of the meeting. 

(2)  The governing board shall conduct its meetings within the boundaries of the 
community college district, except as provided in subparagraphs (A) and (B). 

(A)  The governing board may meet outside of its district boundaries for the 
limited purpose of meeting with another local agency so long as the meeting 
meets both of the following criteria: 

(i)  The meeting occurs within the boundaries of one of the participating local 
agencies. 

(ii)  The meeting is open and accessible to the public, including the residents of 
the district whose board is meeting outside the boundaries of the district. 

(B)  The governing board may meet outside of its district boundaries if the board 
finds it necessary to meet in closed session with its attorney to discuss pending 



 
litigation and if the attorney’s office is located outside of the boundaries of the 
district. 

(3)  Except as otherwise provided by law, the governing board shall act by 
majority vote of all of the membership constituting the governing board. 

(4)  Every official action taken by the governing board of every community college 
district shall be affirmed by a formal vote of the members of the board, and the 
governing board of every community college district shall keep minutes of its 
meetings, and shall maintain a journal of its proceedings in which shall be 
recorded every official act taken. 

(5)  Notwithstanding any other provision of law, if a community college district 
governing board consists of seven members and not more than two vacancies 
occur on the governing board, the vacant position or positions shall not be 
counted for purposes of determining how many members of the board constitute 
a majority. Whenever any of the provisions of this code require unanimous action 
of all or a specific number of the members elected or appointed to the governing 
board, the vacant position or positions shall be excluded from determination of 
the total membership constituting the governing board. 

(Amended by Stats. 1991, Ch. 1038, Sec. 2. Effective October 14, 1991.) 
 
 
 
Government Code Sections 54952.2, 54953 et seq., and 54961 
 
GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV 

TITLE 5. LOCAL AGENCIES [50001 - 57607] 
  ( Title 5 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 

DIVISION 2. CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 55821] 
  ( Division 2 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 

PART 1. POWERS AND DUTIES COMMON TO CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER 
AGENCIES [53000 - 54999.7] 

  ( Part 1 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 
 

CHAPTER 9. Meetings [54950 - 54963] 
  ( Chapter 9 added by Stats. 1953, Ch. 1588. ) 
 

54952.2. 
(a) As used in this chapter, “meeting” means any congregation of a majority of the 

members of a legislative body at the same time and location, including 
teleconference location as permitted by Section 54953, to hear, discuss, deliberate, 

or take action on any item that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the 
legislative body. 

(b) (1) A majority of the members of a legislative body shall not, outside a meeting 
authorized by this chapter, use a series of communications of any kind, directly or 



 
through intermediaries, to discuss, deliberate, or take action on any item of 

business that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body. 

(2) Paragraph (1) shall not be construed as preventing an employee or official of 

a local agency, from engaging in separate conversations or communications 
outside of a meeting authorized by this chapter with members of a legislative 

body in order to answer questions or provide information regarding a matter that 
is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the local agency, if that person does 

not communicate to members of the legislative body the comments or position of 
any other member or members of the legislative body. 

(3) (A) Paragraph (1) shall not be construed as preventing a member of the 

legislative body from engaging in separate conversations or communications on 
an internet-based social media platform to answer questions, provide information 

to the public, or to solicit information from the public regarding a matter that is 
within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body provided that a 

majority of the members of the legislative body do not use the internet-based 
social media platform to discuss among themselves business of a specific nature 

that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body. A member of 
the legislative body shall not respond directly to any communication on an 

internet-based social media platform regarding a matter that is within the subject 
matter jurisdiction of the legislative body that is made, posted, or shared by any 

other member of the legislative body. 

(B) For purposes of this paragraph, all of the following definitions shall apply: 

(i) “Discuss among themselves” means communications made, posted, or 
shared on an internet-based social media platform between members of a 

legislative body, including comments or use of digital icons that express 
reactions to communications made by other members of the legislative 

body. 

(ii) “Internet-based social media platform” means an online service that is 
open and accessible to the public. 

(iii) “Open and accessible to the public” means that members of the 
general public have the ability to access and participate, free of charge, in 

the social media platform without the approval by the social media 
platform or a person or entity other than the social media platform, 

including any forum and chatroom, and cannot be blocked from doing so, 
except when the internet-based social media platform determines that an 

individual violated its protocols or rules. 

(c) Nothing in this section shall impose the requirements of this chapter upon any 

of the following: 



 
(1) Individual contacts or conversations between a member of a legislative body 

and any other person that do not violate subdivision (b). 

(2) The attendance of a majority of the members of a legislative body at a 

conference or similar gathering open to the public that involves a discussion of 
issues of general interest to the public or to public agencies of the type 

represented by the legislative body, provided that a majority of the members do 
not discuss among themselves, other than as part of the scheduled program, 

business of a specified nature that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the 
local agency. Nothing in this paragraph is intended to allow members of the 
public free admission to a conference or similar gathering at which the organizers 

have required other participants or registrants to pay fees or charges as a 
condition of attendance. 

(3) The attendance of a majority of the members of a legislative body at an open 
and publicized meeting organized to address a topic of local community concern 

by a person or organization other than the local agency, provided that a majority 
of the members do not discuss among themselves, other than as part of the 

scheduled program, business of a specific nature that is within the subject matter 
jurisdiction of the legislative body of the local agency. 

(4) The attendance of a majority of the members of a legislative body at an open 
and noticed meeting of another body of the local agency, or at an open and 

noticed meeting of a legislative body of another local agency, provided that a 
majority of the members do not discuss among themselves, other than as part of 

the scheduled meeting, business of a specific nature that is within the subject 
matter jurisdiction of the legislative body of the local agency. 

(5) The attendance of a majority of the members of a legislative body at a purely 
social or ceremonial occasion, provided that a majority of the members do not 

discuss among themselves business of a specific nature that is within the subject 
matter jurisdiction of the legislative body of the local agency. 

(6) The attendance of a majority of the members of a legislative body at an open 

and noticed meeting of a standing committee of that body, provided that the 
members of the legislative body who are not members of the standing committee 

attend only as observers. 

(d) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2026, and as of that 

date is repealed. 

(Amended by Stats. 2020, Ch. 89, Sec. 1. (AB 992) Effective January 1, 2021. Repealed as of January 1, 
2026, by its own provisions. See later operative version added by Sec. 2 of Stats. 2020, Ch. 89.) 

 
 



 
GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV 

TITLE 5. LOCAL AGENCIES [50001 - 57607] 
  ( Title 5 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 

DIVISION 2. CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 55821] 
  ( Division 2 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 

PART 1. POWERS AND DUTIES COMMON TO CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER 
AGENCIES [53000 - 54999.7] 

  ( Part 1 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 
 

CHAPTER 9. Meetings [54950 - 54963] 
  ( Chapter 9 added by Stats. 1953, Ch. 1588. ) 
 

54952.2. 
(a) As used in this chapter, “meeting” means any congregation of a majority of the 

members of a legislative body at the same time and location, including 
teleconference location as permitted by Section 54953, to hear, discuss, deliberate, 

or take action on any item that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the 
legislative body. 

(b) (1) A majority of the members of a legislative body shall not, outside a meeting 

authorized by this chapter, use a series of communications of any kind, directly or 
through intermediaries, to discuss, deliberate, or take action on any item of 

business that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body. 

(2) Paragraph (1) shall not be construed as preventing an employee or official of 

a local agency, from engaging in separate conversations or communications 
outside of a meeting authorized by this chapter with members of a legislative 

body in order to answer questions or provide information regarding a matter that 
is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the local agency, if that person does 

not communicate to members of the legislative body the comments or position of 
any other member or members of the legislative body. 

(c) Nothing in this section shall impose the requirements of this chapter upon any 
of the following: 

(1) Individual contacts or conversations between a member of a legislative body 
and any other person that do not violate subdivision (b). 

(2) The attendance of a majority of the members of a legislative body at a 
conference or similar gathering open to the public that involves a discussion of 

issues of general interest to the public or to public agencies of the type 
represented by the legislative body, provided that a majority of the members do 

not discuss among themselves, other than as part of the scheduled program, 
business of a specified nature that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the 
local agency. Nothing in this paragraph is intended to allow members of the 

public free admission to a conference or similar gathering at which the organizers 
have required other participants or registrants to pay fees or charges as a 

condition of attendance. 



 
(3) The attendance of a majority of the members of a legislative body at an open 

and publicized meeting organized to address a topic of local community concern 
by a person or organization other than the local agency, provided that a majority 

of the members do not discuss among themselves, other than as part of the 
scheduled program, business of a specific nature that is within the subject matter 

jurisdiction of the legislative body of the local agency. 

(4) The attendance of a majority of the members of a legislative body at an open 

and noticed meeting of another body of the local agency, or at an open and 
noticed meeting of a legislative body of another local agency, provided that a 
majority of the members do not discuss among themselves, other than as part of 

the scheduled meeting, business of a specific nature that is within the subject 
matter jurisdiction of the legislative body of the local agency. 

(5) The attendance of a majority of the members of a legislative body at a purely 
social or ceremonial occasion, provided that a majority of the members do not 

discuss among themselves business of a specific nature that is within the subject 
matter jurisdiction of the legislative body of the local agency. 

(6) The attendance of a majority of the members of a legislative body at an open 
and noticed meeting of a standing committee of that body, provided that the 

members of the legislative body who are not members of the standing committee 
attend only as observers. 

(d) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2026. 

(Repealed (in Sec. 1) and added by Stats. 2020, Ch. 89, Sec. 2. (AB 992) Effective January 1, 2021. 
Section operative January 1, 2026, by its own provisions.) 

 
 
GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV 

TITLE 5. LOCAL AGENCIES [50001 - 57607] 
  ( Title 5 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 

   
DIVISION 2. CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 55821] 
  ( Division 2 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 

   
PART 1. POWERS AND DUTIES COMMON TO CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER 

AGENCIES [53000 - 54999.7] 
  ( Part 1 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 

   
 

CHAPTER 9. Meetings [54950 - 54963] 
  ( Chapter 9 added by Stats. 1953, Ch. 1588. ) 
 
   
54953.   



 
(a) All meetings of the legislative body of a local agency shall be open and public, 

and all persons shall be permitted to attend any meeting of the legislative body of a 
local agency, except as otherwise provided in this chapter. 

(b) (1) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the legislative body of a local 
agency may use teleconferencing for the benefit of the public and the legislative 

body of a local agency in connection with any meeting or proceeding authorized by 
law. The teleconferenced meeting or proceeding shall comply with all otherwise 

applicable requirements of this chapter and all otherwise applicable provisions of 
law relating to a specific type of meeting or proceeding. 

(2) Teleconferencing, as authorized by this section, may be used for all purposes 

in connection with any meeting within the subject matter jurisdiction of the 
legislative body. If the legislative body of a local agency elects to use 

teleconferencing, the legislative body of a local agency shall comply with all of the 
following: 

(A) All votes taken during a teleconferenced meeting shall be by rollcall. 

(B) The teleconferenced meetings shall be conducted in a manner that 

protects the statutory and constitutional rights of the parties or the public 
appearing before the legislative body of a local agency. 

(C) The legislative body shall give notice of the meeting and post agendas as 
otherwise required by this chapter. 

(D) The legislative body shall allow members of the public to access the 
meeting and the agenda shall provide an opportunity for members of the 

public to address the legislative body directly pursuant to Section 54954.3. 

(3) If the legislative body of a local agency elects to use teleconferencing, it shall 

post agendas at all teleconference locations. Each teleconference location shall be 
identified in the notice and agenda of the meeting or proceeding, and each 

teleconference location shall be accessible to the public. During the 
teleconference, at least a quorum of the members of the legislative body shall 
participate from locations within the boundaries of the territory over which the 

local agency exercises jurisdiction, except as provided in subdivisions (d) and (e). 

(c) (1) No legislative body shall take action by secret ballot, whether preliminary or 

final. 

(2) The legislative body of a local agency shall publicly report any action taken 

and the vote or abstention on that action of each member present for the action. 

(3) Prior to taking final action, the legislative body shall orally report a summary 

of a recommendation for a final action on the salaries, salary schedules, or 
compensation paid in the form of fringe benefits of a local agency executive, as 

defined in subdivision (d) of Section 3511.1, during the open meeting in which 



 
the final action is to be taken. This paragraph shall not affect the public’s right 

under the California Public Records Act (Division 10 (commencing with Section 
7920.000) of Title 1) to inspect or copy records created or received in the process 

of developing the recommendation. 

(d) (1) Notwithstanding the provisions relating to a quorum in paragraph (3) of 

subdivision (b), if a health authority conducts a teleconference meeting, members 
who are outside the jurisdiction of the authority may be counted toward the 

establishment of a quorum when participating in the teleconference if at least 50 
percent of the number of members that would establish a quorum are present 
within the boundaries of the territory over which the authority exercises 

jurisdiction, and the health authority provides a teleconference number, and 
associated access codes, if any, that allows any person to call in to participate in 

the meeting and the number and access codes are identified in the notice and 
agenda of the meeting. 

(2) Nothing in this subdivision shall be construed as discouraging health authority 
members from regularly meeting at a common physical site within the jurisdiction 

of the authority or from using teleconference locations within or near the 
jurisdiction of the authority. A teleconference meeting for which a quorum is 

established pursuant to this subdivision shall be subject to all other requirements 
of this section. 

(3) For purposes of this subdivision, a health authority means any entity created 
pursuant to Sections 14018.7, 14087.31, 14087.35, 14087.36, 14087.38, and 

14087.9605 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, any joint powers authority 
created pursuant to Article 1 (commencing with Section 6500) of Chapter 5 of 

Division 7 for the purpose of contracting pursuant to Section 14087.3 of the 
Welfare and Institutions Code, and any advisory committee to a county-

sponsored health plan licensed pursuant to Chapter 2.2 (commencing with 
Section 1340) of Division 2 of the Health and Safety Code if the advisory 
committee has 12 or more members. 

(e) (1) The legislative body of a local agency may use teleconferencing without 
complying with the requirements of paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) if the 

legislative body complies with the requirements of paragraph (2) of this subdivision 
in either of the following circumstances: 

(A) The legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of 
emergency for the purpose of determining, by majority vote, whether as a 

result of the emergency, meeting in person would present imminent risks to 
the health or safety of attendees. 

(B) The legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of 
emergency and has determined, by majority vote, pursuant to subparagraph 

(A), that, as a result of the emergency, meeting in person would present 
imminent risks to the health or safety of attendees. 



 
(2) A legislative body that holds a meeting pursuant to this subdivision shall do 

all of the following: 

(A) In each instance in which notice of the time of the teleconferenced 

meeting is otherwise given or the agenda for the meeting is otherwise posted, 
the legislative body shall also give notice of the means by which members of 

the public may access the meeting and offer public comment. The agenda 
shall identify and include an opportunity for all persons to attend via a call-in 

option or an internet-based service option. 

(B) In the event of a disruption that prevents the legislative body from 
broadcasting the meeting to members of the public using the call-in option or 

internet-based service option, or in the event of a disruption within the local 
agency’s control that prevents members of the public from offering public 

comments using the call-in option or internet-based service option, the 
legislative body shall take no further action on items appearing on the 

meeting agenda until public access to the meeting via the call-in option or 
internet-based service option is restored. Actions taken on agenda items 

during a disruption that prevents the legislative body from broadcasting the 
meeting may be challenged pursuant to Section 54960.1. 

(C) The legislative body shall not require public comments to be submitted in 
advance of the meeting and must provide an opportunity for the public to 

address the legislative body and offer comment in real time. 

(D) Notwithstanding Section 54953.3, an individual desiring to provide public 

comment through the use of an internet website, or other online platform, not 
under the control of the local legislative body, that requires registration to log 

in to a teleconference may be required to register as required by the third-
party internet website or online platform to participate. 

(E) (i) A legislative body that provides a timed public comment period for each 
agenda item shall not close the public comment period for the agenda item, or 
the opportunity to register, pursuant to subparagraph (D), to provide public 

comment until that timed public comment period has elapsed. 

(ii) A legislative body that does not provide a timed public comment 

period, but takes public comment separately on each agenda item, shall 
allow a reasonable amount of time per agenda item to allow public 

members the opportunity to provide public comment, including time for 
members of the public to register pursuant to subparagraph (D), or 

otherwise be recognized for the purpose of providing public comment. 

(iii) A legislative body that provides a timed general public comment period 

that does not correspond to a specific agenda item shall not close the 
public comment period or the opportunity to register, pursuant to 



 
subparagraph (D), until the timed general public comment period has 

elapsed. 

(3) If a state of emergency remains active, in order to continue to teleconference 

without compliance with paragraph (3) of subdivision (b), the legislative body 
shall, not later than 45 days after teleconferencing for the first time pursuant to 

subparagraph (A) or (B) of paragraph (1), and every 45 days thereafter, make 
the following findings by majority vote: 

(A) The legislative body has reconsidered the circumstances of the state of 
emergency. 

(B) The state of emergency continues to directly impact the ability of the 

members to meet safely in person. 

(4) This subdivision shall not be construed to require the legislative body to 

provide a physical location from which the public may attend or comment. 

(f) (1) The legislative body of a local agency may use teleconferencing without 

complying with paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) if, during the teleconference 
meeting, at least a quorum of the members of the legislative body participates in 

person from a singular physical location clearly identified on the agenda, which 
location shall be open to the public and situated within the boundaries of the 

territory over which the local agency exercises jurisdiction and the legislative body 
complies with all of the following: 

(A) The legislative body shall provide at least one of the following as a means 
by which the public may remotely hear and visually observe the meeting, and 

remotely address the legislative body: 

(i) A two-way audiovisual platform. 

(ii) A two-way telephonic service and a live webcasting of the meeting. 

(B) In each instance in which notice of the time of the teleconferenced 

meeting is otherwise given or the agenda for the meeting is otherwise posted, 
the legislative body shall also give notice of the means by which members of 
the public may access the meeting and offer public comment. 

(C) The agenda shall identify and include an opportunity for all persons to 
attend and address the legislative body directly pursuant to Section 54954.3 

via a call-in option, via an internet-based service option, and at the in-person 
location of the meeting. 

(D) In the event of a disruption that prevents the legislative body from 
broadcasting the meeting to members of the public using the call-in option or 

internet-based service option, or in the event of a disruption within the local 



 
agency’s control that prevents members of the public from offering public 

comments using the call-in option or internet-based service option, the 
legislative body shall take no further action on items appearing on the 

meeting agenda until public access to the meeting via the call-in option or 
internet-based service option is restored. Actions taken on agenda items 

during a disruption that prevents the legislative body from broadcasting the 
meeting may be challenged pursuant to Section 54960.1. 

(E) The legislative body shall not require public comments to be submitted in 
advance of the meeting and must provide an opportunity for the public to 
address the legislative body and offer comment in real time. 

(F) Notwithstanding Section 54953.3, an individual desiring to provide public 
comment through the use of an internet website, or other online platform, not 

under the control of the local legislative body, that requires registration to log 
in to a teleconference may be required to register as required by the third-

party internet website or online platform to participate. 

(2) A member of the legislative body shall only participate in the meeting 

remotely pursuant to this subdivision, if all of the following requirements are met: 

(A) One of the following circumstances applies: 

(i) The member notifies the legislative body at the earliest opportunity 
possible, including at the start of a regular meeting, of their need to 

participate remotely for just cause, including a general description of the 
circumstances relating to their need to appear remotely at the given 

meeting. The provisions of this clause shall not be used by any member of 
the legislative body for more than two meetings per calendar year. 

(ii) The member requests the legislative body to allow them to participate 
in the meeting remotely due to emergency circumstances and the 

legislative body takes action to approve the request. The legislative body 
shall request a general description of the circumstances relating to their 
need to appear remotely at the given meeting. A general description of an 

item generally need not exceed 20 words and shall not require the member 
to disclose any medical diagnosis or disability, or any personal medical 

information that is already exempt under existing law, such as the 
Confidentiality of Medical Information Act (Chapter 1 (commencing with 

Section 56) of Part 2.6 of Division 1 of the Civil Code). For the purposes of 
this clause, the following requirements apply: 

(I) A member shall make a request to participate remotely at a meeting 
pursuant to this clause as soon as possible. The member shall make a 

separate request for each meeting in which they seek to participate 
remotely. 



 
(II) The legislative body may take action on a request to participate 

remotely at the earliest opportunity. If the request does not allow 
sufficient time to place proposed action on such a request on the posted 

agenda for the meeting for which the request is made, the legislative 
body may take action at the beginning of the meeting in accordance 

with paragraph (4) of subdivision (b) of Section 54954.2. 

(B) The member shall publicly disclose at the meeting before any action is 

taken, whether any other individuals 18 years of age or older are present in 
the room at the remote location with the member, and the general nature of 
the member’s relationship with any such individuals. 

(C) The member shall participate through both audio and visual technology. 

(3) The provisions of this subdivision shall not serve as a means for any member 

of a legislative body to participate in meetings of the legislative body solely by 
teleconference from a remote location for a period of more than three 

consecutive months or 20 percent of the regular meetings for the local agency 
within a calendar year, or more than two meetings if the legislative body 

regularly meets fewer than 10 times per calendar year. 

(g) The legislative body shall have and implement a procedure for receiving and 

swiftly resolving requests for reasonable accommodation for individuals with 
disabilities, consistent with the federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 

U.S.C. Sec. 12132), and resolving any doubt in favor of accessibility. In each 
instance in which notice of the time of the meeting is otherwise given or the agenda 

for the meeting is otherwise posted, the legislative body shall also give notice of the 
procedure for receiving and resolving requests for accommodation. 

(h) The legislative body shall conduct meetings subject to this chapter consistent 
with applicable civil rights and nondiscrimination laws. 

(i) (1) Nothing in this section shall prohibit a legislative body from providing the 
public with additional teleconference locations. 

(2) Nothing in this section shall prohibit a legislative body from providing the 

public with additional physical locations in which the public may observe and 
address the legislative body by electronic means. 

(j) For the purposes of this section, the following definitions shall apply: 

(1) “Emergency circumstances” means a physical or family medical emergency 

that prevents a member from attending in person. 

(2) “Just cause” means any of the following: 

(A) A childcare or caregiving need of a child, parent, grandparent, grandchild, 
sibling, spouse, or domestic partner that requires them to participate 



 
remotely. “Child,” “parent,” “grandparent,” “grandchild,” and “sibling” have 

the same meaning as those terms do in Section 12945.2. 

(B) A contagious illness that prevents a member from attending in person. 

(C) A need related to a physical or mental disability as defined in Sections 
12926 and 12926.1 not otherwise accommodated by subdivision (g). 

(D) Travel while on official business of the legislative body or another state or 
local agency. 

(3) “Remote location” means a location from which a member of a legislative 
body participates in a meeting pursuant to subdivision (f), other than any 
physical meeting location designated in the notice of the meeting. Remote 

locations need not be accessible to the public. 

(4) “Remote participation” means participation in a meeting by teleconference at 

a location other than any physical meeting location designated in the notice of 
the meeting. Watching or listening to a meeting via webcasting or another similar 

electronic medium that does not permit members to interactively hear, discuss, 
or deliberate on matters, does not constitute remote participation. 

(5) “State of emergency” means a state of emergency proclaimed pursuant to 
Section 8625 of the California Emergency Services Act (Article 1 (commencing 

with Section 8550) of Chapter 7 of Division 1 of Title 2). 

(6) “Teleconference” means a meeting of a legislative body, the members of 

which are in different locations, connected by electronic means, through either 
audio or video, or both. 

(7) “Two-way audiovisual platform” means an online platform that provides 
participants with the ability to participate in a meeting via both an interactive 

video conference and a two-way telephonic function. 

(8) “Two-way telephonic service” means a telephone service that does not 

require internet access, is not provided as part of a two-way audiovisual platform, 
and allows participants to dial a telephone number to listen and verbally 
participate. 

(9) “Webcasting” means a streaming video broadcast online or on television, 
using streaming media technology to distribute a single content source to many 

simultaneous listeners and viewers. 

(k) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2026, and as of that 

date is repealed. 



 
(Amended (as amended by Stats. 2022, Ch. 285, Sec. 1) by Stats. 2023, Ch. 534, Sec. 1. (AB 557) 
Effective January 1, 2024. Repealed as of January 1, 2026, by its own provisions. See later operative 
version, as amended by Sec. 2 of Stats. 2023, Ch. 534.) 

 
 
GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV 

TITLE 5. LOCAL AGENCIES [50001 - 57607] 
  ( Title 5 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 

DIVISION 2. CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 55821] 
  ( Division 2 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 

PART 1. POWERS AND DUTIES COMMON TO CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER 
AGENCIES [53000 - 54999.7] 

  ( Part 1 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 
 

CHAPTER 9. Meetings [54950 - 54963] 
  ( Chapter 9 added by Stats. 1953, Ch. 1588. ) 
 

54953. 
(a) All meetings of the legislative body of a local agency shall be open and public, 
and all persons shall be permitted to attend any meeting of the legislative body of a 

local agency, except as otherwise provided in this chapter. 

(b) (1) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the legislative body of a local 
agency may use teleconferencing for the benefit of the public and the legislative 

body of a local agency in connection with any meeting or proceeding authorized by 
law. The teleconferenced meeting or proceeding shall comply with all otherwise 

applicable requirements of this chapter and all otherwise applicable provisions of 
law relating to a specific type of meeting or proceeding. 

(2) Teleconferencing, as authorized by this section, may be used for all purposes 
in connection with any meeting within the subject matter jurisdiction of the 

legislative body. If the legislative body of a local agency elects to use 
teleconferencing, the legislative body of a local agency shall comply with all of the 

following: 

(A) All votes taken during a teleconferenced meeting shall be by rollcall. 

(B) The teleconferenced meetings shall be conducted in a manner that 
protects the statutory and constitutional rights of the parties or the public 

appearing before the legislative body of a local agency. 

(C) The legislative body shall give notice of the meeting and post agendas as 

otherwise required by this chapter. 

(D) The legislative body shall allow members of the public to access the 

meeting and the agenda shall provide an opportunity for members of the 
public to address the legislative body directly pursuant to Section 54954.3. 



 
(3) If the legislative body of a local agency elects to use teleconferencing, it shall 

post agendas at all teleconference locations. Each teleconference location shall be 
identified in the notice and agenda of the meeting or proceeding, and each 

teleconference location shall be accessible to the public. During the 
teleconference, at least a quorum of the members of the legislative body shall 

participate from locations within the boundaries of the territory over which the 
local agency exercises jurisdiction, except as provided in subdivisions (d) and (e). 

(c) (1) No legislative body shall take action by secret ballot, whether preliminary or 
final. 

(2) The legislative body of a local agency shall publicly report any action taken 

and the vote or abstention on that action of each member present for the action. 

(3) Prior to taking final action, the legislative body shall orally report a summary 

of a recommendation for a final action on the salaries, salary schedules, or 
compensation paid in the form of fringe benefits of a local agency executive, as 

defined in subdivision (d) of Section 3511.1, during the open meeting in which 
the final action is to be taken. This paragraph shall not affect the public’s right 

under the California Public Records Act (Division 10 (commencing with Section 
7920.000) of Title 1) to inspect or copy records created or received in the process 

of developing the recommendation. 

(d) (1) Notwithstanding the provisions relating to a quorum in paragraph (3) of 

subdivision (b), if a health authority conducts a teleconference meeting, members 
who are outside the jurisdiction of the authority may be counted toward the 

establishment of a quorum when participating in the teleconference if at least 50 
percent of the number of members that would establish a quorum are present 

within the boundaries of the territory over which the authority exercises 
jurisdiction, and the health authority provides a teleconference number, and 

associated access codes, if any, that allows any person to call in to participate in 
the meeting and the number and access codes are identified in the notice and 
agenda of the meeting. 

(2) Nothing in this subdivision shall be construed as discouraging health authority 
members from regularly meeting at a common physical site within the jurisdiction 

of the authority or from using teleconference locations within or near the 
jurisdiction of the authority. A teleconference meeting for which a quorum is 

established pursuant to this subdivision shall be subject to all other requirements 
of this section. 

(3) For purposes of this subdivision, a health authority means any entity created 
pursuant to Sections 14018.7, 14087.31, 14087.35, 14087.36, 14087.38, and 

14087.9605 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, any joint powers authority 
created pursuant to Article 1 (commencing with Section 6500) of Chapter 5 of 

Division 7 for the purpose of contracting pursuant to Section 14087.3 of the 
Welfare and Institutions Code, and any advisory committee to a county-



 
sponsored health plan licensed pursuant to Chapter 2.2 (commencing with 

Section 1340) of Division 2 of the Health and Safety Code if the advisory 
committee has 12 or more members. 

(e) (1) The legislative body of a local agency may use teleconferencing without 
complying with the requirements of paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) if the 

legislative body complies with the requirements of paragraph (2) of this subdivision 
in either of the following circumstances: 

(A) The legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of 
emergency for the purpose of determining, by majority vote, whether as a 
result of the emergency, meeting in person would present imminent risks to 

the health or safety of attendees. 

(B) The legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of 

emergency and has determined, by majority vote, pursuant to subparagraph 
(A), that, as a result of the emergency, meeting in person would present 

imminent risks to the health or safety of attendees. 

(2) A legislative body that holds a meeting pursuant to this subdivision shall do 

all of the following: 

(A) In each instance in which notice of the time of the teleconferenced 

meeting is otherwise given or the agenda for the meeting is otherwise posted, 
the legislative body shall also give notice of the means by which members of 

the public may access the meeting and offer public comment. The agenda 
shall identify and include an opportunity for all persons to attend via a call-in 

option or an internet-based service option. 

(B) In the event of a disruption that prevents the legislative body from 

broadcasting the meeting to members of the public using the call-in option or 
internet-based service option, or in the event of a disruption within the local 

agency’s control that prevents members of the public from offering public 
comments using the call-in option or internet-based service option, the 
legislative body shall take no further action on items appearing on the 

meeting agenda until public access to the meeting via the call-in option or 
internet-based service option is restored. Actions taken on agenda items 

during a disruption that prevents the legislative body from broadcasting the 
meeting may be challenged pursuant to Section 54960.1. 

(C) The legislative body shall not require public comments to be submitted in 
advance of the meeting and must provide an opportunity for the public to 

address the legislative body and offer comment in real time. 

(D) Notwithstanding Section 54953.3, an individual desiring to provide public 

comment through the use of an internet website, or other online platform, not 
under the control of the local legislative body, that requires registration to log 



 
in to a teleconference may be required to register as required by the third-

party internet website or online platform to participate. 

(E) (i) A legislative body that provides a timed public comment period for each 

agenda item shall not close the public comment period for the agenda item, or 
the opportunity to register, pursuant to subparagraph (D), to provide public 

comment until that timed public comment period has elapsed. 

(ii) A legislative body that does not provide a timed public comment 

period, but takes public comment separately on each agenda item, shall 
allow a reasonable amount of time per agenda item to allow public 
members the opportunity to provide public comment, including time for 

members of the public to register pursuant to subparagraph (D), or 
otherwise be recognized for the purpose of providing public comment. 

(iii) A legislative body that provides a timed general public comment period 
that does not correspond to a specific agenda item shall not close the 

public comment period or the opportunity to register, pursuant to 
subparagraph (D), until the timed general public comment period has 

elapsed. 

(3) If a state of emergency remains active, in order to continue to teleconference 

without compliance with paragraph (3) of subdivision (b), the legislative body 
shall, not later than 45 days after teleconferencing for the first time pursuant to 

subparagraph (A) or (B) of paragraph (1), and every 45 days thereafter, make 
the following findings by majority vote: 

(A) The legislative body has reconsidered the circumstances of the state of 
emergency. 

(B) The state of emergency continues to directly impact the ability of the 
members to meet safely in person. 

(4) This subdivision shall not be construed to require the legislative body to 
provide a physical location from which the public may attend or comment. 

(f) The legislative body shall have and implement a procedure for receiving and 

swiftly resolving requests for reasonable accommodation for individuals with 
disabilities, consistent with the federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 

U.S.C. Sec. 12132), and resolving any doubt in favor of accessibility. In each 
instance in which notice of the time of the meeting is otherwise given or the agenda 

for the meeting is otherwise posted, the legislative body shall also give notice of the 
procedure for receiving and resolving requests for accommodation. 

(g) The legislative body shall conduct meetings subject to this chapter consistent 
with applicable civil rights and nondiscrimination laws. 



 
(h) (1) Nothing in this section shall prohibit a legislative body from providing the 

public with additional teleconference locations. 

(2) Nothing in this section shall prohibit a legislative body from providing the 

public with additional physical locations in which the public may observe and 
address the legislative body by electronic means. 

(i) For the purposes of this section, the following definitions shall apply: 

(1) “State of emergency” means a state of emergency proclaimed pursuant to 

Section 8625 of the California Emergency Services Act (Article 1 (commencing 
with Section 8550) of Chapter 7 of Division 1 of Title 2). 

(2) “Teleconference” means a meeting of a legislative body, the members of 

which are in different locations, connected by electronic means, through either 
audio or video, or both. 

(j) This section shall become operative January 1, 2026. 

(Amended (as amended by Stats. 2022, Ch. 285, Sec. 2) by Stats. 2023, Ch. 534, Sec. 2. (AB 557) Effective 
January 1, 2024. Operative January 1, 2026, by its own provisions.) 

 
 
54953.1. 
The provisions of this chapter shall not be construed to prohibit the members of the 
legislative body of a local agency from giving testimony in private before a grand 

jury, either as individuals or as a body. 
(Added by Stats. 1979, Ch. 950.) 

54953.2. 
All meetings of a legislative body of a local agency that are open and public shall 

meet the protections and prohibitions contained in Section 202 of the Americans 
with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sec. 12132), and the federal rules and 
regulations adopted in implementation thereof. 
(Added by Stats. 2002, Ch. 300, Sec. 5. Effective January 1, 2003.) 

54953.3. 
A member of the public shall not be required, as a condition to attendance at a 
meeting of a legislative body of a local agency, to register his or her name, to 

provide other information, to complete a questionnaire, or otherwise to fulfill any 
condition precedent to his or her attendance. 

If an attendance list, register, questionnaire, or other similar document is posted at 
or near the entrance to the room where the meeting is to be held, or is circulated to 

the persons present during the meeting, it shall state clearly that the signing, 
registering, or completion of the document is voluntary, and that all persons may 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54953.1.','6.2.1.22','1979','950','',%20'id_c2882ee9-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54953.2.','6.2.1.22','2002','300','5',%20'id_c2882eeb-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54953.3.','6.2.1.22','1981','968','28',%20'id_c2882eed-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')


 
attend the meeting regardless of whether a person signs, registers, or completes 

the document. 
(Amended by Stats. 1981, Ch. 968, Sec. 28.) 

54953.5. 
(a) Any person attending an open and public meeting of a legislative body of a local 

agency shall have the right to record the proceedings with an audio or video 
recorder or a still or motion picture camera in the absence of a reasonable finding 
by the legislative body of the local agency that the recording cannot continue 

without noise, illumination, or obstruction of view that constitutes, or would 
constitute, a persistent disruption of the proceedings. 

(b) Any audio or video recording of an open and public meeting made for whatever 
purpose by or at the direction of the local agency shall be subject to inspection 

pursuant to the California Public Records Act (Division 10 (commencing with Section 
7920.000) of Title 1), but, notwithstanding Section 34090, may be erased or 

destroyed 30 days after the recording. Any inspection of an audio or video 
recording shall be provided without charge on equipment made available by the 

local agency. 
(Amended by Stats. 2021, Ch. 615, Sec. 205. (AB 474) Effective January 1, 2022. Operative January 1, 2023, 

pursuant to Sec. 463 of Stats. 2021, Ch. 615.) 

54953.6. 
No legislative body of a local agency shall prohibit or otherwise restrict the 

broadcast of its open and public meetings in the absence of a reasonable finding 
that the broadcast cannot be accomplished without noise, illumination, or 

obstruction of view that would constitute a persistent disruption of the proceedings. 
(Amended by Stats. 1994, Ch. 32, Sec. 6. Effective March 30, 1994. Operative April 1, 1994, by Sec. 23 of Ch. 32.) 

54953.7. 
Notwithstanding any other provision of law, legislative bodies of local agencies may 

impose requirements upon themselves which allow greater access to their meetings 
than prescribed by the minimal standards set forth in this chapter. In addition 

thereto, an elected legislative body of a local agency may impose such 
requirements on those appointed legislative bodies of the local agency of which all 

or a majority of the members are appointed by or under the authority of the elected 
legislative body. 
(Added by Stats. 1981, Ch. 968, Sec. 29.) 

54953.8. 
(a) (1) An eligible legislative body may use teleconferencing without complying with 
paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) of Section 54953 if the eligible legislative body 
complies with paragraphs (2) to (4), inclusive. 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54953.5.','6.2.1.22','2021','615','205',%20'id_ca113417-5f75-11ec-b9e6-e768d1537d5c')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54953.7.','6.2.1.22','1981','968','29',%20'id_c289b593-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54953.7.','6.2.1.22','1981','968','29',%20'id_c289b593-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54953.8.','6.2.1.22','2023','605','2',%20'id_c7ecebd3-684c-11ee-9c78-87c31dafaaa8')


 
(2) An eligible legislative body may only use teleconferencing as described in this 

section after all the following have occurred: 

(A) The city council for a city described in subdivision (c) considers whether to 

adopt a resolution to authorize eligible legislative bodies to use 
teleconferencing as described in paragraph (1) at an open and regular 

meeting. 

(B) If the city council adopts a resolution described in subparagraph (A), an 

eligible legislative body may elect to use teleconferencing pursuant to this 
section if two-thirds of the eligible legislative body votes to do so. The eligible 
legislative body shall notify the city council if it elects to use teleconferencing 

pursuant to this section and its justification for doing so. 

(C) Upon receiving notification from a legislative body as described in 

subparagraph (B), the city council may adopt a resolution to prohibit the 
eligible legislative body from using teleconferencing pursuant to this section. 

(3) After completing the requirements in paragraph (2), an eligible legislative 
body that holds a meeting pursuant to this subdivision shall do all of the 

following: 

(A) In each instance in which notice of the time of the teleconferenced 

meeting is otherwise given or the agenda for the meeting is otherwise posted, 
the eligible legislative body shall also give notice of the means by which 

members of the public may access the meeting and offer public comment. The 
agenda shall identify and include an opportunity for all persons to attend via a 

call-in option or an internet-based service option. 

(B) In the event of a disruption that prevents the eligible legislative body from 

broadcasting the meeting to members of the public using the call-in option or 
internet-based service option, or in the event of a disruption within the eligible 

legislative body’s control that prevents members of the public from offering 
public comments using the call-in option or internet-based service option, the 
eligible legislative body shall take no further action on items appearing on the 

meeting agenda until public access to the meeting via the call-in option or 
internet-based service option is restored. Actions taken on agenda items 

during a disruption that prevents the eligible legislative body from 
broadcasting the meeting may be challenged pursuant to Section 54960.1. 

(C) The eligible legislative body shall not require public comments to be 
submitted in advance of the meeting and shall provide an opportunity for the 

public to address the legislative body and offer comment in real time. 

(D) Notwithstanding Section 54953.3, an individual desiring to provide public 

comment through the use of an internet website, or other online platform, not 



 
under the control of the eligible legislative body, that requires registration to 

log in to a teleconference may be required to register as required by the third-
party internet website or online platform to participate. 

(E) (i) An eligible legislative body that provides a timed public comment period 
for each agenda item shall not close the public comment period for the agenda 

item, or the opportunity to register, pursuant to subparagraph (D), to provide 
public comment until that timed public comment period has elapsed. 

(ii) An eligible legislative body that does not provide a timed public 
comment period, but takes public comment separately on each agenda 
item, shall allow a reasonable amount of time per agenda item to allow 

public members the opportunity to provide public comment, including time 
for members of the public to register pursuant to subparagraph (D), or 

otherwise be recognized for the purpose of providing public comment. 

(iii) An eligible legislative body that provides a timed general public 

comment period that does not correspond to a specific agenda item shall 
not close the public comment period or the opportunity to register, 

pursuant to subparagraph (D), until the timed general public comment 
period has elapsed. 

(F) At least a quorum of the members of the eligible legislative body shall 
participate from locations within the boundaries of the city in which the 

eligible legislative body is established. 

(G) At least once per year, at least a quorum of the members of the eligible 

legislative body shall participate in person from a singular physical location 
that is open to the public and within the boundaries of the eligible legislative 

body. 

(4) An eligible legislative body that holds a meeting pursuant to this subdivision 

shall do the following, as applicable: 

(A) If the meeting is during regular business hours of the offices of the city 
council member that represents the area that includes the eligible legislative 

body, the eligible legislative body shall provide a publicly accessible physical 
location from which the public may attend or comment, which shall be the 

offices of the city council member who represents the area where the eligible 
legislative body is located, unless the eligible legislative body identifies an 

alternative location. 

(B) If the meeting is outside regular business hours, the eligible legislative 

body shall make reasonable efforts to accommodate any member of the public 
that requests an accommodation to participate in the meeting. For the 

purposes of this subparagraph, “accommodation” means providing a publicly 



 
accessible physical location for the member of the public to participate from, 

providing access to technology necessary to participate in the meeting, or 
identifying locations or resources available that could provide the member of 

the public with an opportunity to participate in the meeting. 

(b) The legislative body shall comply with all other requirements of Section 54953. 

(c) As used in this section, “eligible legislative body” means a neighborhood council 
that is an advisory body with the purpose to promote more citizen participation in 

government and make government more responsive to local needs that is 
established pursuant to the charter of a city with a population of more than 
3,000,000 people that is subject to this chapter. 

(d) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2026, and as of that 
date is repealed. 
(Added by Stats. 2023, Ch. 605, Sec. 2. (SB 411) Effective October 8, 2023. Repealed as of January 1, 2026, by its 
own provisions.) 

54954. 
(a) Each legislative body of a local agency, except for advisory committees or 

standing committees, shall provide, by ordinance, resolution, bylaws, or by 
whatever other rule is required for the conduct of business by that body, the time 

and place for holding regular meetings. Meetings of advisory committees or 
standing committees, for which an agenda is posted at least 72 hours in advance of 
the meeting pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section 54954.2, shall be considered for 

purposes of this chapter as regular meetings of the legislative body. 
(b) Regular and special meetings of the legislative body shall be held within the 

boundaries of the territory over which the local agency exercises jurisdiction, except 
to do any of the following: 

(1) Comply with state or federal law or court order, or attend a judicial or 
administrative proceeding to which the local agency is a party. 

(2) Inspect real or personal property which cannot be conveniently brought within 
the boundaries of the territory over which the local agency exercises jurisdiction 

provided that the topic of the meeting is limited to items directly related to the 
real or personal property. 

(3) Participate in meetings or discussions of multiagency significance that are 
outside the boundaries of a local agency’s jurisdiction. However, any meeting or 

discussion held pursuant to this subdivision shall take place within the jurisdiction 
of one of the participating local agencies and be noticed by all participating 

agencies as provided for in this chapter. 

(4) Meet in the closest meeting facility if the local agency has no meeting facility 

within the boundaries of the territory over which the local agency exercises 
jurisdiction, or at the principal office of the local agency if that office is located 

outside the territory over which the agency exercises jurisdiction. 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54954.','6.2.1.22','2004','257','1',%20'id_e302b677-6513-11d9-bd15-b3cbb5da6f1d')


 
(5) Meet outside their immediate jurisdiction with elected or appointed officials of 

the United States or the State of California when a local meeting would be 
impractical, solely to discuss a legislative or regulatory issue affecting the local 

agency and over which the federal or state officials have jurisdiction. 

(6) Meet outside their immediate jurisdiction if the meeting takes place in or 

nearby a facility owned by the agency, provided that the topic of the meeting is 
limited to items directly related to the facility. 

(7) Visit the office of the local agency’s legal counsel for a closed session on 
pending litigation held pursuant to Section 54956.9, when to do so would reduce 
legal fees or costs. 

(c) Meetings of the governing board of a school district shall be held within the 
district, except under the circumstances enumerated in subdivision (b), or to do any 

of the following: 
(1) Attend a conference on nonadversarial collective bargaining techniques. 

(2) Interview members of the public residing in another district with reference to 
the trustees’ potential employment of an applicant for the position of the 

superintendent of the district. 

(3) Interview a potential employee from another district. 

(d) Meetings of a joint powers authority shall occur within the territory of at least 
one of its member agencies, or as provided in subdivision (b). However, a joint 

powers authority which has members throughout the state may meet at any facility 
in the state which complies with the requirements of Section 54961. 

(e) If, by reason of fire, flood, earthquake, or other emergency, it shall be unsafe to 
meet in the place designated, the meetings shall be held for the duration of the 

emergency at the place designated by the presiding officer of the legislative body or 
his or her designee in a notice to the local media that have requested notice 

pursuant to Section 54956, by the most rapid means of communication available at 
the time. 
(Amended by Stats. 2004, Ch. 257, Sec. 1. Effective January 1, 2005.) 

54954.1. 
Any person may request that a copy of the agenda, or a copy of all the documents 

constituting the agenda packet, of any meeting of a legislative body be mailed to 
that person. If a local agency has an internet website, the legislative body or its 

designee shall email a copy of, or website link to, the agenda or a copy of all the 
documents constituting the agenda packet if the person requests that the item or 

items be delivered by email. If the local agency determines it is technologically 
infeasible to send a copy of all documents constituting the agenda packet or a link 

to a website that contains the documents by email or by other electronic means, 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54954.1.','6.2.1.22','2021','763','1',%20'id_ce88b279-5f75-11ec-b9e6-e768d1537d5c')


 
the legislative body or its designee shall send by mail a copy of the agenda or a 

website link to the agenda and mail a copy of all other documents constituting the 
agenda packet in accordance with the mailing requirements established pursuant to 

this section. If requested, the agenda and documents in the agenda packet shall be 
made available in appropriate alternative formats to persons with a disability, as 

required by Section 202 of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. 
Sec. 12132), and the federal rules and regulations adopted in implementation 

thereof. Upon receipt of the written request, the legislative body or its designee 
shall cause the requested materials to be mailed at the time the agenda is posted 
pursuant to Section 54954.2 and 54956 or upon distribution to all, or a majority of 

all, of the members of a legislative body, whichever occurs first. Any request for 
mailed copies of agendas or agenda packets shall be valid for the calendar year in 

which it is filed, and must be renewed following January 1 of each year. The 
legislative body may establish a fee for mailing the agenda or agenda packet, which 

fee shall not exceed the cost of providing the service. Failure of the requesting 
person to receive the agenda or agenda packet pursuant to this section shall not 

constitute grounds for invalidation of the actions of the legislative body taken at the 
meeting for which the agenda or agenda packet was not received. 
(Amended by Stats. 2021, Ch. 763, Sec. 1. (SB 274) Effective January 1, 2022.) 

54954.2. 
(a) (1) At least 72 hours before a regular meeting, the legislative body of the local 
agency, or its designee, shall post an agenda containing a brief general description 

of each item of business to be transacted or discussed at the meeting, including 
items to be discussed in closed session. A brief general description of an item 

generally need not exceed 20 words. The agenda shall specify the time and location 
of the regular meeting and shall be posted in a location that is freely accessible to 

members of the public and on the local agency’s internet website, if the local 
agency has one. If requested, the agenda shall be made available in appropriate 
alternative formats to persons with a disability, as required by Section 202 of the 

Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sec. 12132), and the federal 
rules and regulations adopted in implementation thereof. The agenda shall include 

information regarding how, to whom, and when a request for disability-related 
modification or accommodation, including auxiliary aids or services, may be made 

by a person with a disability who requires a modification or accommodation in order 
to participate in the public meeting. 

(2) For a meeting occurring on and after January 1, 2019, of a legislative body of 
a city, county, city and county, special district, school district, or political 

subdivision established by the state that has an internet website, the following 
provisions shall apply: 

(A) An online posting of an agenda shall be posted on the primary internet 
website home page of a city, county, city and county, special district, school 

district, or political subdivision established by the state that is accessible 
through a prominent, direct link to the current agenda. The direct link to the 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54954.2.','6.2.1.22','2023','131','91',%20'id_164c3c61-8565-11ee-bcfe-9f16e66157a6')


 
agenda shall not be in a contextual menu; however, a link in addition to the 

direct link to the agenda may be accessible through a contextual menu. 

(B) An online posting of an agenda, including, but not limited to, an agenda 

posted in an integrated agenda management platform, shall be posted in an 
open format that meets all of the following requirements: 

(i) Retrievable, downloadable, indexable, and electronically searchable by 
commonly used internet search applications. 

(ii) Platform independent and machine readable. 

(iii) Available to the public free of charge and without any restriction that 
would impede the reuse or redistribution of the agenda. 

(C) A legislative body of a city, county, city and county, special district, school 
district, or political subdivision established by the state that has an internet 

website and an integrated agenda management platform shall not be required 
to comply with subparagraph (A) if all of the following are met: 

(i) A direct link to the integrated agenda management platform shall be 
posted on the primary internet website home page of a city, county, city 

and county, special district, school district, or political subdivision 
established by the state. The direct link to the integrated agenda 

management platform shall not be in a contextual menu. When a person 
clicks on the direct link to the integrated agenda management platform, 

the direct link shall take the person directly to an internet website with the 
agendas of the legislative body of a city, county, city and county, special 

district, school district, or political subdivision established by the state. 

(ii) The integrated agenda management platform may contain the prior 

agendas of a legislative body of a city, county, city and county, special 
district, school district, or political subdivision established by the state for 

all meetings occurring on or after January 1, 2019. 

(iii) The current agenda of the legislative body of a city, county, city and 
county, special district, school district, or political subdivision established 

by the state shall be the first agenda available at the top of the integrated 
agenda management platform. 

(iv) All agendas posted in the integrated agenda management platform 
shall comply with the requirements in clauses (i), (ii), and (iii) of 

subparagraph (B). 

(D) For the purposes of this paragraph, both of the following definitions shall 

apply: 



 
(i) “Integrated agenda management platform” means an internet website 

of a city, county, city and county, special district, school district, or political 
subdivision established by the state dedicated to providing the entirety of 

the agenda information for the legislative body of the city, county, city and 
county, special district, school district, or political subdivision established 

by the state to the public. 

(ii) “Legislative body” has the same meaning as that term is used in 

subdivision (a) of Section 54952. 

(E) The provisions of this paragraph shall not apply to a political subdivision of 
a local agency that was established by the legislative body of the city, county, 

city and county, special district, school district, or political subdivision 
established by the state. 

(3) No action or discussion shall be undertaken on any item not appearing on the 
posted agenda, except that members of a legislative body or its staff may briefly 

respond to statements made or questions posed by persons exercising their 
public testimony rights under Section 54954.3. In addition, on their own initiative 

or in response to questions posed by the public, a member of a legislative body 
or its staff may ask a question for clarification, make a brief announcement, or 

make a brief report on their own activities. Furthermore, a member of a 
legislative body, or the body itself, subject to rules or procedures of the 

legislative body, may provide a reference to staff or other resources for factual 
information, request staff to report back to the body at a subsequent meeting 

concerning any matter, or take action to direct staff to place a matter of business 
on a future agenda. 

(b) Notwithstanding subdivision (a), the legislative body may take action on items 
of business not appearing on the posted agenda under any of the conditions stated 

below. Prior to discussing any item pursuant to this subdivision, the legislative body 
shall publicly identify the item. 

(1) Upon a determination by a majority vote of the legislative body that an 

emergency situation exists, as defined in Section 54956.5. 

(2) Upon a determination by a two-thirds vote of the members of the legislative 

body present at the meeting, or, if less than two-thirds of the members are 
present, a unanimous vote of those members present, that there is a need to 

take immediate action and that the need for action came to the attention of the 
local agency subsequent to the agenda being posted as specified in subdivision 

(a). 

(3) The item was posted pursuant to subdivision (a) for a prior meeting of the 

legislative body occurring not more than five calendar days prior to the date 
action is taken on the item, and at the prior meeting the item was continued to 

the meeting at which action is being taken. 



 
(4) To consider action on a request from a member to participate in a meeting 

remotely due to emergency circumstances, pursuant to Section 54953, if the 
request does not allow sufficient time to place the proposed action on the posted 

agenda for the meeting for which the request is made. The legislative body may 
approve such a request by a majority vote of the legislative body. 

(c) This section is necessary to implement and reasonably within the scope of 
paragraph (1) of subdivision (b) of Section 3 of Article I of the California 

Constitution. 
(d) For purposes of subdivision (a), the requirement that the agenda be posted on 
the local agency’s internet website, if the local agency has one, shall only apply to a 

legislative body that meets either of the following standards: 
(1) A legislative body as that term is defined by subdivision (a) of Section 54952. 

(2) A legislative body as that term is defined by subdivision (b) of Section 54952, 
if the members of the legislative body are compensated for their appearance, and 

if one or more of the members of the legislative body are also members of a 
legislative body as that term is defined by subdivision (a) of Section 54952. 

(e) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2026, and as of that 
date is repealed. 
(Amended (as amended by Stats. 2022, Ch. 285, Sec. 4) by Stats. 2023, Ch. 131, Sec. 91. (AB 1754) Effective 
January 1, 2024. Repealed as of January 1, 2026, by its own provisions. See later operative version, as amended 
by Sec. 92 of Stats. 2023, Ch. 131.) 

54954.2. 
(a) (1) At least 72 hours before a regular meeting, the legislative body of the local 

agency, or its designee, shall post an agenda containing a brief general description 
of each item of business to be transacted or discussed at the meeting, including 

items to be discussed in closed session. A brief general description of an item 
generally need not exceed 20 words. The agenda shall specify the time and location 

of the regular meeting and shall be posted in a location that is freely accessible to 
members of the public and on the local agency’s internet website, if the local 

agency has one. If requested, the agenda shall be made available in appropriate 
alternative formats to persons with a disability, as required by Section 202 of the 

Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sec. 12132), and the federal 
rules and regulations adopted in implementation thereof. The agenda shall include 
information regarding how, to whom, and when a request for disability-related 

modification or accommodation, including auxiliary aids or services, may be made 
by a person with a disability who requires a modification or accommodation in order 

to participate in the public meeting. 
(2) For a meeting occurring on and after January 1, 2019, of a legislative body of 

a city, county, city and county, special district, school district, or political 
subdivision established by the state that has an internet website, the following 

provisions shall apply: 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54954.2.','6.2.1.22','2023','131','92',%20'id_1becd173-8565-11ee-bcfe-9f16e66157a6')


 
(A) An online posting of an agenda shall be posted on the primary internet 

website home page of a city, county, city and county, special district, school 
district, or political subdivision established by the state that is accessible 

through a prominent, direct link to the current agenda. The direct link to the 
agenda shall not be in a contextual menu; however, a link in addition to the 

direct link to the agenda may be accessible through a contextual menu. 

(B) An online posting of an agenda, including, but not limited to, an agenda 

posted in an integrated agenda management platform, shall be posted in an 
open format that meets all of the following requirements: 

(i) Retrievable, downloadable, indexable, and electronically searchable by 

commonly used internet search applications. 

(ii) Platform independent and machine readable. 

(iii) Available to the public free of charge and without any restriction that 
would impede the reuse or redistribution of the agenda. 

(C) A legislative body of a city, county, city and county, special district, school 
district, or political subdivision established by the state that has an internet 

website and an integrated agenda management platform shall not be required 
to comply with subparagraph (A) if all of the following are met: 

(i) A direct link to the integrated agenda management platform shall be 
posted on the primary internet website home page of a city, county, city 

and county, special district, school district, or political subdivision 
established by the state. The direct link to the integrated agenda 

management platform shall not be in a contextual menu. When a person 
clicks on the direct link to the integrated agenda management platform, 

the direct link shall take the person directly to an internet website with the 
agendas of the legislative body of a city, county, city and county, special 

district, school district, or political subdivision established by the state. 

(ii) The integrated agenda management platform may contain the prior 
agendas of a legislative body of a city, county, city and county, special 

district, school district, or political subdivision established by the state for 
all meetings occurring on or after January 1, 2019. 

(iii) The current agenda of the legislative body of a city, county, city and 
county, special district, school district, or political subdivision established 

by the state shall be the first agenda available at the top of the integrated 
agenda management platform. 



 
(iv) All agendas posted in the integrated agenda management platform 

shall comply with the requirements in clauses (i), (ii), and (iii) of 
subparagraph (B). 

(D) For the purposes of this paragraph, both of the following definitions shall 
apply: 

(i) “Integrated agenda management platform” means an internet website 
of a city, county, city and county, special district, school district, or political 

subdivision established by the state dedicated to providing the entirety of 
the agenda information for the legislative body of the city, county, city and 
county, special district, school district, or political subdivision established 

by the state to the public. 

(ii) “Legislative body” has the same meaning as that term is used in 

subdivision (a) of Section 54952. 

(E) The provisions of this paragraph shall not apply to a political subdivision of 

a local agency that was established by the legislative body of the city, county, 
city and county, special district, school district, or political subdivision 

established by the state. 

(3) No action or discussion shall be undertaken on any item not appearing on the 

posted agenda, except that members of a legislative body or its staff may briefly 
respond to statements made or questions posed by persons exercising their 

public testimony rights under Section 54954.3. In addition, on their own initiative 
or in response to questions posed by the public, a member of a legislative body 

or its staff may ask a question for clarification, make a brief announcement, or 
make a brief report on their own activities. Furthermore, a member of a 

legislative body, or the body itself, subject to rules or procedures of the 
legislative body, may provide a reference to staff or other resources for factual 

information, request staff to report back to the body at a subsequent meeting 
concerning any matter, or take action to direct staff to place a matter of business 
on a future agenda. 

(b) Notwithstanding subdivision (a), the legislative body may take action on items 
of business not appearing on the posted agenda under any of the conditions stated 

below. Prior to discussing any item pursuant to this subdivision, the legislative body 
shall publicly identify the item. 

(1) Upon a determination by a majority vote of the legislative body that an 
emergency situation exists, as defined in Section 54956.5. 

(2) Upon a determination by a two-thirds vote of the members of the legislative 
body present at the meeting, or, if less than two-thirds of the members are 

present, a unanimous vote of those members present, that there is a need to 
take immediate action and that the need for action came to the attention of the 



 
local agency subsequent to the agenda being posted as specified in subdivision 

(a). 

(3) The item was posted pursuant to subdivision (a) for a prior meeting of the 

legislative body occurring not more than five calendar days prior to the date 
action is taken on the item, and at the prior meeting the item was continued to 

the meeting at which action is being taken. 

(c) This section is necessary to implement and reasonably within the scope of 

paragraph (1) of subdivision (b) of Section 3 of Article I of the California 
Constitution. 
(d) For purposes of subdivision (a), the requirement that the agenda be posted on 

the local agency’s internet website, if the local agency has one, shall only apply to a 
legislative body that meets either of the following standards: 

(1) A legislative body as that term is defined by subdivision (a) of Section 54952. 

(2) A legislative body as that term is defined by subdivision (b) of Section 54952, 

if the members of the legislative body are compensated for their appearance, and 
if one or more of the members of the legislative body are also members of a 

legislative body as that term is defined by subdivision (a) of Section 54952. 

(e) This section shall become operative January 1, 2026. 
(Amended (as added by Stats. 2022, Ch. 285, Sec. 5) by Stats. 2023, Ch. 131, Sec. 92. (AB 1754) Effective January 

1, 2024. Operative January 1, 2026, by its own provisions.) 

54954.3. 
(a) Every agenda for regular meetings shall provide an opportunity for members of 
the public to directly address the legislative body on any item of interest to the 

public, before or during the legislative body’s consideration of the item, that is 
within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body, provided that no action 

shall be taken on any item not appearing on the agenda unless the action is 
otherwise authorized by subdivision (b) of Section 54954.2. However, the agenda 

need not provide an opportunity for members of the public to address the 
legislative body on any item that has already been considered by a committee, 

composed exclusively of members of the legislative body, at a public meeting 
wherein all interested members of the public were afforded the opportunity to 

address the committee on the item, before or during the committee’s consideration 
of the item, unless the item has been substantially changed since the committee 

heard the item, as determined by the legislative body. Every notice for a special 
meeting shall provide an opportunity for members of the public to directly address 

the legislative body concerning any item that has been described in the notice for 
the meeting before or during consideration of that item. 

(b) (1) The legislative body of a local agency may adopt reasonable regulations to 
ensure that the intent of subdivision (a) is carried out, including, but not limited to, 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54954.3.','6.2.1.22','2016','507','1',%20'id_39f40842-bbf3-11e6-bdd8-d5db002bdb48')


 
regulations limiting the total amount of time allocated for public testimony on 

particular issues and for each individual speaker. 
(2) Notwithstanding paragraph (1), when the legislative body of a local agency 

limits time for public comment, the legislative body of a local agency shall provide 
at least twice the allotted time to a member of the public who utilizes a translator 

to ensure that non-English speakers receive the same opportunity to directly 
address the legislative body of a local agency. 

(3) Paragraph (2) shall not apply if the legislative body of a local agency utilizes 
simultaneous translation equipment in a manner that allows the legislative body 
of a local agency to hear the translated public testimony simultaneously. 

(c) The legislative body of a local agency shall not prohibit public criticism of the 
policies, procedures, programs, or services of the agency, or of the acts or 

omissions of the legislative body. Nothing in this subdivision shall confer any 
privilege or protection for expression beyond that otherwise provided by law. 
(Amended by Stats. 2016, Ch. 507, Sec. 1. (AB 1787) Effective January 1, 2017.) 

54954.4. 
(a) The Legislature hereby finds and declares that Section 12 of Chapter 641 of the 
Statutes of 1986, authorizing reimbursement to local agencies and school districts 

for costs mandated by the state pursuant to that act, shall be interpreted strictly. 
The intent of the Legislature is to provide reimbursement for only those costs which 

are clearly and unequivocally incurred as the direct and necessary result of 
compliance with Chapter 641 of the Statutes of 1986. 

(b) In this regard, the Legislature directs all state employees and officials involved 
in reviewing or authorizing claims for reimbursement, or otherwise participating in 

the reimbursement process, to rigorously review each claim and authorize only 
those claims, or parts thereof, which represent costs which are clearly and 

unequivocally incurred as the direct and necessary result of compliance with 
Chapter 641 of the Statutes of 1986 and for which complete documentation exists. 
For purposes of Section 54954.2, costs eligible for reimbursement shall only include 

the actual cost to post a single agenda for any one meeting. 
(c) The Legislature hereby finds and declares that complete, faithful, and 

uninterrupted compliance with the Ralph M. Brown Act (Chapter 9 (commencing 
with Section 54950) of Part 1 of Division 2 of Title 5 of the Government Code) is a 

matter of overriding public importance. Unless specifically stated, no future Budget 
Act, or related budget enactments, shall, in any manner, be interpreted to suspend, 

eliminate, or otherwise modify the legal obligation and duty of local agencies to 
fully comply with Chapter 641 of the Statutes of 1986 in a complete, faithful, and 

uninterrupted manner. 
(Added by Stats. 1991, Ch. 238, Sec. 1.) 

54954.5. 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54954.4.','6.2.1.22','1991','238','1',%20'id_c28cc2dd-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54954.5.','6.2.1.22','2012','759','6.1',%20'id_73fbe4ee-4e0f-11e2-bece-f6c402701ba4')


 
For purposes of describing closed session items pursuant to Section 54954.2, the 

agenda may describe closed sessions as provided below. No legislative body or 
elected official shall be in violation of Section 54954.2 or 54956 if the closed 

session items were described in substantial compliance with this section. 
Substantial compliance is satisfied by including the information provided below, 

irrespective of its format. 
(a) With respect to a closed session held pursuant to Section 54956.7: 

LICENSE/PERMIT DETERMINATION 
Applicant(s): (Specify number of applicants) 
(b) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session 

pursuant to Section 54956.8: 
CONFERENCE WITH REAL PROPERTY NEGOTIATORS 

Property: (Specify street address, or if no street address, the parcel number or 
other unique reference, of the real property under negotiation) 

Agency negotiator: (Specify names of negotiators attending the closed session) (If 
circumstances necessitate the absence of a specified negotiator, an agent or 

designee may participate in place of the absent negotiator so long as the name of 
the agent or designee is announced at an open session held prior to the closed 

session.) 
Negotiating parties: (Specify name of party (not agent)) 

Under negotiation: (Specify whether instruction to negotiator will concern price, 
terms of payment, or both) 

(c) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session 
pursuant to Section 54956.9: 

CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL—EXISTING LITIGATION 
(Paragraph (1) of subdivision (d) of Section 54956.9) 

Name of case: (Specify by reference to claimant’s name, names of parties, case or 
claim numbers) 
or 

Case name unspecified: (Specify whether disclosure would jeopardize service of 
process or existing settlement negotiations) 

CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL—ANTICIPATED LITIGATION 
Significant exposure to litigation pursuant to paragraph (2) or (3) of subdivision (d) 

of Section 54956.9: (Specify number of potential cases) 
(In addition to the information noticed above, the agency may be required to 

provide additional information on the agenda or in an oral statement prior to the 
closed session pursuant to paragraphs (2) to (5), inclusive, of subdivision (e) of 

Section 54956.9.) 
Initiation of litigation pursuant to paragraph (4) of subdivision (d) of Section 

54956.9: (Specify number of potential cases) 
(d) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session 

pursuant to Section 54956.95: 
LIABILITY CLAIMS 

Claimant: (Specify name unless unspecified pursuant to Section 54961) 
Agency claimed against: (Specify name) 



 
(e) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session 

pursuant to Section 54957: 
THREAT TO PUBLIC SERVICES OR FACILITIES 

Consultation with: (Specify name of law enforcement agency and title of officer, or 
name of applicable agency representative and title) 

PUBLIC EMPLOYEE APPOINTMENT 
Title: (Specify description of position to be filled) 

PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT 
Title: (Specify description of position to be filled) 
PUBLIC EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE EVALUATION 

Title: (Specify position title of employee being reviewed) 
PUBLIC EMPLOYEE DISCIPLINE/DISMISSAL/RELEASE 

(No additional information is required in connection with a closed session to 
consider discipline, dismissal, or release of a public employee. Discipline includes 

potential reduction of compensation.) 
(f) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session 

pursuant to Section 54957.6: 
CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATORS 

Agency designated representatives: (Specify names of designated representatives 
attending the closed session) (If circumstances necessitate the absence of a 

specified designated representative, an agent or designee may participate in place 
of the absent representative so long as the name of the agent or designee is 

announced at an open session held prior to the closed session.) 
Employee organization: (Specify name of organization representing employee or 

employees in question) 
or 

Unrepresented employee: (Specify position title of unrepresented employee who is 
the subject of the negotiations) 
(g) With respect to closed sessions called pursuant to Section 54957.8: 

CASE REVIEW/PLANNING 
(No additional information is required in connection with a closed session to 

consider case review or planning.) 
(h) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session 

pursuant to Sections 1461, 32106, and 32155 of the Health and Safety Code or 
Sections 37606 and 37624.3 of the Government Code: 

REPORT INVOLVING TRADE SECRET 
Discussion will concern: (Specify whether discussion will concern proposed new 

service, program, or facility) 
Estimated date of public disclosure: (Specify month and year) 

HEARINGS 
Subject matter: (Specify whether testimony/deliberation will concern staff 

privileges, report of medical audit committee, or report of quality assurance 
committee) 

(i) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session 
pursuant to Section 54956.86: 



 
CHARGE OR COMPLAINT INVOLVING INFORMATION PROTECTED BY FEDERAL LAW 

(No additional information is required in connection with a closed session to discuss 
a charge or complaint pursuant to Section 54956.86.) 

(j) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session 
pursuant to Section 54956.96: 

CONFERENCE INVOLVING A JOINT POWERS AGENCY (Specify by name) 
Discussion will concern: (Specify closed session description used by the joint 

powers agency) 
Name of local agency representative on joint powers agency board: (Specify name) 
(Additional information listing the names of agencies or titles of representatives 

attending the closed session as consultants or other representatives.) 
(k) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session 

pursuant to Section 54956.75: 
AUDIT BY CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR’S OFFICE 
(Amended by Stats. 2012, Ch. 759, Sec. 6.1. (AB 2690) Effective January 1, 2013.) 

54954.6. 
(a) (1) Before adopting any new or increased general tax or any new or increased 
assessment, the legislative body of a local agency shall conduct at least one public 

meeting at which local officials shall allow public testimony regarding the proposed 
new or increased general tax or new or increased assessment in addition to the 

noticed public hearing at which the legislative body proposes to enact or increase 
the general tax or assessment. 

For purposes of this section, the term “new or increased assessment” does not 
include any of the following: 

(A) A fee that does not exceed the reasonable cost of providing the services, 
facilities, or regulatory activity for which the fee is charged. 

(B) A service charge, rate, or charge, unless a special district’s principal act 
requires the service charge, rate, or charge to conform to the requirements of 
this section. 

(C) An ongoing annual assessment if it is imposed at the same or lower 
amount as any previous year. 

(D) An assessment that does not exceed an assessment formula or range of 
assessments previously specified in the notice given to the public pursuant to 

subparagraph (G) of paragraph (2) of subdivision (c) and that was previously 
adopted by the agency or approved by the voters in the area where the 

assessment is imposed. 

(E) Standby or immediate availability charges. 

(2) The legislative body shall provide at least 45 days’ public notice of the public 
hearing at which the legislative body proposes to enact or increase the general 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54954.6.','6.2.1.22','2011','382','3.5',%20'id_87a42b29-22df-11e1-b409-d59fe8a0aa9b')


 
tax or assessment. The legislative body shall provide notice for the public 

meeting at the same time and in the same document as the notice for the public 
hearing, but the meeting shall occur prior to the hearing. 

(b) (1) The joint notice of both the public meeting and the public hearing required 
by subdivision (a) with respect to a proposal for a new or increased general tax 

shall be accomplished by placing a display advertisement of at least one-eighth 
page in a newspaper of general circulation for three weeks pursuant to Section 

6063 and by a first-class mailing to those interested parties who have filed a 
written request with the local agency for mailed notice of public meetings or 
hearings on new or increased general taxes. The public meeting pursuant to 

subdivision (a) shall take place no earlier than 10 days after the first publication of 
the joint notice pursuant to this subdivision. The public hearing shall take place no 

earlier than seven days after the public meeting pursuant to this subdivision. 
Notwithstanding paragraph (2) of subdivision (a), the joint notice need not include 

notice of the public meeting after the meeting has taken place. The public hearing 
pursuant to subdivision (a) shall take place no earlier than 45 days after the first 

publication of the joint notice pursuant to this subdivision. Any written request for 
mailed notices shall be effective for one year from the date on which it is filed 

unless a renewal request is filed. Renewal requests for mailed notices shall be filed 
on or before April 1 of each year. The legislative body may establish a reasonable 

annual charge for sending notices based on the estimated cost of providing the 
service. 

(2) The notice required by paragraph (1) of this subdivision shall include, but not 
be limited to, the following: 

(A) The amount or rate of the tax. If the tax is proposed to be increased from 
any previous year, the joint notice shall separately state both the existing tax 

rate and the proposed tax rate increase. 

(B) The activity to be taxed. 

(C) The estimated amount of revenue to be raised by the tax annually. 

(D) The method and frequency for collecting the tax. 

(E) The dates, times, and locations of the public meeting and hearing 

described in subdivision (a). 

(F) The telephone number and address of an individual, office, or organization 

that interested persons may contact to receive additional information about 
the tax. 

(c) (1) The joint notice of both the public meeting and the public hearing required 
by subdivision (a) with respect to a proposal for a new or increased assessment on 

real property or businesses shall be accomplished through a mailing, postage 



 
prepaid, in the United States mail and shall be deemed given when so deposited. 

The public meeting pursuant to subdivision (a) shall take place no earlier than 10 
days after the joint mailing pursuant to this subdivision. The public hearing shall 

take place no earlier than seven days after the public meeting pursuant to this 
subdivision. The envelope or the cover of the mailing shall include the name of the 

local agency and the return address of the sender. This mailed notice shall be in at 
least 10-point type and shall be given to all property owners or business owners 

proposed to be subject to the new or increased assessment by a mailing by name 
to those persons whose names and addresses appear on the last equalized county 
assessment roll, the State Board of Equalization assessment roll, or the local 

agency’s records pertaining to business ownership, as the case may be. 
(2) The joint notice required by paragraph (1) of this subdivision shall include, 

but not be limited to, the following: 

(A) In the case of an assessment proposed to be levied on property, the 

estimated amount of the assessment per parcel. In the case of an assessment 
proposed to be levied on businesses, the proposed method and basis of 

levying the assessment in sufficient detail to allow each business owner to 
calculate the amount of assessment to be levied against each business. If the 

assessment is proposed to be increased from any previous year, the joint 
notice shall separately state both the amount of the existing assessment and 

the proposed assessment increase. 

(B) A general description of the purpose or improvements that the assessment 

will fund. 

(C) The address to which property owners may mail a protest against the 

assessment. 

(D) The telephone number and address of an individual, office, or organization 

that interested persons may contact to receive additional information about 
the assessment. 

(E) A statement that a majority protest will cause the assessment to be 

abandoned if the assessment act used to levy the assessment so provides. 
Notice shall also state the percentage of protests required to trigger an 

election, if applicable. 

(F) The dates, times, and locations of the public meeting and hearing 

described in subdivision (a). 

(G) A proposed assessment formula or range as described in subparagraph 

(D) of paragraph (1) of subdivision (a) if applicable and that is noticed 
pursuant to this section. 



 
(3) Notwithstanding paragraph (1), in the case of an assessment that is proposed 

exclusively for operation and maintenance expenses imposed throughout the 
entire local agency, or exclusively for operation and maintenance assessments 

proposed to be levied on 50,000 parcels or more, notice may be provided 
pursuant to this subdivision or pursuant to paragraph (1) of subdivision (b) and 

shall include the estimated amount of the assessment of various types, amounts, 
or uses of property and the information required by subparagraphs (B) to (G), 

inclusive, of paragraph (2) of subdivision (c). 

(4) Notwithstanding paragraph (1), in the case of an assessment proposed to be 
levied pursuant to Part 2 (commencing with Section 22500) of Division 2 of the 

Streets and Highways Code by a regional park district, regional park and open-
space district, or regional open-space district formed pursuant to Article 3 

(commencing with Section 5500) of Chapter 3 of Division 5 of, or pursuant to 
Division 26 (commencing with Section 35100) of, the Public Resources Code, 

notice may be provided pursuant to paragraph (1) of subdivision (b). 

(d) The notice requirements imposed by this section shall be construed as 

additional to, and not to supersede, existing provisions of law, and shall be applied 
concurrently with the existing provisions so as to not delay or prolong the 

governmental decisionmaking process. 
(e) This section shall not apply to any new or increased general tax or any new or 

increased assessment that requires an election of either of the following: 
(1) The property owners subject to the assessment. 

(2) The voters within the local agency imposing the tax or assessment. 

(f) Nothing in this section shall prohibit a local agency from holding a consolidated 

meeting or hearing at which the legislative body discusses multiple tax or 
assessment proposals. 

(g) The local agency may recover the reasonable costs of public meetings, public 
hearings, and notice required by this section from the proceeds of the tax or 
assessment. The costs recovered for these purposes, whether recovered pursuant 

to this subdivision or any other provision of law, shall not exceed the reasonable 
costs of the public meetings, public hearings, and notice. 

(h) Any new or increased assessment that is subject to the notice and hearing 

provisions of Article XIII C or XIII D of the California Constitution is not subject to 
the notice and hearing requirements of this section. 
(Amended by Stats. 2011, Ch. 382, Sec. 3.5. (SB 194) Effective January 1, 2012.) 

54955. 
The legislative body of a local agency may adjourn any regular, adjourned regular, 

special or adjourned special meeting to a time and place specified in the order of 
adjournment. Less than a quorum may so adjourn from time to time. If all 

members are absent from any regular or adjourned regular meeting the clerk or 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54955.','6.2.1.22','1959','647','',%20'id_c28e4983-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')


 
secretary of the legislative body may declare the meeting adjourned to a stated 

time and place and he shall cause a written notice of the adjournment to be given 
in the same manner as provided in Section 54956 for special meetings, unless such 

notice is waived as provided for special meetings. A copy of the order or notice of 
adjournment shall be conspicuously posted on or near the door of the place where 

the regular, adjourned regular, special or adjourned special meeting was held 
within 24 hours after the time of the adjournment. When a regular or adjourned 

regular meeting is adjourned as provided in this section, the resulting adjourned 
regular meeting is a regular meeting for all purposes. When an order of 
adjournment of any meeting fails to state the hour at which the adjourned meeting 

is to be held, it shall be held at the hour specified for regular meetings by 
ordinance, resolution, bylaw, or other rule. 
(Amended by Stats. 1959, Ch. 647.) 

54955.1. 
Any hearing being held, or noticed or ordered to be held, by a legislative body of a 
local agency at any meeting may by order or notice of continuance be continued or 

recontinued to any subsequent meeting of the legislative body in the same manner 
and to the same extent set forth in Section 54955 for the adjournment of meetings; 

provided, that if the hearing is continued to a time less than 24 hours after the time 
specified in the order or notice of hearing, a copy of the order or notice of 

continuance of hearing shall be posted immediately following the meeting at which 
the order or declaration of continuance was adopted or made. 
(Added by Stats. 1965, Ch. 469.) 

54956. 
(a) A special meeting may be called at any time by the presiding officer of the 
legislative body of a local agency, or by a majority of the members of the legislative 
body, by delivering written notice to each member of the legislative body and to 

each local newspaper of general circulation and radio or television station 
requesting notice in writing and posting a notice on the local agency’s Internet Web 

site, if the local agency has one. The notice shall be delivered personally or by any 
other means and shall be received at least 24 hours before the time of the meeting 

as specified in the notice. The call and notice shall specify the time and place of the 
special meeting and the business to be transacted or discussed. No other business 

shall be considered at these meetings by the legislative body. The written notice 
may be dispensed with as to any member who at or prior to the time the meeting 

convenes files with the clerk or secretary of the legislative body a written waiver of 
notice. The waiver may be given by telegram. The written notice may also be 

dispensed with as to any member who is actually present at the meeting at the 
time it convenes. 

The call and notice shall be posted at least 24 hours prior to the special meeting in 
a location that is freely accessible to members of the public. 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54955.1.','6.2.1.22','1965','469','',%20'id_c28e4985-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.','6.2.1.22','2011','692','9',%20'id_a14c778b-22df-11e1-b409-d59fe8a0aa9b')


 
(b) Notwithstanding any other law, a legislative body shall not call a special 

meeting regarding the salaries, salary schedules, or compensation paid in the form 
of fringe benefits, of a local agency executive, as defined in subdivision (d) of 

Section 3511.1. However, this subdivision does not apply to a local agency calling a 
special meeting to discuss the local agency’s budget. 

(c) For purposes of subdivision (a), the requirement that the agenda be posted on 
the local agency’s Internet Web site, if the local agency has one, shall only apply to 

a legislative body that meets either of the following standards: 
(1) A legislative body as that term is defined by subdivision (a) of Section 54952. 

(2) A legislative body as that term is defined by subdivision (b) of Section 54952, 

if the members of the legislative body are compensated for their appearance, and 
if one or more of the members of the legislative body are also members of a 

legislative body as that term is defined by subdivision (a) of Section 54952. 

(Amended by Stats. 2011, Ch. 692, Sec. 9. (AB 1344) Effective January 1, 2012.) 

54956.5. 
(a) For purposes of this section, “emergency situation” means both of the following: 

(1) An emergency, which shall be defined as a work stoppage, crippling activity, 
or other activity that severely impairs public health, safety, or both, as 

determined by a majority of the members of the legislative body. 

(2) A dire emergency, which shall be defined as a crippling disaster, mass 

destruction, terrorist act, or threatened terrorist activity that poses peril so 
immediate and significant that requiring a legislative body to provide one-hour 

notice before holding an emergency meeting under this section may endanger the 
public health, safety, or both, as determined by a majority of the members of the 

legislative body. 

(b) (1) Subject to paragraph (2), in the case of an emergency situation involving 

matters upon which prompt action is necessary due to the disruption or threatened 
disruption of public facilities, a legislative body may hold an emergency meeting 
without complying with either the 24-hour notice requirement or the 24-hour 

posting requirement of Section 54956 or both of the notice and posting 
requirements. 

(2) Each local newspaper of general circulation and radio or television station that 
has requested notice of special meetings pursuant to Section 54956 shall be 

notified by the presiding officer of the legislative body, or designee thereof, one 
hour prior to the emergency meeting, or, in the case of a dire emergency, at or 

near the time that the presiding officer or designee notifies the members of the 
legislative body of the emergency meeting. This notice shall be given by 

telephone and all telephone numbers provided in the most recent request of a 
newspaper or station for notification of special meetings shall be exhausted. In 

the event that telephone services are not functioning, the notice requirements of 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.7.','6.2.1.22','1982','298','1',%20'id_c28fd02d-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')


 
this section shall be deemed waived, and the legislative body, or designee of the 

legislative body, shall notify those newspapers, radio stations, or television 
stations of the fact of the holding of the emergency meeting, the purpose of the 

meeting, and any action taken at the meeting as soon after the meeting as 
possible. 

(c) During a meeting held pursuant to this section, the legislative body may meet in 
closed session pursuant to Section 54957 if agreed to by a two-thirds vote of the 

members of the legislative body present, or, if less than two-thirds of the members 
are present, by a unanimous vote of the members present. 
(d) All special meeting requirements, as prescribed in Section 54956 shall be 

applicable to a meeting called pursuant to this section, with the exception of the 
24-hour notice requirement. 

(e) The minutes of a meeting called pursuant to this section, a list of persons who 
the presiding officer of the legislative body, or designee of the legislative body, 

notified or attempted to notify, a copy of the rollcall vote, and any actions taken at 
the meeting shall be posted for a minimum of 10 days in a public place as soon 

after the meeting as possible. 
(Amended by Stats. 2002, Ch. 175, Sec. 2. Effective January 1, 2003.) 

54956.6. 
No fees may be charged by the legislative body of a local agency for carrying out 

any provision of this chapter, except as specifically authorized by this chapter. 
(Added by Stats. 1980, Ch. 1284.) 

54956.7. 
Whenever a legislative body of a local agency determines that it is necessary to 

discuss and determine whether an applicant for a license or license renewal, who 
has a criminal record, is sufficiently rehabilitated to obtain the license, the 
legislative body may hold a closed session with the applicant and the applicant’s 

attorney, if any, for the purpose of holding the discussion and making the 
determination. If the legislative body determines, as a result of the closed session, 

that the issuance or renewal of the license should be denied, the applicant shall be 
offered the opportunity to withdraw the application. If the applicant withdraws the 

application, no record shall be kept of the discussions or decisions made at the 
closed session and all matters relating to the closed session shall be confidential. If 

the applicant does not withdraw the application, the legislative body shall take 
action at the public meeting during which the closed session is held or at its next 

public meeting denying the application for the license but all matters relating to the 
closed session are confidential and shall not be disclosed without the consent of the 

applicant, except in an action by an applicant who has been denied a license 
challenging the denial of the license. 
(Added by Stats. 1982, Ch. 298, Sec. 1.) 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.7.','6.2.1.22','1982','298','1',%20'id_c28fd02d-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.7.','6.2.1.22','1982','298','1',%20'id_c28fd02d-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')


 
54956.75. 
(a) Nothing contained in this chapter shall be construed to prevent the legislative 
body of a local agency that has received a confidential final draft audit report from 

the Bureau of State Audits from holding closed sessions to discuss its response to 
that report. 

(b) After the public release of an audit report by the Bureau of State Audits, if a 
legislative body of a local agency meets to discuss the audit report, it shall do so in 

an open session unless exempted from that requirement by some other provision of 
law. 
(Added by Stats. 2004, Ch. 576, Sec. 4. Effective January 1, 2005.) 

54956.8. 
Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, a legislative body of a local 
agency may hold a closed session with its negotiator prior to the purchase, sale, 
exchange, or lease of real property by or for the local agency to grant authority to 

its negotiator regarding the price and terms of payment for the purchase, sale, 
exchange, or lease. 

However, prior to the closed session, the legislative body of the local agency shall 
hold an open and public session in which it identifies its negotiators, the real 

property or real properties which the negotiations may concern, and the person or 
persons with whom its negotiators may negotiate. 

For purposes of this section, negotiators may be members of the legislative body of 
the local agency. 

For purposes of this section, “lease” includes renewal or renegotiation of a lease. 
Nothing in this section shall preclude a local agency from holding a closed session 

for discussions regarding eminent domain proceedings pursuant to Section 
54956.9. 
(Amended by Stats. 1998, Ch. 260, Sec. 3. Effective January 1, 1999.) 

54956.81. 
Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, a legislative body of a local 
agency that invests pension funds may hold a closed session to consider the 

purchase or sale of particular, specific pension fund investments. All investment 
transaction decisions made during the closed session shall be made by rollcall vote 
entered into the minutes of the closed session as provided in subdivision (a) of 

Section 54957.2. 
(Added by Stats. 2004, Ch. 533, Sec. 20. Effective January 1, 2005.) 

54956.86. 
Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, a legislative body of a local 

agency which provides services pursuant to Section 14087.3 of the Welfare and 
Institutions Code may hold a closed session to hear a charge or complaint from a 

member enrolled in its health plan if the member does not wish to have his or her 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.75.','6.2.1.22','2004','576','4',%20'id_e45db29b-6513-11d9-bd15-b3cbb5da6f1d')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.8.','6.2.1.22','1998','260','3',%20'id_c29156cf-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.81.','6.2.1.22','2004','533','20',%20'id_e4f0f1ed-6513-11d9-bd15-b3cbb5da6f1d')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.86.','6.2.1.22','1996','182','2',%20'id_c29156d1-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')


 
name, medical status, or other information that is protected by federal law publicly 

disclosed. Prior to holding a closed session pursuant to this section, the legislative 
body shall inform the member, in writing, of his or her right to have the charge or 

complaint heard in an open session rather than a closed session. 
(Added by Stats. 1996, Ch. 182, Sec. 2. Effective January 1, 1997.) 

54956.87. 
(a) Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, the records of a health plan 
that is licensed pursuant to the Knox-Keene Health Care Service Plan Act of 1975 

(Chapter 2.2 (commencing with Section 1340) of Division 2 of the Health and 
Safety Code) and that is governed by a county board of supervisors, whether paper 

records, records maintained in the management information system, or records in 
any other form, that relate to provider rate or payment determinations, allocation 

or distribution methodologies for provider payments, formulas or calculations for 
these payments, and contract negotiations with providers of health care for 

alternative rates are exempt from disclosure for a period of three years after the 
contract is fully executed. The transmission of the records, or the information 

contained therein in an alternative form, to the board of supervisors shall not 
constitute a waiver of exemption from disclosure, and the records and information 

once transmitted to the board of supervisors shall be subject to this same 
exemption. 

(b) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the governing board of a health 
plan that is licensed pursuant to the Knox-Keene Health Care Service Plan Act of 

1975 (Chapter 2.2 (commencing with Section 1340) of Division 2 of the Health and 
Safety Code) and that is governed by a county board of supervisors may order that 

a meeting held solely for the purpose of discussion or taking action on health plan 
trade secrets, as defined in subdivision (f), shall be held in closed session. The 

requirements of making a public report of action taken in closed session, and the 
vote or abstention of every member present, may be limited to a brief general 
description without the information constituting the trade secret. 

(c) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the governing board of a health 
plan may meet in closed session to consider and take action on matters pertaining 

to contracts and contract negotiations by the health plan with providers of health 
care services concerning all matters related to rates of payment. The governing 

board may delete the portion or portions containing trade secrets from any 
documents that were finally approved in the closed session held pursuant to 

subdivision (b) that are provided to persons who have made the timely or standing 
request. 

(d) Nothing in this section shall be construed as preventing the governing board 
from meeting in closed session as otherwise provided by law. 

(e) The provisions of this section shall not prevent access to any records by the 
Joint Legislative Audit Committee in the exercise of its powers pursuant to Article 1 

(commencing with Section 10500) of Chapter 4 of Part 2 of Division 2 of Title 2. 
The provisions of this section also shall not prevent access to any records by the 

Department of Managed Health Care in the exercise of its powers pursuant to 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.87.','6.2.1.22','2015','190','65',%20'id_1893f623-9f9d-11e5-bacb-c9b7c1eb246b')


 
Article 1 (commencing with Section 1340) of Chapter 2.2 of Division 2 of the Health 

and Safety Code. 
(f) For purposes of this section, “health plan trade secret” means a trade secret, as 

defined in subdivision (d) of Section 3426.1 of the Civil Code, that also meets both 
of the following criteria: 

(1) The secrecy of the information is necessary for the health plan to initiate a 
new service, program, marketing strategy, business plan, or technology, or to 

add a benefit or product. 

(2) Premature disclosure of the trade secret would create a substantial probability 
of depriving the health plan of a substantial economic benefit or opportunity. 

(Amended by Stats. 2015, Ch. 190, Sec. 65. (AB 1517) Effective January 1, 2016.) 

54956.9. 
(a) Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to prevent a legislative body of a local 
agency, based on advice of its legal counsel, from holding a closed session to confer 

with, or receive advice from, its legal counsel regarding pending litigation when 
discussion in open session concerning those matters would prejudice the position of 

the local agency in the litigation. 
(b) For purposes of this chapter, all expressions of the lawyer-client privilege other 

than those provided in this section are hereby abrogated. This section is the 
exclusive expression of the lawyer-client privilege for purposes of conducting 

closed-session meetings pursuant to this chapter. 
(c) For purposes of this section, “litigation” includes any adjudicatory proceeding, 

including eminent domain, before a court, administrative body exercising its 
adjudicatory authority, hearing officer, or arbitrator. 

(d) For purposes of this section, litigation shall be considered pending when any of 
the following circumstances exist: 

(1) Litigation, to which the local agency is a party, has been initiated formally. 

(2) A point has been reached where, in the opinion of the legislative body of the 
local agency on the advice of its legal counsel, based on existing facts and 

circumstances, there is a significant exposure to litigation against the local 
agency. 

(3) Based on existing facts and circumstances, the legislative body of the local 
agency is meeting only to decide whether a closed session is authorized pursuant 

to paragraph (2). 

(4) Based on existing facts and circumstances, the legislative body of the local 

agency has decided to initiate or is deciding whether to initiate litigation. 

(e) For purposes of paragraphs (2) and (3) of subdivision (d), “existing facts and 

circumstances” shall consist only of one of the following: 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.9.','6.2.1.22','2021','615','206',%20'id_d280eebb-5f75-11ec-b9e6-e768d1537d5c')


 
(1) Facts and circumstances that might result in litigation against the local 

agency but which the local agency believes are not yet known to a potential 
plaintiff or plaintiffs, which facts and circumstances need not be disclosed. 

(2) Facts and circumstances, including, but not limited to, an accident, disaster, 
incident, or transactional occurrence that might result in litigation against the 

agency and that are known to a potential plaintiff or plaintiffs, which facts or 
circumstances shall be publicly stated on the agenda or announced. 

(3) The receipt of a claim pursuant to the Government Claims Act (Division 3.6 
(commencing with Section 810) of Title 1 of the Government Code) or some 
other written communication from a potential plaintiff threatening litigation, 

which claim or communication shall be available for public inspection pursuant to 
Section 54957.5. 

(4) A statement made by a person in an open and public meeting threatening 
litigation on a specific matter within the responsibility of the legislative body. 

(5) A statement threatening litigation made by a person outside an open and 
public meeting on a specific matter within the responsibility of the legislative 

body so long as the official or employee of the local agency receiving knowledge 
of the threat makes a contemporaneous or other record of the statement prior to 

the meeting, which record shall be available for public inspection pursuant to 
Section 54957.5. The records so created need not identify the alleged victim of 

unlawful or tortious sexual conduct or anyone making the threat on their behalf, 
or identify a public employee who is the alleged perpetrator of any unlawful or 

tortious conduct upon which a threat of litigation is based, unless the identity of 
the person has been publicly disclosed. 

(f) Nothing in this section shall require disclosure of written communications that 
are privileged and not subject to disclosure pursuant to the California Public 

Records Act (Division 10 (commencing with Section 7920.000) of Title 1). 
(g) Prior to holding a closed session pursuant to this section, the legislative body of 
the local agency shall state on the agenda or publicly announce the paragraph of 

subdivision (d) that authorizes the closed session. If the session is closed pursuant 
to paragraph (1) of subdivision (d), the body shall state the title of or otherwise 

specifically identify the litigation to be discussed, unless the body states that to do 
so would jeopardize the agency’s ability to effectuate service of process upon one 

or more unserved parties, or that to do so would jeopardize its ability to conclude 
existing settlement negotiations to its advantage. 

(h) A local agency shall be considered to be a “party” or to have a “significant 
exposure to litigation” if an officer or employee of the local agency is a party or has 

significant exposure to litigation concerning prior or prospective activities or alleged 
activities during the course and scope of that office or employment, including 

litigation in which it is an issue whether an activity is outside the course and scope 
of the office or employment. 



 
(Amended by Stats. 2021, Ch. 615, Sec. 206. (AB 474) Effective January 1, 2022. Operative January 1, 2023, 
pursuant to Sec. 463 of Stats. 2021, Ch. 615.) 

54956.95. 
(a) Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to prevent a joint powers agency 

formed pursuant to Article 1 (commencing with Section 6500) of Chapter 5 of 
Division 7 of Title 1, for purposes of insurance pooling, or a local agency member of 

the joint powers agency, from holding a closed session to discuss a claim for the 
payment of tort liability losses, public liability losses, or workers’ compensation 

liability incurred by the joint powers agency or a local agency member of the joint 
powers agency. 

(b) Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to prevent the Local Agency Self-
Insurance Authority formed pursuant to Chapter 5.5 (commencing with Section 

6599.01) of Division 7 of Title 1, or a local agency member of the authority, from 
holding a closed session to discuss a claim for the payment of tort liability losses, 

public liability losses, or workers’ compensation liability incurred by the authority or 
a local agency member of the authority. 

(c) Nothing in this section shall be construed to affect Section 54956.9 with respect 
to any other local agency. 
(Added by Stats. 1989, Ch. 882, Sec. 3.) 

54956.96. 
(a) Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to prevent the legislative body of a 

joint powers agency formed pursuant to Article 1 (commencing with Section 6500) 
of Chapter 5 of Division 7 of Title 1, from adopting a policy or a bylaw or including 

in its joint powers agreement provisions that authorize either or both of the 
following: 

(1) All information received by the legislative body of the local agency member in 
a closed session related to the information presented to the joint powers agency 

in closed session shall be confidential. However, a member of the legislative body 
of a local agency member may disclose information obtained in a closed session 

that has direct financial or liability implications for that local agency to the 
following individuals: 

(A) Legal counsel of that local agency member for purposes of obtaining 
advice on whether the matter has direct financial or liability implications for 

that local agency member. 

(B) Other members of the legislative body of the local agency present in a 

closed session of that local agency member. 

(2) Any designated alternate member of the legislative body of the joint powers 

agency who is also a member of the legislative body of a local agency member 
and who is attending a properly noticed meeting of the joint powers agency in 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.95.','6.2.1.22','1989','882','3',%20'id_c292dd77-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.96.','6.2.1.22','2019','248','1',%20'id_c8d7c4e0-1c70-11ea-b366-4d5a39f643ad')


 
lieu of a local agency member’s regularly appointed member to attend closed 

sessions of the joint powers agency. 

(b) (1) In addition to the authority described in subdivision (a), the Clean Power 

Alliance of Southern California, or its successor entity, may adopt a policy or a 
bylaw or include in its joint powers agreement a provision that authorizes both of 

the following: 
(A) A designated alternate member of the legislative body of the Clean Power 

Alliance of Southern California, or its successor entity, who is not a member of 
the legislative body of a local agency member and who is attending a properly 
noticed meeting of the Clean Power Alliance of Southern California, or its 

successor entity, in lieu of a local agency member’s regularly appointed 
member, to attend closed sessions of the Clean Power Alliance of Southern 

California, or its successor entity. 

(B) All information that is received by a designated alternate member of the 

legislative body of the Clean Power Alliance of Southern California, or its 
successor entity, who is not a member of the legislative body of a local agency 

member, and that is presented to the Clean Power Alliance of Southern 
California, or its successor entity, in closed session, shall be confidential. 

However, the designated alternate member may disclose information obtained 
in a closed session that has direct financial or liability implications for the local 

agency member for which the designated alternate member attended the 
closed session, to the following individuals: 

(i) Legal counsel of that local agency member for purposes of obtaining 
advice on whether the matter has direct financial or liability implications for 

that local agency member. 

(ii) Members of the legislative body of the local agency present in a closed 

session of that local agency member. 

(2) If the Clean Power Alliance of Southern California, or its successor entity, 
adopts a policy or bylaw or includes in its joint powers agreement a provision 

authorized pursuant to paragraph (1), the Clean Power Alliance of Southern 
California, or its successor entity, shall establish policies to prevent conflicts of 

interest and to address breaches of confidentiality that apply to a designated 
alternate member who is not a member of the legislative body of a local agency 

member who attends a closed session of the Clean Power Alliance of Southern 
California, or its successor entity. 

(c) If the legislative body of a joint powers agency adopts a policy or a bylaw or 
includes provisions in its joint powers agreement pursuant to subdivision (a) or (b), 

then the legislative body of the local agency member, upon the advice of its legal 
counsel, may conduct a closed session in order to receive, discuss, and take action 



 
concerning information obtained in a closed session of the joint powers agency 

pursuant to paragraph (1) of subdivision (a) or paragraph (1) of subdivision (b). 
(d) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2025, and as of that 

date is repealed. 
(Amended by Stats. 2019, Ch. 248, Sec. 1. (SB 355) Effective January 1, 2020. Repealed as of January 1, 2025, by 
its own provisions. See later operative version added by Sec. 2 of Stats. 2019, Ch. 248.) 

54956.96. 
(a) Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to prevent the legislative body of a 

joint powers agency formed pursuant to Article 1 (commencing with Section 6500) 
of Chapter 5 of Division 7 of Title 1, from adopting a policy or a bylaw or including 

in its joint powers agreement provisions that authorize either or both of the 
following: 

(1) All information received by the legislative body of the local agency member in 
a closed session related to the information presented to the joint powers agency 

in closed session shall be confidential. However, a member of the legislative body 
of a local agency member may disclose information obtained in a closed session 

that has direct financial or liability implications for that local agency to the 
following individuals: 

(A) Legal counsel of that local agency member for purposes of obtaining 
advice on whether the matter has direct financial or liability implications for 
that local agency member. 

(B) Other members of the legislative body of the local agency present in a 
closed session of that local agency member. 

(2) A designated alternate member of the legislative body of the joint powers 
agency who is also a member of the legislative body of a local agency member 

and who is attending a properly noticed meeting of the joint powers agency in 
lieu of a local agency member’s regularly appointed member to attend closed 

sessions of the joint powers agency. 

(b) If the legislative body of a joint powers agency adopts a policy or a bylaw or 

includes provisions in its joint powers agreement pursuant to subdivision (a), then 
the legislative body of the local agency member, upon the advice of its legal 

counsel, may conduct a closed session in order to receive, discuss, and take action 
concerning information obtained in a closed session of the joint powers agency 

pursuant to paragraph (1) of subdivision (a). 
(c) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2025. 
(Repealed (in Sec. 1) and added by Stats. 2019, Ch. 248, Sec. 2. (SB 355) Effective January 1, 2020. Section 
operative January 1, 2025, by its own provisions.) 

54956.97. 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.96.','6.2.1.22','2019','248','2',%20'id_660939b6-1c60-11ea-b366-4d5a39f643ad')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.97.','6.2.1.22','2019','442','14',%20'id_78e03938-1c60-11ea-b366-4d5a39f643ad')


 
Notwithstanding any provision of law, the governing board, or a committee of the 

governing board, of a public bank, as defined in Section 57600 of the Government 
Code, may meet in closed session to consider and take action on matters pertaining 

to all of the following: 
(a) A loan or investment decision. 

(b) A decision of the internal audit committee, the compliance committee, or the 
governance committee. 

(c) A meeting with a state or federal regulator. 
(Added by Stats. 2019, Ch. 442, Sec. 14. (AB 857) Effective January 1, 2020.) 

54956.98. 
(a) For purposes of this section, the following definitions shall apply: 

(1) “Shareholder, member, or owner local agency” or “shareholder, member, or 

owner” means a local agency that is a shareholder of a public bank. 

(2) “Public bank” has the same meaning as defined in Section 57600. 

(b) The governing board of a public bank may adopt a policy or a bylaw or include 
in its governing documents provisions that authorize any of the following: 

(1) All information received by a shareholder, member, or owner of the public 
bank in a closed session related to the information presented to the governing 

board of a public bank in closed session shall be confidential. However, a member 
of the governing board of a shareholder, member, or owner local agency may 

disclose information obtained in a closed session that has direct financial or 
liability implications for that local agency to the following individuals: 

(A) Legal counsel of that shareholder, member, or owner local agency for 
purposes of obtaining advice on whether the matter has direct financial or 

liability implications for that shareholder local agency. 

(B) Other members of the governing board of the local agency present in a 

closed session of that shareholder, member, or owner local agency. 

(2) A designated alternate member of the governing board of the public bank 
who is also a member of the governing board of a shareholder, member, or 

owner local agency and who is attending a properly noticed meeting of the public 
bank governing board in lieu of a shareholder, member, or owner local agency’s 

regularly appointed member may attend a closed session of the public bank 
governing board. 

(c) If the governing board of a public bank adopts a policy or a bylaw or includes 
provisions in its governing documents pursuant to subdivision (b), then the 

governing board of the shareholder, member, or owner local agency, upon the 
advice of its legal counsel, may conduct a closed session in order to receive, 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.98.','6.2.1.22','2019','442','15',%20'id_8690b5aa-1c60-11ea-b366-4d5a39f643ad')


 
discuss, and take action concerning information obtained in a closed session of the 

public bank governing board pursuant to paragraph (1) of subdivision (b). 
(Added by Stats. 2019, Ch. 442, Sec. 15. (AB 857) Effective January 1, 2020.) 

54957. 
(a) This chapter shall not be construed to prevent the legislative body of a local 

agency from holding closed sessions with the Governor, Attorney General, district 
attorney, agency counsel, sheriff, or chief of police, or their respective deputies, or 
a security consultant or a security operations manager, on matters posing a threat 

to the security of public buildings, a threat to the security of essential public 
services, including water, drinking water, wastewater treatment, natural gas 

service, and electric service, or a threat to the public’s right of access to public 
services or public facilities. 

(b) (1) Subject to paragraph (2), this chapter shall not be construed to prevent the 
legislative body of a local agency from holding closed sessions during a regular or 

special meeting to consider the appointment, employment, evaluation of 
performance, discipline, or dismissal of a public employee or to hear complaints or 

charges brought against the employee by another person or employee unless the 
employee requests a public session. 

(2) As a condition to holding a closed session on specific complaints or charges 
brought against an employee by another person or employee, the employee shall 

be given written notice of his or her right to have the complaints or charges 
heard in an open session rather than a closed session, which notice shall be 

delivered to the employee personally or by mail at least 24 hours before the time 
for holding the session. If notice is not given, any disciplinary or other action 

taken by the legislative body against the employee based on the specific 
complaints or charges in the closed session shall be null and void. 

(3) The legislative body also may exclude from the public or closed meeting, 
during the examination of a witness, any or all other witnesses in the matter 
being investigated by the legislative body. 

(4) For the purposes of this subdivision, the term “employee” shall include an 
officer or an independent contractor who functions as an officer or an employee 

but shall not include any elected official, member of a legislative body or other 
independent contractors. This subdivision shall not limit local officials’ ability to 

hold closed session meetings pursuant to Sections 1461, 32106, and 32155 of 
the Health and Safety Code or Sections 37606 and 37624.3 of the Government 

Code. Closed sessions held pursuant to this subdivision shall not include 
discussion or action on proposed compensation except for a reduction of 

compensation that results from the imposition of discipline. 

(Amended by Stats. 2013, Ch. 11, Sec. 1. (AB 246) Effective January 1, 2014.) 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54957.','6.2.1.22','2013','11','1',%20'id_d63c4425-644d-11e3-a7a3-bf206d1f6db2')


 
54957.1. 
(a) The legislative body of any local agency shall publicly report any action taken in 
closed session and the vote or abstention on that action of every member present, 

as follows: 
(1) Approval of an agreement concluding real estate negotiations pursuant to 

Section 54956.8 shall be reported after the agreement is final, as follows: 

(A) If its own approval renders the agreement final, the body shall report that 

approval and the substance of the agreement in open session at the public 
meeting during which the closed session is held. 

(B) If final approval rests with the other party to the negotiations, the local 
agency shall disclose the fact of that approval and the substance of the 

agreement upon inquiry by any person, as soon as the other party or its agent 
has informed the local agency of its approval. 

(2) Approval given to its legal counsel to defend, or seek or refrain from seeking 
appellate review or relief, or to enter as an amicus curiae in any form of litigation 
as the result of a consultation under Section 54956.9 shall be reported in open 

session at the public meeting during which the closed session is held. The report 
shall identify, if known, the adverse party or parties and the substance of the 

litigation. In the case of approval given to initiate or intervene in an action, the 
announcement need not identify the action, the defendants, or other particulars, 

but shall specify that the direction to initiate or intervene in an action has been 
given and that the action, the defendants, and the other particulars shall, once 

formally commenced, be disclosed to any person upon inquiry, unless to do so 
would jeopardize the agency’s ability to effectuate service of process on one or 

more unserved parties, or that to do so would jeopardize its ability to conclude 
existing settlement negotiations to its advantage. 

(3) Approval given to its legal counsel of a settlement of pending litigation, as 
defined in Section 54956.9, at any stage prior to or during a judicial or quasi-

judicial proceeding shall be reported after the settlement is final, as follows: 

(A) If the legislative body accepts a settlement offer signed by the opposing 

party, the body shall report its acceptance and identify the substance of the 
agreement in open session at the public meeting during which the closed 

session is held. 

(B) If final approval rests with some other party to the litigation or with the 
court, then as soon as the settlement becomes final, and upon inquiry by any 

person, the local agency shall disclose the fact of that approval, and identify 
the substance of the agreement. 

(4) Disposition reached as to claims discussed in closed session pursuant to 
Section 54956.95 shall be reported as soon as reached in a manner that identifies 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54957.1.','6.2.1.22','2006','538','311',%20'id_d69c26d2-8f68-11db-9801-f57d41d6b535')


 
the name of the claimant, the name of the local agency claimed against, the 

substance of the claim, and any monetary amount approved for payment and 
agreed upon by the claimant. 

(5) Action taken to appoint, employ, dismiss, accept the resignation of, or 
otherwise affect the employment status of a public employee in closed session 

pursuant to Section 54957 shall be reported at the public meeting during which 
the closed session is held. Any report required by this paragraph shall identify the 

title of the position. The general requirement of this paragraph notwithstanding, 
the report of a dismissal or of the nonrenewal of an employment contract shall be 
deferred until the first public meeting following the exhaustion of administrative 

remedies, if any. 

(6) Approval of an agreement concluding labor negotiations with represented 

employees pursuant to Section 54957.6 shall be reported after the agreement is 
final and has been accepted or ratified by the other party. The report shall 

identify the item approved and the other party or parties to the negotiation. 

(7) Pension fund investment transaction decisions made pursuant to Section 

54956.81 shall be disclosed at the first open meeting of the legislative body held 
after the earlier of the close of the investment transaction or the transfer of 

pension fund assets for the investment transaction. 

(b) Reports that are required to be made pursuant to this section may be made 

orally or in writing. The legislative body shall provide to any person who has 
submitted a written request to the legislative body within 24 hours of the posting of 

the agenda, or to any person who has made a standing request for all 
documentation as part of a request for notice of meetings pursuant to Section 

54954.1 or 54956, if the requester is present at the time the closed session ends, 
copies of any contracts, settlement agreements, or other documents that were 

finally approved or adopted in the closed session. If the action taken results in one 
or more substantive amendments to the related documents requiring retyping, the 
documents need not be released until the retyping is completed during normal 

business hours, provided that the presiding officer of the legislative body or his or 
her designee orally summarizes the substance of the amendments for the benefit of 

the document requester or any other person present and requesting the 
information. 

(c) The documentation referred to in subdivision (b) shall be available to any 
person on the next business day following the meeting in which the action referred 

to is taken or, in the case of substantial amendments, when any necessary retyping 
is complete. 

(d) Nothing in this section shall be construed to require that the legislative body 
approve actions not otherwise subject to legislative body approval. 

(e) No action for injury to a reputational, liberty, or other personal interest may be 
commenced by or on behalf of any employee or former employee with respect to 



 
whom a disclosure is made by a legislative body in an effort to comply with this 

section. 
(f) This section is necessary to implement, and reasonably within the scope of, 

paragraph (1) of subdivision (b) of Section 3 of Article I of the California 
Constitution. 
(Amended by Stats. 2006, Ch. 538, Sec. 311. Effective January 1, 2007.) 

54957.2. 
(a) The legislative body of a local agency may, by ordinance or resolution, 

designate a clerk or other officer or employee of the local agency who shall then 
attend each closed session of the legislative body and keep and enter in a minute 

book a record of topics discussed and decisions made at the meeting. The minute 
book made pursuant to this section is not a public record subject to inspection 

pursuant to the California Public Records Act (Division 10 (commencing with Section 
7920.000) of Title 1), and shall be kept confidential. The minute book shall be 

available only to members of the legislative body or, if a violation of this chapter is 
alleged to have occurred at a closed session, to a court of general jurisdiction 

wherein the local agency lies. The minute book may, but need not, consist of a 
recording of the closed session. 

(b) An elected legislative body of a local agency may require that each legislative 
body all or a majority of whose members are appointed by or under the authority of 

the elected legislative body keep a minute book as prescribed under subdivision 
(a). 
(Amended by Stats. 2021, Ch. 615, Sec. 207. (AB 474) Effective January 1, 2022. Operative January 1, 2023, 
pursuant to Sec. 463 of Stats. 2021, Ch. 615.) 

54957.5. 
(a) Agendas of public meetings are disclosable public records under the California 
Public Records Act (Division 10 (commencing with Section 7920.000) of Title 1), 

and shall be made available upon request without delay and in compliance with 
Section 54954.2 or Section 54956, as applicable. However, this section shall not 

apply to a writing, or portion thereof, that is exempt from public disclosure. 
(b) (1) If a writing is a public record related to an agenda item for an open session 

of a regular meeting of the legislative body of a local agency and is distributed to 
all, or a majority of all, of the members of a legislative body of a local agency by a 

person in connection with a matter subject to discussion or consideration at an 
open meeting of the body less than 72 hours before that meeting, the writing shall 

be made available for public inspection pursuant to paragraph (2) at the time the 
writing is distributed to all, or a majority of all, of the members of the body. 

(2) (A) Except as provided in subparagraph (B), a local agency shall comply with 
both of the following requirements: 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54957.2.','6.2.1.22','2021','615','207',%20'id_d7638afd-5f75-11ec-b9e6-e768d1537d5c')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54957.5.','6.2.1.22','2022','971','1',%20'id_011bc71c-7cac-11ed-acb9-a59a0646e1a6')


 
(i) A local agency shall make any writing described in paragraph (1) 

available for public inspection at a public office or location that the agency 
shall designate for this purpose. 

(ii) A local agency shall list the address of the office or location designated 
pursuant to clause (i) on the agendas for all meetings of the legislative 

body of that agency. 

(B) A local agency shall not be required to comply with the requirements of 

subparagraph (A) if all of the following requirements are met: 

(i) An initial staff report or similar document containing an executive 
summary and the staff recommendation, if any, relating to that agenda 

item is made available for public inspection at the office or location 
designated pursuant to clause (i) of subparagraph (A) at least 72 hours 

before the meeting. 

(ii) The local agency immediately posts any writing described in paragraph 

(1) on the local agency’s internet website in a position and manner that 
makes it clear that the writing relates to an agenda item for an upcoming 

meeting. 

(iii) The local agency lists the web address of the local agency’s internet 

website on the agendas for all meetings of the legislative body of that 
agency. 

(iv) (I) Subject to subclause (II), the local agency makes physical copies 
available for public inspection, beginning the next regular business hours 

for the local agency, at the office or location designated pursuant to clause 
(i) of subparagraph (A). 

(II) This clause is satisfied only if the next regular business hours of the 
local agency commence at least 24 hours before that meeting. 

(c) Writings that are public records described in subdivision (b) and distributed 
during a public meeting shall be made available for public inspection at the meeting 
if prepared by the local agency or a member of its legislative body, or after the 

meeting if prepared by some other person. These writings shall be made available 
in appropriate alternative formats upon request by a person with a disability, as 

required by Section 202 of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. 
Sec. 12132), and the federal rules and regulations adopted in implementation 

thereof. 
(d) This chapter shall not be construed to prevent the legislative body of a local 

agency from charging a fee or deposit for a copy of a public record pursuant to 
Section 7922.530, except that a surcharge shall not be imposed on persons with 

disabilities in violation of Section 202 of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 



 
(42 U.S.C. Sec. 12132), and the federal rules and regulations adopted in 

implementation thereof. 
(e) This section shall not be construed to limit or delay the public’s right to inspect 

or obtain a copy of any record required to be disclosed under the requirements of 
the California Public Records Act (Division 10 (commencing with Section 7920.000) 

of Title 1), including, but not limited to, the ability of the public to inspect public 
records pursuant to Section 7922.525 and obtain copies of public records pursuant 

to either subdivision (b) of Section 7922.530 or Section 7922.535. This chapter 
shall not be construed to require a legislative body of a local agency to place any 
paid advertisement or any other paid notice in any publication. 
(Amended (as amended by Stats. 2021, Ch. 615, Sec. 208) by Stats. 2022, Ch. 971, Sec. 1. (AB 2647) Effective 

January 1, 2023.) 

54957.6. 
(a) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a legislative body of a local agency 

may hold closed sessions with the local agency’s designated representatives 
regarding the salaries, salary schedules, or compensation paid in the form of fringe 

benefits of its represented and unrepresented employees, and, for represented 
employees, any other matter within the statutorily provided scope of 

representation. 
However, prior to the closed session, the legislative body of the local agency shall 
hold an open and public session in which it identifies its designated representatives. 

Closed sessions of a legislative body of a local agency, as permitted in this section, 
shall be for the purpose of reviewing its position and instructing the local agency’s 

designated representatives. 
Closed sessions, as permitted in this section, may take place prior to and during 

consultations and discussions with representatives of employee organizations and 
unrepresented employees. 

Closed sessions with the local agency’s designated representative regarding the 
salaries, salary schedules, or compensation paid in the form of fringe benefits may 

include discussion of an agency’s available funds and funding priorities, but only 
insofar as these discussions relate to providing instructions to the local agency’s 

designated representative. 
Closed sessions held pursuant to this section shall not include final action on the 

proposed compensation of one or more unrepresented employees. 
For the purposes enumerated in this section, a legislative body of a local agency 

may also meet with a state conciliator who has intervened in the proceedings. 
(b) For the purposes of this section, the term “employee” shall include an officer or 

an independent contractor who functions as an officer or an employee, but shall not 
include any elected official, member of a legislative body, or other independent 

contractors. 
(Amended by Stats. 1998, Ch. 260, Sec. 5. Effective January 1, 1999.) 

54957.7. 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54957.6.','6.2.1.22','1998','260','5',%20'id_c2946421-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54957.7.','6.2.1.22','1993','1137','15',%20'id_c2946423-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')


 
(a) Prior to holding any closed session, the legislative body of the local agency shall 

disclose, in an open meeting, the item or items to be discussed in the closed 
session. The disclosure may take the form of a reference to the item or items as 

they are listed by number or letter on the agenda. In the closed session, the 
legislative body may consider only those matters covered in its statement. Nothing 

in this section shall require or authorize a disclosure of information prohibited by 
state or federal law. 

(b) After any closed session, the legislative body shall reconvene into open session 
prior to adjournment and shall make any disclosures required by Section 54957.1 
of action taken in the closed session. 

(c) The announcements required to be made in open session pursuant to this 
section may be made at the location announced in the agenda for the closed 

session, as long as the public is allowed to be present at that location for the 
purpose of hearing the announcements. 
(Amended by Stats. 1993, Ch. 1137, Sec. 15. Effective January 1, 1994. Operative April 1, 1994, by Sec. 23 of Ch. 
1137.) 

54957.8. 
(a) For purposes of this section, “multijurisdictional law enforcement agency” 

means a joint powers entity formed pursuant to Article 1 (commencing with Section 
6500) of Chapter 5 of Division 7 of Title 1 that provides law enforcement services 
for the parties to the joint powers agreement for the purpose of investigating 

criminal activity involving drugs; gangs; sex crimes; firearms trafficking or felony 
possession of a firearm; high technology, computer, or identity theft; human 

trafficking; or vehicle theft. 
(b) Nothing contained in this chapter shall be construed to prevent the legislative 

body of a multijurisdictional law enforcement agency, or an advisory body of a 
multijurisdictional law enforcement agency, from holding closed sessions to discuss 

the case records of any ongoing criminal investigation of the multijurisdictional law 
enforcement agency or of any party to the joint powers agreement, to hear 

testimony from persons involved in the investigation, and to discuss courses of 
action in particular cases. 
(Amended by Stats. 2006, Ch. 427, Sec. 1. Effective September 22, 2006.) 

54957.9. 
In the event that any meeting is willfully interrupted by a group or groups of 
persons so as to render the orderly conduct of such meeting unfeasible and order 

cannot be restored by the removal of individuals who are willfully interrupting the 
meeting, the members of the legislative body conducting the meeting may order 

the meeting room cleared and continue in session. Only matters appearing on the 
agenda may be considered in such a session. Representatives of the press or other 
news media, except those participating in the disturbance, shall be allowed to 

attend any session held pursuant to this section. Nothing in this section shall 
prohibit the legislative body from establishing a procedure for readmitting an 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54957.8.','6.2.1.22','2006','427','1',%20'id_dc985cd2-4eed-11db-bdca-f867815b34c3')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54957.9.','6.2.1.22','1981','968','34',%20'id_c295eac7-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')


 
individual or individuals not responsible for willfully disturbing the orderly conduct 

of the meeting. 
(Amended by Stats. 1981, Ch. 968, Sec. 34.) 

54957.95. 
(a) (1) In addition to authority exercised pursuant to Sections 54954.3 and 

54957.9, the presiding member of the legislative body conducting a meeting or 
their designee may remove, or cause the removal of, an individual for disrupting 
the meeting. 

(2) Prior to removing an individual, the presiding member or their designee shall 
warn the individual that their behavior is disrupting the meeting and that their 

failure to cease their behavior may result in their removal. The presiding member 
or their designee may then remove the individual if they do not promptly cease 

their disruptive behavior. This paragraph does not apply to any behavior 
described in subparagraph (B) of paragraph (1) of subdivision (b). 

(b) As used in this section: 
(1) “Disrupting” means engaging in behavior during a meeting of a legislative 

body that actually disrupts, disturbs, impedes, or renders infeasible the orderly 
conduct of the meeting and includes, but is not limited to, one of the following: 

(A) A failure to comply with reasonable and lawful regulations adopted by a 
legislative body pursuant to Section 54954.3 or any other law. 

(B) Engaging in behavior that constitutes use of force or a true threat of force. 

(2) “True threat of force” means a threat that has sufficient indicia of intent and 

seriousness, that a reasonable observer would perceive it to be an actual threat 
to use force by the person making the threat. 

(Added by Stats. 2022, Ch. 171, Sec. 2. (SB 1100) Effective January 1, 2023.) 

54957.10. 
Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a legislative body of a local agency may 

hold closed sessions to discuss a local agency employee’s application for early 
withdrawal of funds in a deferred compensation plan when the application is based 

on financial hardship arising from an unforeseeable emergency due to illness, 
accident, casualty, or other extraordinary event, as specified in the deferred 

compensation plan. 
(Added by Stats. 2001, Ch. 45, Sec. 1. Effective January 1, 2002.) 

54958. 
The provisions of this chapter shall apply to the legislative body of every local 

agency notwithstanding the conflicting provisions of any other state law. 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54957.95.','6.2.1.22','2022','171','2',%20'id_3554e054-7cab-11ed-acb9-a59a0646e1a6')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54957.10.','6.2.1.22','2001','45','1',%20'id_c295eac9-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54959.','6.2.1.22','1994','32','18',%20'id_c295eacd-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')


 
(Added by Stats. 1953, Ch. 1588.) 

54959. 
Each member of a legislative body who attends a meeting of that legislative body 

where action is taken in violation of any provision of this chapter, and where the 
member intends to deprive the public of information to which the member knows or 

has reason to know the public is entitled under this chapter, is guilty of a 
misdemeanor. 
(Amended by Stats. 1994, Ch. 32, Sec. 18. Effective March 30, 1994. Operative April 1, 1994, by Sec. 23 of Ch. 32.) 

54960. 
(a) The district attorney or any interested person may commence an action by 

mandamus, injunction, or declaratory relief for the purpose of stopping or 
preventing violations or threatened violations of this chapter by members of the 

legislative body of a local agency or to determine the applicability of this chapter to 
ongoing actions or threatened future actions of the legislative body, or to determine 

the applicability of this chapter to past actions of the legislative body, subject to 
Section 54960.2, or to determine whether any rule or action by the legislative body 

to penalize or otherwise discourage the expression of one or more of its members is 
valid or invalid under the laws of this state or of the United States, or to compel the 

legislative body to audio record its closed sessions as hereinafter provided. 
(b) The court in its discretion may, upon a judgment of a violation of Section 

54956.7, 54956.8, 54956.9, 54956.95, 54957, or 54957.6, order the legislative 
body to audio record its closed sessions and preserve the audio recordings for the 

period and under the terms of security and confidentiality the court deems 
appropriate. 

(c) (1) Each recording so kept shall be immediately labeled with the date of the 
closed session recorded and the title of the clerk or other officer who shall be 
custodian of the recording. 

(2) The audio recordings shall be subject to the following discovery procedures: 

(A) In any case in which discovery or disclosure of the audio recording is 

sought by either the district attorney or the plaintiff in a civil action pursuant 
to Section 54959, 54960, or 54960.1 alleging that a violation of this chapter 

has occurred in a closed session that has been recorded pursuant to this 
section, the party seeking discovery or disclosure shall file a written notice of 

motion with the appropriate court with notice to the governmental agency that 
has custody and control of the audio recording. The notice shall be given 

pursuant to subdivision (b) of Section 1005 of the Code of Civil Procedure. 

(B) The notice shall include, in addition to the items required by Section 1010 

of the Code of Civil Procedure, all of the following: 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54959.','6.2.1.22','1994','32','18',%20'id_c295eacd-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54960.','6.2.1.22','2012','732','1',%20'id_78cd4322-4e0f-11e2-bece-f6c402701ba4')


 
(i) Identification of the proceeding in which discovery or disclosure is 

sought, the party seeking discovery or disclosure, the date and time of the 
meeting recorded, and the governmental agency that has custody and 

control of the recording. 

(ii) An affidavit that contains specific facts indicating that a violation of the 

act occurred in the closed session. 

(3) If the court, following a review of the motion, finds that there is good cause 

to believe that a violation has occurred, the court may review, in camera, the 
recording of that portion of the closed session alleged to have violated the act. 

(4) If, following the in camera review, the court concludes that disclosure of a 

portion of the recording would be likely to materially assist in the resolution of 
the litigation alleging violation of this chapter, the court shall, in its discretion, 

make a certified transcript of the portion of the recording a public exhibit in the 
proceeding. 

(5) This section shall not permit discovery of communications that are protected 
by the attorney-client privilege. 

(Amended by Stats. 2012, Ch. 732, Sec. 1. (SB 1003) Effective January 1, 2013.) 

54960.1. 
(a) The district attorney or any interested person may commence an action by 
mandamus or injunction for the purpose of obtaining a judicial determination that 

an action taken by a legislative body of a local agency in violation of Section 54953, 
54954.2, 54954.5, 54954.6, 54956, or 54956.5 is null and void under this section. 

Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to prevent a legislative body from curing 
or correcting an action challenged pursuant to this section. 

(b) Prior to any action being commenced pursuant to subdivision (a), the district 
attorney or interested person shall make a demand of the legislative body to cure 

or correct the action alleged to have been taken in violation of Section 54953, 
54954.2, 54954.5, 54954.6, 54956, or 54956.5. The demand shall be in writing 
and clearly describe the challenged action of the legislative body and nature of the 

alleged violation. 
(c) (1) The written demand shall be made within 90 days from the date the action 

was taken unless the action was taken in an open session but in violation of Section 
54954.2, in which case the written demand shall be made within 30 days from the 

date the action was taken. 
(2) Within 30 days of receipt of the demand, the legislative body shall cure or 

correct the challenged action and inform the demanding party in writing of its 
actions to cure or correct or inform the demanding party in writing of its decision 

not to cure or correct the challenged action. 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54960.1.','6.2.1.22','2002','454','23',%20'id_c2977171-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')


 
(3) If the legislative body takes no action within the 30-day period, the inaction 

shall be deemed a decision not to cure or correct the challenged action, and the 
15-day period to commence the action described in subdivision (a) shall 

commence to run the day after the 30-day period to cure or correct expires. 

(4) Within 15 days of receipt of the written notice of the legislative body’s 

decision to cure or correct, or not to cure or correct, or within 15 days of the 
expiration of the 30-day period to cure or correct, whichever is earlier, the 

demanding party shall be required to commence the action pursuant to 
subdivision (a) or thereafter be barred from commencing the action. 

(d) An action taken that is alleged to have been taken in violation of Section 54953, 

54954.2, 54954.5, 54954.6, 54956, or 54956.5 shall not be determined to be null 
and void if any of the following conditions exist: 

(1) The action taken was in substantial compliance with Sections 54953, 
54954.2, 54954.5, 54954.6, 54956, and 54956.5. 

(2) The action taken was in connection with the sale or issuance of notes, bonds, 
or other evidences of indebtedness or any contract, instrument, or agreement 

thereto. 

(3) The action taken gave rise to a contractual obligation, including a contract let 

by competitive bid other than compensation for services in the form of salary or 
fees for professional services, upon which a party has, in good faith and without 

notice of a challenge to the validity of the action, detrimentally relied. 

(4) The action taken was in connection with the collection of any tax. 

(5) Any person, city, city and county, county, district, or any agency or 
subdivision of the state alleging noncompliance with subdivision (a) of Section 

54954.2, Section 54956, or Section 54956.5, because of any defect, error, 
irregularity, or omission in the notice given pursuant to those provisions, had 

actual notice of the item of business at least 72 hours prior to the meeting at 
which the action was taken, if the meeting was noticed pursuant to Section 
54954.2, or 24 hours prior to the meeting at which the action was taken if the 

meeting was noticed pursuant to Section 54956, or prior to the meeting at which 
the action was taken if the meeting is held pursuant to Section 54956.5. 

(e) During any action seeking a judicial determination pursuant to subdivision (a) if 
the court determines, pursuant to a showing by the legislative body that an action 

alleged to have been taken in violation of Section 54953, 54954.2, 54954.5, 
54954.6, 54956, or 54956.5 has been cured or corrected by a subsequent action of 

the legislative body, the action filed pursuant to subdivision (a) shall be dismissed 
with prejudice. 



 
(f) The fact that a legislative body takes a subsequent action to cure or correct an 

action taken pursuant to this section shall not be construed or admissible as 
evidence of a violation of this chapter. 
(Amended by Stats. 2002, Ch. 454, Sec. 23. Effective January 1, 2003.) 

54960.2. 
(a) The district attorney or any interested person may file an action to determine 
the applicability of this chapter to past actions of the legislative body pursuant to 
subdivision (a) of Section 54960 only if all of the following conditions are met: 

(1) The district attorney or interested person alleging a violation of this chapter 
first submits a cease and desist letter by postal mail or facsimile transmission to 

the clerk or secretary of the legislative body being accused of the violation, as 
designated in the statement pertaining to that public agency on file pursuant to 

Section 53051, or if the agency does not have a statement on file designating a 
clerk or a secretary, to the chief executive officer of that agency, clearly 

describing the past action of the legislative body and nature of the alleged 
violation. 

(2) The cease and desist letter required under paragraph (1) is submitted to the 
legislative body within nine months of the alleged violation. 

(3) The time during which the legislative body may respond to the cease and 
desist letter pursuant to subdivision (b) has expired and the legislative body has 

not provided an unconditional commitment pursuant to subdivision (c). 

(4) Within 60 days of receipt of the legislative body’s response to the cease and 

desist letter, other than an unconditional commitment pursuant to subdivision 
(c), or within 60 days of the expiration of the time during which the legislative 

body may respond to the cease and desist letter pursuant to subdivision (b), 
whichever is earlier, the party submitting the cease and desist letter shall 

commence the action pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section 54960 or thereafter 
be barred from commencing the action. 

(b) The legislative body may respond to a cease and desist letter submitted 

pursuant to subdivision (a) within 30 days of receiving the letter. This subdivision 
shall not be construed to prevent the legislative body from providing an 

unconditional commitment pursuant to subdivision (c) at any time after the 30-day 
period has expired, except that in that event the court shall award court costs and 

reasonable attorney fees to the plaintiff in an action brought pursuant to this 
section, in accordance with Section 54960.5. 

(c) (1) If the legislative body elects to respond to the cease and desist letter with 
an unconditional commitment to cease, desist from, and not repeat the past action 

that is alleged to violate this chapter, that response shall be in substantially the 
following form: 

 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54960.2.','6.2.1.22','2012','732','2',%20'id_6e1e1258-4e0a-11e2-bece-f6c402701ba4')


 
To ______________________: 

 

The [name of legislative body] has received your cease and desist letter dated 

[date] alleging that the following described past action of the legislative body 
violates the Ralph M. Brown Act: 

 

[Describe alleged past action, as set forth in the cease and desist letter submitted 

pursuant to subdivision (a)] 
 

In order to avoid unnecessary litigation and without admitting any violation of the 

Ralph M. Brown Act, the [name of legislative body] hereby unconditionally commits 
that it will cease, desist from, and not repeat the challenged past action as 

described above. 
 

The [name of legislative body] may rescind this commitment only by a majority 
vote of its membership taken in open session at a regular meeting and noticed on 

its posted agenda as “Rescission of Brown Act Commitment.” You will be provided 
with written notice, sent by any means or media you provide in response to this 

message, to whatever address or addresses you specify, of any intention to 
consider rescinding this commitment at least 30 days before any such regular 

meeting. In the event that this commitment is rescinded, you will have the right to 
commence legal action pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section 54960 of the 

Government Code. That notice will be delivered to you by the same means as this 
commitment, or may be mailed to an address that you have designated in writing. 

 

Very truly yours, 

________________________________________________ 
[Chairperson or acting chairperson of the legislative body] 
 

(2) An unconditional commitment pursuant to this subdivision shall be approved 
by the legislative body in open session at a regular or special meeting as a 

separate item of business, and not on its consent agenda. 

(3) An action shall not be commenced to determine the applicability of this 

chapter to any past action of the legislative body for which the legislative body 
has provided an unconditional commitment pursuant to this subdivision. During 

any action seeking a judicial determination regarding the applicability of this 
chapter to any past action of the legislative body pursuant to subdivision (a), if 

the court determines that the legislative body has provided an unconditional 
commitment pursuant to this subdivision, the action shall be dismissed with 

prejudice. Nothing in this subdivision shall be construed to modify or limit the 
existing ability of the district attorney or any interested person to commence an 



 
action to determine the applicability of this chapter to ongoing actions or 

threatened future actions of the legislative body. 

(4) Except as provided in subdivision (d), the fact that a legislative body provides 

an unconditional commitment shall not be construed or admissible as evidence of 
a violation of this chapter. 

(d) If the legislative body provides an unconditional commitment as set forth in 
subdivision (c), the legislative body shall not thereafter take or engage in the 

challenged action described in the cease and desist letter, except as provided in 
subdivision (e). Violation of this subdivision shall constitute an independent 
violation of this chapter, without regard to whether the challenged action would 

otherwise violate this chapter. An action alleging past violation or threatened future 
violation of this subdivision may be brought pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section 

54960, without regard to the procedural requirements of this section. 
(e) The legislative body may resolve to rescind an unconditional commitment made 

pursuant to subdivision (c) by a majority vote of its membership taken in open 
session at a regular meeting as a separate item of business not on its consent 

agenda, and noticed on its posted agenda as “Rescission of Brown Act 
Commitment,” provided that not less than 30 days prior to such regular meeting, 

the legislative body provides written notice of its intent to consider the rescission to 
each person to whom the unconditional commitment was made, and to the district 

attorney. Upon rescission, the district attorney or any interested person may 
commence an action pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section 54960. An action under 

this subdivision may be brought pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section 54960, 
without regard to the procedural requirements of this section. 
(Added by Stats. 2012, Ch. 732, Sec. 2. (SB 1003) Effective January 1, 2013.) 

54960.5. 
A court may award court costs and reasonable attorney fees to the plaintiff in an 
action brought pursuant to Section 54960, 54960.1, or 54960.2 where it is found 
that a legislative body of the local agency has violated this chapter. Additionally, 

when an action brought pursuant to Section 54960.2 is dismissed with prejudice 
because a legislative body has provided an unconditional commitment pursuant to 

paragraph (1) of subdivision (c) of that section at any time after the 30-day period 
for making such a commitment has expired, the court shall award court costs and 

reasonable attorney fees to the plaintiff if the filing of that action caused the 
legislative body to issue the unconditional commitment. The costs and fees shall be 

paid by the local agency and shall not become a personal liability of any public 
officer or employee of the local agency. 

A court may award court costs and reasonable attorney fees to a defendant in any 
action brought pursuant to Section 54960 or 54960.1 where the defendant has 

prevailed in a final determination of such action and the court finds that the action 
was clearly frivolous and totally lacking in merit. 
(Amended by Stats. 2012, Ch. 732, Sec. 3. (SB 1003) Effective January 1, 2013.) 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54960.5.','6.2.1.22','2012','732','3',%20'id_7aea7dd4-4e0f-11e2-bece-f6c402701ba4')


 
54961. 
(a) No legislative body of a local agency shall conduct any meeting in any facility 
that prohibits the admittance of any person, or persons, on the basis of ancestry or 

any characteristic listed or defined in Section 11135, or which is inaccessible to 
disabled persons, or where members of the public may not be present without 

making a payment or purchase. This section shall apply to every local agency as 
defined in Section 54951. 

(b) No notice, agenda, announcement, or report required under this chapter need 
identify any victim or alleged victim of tortious sexual conduct or child abuse unless 

the identity of the person has been publicly disclosed. 
(Amended by Stats. 2007, Ch. 568, Sec. 35. Effective January 1, 2008.) 

54962. 
Except as expressly authorized by this chapter, or by Sections 1461, 1462, 32106, 
and 32155 of the Health and Safety Code, or by Sections 37606, 37606.1, and 

37624.3 of the Government Code as they apply to hospitals, or by any provision of 
the Education Code pertaining to school districts and community college districts, 

no closed session may be held by any legislative body of any local agency. 
(Amended by Stats. 2006, Ch. 157, Sec. 2. Effective January 1, 2007.) 

54963. 
(a) A person may not disclose confidential information that has been acquired by 

being present in a closed session authorized by Section 54956.7, 54956.8, 
54956.86, 54956.87, 54956.9, 54957, 54957.6, 54957.8, or 54957.10 to a person 

not entitled to receive it, unless the legislative body authorizes disclosure of that 
confidential information. 

(b) For purposes of this section, “confidential information” means a communication 
made in a closed session that is specifically related to the basis for the legislative 

body of a local agency to meet lawfully in closed session under this chapter. 
(c) Violation of this section may be addressed by the use of such remedies as are 

currently available by law, including, but not limited to: 
(1) Injunctive relief to prevent the disclosure of confidential information 

prohibited by this section. 

(2) Disciplinary action against an employee who has willfully disclosed 
confidential information in violation of this section. 

(3) Referral of a member of a legislative body who has willfully disclosed 
confidential information in violation of this section to the grandjury. 

(d) Disciplinary action pursuant to paragraph (2) of subdivision (c) shall require 
that the employee in question has either received training as to the requirements of 

this section or otherwise has been given notice of the requirements of this section. 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54963.','6.2.1.22','2002','1119','1',%20'id_c298f819-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54963.','6.2.1.22','2002','1119','1',%20'id_c298f819-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54963.','6.2.1.22','2002','1119','1',%20'id_c298f819-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')


 
(e) A local agency may not take any action authorized by subdivision (c) against a 

person, nor shall it be deemed a violation of this section, for doing any of the 
following: 

(1) Making a confidential inquiry or complaint to a district attorney or grand jury 
concerning a perceived violation of law, including disclosing facts to a district 

attorney or grand jury that are necessary to establish the illegality of an action 
taken by a legislative body of a local agency or the potential illegality of an action 

that has been the subject of deliberation at a closed session if that action were to 
be taken by a legislative body of a local agency. 

(2) Expressing an opinion concerning the propriety or legality of actions taken by 

a legislative body of a local agency in closed session, including disclosure of the 
nature and extent of the illegal or potentially illegal action. 

(3) Disclosing information acquired by being present in a closed session under 
this chapter that is not confidential information. 

(f) Nothing in this section shall be construed to prohibit disclosures under the 
whistleblower statutes contained in Section 1102.5 of the Labor Code or Article 4.5 

(commencing with Section 53296) of Chapter 2 of this code. 
(Added by Stats. 2002, Ch. 1119, Sec. 1. Effective January 1, 2003.) 

 



 
 

BP 2315 
 

Board Policy 
Chapter 2 – Board of Trustees 

 
 

BP 2315 Closed Sessions 
 
References: 

Education Code Section 72122; 
Government Code Sections 54954.5, 54956.8, 54956.9, 54957, 54957.1, 
54957.6, and 11125.4 

 
 
The Governing Board shall hold cClosed sessions of the Board of Trustees shall only be 
held as permitted by applicable legal provisions including but not limited to the Brown 
Act, California Government Code and California Education Code.  Matters discussed in 
closed session may include: 

• the appointment, employment, evaluation of performance, discipline or dismissal 
of a public employee; 

• charges or complaints brought against a public employee by another person or 
employee, unless the accused public employee requests that the complaints or 
charges be heard in open session.  The employee shall be given at least 24 
hours written notice of the closed session. 

• advice of counsel on pending litigation, or the initiation of litigation, as defined by 
law; 

• consideration of tort liability claims as part of the Ddistrict’s membership in any 
joint powers agency formed for purposes of insurance pooling; 

• real property transactions; 

• threats to public security; 

• review of the District’s position regarding labor negotiations and giving 
instructions to the District’s designated negotiator; 

• discussion of student disciplinary action, with final action taken in public; 

• conferring of honorary degrees; 

• consideration of gifts from a donor who wishes to remain anonymous; and 

• to consider its response to a confidential final draft audit report from the Bureau 
of State Audits. 

 
The agenda for each regular or special meeting shall contain information regarding 
whether a closed session will be held and shall identify the topics to be discussed in any 
closed session in the manner required by law. 
 



 
After any closed session, the Board shall reconvene in open session before adjourning 
and shall announce any actions taken in closed session and the vote or abstention of 
every member present. 
 
All matters discussed or disclosed during a lawfully held closed session and all notes, 
minutes, records, or recordings made of such a closed session are confidential and 
shall remain confidential unless and until required to be disclosed by action of the Board 
or by law. 
 
If any person requests an opportunity to present complaints to the Board about a 
specific employee, such complaints shall first be presented to the Chancellor.  Notice 
shall be given to the employee against whom the charges or complaints are directed.  If 
the complaint is not resolved at the administrative level, the matter shall be scheduled 
for a closed session of the Board.  The employee shall be given at least 24 hours 
written notice of the closed session and shall be given the opportunity to request that 
the complaints be heard in an open meeting of the Board. 
 
Also see BP 2310 Regular Meetings of the Board and BP 2715 Board Code of 
Ethics/Standards of Practice 
 
 
NOTE:  The language in red ink is legally required and recommended by the Policy & Procedure Service 
and its legal counsel (Liebert Cassidy Whitmore) to comply with law.  The Policy & Procedure Service 
provided legal updates to this policy in February 2005, April 2014, October 2018, and April 2024.  The 
language in black ink is from current FHDACCD BP 2315 Closed Sessions adopted on 2/7/11 and 
amended and renumbered on 12/9/13 (formerly BP 9127), and amended on 4/1/19.  The language in blue 
ink is included for consideration.  The language in yellow highlighting is included to draw the reviewers’ 
attention, and this language will be removed upon final approval.  The language in gray highlighting was 
uniquely added by the FHDACCD and requires careful review by leaders to ensure the language remains 
accurate and up-to-date.  The legal citation language reflected after the page break (below) should be 
removed following review and revision. 

 

Adopted:  2/7/11 
Amended Revised:  12/9/13, 4/1/19, 
________ 
 

 

  

  



 
Legal Citations for BP 2315 

 
Education Code Section 72122 
 
EDUCATION CODE - EDC 

TITLE 3. POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION [66000 - 101060] 
  ( Title 3 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

DIVISION 7. COMMUNITY COLLEGES [70900 - 88922] 
  ( Division 7 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

PART 45. DISTRICTS AND GOVERNING BOARDS [72000 - 72701] 
  ( Part 45 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

CHAPTER 2. Meetings and Members [72101 - 72129] 
  ( Chapter 2 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

ARTICLE 2. Meetings [72121 - 72129] 
  ( Article 2 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 
 
72122. 
The governing board of a community college district shall, unless a request by the 
student has been made pursuant to this section, hold closed sessions if the board is 
considering the suspension of, or disciplinary action or any other action in connection 
with any student of the community college district, if a public hearing upon the question 
would lead to the giving out of information concerning students which would be in 
violation of state or federal law regarding the privacy of student records. 
Before calling a closed session of the governing board of the district to consider these 
matters, the governing board of the district shall, in writing, by registered or certified mail 
or by personal service, if the student is a minor, notify the student and his or her parent 
or guardian, or the student if the student is an adult, of the intent of the governing board 
of the district to call and hold the closed session. Unless the student, or his or her 
parent, or guardian shall, in writing, within 48 hours after receipt of the written notice of 
intention, request that the hearing of the governing board be held as a public meeting, 
then the hearing to consider those matters shall be conducted by the governing board in 
closed session. If the written request is served upon the clerk or secretary of the 
governing board, the meeting shall be public except that any discussion at the meeting 
that might be in conflict with the right to privacy of any student other than the student 
requesting the public meeting or on behalf of whom the meeting is requested, shall be in 
closed session. Whether the matter is considered at a closed session or at a public 
meeting, the final action of the governing board of the community college district shall 
be taken at a public meeting and the result of that action shall be a public record of the 
community college district. 
The governing board of a community college district may hold closed sessions to 
consider the conferring of honorary degrees or to consider gifts from a donor who wants 
to remain anonymous. 
(Amended by Stats. 1990, Ch. 1372, Sec. 307.) 
 
 



 
GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV 

TITLE 5. LOCAL AGENCIES [50001 - 57607] 
  ( Title 5 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 

DIVISION 2. CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 55821] 
  ( Division 2 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 

PART 1. POWERS AND DUTIES COMMON TO CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER 
AGENCIES [53000 - 54999.7] 

  ( Part 1 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 
 

CHAPTER 9. Meetings [54950 - 54963] 
  ( Chapter 9 added by Stats. 1953, Ch. 1588. ) 

 
54954.5. 
For purposes of describing closed session items pursuant to Section 54954.2, the 
agenda may describe closed sessions as provided below. No legislative body or 

elected official shall be in violation of Section 54954.2 or 54956 if the closed 
session items were described in substantial compliance with this section. 

Substantial compliance is satisfied by including the information provided below, 
irrespective of its format. 

(a) With respect to a closed session held pursuant to Section 54956.7: 
LICENSE/PERMIT DETERMINATION 

Applicant(s): (Specify number of applicants) 
(b) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session 

pursuant to Section 54956.8: 
CONFERENCE WITH REAL PROPERTY NEGOTIATORS 

Property: (Specify street address, or if no street address, the parcel number or 
other unique reference, of the real property under negotiation) 

Agency negotiator: (Specify names of negotiators attending the closed session) (If 
circumstances necessitate the absence of a specified negotiator, an agent or 

designee may participate in place of the absent negotiator so long as the name of 
the agent or designee is announced at an open session held prior to the closed 

session.) 
Negotiating parties: (Specify name of party (not agent)) 

Under negotiation: (Specify whether instruction to negotiator will concern price, 
terms of payment, or both) 
(c) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session 

pursuant to Section 54956.9: 
CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL—EXISTING LITIGATION 

(Paragraph (1) of subdivision (d) of Section 54956.9) 
Name of case: (Specify by reference to claimant’s name, names of parties, case or 

claim numbers) 
or 

Case name unspecified: (Specify whether disclosure would jeopardize service of 
process or existing settlement negotiations) 

CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL—ANTICIPATED LITIGATION 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54954.5.','6.2.1.22','2012','759','6.1',%20'id_73fbe4ee-4e0f-11e2-bece-f6c402701ba4')


 
Significant exposure to litigation pursuant to paragraph (2) or (3) of subdivision (d) 

of Section 54956.9: (Specify number of potential cases) 
(In addition to the information noticed above, the agency may be required to 

provide additional information on the agenda or in an oral statement prior to the 
closed session pursuant to paragraphs (2) to (5), inclusive, of subdivision (e) of 

Section 54956.9.) 
Initiation of litigation pursuant to paragraph (4) of subdivision (d) of Section 

54956.9: (Specify number of potential cases) 
(d) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session 
pursuant to Section 54956.95: 

LIABILITY CLAIMS 
Claimant: (Specify name unless unspecified pursuant to Section 54961) 

Agency claimed against: (Specify name) 
(e) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session 

pursuant to Section 54957: 
THREAT TO PUBLIC SERVICES OR FACILITIES 

Consultation with: (Specify name of law enforcement agency and title of officer, or 
name of applicable agency representative and title) 

PUBLIC EMPLOYEE APPOINTMENT 
Title: (Specify description of position to be filled) 

PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT 
Title: (Specify description of position to be filled) 

PUBLIC EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE EVALUATION 
Title: (Specify position title of employee being reviewed) 

PUBLIC EMPLOYEE DISCIPLINE/DISMISSAL/RELEASE 
(No additional information is required in connection with a closed session to 

consider discipline, dismissal, or release of a public employee. Discipline includes 
potential reduction of compensation.) 
(f) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session 

pursuant to Section 54957.6: 
CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATORS 

Agency designated representatives: (Specify names of designated representatives 
attending the closed session) (If circumstances necessitate the absence of a 

specified designated representative, an agent or designee may participate in place 
of the absent representative so long as the name of the agent or designee is 

announced at an open session held prior to the closed session.) 
Employee organization: (Specify name of organization representing employee or 

employees in question) 
or 

Unrepresented employee: (Specify position title of unrepresented employee who is 
the subject of the negotiations) 

(g) With respect to closed sessions called pursuant to Section 54957.8: 
CASE REVIEW/PLANNING 

(No additional information is required in connection with a closed session to 
consider case review or planning.) 



 
(h) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session 

pursuant to Sections 1461, 32106, and 32155 of the Health and Safety Code or 
Sections 37606 and 37624.3 of the Government Code: 

REPORT INVOLVING TRADE SECRET 
Discussion will concern: (Specify whether discussion will concern proposed new 

service, program, or facility) 
Estimated date of public disclosure: (Specify month and year) 

HEARINGS 
Subject matter: (Specify whether testimony/deliberation will concern staff 
privileges, report of medical audit committee, or report of quality assurance 

committee) 
(i) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session 

pursuant to Section 54956.86: 
CHARGE OR COMPLAINT INVOLVING INFORMATION PROTECTED BY FEDERAL LAW 

(No additional information is required in connection with a closed session to discuss 
a charge or complaint pursuant to Section 54956.86.) 

(j) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session 
pursuant to Section 54956.96: 

CONFERENCE INVOLVING A JOINT POWERS AGENCY (Specify by name) 
Discussion will concern: (Specify closed session description used by the joint 

powers agency) 
Name of local agency representative on joint powers agency board: (Specify name) 

(Additional information listing the names of agencies or titles of representatives 
attending the closed session as consultants or other representatives.) 

(k) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session 
pursuant to Section 54956.75: 

AUDIT BY CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR’S OFFICE 
(Amended by Stats. 2012, Ch. 759, Sec. 6.1. (AB 2690) Effective January 1, 2013.) 

 
 
GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV 

TITLE 5. LOCAL AGENCIES [50001 - 57550] 
  ( Title 5 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 

DIVISION 2. CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 55821] 
  ( Division 2 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 

PART 1. POWERS AND DUTIES COMMON TO CITIES, COUNTIES, AND 
OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 54999.7] 

  ( Part 1 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 
CHAPTER 9. Meetings [54950 - 54963] 
  ( Chapter 9 added by Stats. 1953, Ch. 1588. ) 
 
54956.8. 
Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, a legislative body of a local agency 
may hold a closed session with its negotiator prior to the purchase, sale, exchange, or 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.8.','6.2.1.22','1998','260','3',%20'id_c29156cf-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')


 
lease of real property by or for the local agency to grant authority to its negotiator 
regarding the price and terms of payment for the purchase, sale, exchange, or lease. 
However, prior to the closed session, the legislative body of the local agency shall hold 
an open and public session in which it identifies its negotiators, the real property or real 
properties which the negotiations may concern, and the person or persons with whom 
its negotiators may negotiate. 
For purposes of this section, negotiators may be members of the legislative body of the 
local agency. 
For purposes of this section, “lease” includes renewal or renegotiation of a lease. 
Nothing in this section shall preclude a local agency from holding a closed session for 
discussions regarding eminent domain proceedings pursuant to Section 54956.9. 
(Amended by Stats. 1998, Ch. 260, Sec. 3. Effective January 1, 1999.) 
 
 
GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV 

TITLE 5. LOCAL AGENCIES [50001 - 57607] 
  ( Title 5 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 

DIVISION 2. CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 55821] 
  ( Division 2 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 

PART 1. POWERS AND DUTIES COMMON TO CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER 
AGENCIES [53000 - 54999.7] 

  ( Part 1 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 
 

CHAPTER 9. Meetings [54950 - 54963] 
  ( Chapter 9 added by Stats. 1953, Ch. 1588. ) 
 

54956.9. 
(a) Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to prevent a legislative body of a local 
agency, based on advice of its legal counsel, from holding a closed session to confer 

with, or receive advice from, its legal counsel regarding pending litigation when 
discussion in open session concerning those matters would prejudice the position of 

the local agency in the litigation. 

(b) For purposes of this chapter, all expressions of the lawyer-client privilege other 

than those provided in this section are hereby abrogated. This section is the 
exclusive expression of the lawyer-client privilege for purposes of conducting 

closed-session meetings pursuant to this chapter. 

(c) For purposes of this section, “litigation” includes any adjudicatory proceeding, 

including eminent domain, before a court, administrative body exercising its 
adjudicatory authority, hearing officer, or arbitrator. 

(d) For purposes of this section, litigation shall be considered pending when any of 
the following circumstances exist: 

(1) Litigation, to which the local agency is a party, has been initiated formally. 

(2) A point has been reached where, in the opinion of the legislative body of the 
local agency on the advice of its legal counsel, based on existing facts and 



 
circumstances, there is a significant exposure to litigation against the local 

agency. 

(3) Based on existing facts and circumstances, the legislative body of the local 

agency is meeting only to decide whether a closed session is authorized pursuant 
to paragraph (2). 

(4) Based on existing facts and circumstances, the legislative body of the local 
agency has decided to initiate or is deciding whether to initiate litigation. 

(e) For purposes of paragraphs (2) and (3) of subdivision (d), “existing facts and 
circumstances” shall consist only of one of the following: 

(1) Facts and circumstances that might result in litigation against the local 

agency but which the local agency believes are not yet known to a potential 
plaintiff or plaintiffs, which facts and circumstances need not be disclosed. 

(2) Facts and circumstances, including, but not limited to, an accident, disaster, 
incident, or transactional occurrence that might result in litigation against the 

agency and that are known to a potential plaintiff or plaintiffs, which facts or 
circumstances shall be publicly stated on the agenda or announced. 

(3) The receipt of a claim pursuant to the Government Claims Act (Division 3.6 
(commencing with Section 810) of Title 1 of the Government Code) or some 

other written communication from a potential plaintiff threatening litigation, 
which claim or communication shall be available for public inspection pursuant to 

Section 54957.5. 

(4) A statement made by a person in an open and public meeting threatening 

litigation on a specific matter within the responsibility of the legislative body. 

(5) A statement threatening litigation made by a person outside an open and 

public meeting on a specific matter within the responsibility of the legislative 
body so long as the official or employee of the local agency receiving knowledge 

of the threat makes a contemporaneous or other record of the statement prior to 
the meeting, which record shall be available for public inspection pursuant to 
Section 54957.5. The records so created need not identify the alleged victim of 

unlawful or tortious sexual conduct or anyone making the threat on their behalf, 
or identify a public employee who is the alleged perpetrator of any unlawful or 

tortious conduct upon which a threat of litigation is based, unless the identity of 
the person has been publicly disclosed. 

(f) Nothing in this section shall require disclosure of written communications that 
are privileged and not subject to disclosure pursuant to the California Public 

Records Act (Division 10 (commencing with Section 7920.000) of Title 1). 



 
(g) Prior to holding a closed session pursuant to this section, the legislative body of 

the local agency shall state on the agenda or publicly announce the paragraph of 
subdivision (d) that authorizes the closed session. If the session is closed pursuant 

to paragraph (1) of subdivision (d), the body shall state the title of or otherwise 
specifically identify the litigation to be discussed, unless the body states that to do 

so would jeopardize the agency’s ability to effectuate service of process upon one 
or more unserved parties, or that to do so would jeopardize its ability to conclude 

existing settlement negotiations to its advantage. 

(h) A local agency shall be considered to be a “party” or to have a “significant 
exposure to litigation” if an officer or employee of the local agency is a party or has 

significant exposure to litigation concerning prior or prospective activities or alleged 
activities during the course and scope of that office or employment, including 

litigation in which it is an issue whether an activity is outside the course and scope 
of the office or employment. 

(Amended by Stats. 2021, Ch. 615, Sec. 206. (AB 474) Effective January 1, 2022. Operative January 1, 
2023, pursuant to Sec. 463 of Stats. 2021, Ch. 615.) 

 
 
GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV 

TITLE 5. LOCAL AGENCIES [50001 - 57550] 
  ( Title 5 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 

DIVISION 2. CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 55821] 
  ( Division 2 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 

PART 1. POWERS AND DUTIES COMMON TO CITIES, COUNTIES, AND 
OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 54999.7] 

  ( Part 1 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 
CHAPTER 9. Meetings [54950 - 54963] 
  ( Chapter 9 added by Stats. 1953, Ch. 1588. ) 
 
54957. 
(a) This chapter shall not be construed to prevent the legislative body of a local agency 
from holding closed sessions with the Governor, Attorney General, district attorney, 
agency counsel, sheriff, or chief of police, or their respective deputies, or a security 
consultant or a security operations manager, on matters posing a threat to the security 
of public buildings, a threat to the security of essential public services, including water, 
drinking water, wastewater treatment, natural gas service, and electric service, or a 
threat to the public’s right of access to public services or public facilities. 
(b) (1) Subject to paragraph (2), this chapter shall not be construed to prevent the 
legislative body of a local agency from holding closed sessions during a regular or 
special meeting to consider the appointment, employment, evaluation of performance, 
discipline, or dismissal of a public employee or to hear complaints or charges brought 
against the employee by another person or employee unless the employee requests a 
public session. 
(2) As a condition to holding a closed session on specific complaints or charges brought 
against an employee by another person or employee, the employee shall be given 



 
written notice of his or her right to have the complaints or charges heard in an open 
session rather than a closed session, which notice shall be delivered to the employee 
personally or by mail at least 24 hours before the time for holding the session. If notice 
is not given, any disciplinary or other action taken by the legislative body against the 
employee based on the specific complaints or charges in the closed session shall be 
null and void. 
(3) The legislative body also may exclude from the public or closed meeting, during the 
examination of a witness, any or all other witnesses in the matter being investigated by 
the legislative body. 
(4) For the purposes of this subdivision, the term “employee” shall include an officer or 
an independent contractor who functions as an officer or an employee but shall not 
include any elected official, member of a legislative body or other independent 
contractors. This subdivision shall not limit local officials’ ability to hold closed session 
meetings pursuant to Sections 1461, 32106, and 32155 of the Health and Safety Code 
or Sections 37606 and 37624.3 of the Government Code. Closed sessions held 
pursuant to this subdivision shall not include discussion or action on proposed 
compensation except for a reduction of compensation that results from the imposition of 
discipline. 
(Amended by Stats. 2013, Ch. 11, Sec. 1. (AB 246) Effective January 1, 2014.) 
 
 
GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV 

TITLE 5. LOCAL AGENCIES [50001 - 57550] 
  ( Title 5 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 

DIVISION 2. CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 55821] 
  ( Division 2 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 

PART 1. POWERS AND DUTIES COMMON TO CITIES, COUNTIES, AND 
OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 54999.7] 

  ( Part 1 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 
 
CHAPTER 9. Meetings [54950 - 54963] 
  ( Chapter 9 added by Stats. 1953, Ch. 1588. ) 
 
54957.1. 
(a) The legislative body of any local agency shall publicly report any action taken in 
closed session and the vote or abstention on that action of every member present, as 
follows: 
(1) Approval of an agreement concluding real estate negotiations pursuant to Section 
54956.8 shall be reported after the agreement is final, as follows: 
(A) If its own approval renders the agreement final, the body shall report that approval 
and the substance of the agreement in open session at the public meeting during which 
the closed session is held. 
(B) If final approval rests with the other party to the negotiations, the local agency shall 
disclose the fact of that approval and the substance of the agreement upon inquiry by 



 
any person, as soon as the other party or its agent has informed the local agency of its 
approval. 
(2) Approval given to its legal counsel to defend, or seek or refrain from seeking 
appellate review or relief, or to enter as an amicus curiae in any form of litigation as the 
result of a consultation under Section 54956.9 shall be reported in open session at the 
public meeting during which the closed session is held. The report shall identify, if 
known, the adverse party or parties and the substance of the litigation. In the case of 
approval given to initiate or intervene in an action, the announcement need not identify 
the action, the defendants, or other particulars, but shall specify that the direction to 
initiate or intervene in an action has been given and that the action, the defendants, and 
the other particulars shall, once formally commenced, be disclosed to any person upon 
inquiry, unless to do so would jeopardize the agency’s ability to effectuate service of 
process on one or more unserved parties, or that to do so would jeopardize its ability to 
conclude existing settlement negotiations to its advantage. 
(3) Approval given to its legal counsel of a settlement of pending litigation, as defined in 
Section 54956.9, at any stage prior to or during a judicial or quasi-judicial proceeding 
shall be reported after the settlement is final, as follows: 
(A) If the legislative body accepts a settlement offer signed by the opposing party, the 
body shall report its acceptance and identify the substance of the agreement in open 
session at the public meeting during which the closed session is held. 
(B) If final approval rests with some other party to the litigation or with the court, then as 
soon as the settlement becomes final, and upon inquiry by any person, the local agency 
shall disclose the fact of that approval, and identify the substance of the agreement. 
(4) Disposition reached as to claims discussed in closed session pursuant to Section 
54956.95 shall be reported as soon as reached in a manner that identifies the name of 
the claimant, the name of the local agency claimed against, the substance of the claim, 
and any monetary amount approved for payment and agreed upon by the claimant. 
(5) Action taken to appoint, employ, dismiss, accept the resignation of, or otherwise 
affect the employment status of a public employee in closed session pursuant to 
Section 54957 shall be reported at the public meeting during which the closed session 
is held. Any report required by this paragraph shall identify the title of the position. The 
general requirement of this paragraph notwithstanding, the report of a dismissal or of 
the nonrenewal of an employment contract shall be deferred until the first public 
meeting following the exhaustion of administrative remedies, if any. 
(6) Approval of an agreement concluding labor negotiations with represented 
employees pursuant to Section 54957.6 shall be reported after the agreement is final 
and has been accepted or ratified by the other party. The report shall identify the item 
approved and the other party or parties to the negotiation. 
(7) Pension fund investment transaction decisions made pursuant to Section 54956.81 
shall be disclosed at the first open meeting of the legislative body held after the earlier 
of the close of the investment transaction or the transfer of pension fund assets for the 
investment transaction. 
(b) Reports that are required to be made pursuant to this section may be made orally or 
in writing. The legislative body shall provide to any person who has submitted a written 
request to the legislative body within 24 hours of the posting of the agenda, or to any 



 
person who has made a standing request for all documentation as part of a request for 
notice of meetings pursuant to Section 54954.1 or 54956, if the requester is present at 
the time the closed session ends, copies of any contracts, settlement agreements, or 
other documents that were finally approved or adopted in the closed session. If the 
action taken results in one or more substantive amendments to the related documents 
requiring retyping, the documents need not be released until the retyping is completed 
during normal business hours, provided that the presiding officer of the legislative body 
or his or her designee orally summarizes the substance of the amendments for the 
benefit of the document requester or any other person present and requesting the 
information. 
(c) The documentation referred to in subdivision (b) shall be available to any person on 
the next business day following the meeting in which the action referred to is taken or, in 
the case of substantial amendments, when any necessary retyping is complete. 
(d) Nothing in this section shall be construed to require that the legislative body approve 
actions not otherwise subject to legislative body approval. 
(e) No action for injury to a reputational, liberty, or other personal interest may be 
commenced by or on behalf of any employee or former employee with respect to whom 
a disclosure is made by a legislative body in an effort to comply with this section. 
(f) This section is necessary to implement, and reasonably within the scope of, 
paragraph (1) of subdivision (b) of Section 3 of Article I of the California Constitution. 
(Amended by Stats. 2006, Ch. 538, Sec. 311. Effective January 1, 2007.) 
 
 
GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV 

TITLE 5. LOCAL AGENCIES [50001 - 57550] 
  ( Title 5 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 

DIVISION 2. CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 55821] 
  ( Division 2 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 

PART 1. POWERS AND DUTIES COMMON TO CITIES, COUNTIES, AND 
OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 54999.7] 

  ( Part 1 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 
CHAPTER 9. Meetings [54950 - 54963] 
  ( Chapter 9 added by Stats. 1953, Ch. 1588. ) 
 
54957.6. 
(a) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a legislative body of a local agency may 
hold closed sessions with the local agency’s designated representatives regarding the 
salaries, salary schedules, or compensation paid in the form of fringe benefits of its 
represented and unrepresented employees, and, for represented employees, any other 
matter within the statutorily provided scope of representation. 
However, prior to the closed session, the legislative body of the local agency shall hold 
an open and public session in which it identifies its designated representatives. 
Closed sessions of a legislative body of a local agency, as permitted in this section, 
shall be for the purpose of reviewing its position and instructing the local agency’s 
designated representatives. 



 
Closed sessions, as permitted in this section, may take place prior to and during 
consultations and discussions with representatives of employee organizations and 
unrepresented employees. 
Closed sessions with the local agency’s designated representative regarding the 
salaries, salary schedules, or compensation paid in the form of fringe benefits may 
include discussion of an agency’s available funds and funding priorities, but only insofar 
as these discussions relate to providing instructions to the local agency’s designated 
representative. 
Closed sessions held pursuant to this section shall not include final action on the 
proposed compensation of one or more unrepresented employees. 
For the purposes enumerated in this section, a legislative body of a local agency may 
also meet with a state conciliator who has intervened in the proceedings. 
(b) For the purposes of this section, the term “employee” shall include an officer or an 
independent contractor who functions as an officer or an employee, but shall not include 
any elected official, member of a legislative body, or other independent contractors. 
(Amended by Stats. 1998, Ch. 260, Sec. 5. Effective January 1, 1999.) 
 
 
GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV 

TITLE 2. GOVERNMENT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA [8000 - 22980] 
  ( Title 2 enacted by Stats. 1943, Ch. 134. ) 

DIVISION 3. EXECUTIVE DEPARTMENT [11000 - 15986] 
  ( Division 3 added by Stats. 1945, Ch. 111. ) 

PART 1. STATE DEPARTMENTS AND AGENCIES [11000 - 11894] 
  ( Part 1 added by Stats. 1945, Ch. 111. ) 

CHAPTER 1. State Agencies [11000 - 11148.5] 
  ( Chapter 1 added by Stats. 1945, Ch. 111. ) 

ARTICLE 9. Meetings [11120 - 11132] 
  ( Article 9 added by Stats. 1967, Ch. 1656. ) 
 
11125.4. 
(a) A special meeting may be called at any time by the presiding officer of the state 
body or by a majority of the members of the state body.  A special meeting may only be 
called for one of the following purposes when compliance with the 10-day notice 
provisions of Section 11125 would impose a substantial hardship on the state body or 
when immediate action is required to protect the public interest: 
(1) To consider “pending litigation” as that term is defined in subdivision (e) of Section 
11126. 
(2) To consider proposed legislation. 
(3) To consider issuance of a legal opinion. 
(4) To consider disciplinary action involving a state officer or employee. 
(5) To consider the purchase, sale, exchange, or lease of real property. 
(6) To consider license examinations and applications. 
(7) To consider an action on a loan or grant provided pursuant to Division 31 
(commencing with Section 50000) of the Health and Safety Code. 



 
(8) To consider its response to a confidential final draft audit report as permitted by 
Section 11126.2. 
(9) To provide for an interim executive officer of a state body upon the death, incapacity, 
or vacancy in the office of the executive officer. 
(b) When a special meeting is called pursuant to one of the purposes specified in 
subdivision (a), the state body shall provide notice of the special meeting to each 
member of the state body and to all parties that have requested notice of its meetings 
as soon as is practicable after the decision to call a special meeting has been made, but 
shall deliver the notice in a manner that allows it to be received by the members and by 
newspapers of general circulation and radio or television stations at least 48 hours 
before the time of the special meeting specified in the notice. Notice shall be made 
available to newspapers of general circulation and radio or television stations by 
providing that notice to all national press wire services. Notice shall also be made 
available on the Internet within the time periods required by this section. The notice 
shall specify the time and place of the special meeting and the business to be 
transacted. The written notice shall additionally specify the address of the Internet Web 
site where notices required by this article are made available. No other business shall 
be considered at a special meeting by the state body. The written notice may be 
dispensed with as to any member who at or prior to the time the meeting convenes files 
with the clerk or secretary of the state body a written waiver of notice. The waiver may 
be given by telegram, facsimile transmission, or similar means. The written notice may 
also be dispensed with as to any member who is actually present at the meeting at the 
time it convenes. Notice shall be required pursuant to this section regardless of whether 
any action is taken at the special meeting. 
(c) At the commencement of any special meeting, the state body must make a finding in 
open session that the delay necessitated by providing notice 10 days prior to a meeting 
as required by Section 11125 would cause a substantial hardship on the body or that 
immediate action is required to protect the public interest. The finding shall set forth the 
specific facts that constitute the hardship to the body or the impending harm to the 
public interest. The finding shall be adopted by a two-thirds vote of the body, or, if less 
than two-thirds of the members are present, a unanimous vote of those members 
present. The finding shall be made available on the Internet. Failure to adopt the finding 
terminates the meeting. 
(Amended by Stats. 2007, Ch. 92, Sec. 1. Effective January 1, 2008.) 
 



 
 

BP 2320 
 

Board Policy 
Chapter 2 – Board of Trustees 

 
 

BP 2320 Special and Emergency Meetings 
 
References: 

Education Code Section 72129; 
Government Code Sections 54956 et seq., 54956.5, and 54957 

 
 
Special meetings may be called from time to time by the President of the Board or by a 
majority of the members of the Board.  Notice of such meetings shall be posted at least 
24 hours before the time of the meeting, and shall be noticed in accordance with the 
Brown Act.  No business other than that included in the notice may be transacted or 
discussed. 
 
Emergency meetings may be called by the President of the Board or a majority of the 
members of the Board when prompt action is needed because of actual or threatened 
disruption of public facilities.  Such circumstances as are permitted by the Brown Act 
include work stoppage, crippling disasters, and other activity that severely impairs public 
health or safety. 
 
No closed session shall be conducted during an emergency meeting, except as 
provided for in the Brown Act to discuss a dire emergency. 
 
The Chancellor shall be responsible to ensure that notice of such meetings is provided 
to local news media as required by law. 
 
Also sSee BP 2305 Annual Organizational Meeting, BP 2310 Regular Meetings of the 
Board, and AP Administrative Procedure 2320 Special and Emergency Meetings 
 
 
NOTE:  The language in red ink is legally required and recommended by the Policy & Procedure Service 
and its legal counsel (Liebert Cassidy Whitmore) to comply with law.  The Policy & Procedure Service 
provided legal updates to this policy in February 2003.  The language in black ink is from current 
FHDACCD BP 2320 Special and Emergency Meetings adopted on 2/7/11 and amended and renumbered 
on 12/9/13 (formerly BP 9126).  The language in blue ink is included for consideration.  The language in 
yellow highlighting is included to draw the reviewers’ attention, and this language will be removed upon final 
approval.  The language in gray highlighting was uniquely added by the FHDACCD and requires careful 
review by leaders to ensure the language remains accurate and up-to-date.  The legal citation language 
reflected after the page break (below) should be removed following review and revision. 

 

Adopted:  2/7/11  



 
Amended Revised:  12/9/13, ________ 
 
  

  



 
Legal Citations for BP 2320 

 
Education Code Section 72129 
 
EDUCATION CODE - EDC 

TITLE 3. POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION [66000 - 101060] 
  ( Title 3 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

DIVISION 7. COMMUNITY COLLEGES [70900 - 88810] 
  ( Division 7 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

PART 45. DISTRICTS AND GOVERNING BOARDS [72000 - 72701] 
  ( Part 45 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

CHAPTER 2. Meetings and Members [72101 - 72129] 
  ( Chapter 2 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

 
ARTICLE 2. Meetings [72121 - 72129] 
  ( Article 2 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 
 
72129. 
(a) Special meetings may be held at the call of the president of the board or upon a call 
issued in writing and signed by a majority of the members of the board. 
(b) A notice of the meeting shall be posted at least 24 hours prior to the special meeting 
and shall specify the time and location of the meeting and the business to be transacted 
and shall be posted in a location that is freely accessible to members of the public and 
district employees. 
(Amended by Stats. 1986, Ch. 641, Sec. 4.) 
 
 
Government Code Sections 54956, 54956.5, and 54957 
 
54956. 
(a) A special meeting may be called at any time by the presiding officer of the legislative 
body of a local agency, or by a majority of the members of the legislative body, by 
delivering written notice to each member of the legislative body and to each local 
newspaper of general circulation and radio or television station requesting notice in 
writing and posting a notice on the local agency’s Internet Web site, if the local agency 
has one. The notice shall be delivered personally or by any other means and shall be 
received at least 24 hours before the time of the meeting as specified in the notice. The 
call and notice shall specify the time and place of the special meeting and the business 
to be transacted or discussed. No other business shall be considered at these meetings 
by the legislative body. The written notice may be dispensed with as to any member 
who at or prior to the time the meeting convenes files with the clerk or secretary of the 
legislative body a written waiver of notice. The waiver may be given by telegram. The 
written notice may also be dispensed with as to any member who is actually present at 
the meeting at the time it convenes. 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.','6.2.1.21','2011','692','9',%20'id_a14c778b-22df-11e1-b409-d59fe8a0aa9b')


 
The call and notice shall be posted at least 24 hours prior to the special meeting in a 
location that is freely accessible to members of the public. 
(b) Notwithstanding any other law, a legislative body shall not call a special meeting 
regarding the salaries, salary schedules, or compensation paid in the form of fringe 
benefits, of a local agency executive, as defined in subdivision (d) of Section 3511.1. 
However, this subdivision does not apply to a local agency calling a special meeting to 
discuss the local agency’s budget. 
(c) For purposes of subdivision (a), the requirement that the agenda be posted on the 
local agency’s Internet Web site, if the local agency has one, shall only apply to a 
legislative body that meets either of the following standards: 
(1) A legislative body as that term is defined by subdivision (a) of Section 54952. 
(2) A legislative body as that term is defined by subdivision (b) of Section 54952, if the 
members of the legislative body are compensated for their appearance, and if one or 
more of the members of the legislative body are also members of a legislative body as 
that term is defined by subdivision (a) of Section 54952. 
(Amended by Stats. 2011, Ch. 692, Sec. 9. Effective January 1, 2012.) 
 
 
54956.5. 
(a) For purposes of this section, “emergency situation” means both of the following: 
(1) An emergency, which shall be defined as a work stoppage, crippling activity, or other 
activity that severely impairs public health, safety, or both, as determined by a majority 
of the members of the legislative body. 
(2) A dire emergency, which shall be defined as a crippling disaster, mass destruction, 
terrorist act, or threatened terrorist activity that poses peril so immediate and significant 
that requiring a legislative body to provide one-hour notice before holding an emergency 
meeting under this section may endanger the public health, safety, or both, as 
determined by a majority of the members of the legislative body. 
(b) (1) Subject to paragraph (2), in the case of an emergency situation involving matters 
upon which prompt action is necessary due to the disruption or threatened disruption of 
public facilities, a legislative body may hold an emergency meeting without complying 
with either the 24-hour notice requirement or the 24-hour posting requirement of Section 
54956 or both of the notice and posting requirements. 
(2) Each local newspaper of general circulation and radio or television station that has 
requested notice of special meetings pursuant to Section 54956 shall be notified by the 
presiding officer of the legislative body, or designee thereof, one hour prior to the 
emergency meeting, or, in the case of a dire emergency, at or near the time that the 
presiding officer or designee notifies the members of the legislative body of the 
emergency meeting. This notice shall be given by telephone and all telephone numbers 
provided in the most recent request of a newspaper or station for notification of special 
meetings shall be exhausted. In the event that telephone services are not functioning, 
the notice requirements of this section shall be deemed waived, and the legislative 
body, or designee of the legislative body, shall notify those newspapers, radio stations, 
or television stations of the fact of the holding of the emergency meeting, the purpose of 
the meeting, and any action taken at the meeting as soon after the meeting as possible. 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.5.','6.2.1.21','2002','175','2',%20'id_c28fd029-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')


 
(c) During a meeting held pursuant to this section, the legislative body may meet in 
closed session pursuant to Section 54957 if agreed to by a two-thirds vote of the 
members of the legislative body present, or, if less than two-thirds of the members are 
present, by a unanimous vote of the members present. 
(d) All special meeting requirements, as prescribed in Section 54956 shall be applicable 
to a meeting called pursuant to this section, with the exception of the 24-hour notice 
requirement. 
(e) The minutes of a meeting called pursuant to this section, a list of persons who 
the presiding officer of the legislative body, or designee of the legislative body, 
notified or attempted to notify, a copy of the rollcall vote, and any actions taken at 
the meeting shall be posted for a minimum of 10 days in a public place as soon 
after the meeting as possible. 
(Amended by Stats. 2002, Ch. 175, Sec. 2. Effective January 1, 2003.) 
 
 
54957. 
(a) This chapter shall not be construed to prevent the legislative body of a local 

agency from holding closed sessions with the Governor, Attorney General, district 
attorney, agency counsel, sheriff, or chief of police, or their respective deputies, or 

a security consultant or a security operations manager, on matters posing a threat 
to the security of public buildings, a threat to the security of essential public 

services, including water, drinking water, wastewater treatment, natural gas 
service, and electric service, or a threat to the public’s right of access to public 

services or public facilities. 
(b) (1) Subject to paragraph (2), this chapter shall not be construed to prevent the 
legislative body of a local agency from holding closed sessions during a regular or 

special meeting to consider the appointment, employment, evaluation of 
performance, discipline, or dismissal of a public employee or to hear complaints or 

charges brought against the employee by another person or employee unless the 
employee requests a public session. 

(2) As a condition to holding a closed session on specific complaints or charges 
brought against an employee by another person or employee, the employee shall 

be given written notice of his or her right to have the complaints or charges 
heard in an open session rather than a closed session, which notice shall be 

delivered to the employee personally or by mail at least 24 hours before the time 
for holding the session. If notice is not given, any disciplinary or other action 

taken by the legislative body against the employee based on the specific 
complaints or charges in the closed session shall be null and void. 

(3) The legislative body also may exclude from the public or closed meeting, 
during the examination of a witness, any or all other witnesses in the matter 

being investigated by the legislative body. 

(4) For the purposes of this subdivision, the term “employee” shall include an 

officer or an independent contractor who functions as an officer or an employee 
but shall not include any elected official, member of a legislative body or other 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54957.','6.2.1.22','2013','11','1',%20'id_d63c4425-644d-11e3-a7a3-bf206d1f6db2')


 
independent contractors. This subdivision shall not limit local officials’ ability to 

hold closed session meetings pursuant to Sections 1461, 32106, and 32155 of 
the Health and Safety Code or Sections 37606 and 37624.3 of the Government 

Code. Closed sessions held pursuant to this subdivision shall not include 
discussion or action on proposed compensation except for a reduction of 

compensation that results from the imposition of discipline. 

(Amended by Stats. 2013, Ch. 11, Sec. 1. (AB 246) Effective January 1, 2014.) 



 
 

AP 2320 
 

Administrative Procedure 
Chapter 2 – Board of Trustees 

 
 

AP 2320 Special and Emergency Meetings 
 
References: 

Education Code Sections 72023.5 and 72129; 
Government Code Sections 54956 and 54956.5 

 
 
Whenever a special meeting of the governing board is called, the Chancellor shall 
cause the call and notice to be posted at least 24 hours prior to the meeting in a location 
freely accessible to the public.  The Chancellor shall also ensure that the following 
notices of the meeting are delivered either personally or by other means: 

• Written notice to each member of the governing board, including student 
trustees. 

• Written notice to each local newspaper of general circulation, and each radio or 
television station that has previously requested in writing to be provided notice of 
special meetings. 

 
The written notice must be received at least 24 hours before the time of the meeting as 
set out in the notice.  The notice shall specify the time and place of the special meeting 
and the business to be transacted or discussed.  The notice may be waived by 
members of the governing board in writing either prior to or at the time of the meeting. 
 
Whenever an emergency meeting of the gGoverning bBoard is called, the Chancellor 
shall cause notice to be provided by telephone at least one hour prior to the meeting to 
each local newspaper of general circulation and each radio or television station that has 
requested notice of special meetings.  If telephone services are not functioning, the 
Chancellor shall provide the newspapers, radio stations, and television stations with 
information regarding the purpose of the meeting and any action taken at the meeting 
as soon after the meeting as possible. 
 
Also sSee BP 2305 Annual Organizational Meeting, BP 2310 Regular Meetings of the 
Board, and BP Board Policy 2320 Special and Emergency Meetings 
 
 
NOTE:  This procedure is legally required and recommended by the Policy & Procedure Service and its 
legal counsel (Liebert Cassidy Whitmore).  The language in black ink is from current FHDACCD AP 2320 
Special and Emergency Meetings approved on 10/18/13.  The language in blue ink is included for 



 
consideration.  The language in yellow highlighting is included to draw the reviewers’ attention, and this 
language will be removed upon final approval.  The legal citation language reflected after the page 
break (below) should be removed following review and revision. 

 

Approved:  10/18/13 
Revised:  ________ 
 

 

  

  



 
 

Legal Citations for AP 2320 
 

EDUCATION CODE - EDC 
TITLE 3. POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION [66000 - 101149.5] 
  ( Title 3 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

DIVISION 7. COMMUNITY COLLEGES [70900 - 88933] 
  ( Division 7 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

PART 45. DISTRICTS AND GOVERNING BOARDS [72000 - 72701] 
  ( Part 45 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

CHAPTER 1. General Provisions [72000 - 72036.5] 
  ( Chapter 1 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

 

ARTICLE 3. Organization of District Boards [72022 - 72036.5] 
  ( Article 3 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

 

72023.5. 
(a) (1) (A) The governing board of each community college district shall order the 
inclusion within the membership of the governing board, in addition to the number 

of members otherwise prescribed, of one or more students. These students shall 
have the right to attend each and all meetings of the governing board, except that 

student members shall not have the right, or be afforded the opportunity, to attend 
executive sessions of the governing board. 

(B) A student member shall have the opportunity to cast an advisory vote 
immediately before votes are cast by the regular members of the governing 

board. 

(2) A student selected to serve on the governing board shall be enrolled in a 

community college of the district and shall be chosen, and shall be recalled, by 
the students enrolled in the community colleges of the district in accordance with 

procedures prescribed by the governing board. If the seat of a student member 
becomes vacant during the student member’s term, the governing board may 

authorize the officers of student body associations established pursuant to 
Section 76060 at each community college in the district to appoint a student to 

serve the remainder of the term in accordance with procedures established by the 
governing board. A student member shall be required throughout the term of the 
student member’s appointment to be enrolled in a community college of the 

district for at least five semester units, or its equivalent, and shall meet and 
maintain the minimum standards of scholarship for community college students 

prescribed by the community college district. The term of a student member shall 
be one year commencing on June 1 of each year. 

(3) A student member appointed pursuant to this section shall be entitled to 
mileage allowance to the same extent as a regular member, but is not entitled to 

the compensation prescribed by Section 72024. 



 
(4) A student member shall be seated with the members of the governing board 

and shall be recognized as a full member of the board at the meetings, including 
receiving all materials presented to the board members and participating in the 

questioning of witnesses and the discussion of issues. 

(5) A student member shall not be included in determining the vote required to 

carry any measure before the board. 

(6) A student member shall not be liable for any acts of the governing board. 

(b) Notwithstanding subdivision (a), a student member selected to serve on the 
governing board of a community college district pursuant to subdivision (a) may do 
any of the following: 

(1) Make and second motions at the discretion of the governing board. 

(2) Attend closed sessions, other than closed sessions on personnel matters or 

collective bargaining matters, at the discretion of the governing board. 

(3) Receive compensation, at the discretion of the governing board, up to the 

amount prescribed by Section 72024. 

(4) Serve a term of one year commencing on May 15 of each year, at the 

discretion of the governing board. 

(c) It is the intent of the Legislature that any decision or action, including any 

contract entered into pursuant thereto, upon the motion or second of a motion of a 
student member, shall be fully legal and enforceable against the community college 

district or any party thereto. 

(d) The governing board of each community college district shall, by May 15 of each 

year, adopt rules and regulations implementing this section. These rules and 
regulations shall be effective until May 15 of the following year. 

(e) If a state court finds this section is unlawful, the court may order, as equitable 
relief, that the administering entity that is the subject of the lawsuit terminate any 

waiver awarded under this statute or provision, but no money damages, tuition 
refund or waiver, or other retroactive relief may be awarded. In any action in which 
the court finds this section is unlawful, the California Community Colleges are 

immune from the imposition of any award of money damages, tuition refund or 
waiver, or other retroactive relief. 

(Amended by Stats. 2023, Ch. 103, Sec. 1. (AB 1541) Effective January 1, 2024.) 

 
 
EDUCATION CODE - EDC 

TITLE 3. POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION [66000 - 101060] 
  ( Title 3 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 



 
DIVISION 7. COMMUNITY COLLEGES [70900 - 88810] 
  ( Division 7 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

PART 45. DISTRICTS AND GOVERNING BOARDS [72000 - 72701] 
  ( Part 45 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

CHAPTER 2. Meetings and Members [72101 - 72129] 
  ( Chapter 2 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

 
ARTICLE 2. Meetings [72121 - 72129] 
  ( Article 2 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 
 
72129. 
(a) Special meetings may be held at the call of the president of the board or upon a call 
issued in writing and signed by a majority of the members of the board. 
(b) A notice of the meeting shall be posted at least 24 hours prior to the special meeting 
and shall specify the time and location of the meeting and the business to be transacted 
and shall be posted in a location that is freely accessible to members of the public and 
district employees. 
(Amended by Stats. 1986, Ch. 641, Sec. 4.) 
 
 
Government Code Sections 54956 and 54956.5 
 
54956. 
(a) A special meeting may be called at any time by the presiding officer of the legislative 
body of a local agency, or by a majority of the members of the legislative body, by 
delivering written notice to each member of the legislative body and to each local 
newspaper of general circulation and radio or television station requesting notice in 
writing and posting a notice on the local agency’s Internet Web site, if the local agency 
has one. The notice shall be delivered personally or by any other means and shall be 
received at least 24 hours before the time of the meeting as specified in the notice. The 
call and notice shall specify the time and place of the special meeting and the business 
to be transacted or discussed. No other business shall be considered at these meetings 
by the legislative body. The written notice may be dispensed with as to any member 
who at or prior to the time the meeting convenes files with the clerk or secretary of the 
legislative body a written waiver of notice. The waiver may be given by telegram. The 
written notice may also be dispensed with as to any member who is actually present at 
the meeting at the time it convenes. 
The call and notice shall be posted at least 24 hours prior to the special meeting in a 
location that is freely accessible to members of the public. 
(b) Notwithstanding any other law, a legislative body shall not call a special meeting 
regarding the salaries, salary schedules, or compensation paid in the form of fringe 
benefits, of a local agency executive, as defined in subdivision (d) of Section 3511.1. 
However, this subdivision does not apply to a local agency calling a special meeting to 
discuss the local agency’s budget. 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.','6.2.1.21','2011','692','9',%20'id_a14c778b-22df-11e1-b409-d59fe8a0aa9b')


 
(c) For purposes of subdivision (a), the requirement that the agenda be posted on the 
local agency’s Internet Web site, if the local agency has one, shall only apply to a 
legislative body that meets either of the following standards: 
(1) A legislative body as that term is defined by subdivision (a) of Section 54952. 
(2) A legislative body as that term is defined by subdivision (b) of Section 54952, if the 
members of the legislative body are compensated for their appearance, and if one or 
more of the members of the legislative body are also members of a legislative body as 
that term is defined by subdivision (a) of Section 54952. 
(Amended by Stats. 2011, Ch. 692, Sec. 9. Effective January 1, 2012.) 
 
 
54956.5. 
(a) For purposes of this section, “emergency situation” means both of the following: 
(1) An emergency, which shall be defined as a work stoppage, crippling activity, or other 
activity that severely impairs public health, safety, or both, as determined by a majority 
of the members of the legislative body. 
(2) A dire emergency, which shall be defined as a crippling disaster, mass destruction, 
terrorist act, or threatened terrorist activity that poses peril so immediate and significant 
that requiring a legislative body to provide one-hour notice before holding an emergency 
meeting under this section may endanger the public health, safety, or both, as 
determined by a majority of the members of the legislative body. 
(b) (1) Subject to paragraph (2), in the case of an emergency situation involving matters 
upon which prompt action is necessary due to the disruption or threatened disruption of 
public facilities, a legislative body may hold an emergency meeting without complying 
with either the 24-hour notice requirement or the 24-hour posting requirement of Section 
54956 or both of the notice and posting requirements. 
(2) Each local newspaper of general circulation and radio or television station that has 
requested notice of special meetings pursuant to Section 54956 shall be notified by the 
presiding officer of the legislative body, or designee thereof, one hour prior to the 
emergency meeting, or, in the case of a dire emergency, at or near the time that the 
presiding officer or designee notifies the members of the legislative body of the 
emergency meeting. This notice shall be given by telephone and all telephone numbers 
provided in the most recent request of a newspaper or station for notification of special 
meetings shall be exhausted. In the event that telephone services are not functioning, 
the notice requirements of this section shall be deemed waived, and the legislative 
body, or designee of the legislative body, shall notify those newspapers, radio stations, 
or television stations of the fact of the holding of the emergency meeting, the purpose of 
the meeting, and any action taken at the meeting as soon after the meeting as possible. 
(c) During a meeting held pursuant to this section, the legislative body may meet in 
closed session pursuant to Section 54957 if agreed to by a two-thirds vote of the 
members of the legislative body present, or, if less than two-thirds of the members are 
present, by a unanimous vote of the members present. 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.5.','6.2.1.21','2002','175','2',%20'id_c28fd029-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')


 
(d) All special meeting requirements, as prescribed in Section 54956 shall be applicable 
to a meeting called pursuant to this section, with the exception of the 24-hour notice 
requirement. 
(e) The minutes of a meeting called pursuant to this section, a list of persons who 
the presiding officer of the legislative body, or designee of the legislative body, 
notified or attempted to notify, a copy of the rollcall vote, and any actions taken at 
the meeting shall be posted for a minimum of 10 days in a public place as soon 
after the meeting as possible. 
(Amended by Stats. 2002, Ch. 175, Sec. 2. Effective January 1, 2003.) 
 



 
 

BP 2330 
 

Board Policy 
Chapter 2 – Board of Trustees 

 
 

BP 2330 Quorum and Voting 
 
References: 

Education Code Sections 15266, 72000 subdivision (d)(3), 81310 et seq., 81360, 
81365, 81432, and 81511; 
Government Code Sections 53094 and 54950 et seq.; 
Code of Civil Procedure Section 1245.240 

 
 
A quorum of the Board shall consist of three members. 
 
The Board shall act by majority vote of all of the membership of the Board, except as 
noted below. 
 
No action shall be taken by secret ballot.  The Board will publicly report any action taken 
in open session and the vote or abstention of each individual member present. 
 
The following actions require a two-thirds majority of all members of the Board: 

• Resolution of intention to sell or lease District real property, which is not or will 
not be needed by the District for school classroom buildings (except where a 
unanimous vote is required); 

• Resolution of intention to dedicate or convey an easement; 

• Resolution authorizing and directing the execution and delivery of a deed; 

• Action to declare the District exempt from the approval requirements of a 
planning commission or other local land use body; 

• Appropriation of funds from an undistributed reserve; 

• Resolution to condemn real property. 

• Resolution to pursue the authorization and issuance of bonds pursuant to 
paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) of Section 1 of Article XIIIA of the California 
Constitution and subdivision (b) of Section 18 of Article XVI of the California 
Constitution. 

 
The following actions require a unanimous vote of all members of the Board: 

• Resolution authorizing a sale or lease of District real property to the state, any 
county, city, or to any other school or community college district; 



 
• Resolution authorizing lease of District property under a lease for the production 

of gas. 
 
Also see BP 2310 Regular Meetings of the Board 
 
 
NOTE:  The language in red ink is legally required and recommended by the Policy & Procedure Service 
and its legal counsel (Liebert Cassidy Whitmore) to comply with law.  The Policy & Procedure Service 
provided legal updates to this policy in August 2003, April 2014, October 2018, and April 2023.  The 
language in black ink is from current FHDACCD BP 2330 Quorum and Voting adopted on 12/9/13 and 
amended on 4/1/19.  The language in blue ink is included for consideration.  The language in yellow 
highlighting is included to draw the reviewers’ attention, and this language will be removed upon final 
approval.  The language in gray highlighting was uniquely added by the FHDACCD and requires careful 
review by leaders to ensure the language remains accurate and up-to-date.  The legal citation language 
reflected after the page break (below) should be removed following review and revision. 

 

Adopted:  12/9/13 
Amended Revised:  4/1/19, ________ 
 

 

  

  



 
Legal Citations for BP 2330 

 
Education Code Sections 15266, 72000 subdivision (d)(3), 81310 et seq., 

81360, 81365, 81511, and 81432; 
Government Code Sections 53094 and 54950 et seq.; 

Code of Civil Procedure Section 1245.240 
 
Education Code Sections 15266, 72000 subdivision (d)(3), 81310 et seq., 81365, 
81511, and 81432 
 
EDUCATION CODE - EDC 

TITLE 1 GENERAL EDUCATION CODE PROVISIONS [1. - 32500] 
  ( Title 1 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

DIVISION 1 GENERAL EDUCATION CODE PROVISIONS [1. - 32500] 
  ( Division 1 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

PART 10. SCHOOL BONDS [15100 - 17199.6] 
  ( Part 10 repealed and added by Stats. 1996, Ch. 277, Sec. 2. ) 

CHAPTER 1.5. 
Strict Accountability in Local School Construction Bonds Act of 2000 [15264 - 
15288] 

  ( Chapter 1.5 added by Stats. 2000, Ch. 44, Sec. 3. ) 
 
ARTICLE 1. General Provisions [15264 - 15276] 
  ( Article 1 added by Stats. 2000, Ch. 44, Sec. 3. ) 
 
15266. 
(a) As an alternative to authorizing and issuing bonds pursuant to Chapter 1 
(commencing with Section 15100) or Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 15300), the 
governing board of a school district, community college district, or a school facilities 
improvement district may decide, pursuant to a two-thirds vote and subject to Section 
15100 to pursue the authorization and issuance of bonds pursuant to paragraph (3) of 
subdivision (b) of Section 1 of Article XIII A of the California Constitution and subdivision 
(b) of Section 18 of Article XVI of the California Constitution. An election may only be 
ordered on the question of whether bonds of a school district, community college 
district, or a school facilities improvement district shall be issued and sold pursuant to 
subdivision (b) of Section 18 of Article XVI of the California Constitution at a primary or 
general election, a regularly scheduled local election at which all of the electors of the 
school district, community college district, or school facilities improvement district, as 
appropriate, are entitled to vote, or a statewide special election. 

(b) Upon adopting a resolution to incur bonded indebtedness pursuant to subdivision (b) 
of Section 18 of Article XVI of the California Constitution and after the question has 
been submitted to the voters, if approved at the election, the bonds shall be issued 
pursuant to paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) of Section 1 of Article XIII A of the California 



 
Constitution and this chapter, and the governing board may not, regardless of the 
number of votes cast in favor of the bond, subsequently proceed exclusively under 
Chapter 1 (commencing with Section 15100) or under Chapter 2 (commencing with 
Section 15300), as appropriate. Where not inconsistent, the provisions of Chapter 1 
(commencing with Section 15100) or Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 15300), as 
appropriate, shall apply to this chapter. 

(Amended by Stats. 2007, Ch. 670, Sec. 6. Effective January 1, 2008.) 
 
 
EDUCATION CODE - EDC 

TITLE 3. POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION [66000 - 101060] 
  ( Title 3 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

DIVISION 7. COMMUNITY COLLEGES [70900 - 88810] 
  ( Division 7 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

PART 45. DISTRICTS AND GOVERNING BOARDS [72000 - 72701] 
  ( Part 45 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

CHAPTER 1. General Provisions [72000 - 72036.5] 
  ( Chapter 1 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

 
ARTICLE 1. Naming [72000- 72000.] 
  ( Article 1 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 
 
72000. 
(a)  The district and its governing board may sue and be sued, and shall act in 
accordance with Section 70902. 

(b)  The district name shall be adopted and changed as follows: 

(1)  The first governing board of any new community college district shall, at the first 
meeting of the board or as soon as practicable thereafter, name the district. The district 
shall be designated as the “____ Community College District.” 

(2)  The governing board of a community college district may, by resolution, change the 
name of the district or of any of the community colleges maintained by the district. 
However, the name shall continue to contain the words “Community College District” or 
“Community College,” as appropriate. 

(3)  Whenever a petition is presented to the governing board of a community college 
district, signed by at least 15 qualified electors of any community college district, asking 
that the name of the district, be changed, the governing board shall, at its next regular 
meeting, designate a day upon which it will conduct a hearing and act upon the petition, 
which hearing shall not be less than 10 days nor more than 40 days after that regular 
meeting. The clerk of the governing board shall give notice to all interested parties by 
sending a notice of the time for the hearing of the petition. Notices shall be mailed at 
least 10 days before the day set for the hearing. At the hearing the board shall by 
resolution either grant or deny the petition, and if the petition is granted, the clerk shall 



 
notify the Board of Governors of the California Community Colleges of the change of the 
name of the district or of any community college maintained by the district. 

(4)  The name “____ Community College District” and the names of community colleges 
maintained by the district are the property of the district. No person shall, without 
permission of the board, use these names, or any abbreviation of them, or any name of 
which these words are a part in any of the following ways: 

(A)  To designate any business, social, political, religious, or other organization, 
including, but not limited to, any corporation, firm, partnership, association, group, 
activity or enterprise. 

(B)  To imply, indicate or otherwise suggest that any organization, or any product or 
service of the organization is connected or affiliated with, or is endorsed, favored or 
supported by, or is opposed by one or more California community colleges, the Board of 
Governors of the California Community Colleges, or the office of the Chancellor of the 
California Community Colleges. 

(C)  To display, advertise, or announce these names publicly at or in connection with 
any meeting, assembly, or demonstration, or any propaganda, advertising or 
promotional activity of any kind which has for its purpose or any part of its purpose the 
support, endorsement, advancement, opposition or defeat of any strike, lockout, or 
boycott or of any political, religious, sociological, or economic movement, activity or 
program. 

(D)  The provisions of this section shall not preclude the use of the name “____ 
Community College” or “____ Community College District” by any person or 
organization otherwise subject to this section using the name immediately prior to the 
effective date of this section, so long as the name is not used in additional, different 
ways. 

(E)  Nothing in this section shall interfere with or restrict the right of any person to make 
a true and accurate statement in the course of stating his or her experience or 
qualifications for any academic, governmental, business, or professional credit or 
enrollment, or in connection with any academic, governmental, professional or other 
employment whatsoever. 

(5)  Any reference to junior colleges or junior college districts in any law shall be 
deemed to refer to community colleges and community college districts, respectively. 

(c)  Meetings of the governing board shall be held as follows: 

(1)  Within 20 days after the appointment of the community college board provided for 
by Section 72023, the board of governors shall call an initial organizational meeting of 
the board by giving at least 10 days’ notice by registered mail to each member, for the 
purposes of organizing the community college board. 

At the initial organizational meeting the community college board shall organize by 
electing a president from its members and a secretary, and may transact any other 
business relating to the affairs of the community college district. 



 
(2) (A) The governing board of each community college district shall hold an annual 
organizational meeting. In a year in which a regular election for governing board 
members is conducted, the meeting shall be held on a day within a 15-day period that 
commences with the date upon which a governing board member elected at that 
election takes office. Organizational meetings in years in which no regular election for 
governing board members is conducted shall be held during the same 15-day period on 
the calendar. Unless otherwise provided by rule of the governing board, the day and 
time of the annual meeting shall be selected by the board at its regular meeting held 
immediately prior to the first day of such 15-day period, and the board shall notify the 
county superintendent of schools of the day and time selected. The secretary of the 
board shall, within 15 days prior to the date of the annual meeting, notify in writing all 
members and members-elect of the date and time selected for the meeting. 

(B)  If the board fails to select a day and time for the meeting, the county superintendent 
of schools having jurisdiction over the district shall, prior to the first day of such 15-day 
period and after the regular meeting of the board held immediately prior to the first day 
of the 15-day period, designate the day and time of the annual meeting. The day 
designated shall be within the 15-day period. He or she shall notify in writing all 
members and members-elect of the date and time. 

(C)  At the annual meeting, the governing board of the community college district shall 
organize by electing a president, from its members, and a secretary. 

(3)  As an alternative to the procedures set forth in paragraph (2), in a community 
college district the boundaries of which are coterminous with the boundaries of a city 
and county, the governing board members of which district are elected in accordance 
with a city and county charter, the annual organizational meeting of the governing board 
may be held between January 8 and January 31, inclusive, as provided in rules and 
regulations adopted by the board. At the annual organizational meeting the community 
college district governing board shall organize by electing a president and vice president 
from its members. 

(4)  Subject to this section, the governing board of any community college district shall 
hold regular monthly meetings and shall by rule and regulation fix the time and place for 
its regular meetings. The action shall be given proper notice to all members of the board 
of the regular meetings. 

(d)  The governing board shall conduct its meetings as follows: 

(1)  A notice identifying the location, date, and time of the meeting shall be posted in 
each community college maintained by the district at least 10 days prior to the meeting 
and shall remain so posted to and including the time of the meeting. 

(2)  The governing board shall conduct its meetings within the boundaries of the 
community college district, except as provided in subparagraphs (A) and (B). 



 
(A)  The governing board may meet outside of its district boundaries for the limited 
purpose of meeting with another local agency so long as the meeting meets both of the 
following criteria: 

(i)  The meeting occurs within the boundaries of one of the participating local agencies. 

(ii)  The meeting is open and accessible to the public, including the residents of the 
district whose board is meeting outside the boundaries of the district. 

(B)  The governing board may meet outside of its district boundaries if the board finds it 
necessary to meet in closed session with its attorney to discuss pending litigation and if 
the attorney’s office is located outside of the boundaries of the district. 

(3)  Except as otherwise provided by law, the governing board shall act by majority vote 
of all of the membership constituting the governing board. 

(4)  Every official action taken by the governing board of every community college 
district shall be affirmed by a formal vote of the members of the board, and the 
governing board of every community college district shall keep minutes of its meetings, 
and shall maintain a journal of its proceedings in which shall be recorded every official 
act taken. 

(5)  Notwithstanding any other provision of law, if a community college district governing 
board consists of seven members and not more than two vacancies occur on the 
governing board, the vacant position or positions shall not be counted for purposes of 
determining how many members of the board constitute a majority. Whenever any of 
the provisions of this code require unanimous action of all or a specific number of the 
members elected or appointed to the governing board, the vacant position or positions 
shall be excluded from determination of the total membership constituting the governing 
board. 

(Amended by Stats. 1991, Ch. 1038, Sec. 2. Effective October 14, 1991.) 
 
 
EDUCATION CODE - EDC 

TITLE 3. POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION [66000 - 101149.5] 
  ( Title 3 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

DIVISION 7. COMMUNITY COLLEGES [70900 - 88933] 
  ( Division 7 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

PART 49. COMMUNITY COLLEGES, EDUCATION FACILITIES [81003 - 82548] 
  ( Part 49 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

CHAPTER 2. Property: Sale, Lease, Use, Gift, and Exchange [81250 - 81563] 
  ( Heading of Chapter 2 repealed (by Sec. 3) and added by Stats. 1998, Ch. 657, Sec. 1. ) 

 
ARTICLE 2. Dedication of Real Property [81310 - 81315] 
  ( Article 2 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

 

81310. 

javascript:submitCodesValues('81310.','3.2.8.2.3','1976','1010','',%20'id_fe9474f8-291e-11d9-971e-9b808ee35dd0')


 
The governing board of a community college district may, pursuant to this article, 

dedicate or convey to the state, or any political subdivision or municipal corporation 
thereof, for public street or highway purposes, either with or without consideration 

and without a vote of the electors of the district first being taken, any real property 
belonging to the district, either in fee or any lesser estate or interest therein, 

including abutter’s right of access to any public street or highway; and may 
dedicate or convey to any public corporation, or private corporation engaged in the 

public utility business, without a vote of the electors of the district first being taken, 
an easement to lay, construct, reconstruct, maintain, and operate water, sewer, 
gas, or storm drain pipes or ditches, electric or telephone lines, and access roads 

used in connection therewith, over and upon any land belonging to the community 
college district, upon such terms and conditions as the parties thereto may agree. 
(Enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010.) 

81311. 
Before ordering the dedication or conveyance of any property the governing board 

shall in regular open meeting by a two-thirds vote of all its members adopt a 
resolution declaring its intention to dedicate or convey the property. The resolution 

shall describe the property proposed to be dedicated or conveyed in such manner 
as to identify it, and shall specify the purposes for which and the terms upon which 
it will be dedicated or conveyed, and shall fix a time not less than 10 days 

thereafter for a public meeting of the governing board to be held at its regular place 
of meeting for a public hearing upon the question of making the dedication or 

conveyance. 
(Enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010.) 

81312. 
Notice of adoption of the resolution and of the time and place of holding the 
meeting shall be given by posting copies of the resolution signed by the members 
of the board, or by a majority thereof, in three public places in the district not less 

than 10 days before the date of the meeting, and by publishing the notice once not 
less than five days before the date of the meeting in a newspaper of general 

circulation, published in the district, if there is one, or, if there is no such 
newspaper published in the district, then in a newspaper published in the county in 

which the district or any part thereof is situated and having a general circulation in 
the district. 
(Enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010.) 

81313. 
At the time and place fixed in the resolution for the meeting of the governing board 
the public hearing shall be held, and the governing board may at the meeting, or at 

any other meeting of the governing board held within 60 days thereafter, unless a 
protest is entered, adopt a resolution by a two-thirds vote of all its members 

javascript:submitCodesValues('81311.','3.2.8.2.3','1976','1010','',%20'id_fe9474fa-291e-11d9-971e-9b808ee35dd0')
javascript:submitCodesValues('81311.','3.2.8.2.3','1976','1010','',%20'id_fe9474fa-291e-11d9-971e-9b808ee35dd0')
javascript:submitCodesValues('81311.','3.2.8.2.3','1976','1010','',%20'id_fe9474fa-291e-11d9-971e-9b808ee35dd0')


 
authorizing and directing the president of the governing board, or any other 

presiding officer, or the secretary, or the members thereof, to execute a deed of 
dedication or conveyance of the property and to deliver it. Upon the delivery and 

acceptance of the deed the dedication or conveyance is fully effective. 
(Enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010.) 

81314. 
A petition protesting against the proposed dedication or conveyance signed by at 

least 10 percent of the qualified electors of the district, as shown by the affidavit of 
one of the petitioners, may be filed with the governing board at the meeting held at 

the time and place fixed in the resolution. If a protest is filed, the governing board, 
before taking any further action on the proposed dedication or conveyance, shall 

submit the question of whether the proposed dedication or conveyance should be 
made, to the board of governors whose decision is final. If the board of governors 

approves the proposed dedication or conveyance, the governing board may proceed 
with the dedication or conveyance. If the board of governors does not approve the 

proposed dedication or conveyance, no further proceedings shall be had thereon. 
(Amended by Stats. 1995, Ch. 758, Sec. 114. Effective January 1, 1996.) 

81315. 
Whenever community college districts are required to improve and dedicate real 

property to the centerline of streets or highways adjacent to a school site or 
forming an intersection at a school site location, and when such street or highway 

rights-of-way are being conveyed to the city or county or by the city or county to 
the community college district, the requirements of this article shall be deemed 

satisfied solely by posting a notice of intention to convey in an appropriate location 
before conveyance. 
(Enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010.) 

 
 
EDUCATION CODE - EDC 

TITLE 3. POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION [66000 - 101149.5] 
  ( Title 3 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

DIVISION 7. COMMUNITY COLLEGES [70900 - 88933] 
  ( Division 7 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

PART 49. COMMUNITY COLLEGES, EDUCATION FACILITIES [81003 - 82548] 
  ( Part 49 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

CHAPTER 2. Property: Sale, Lease, Use, Gift, and Exchange [81250 - 81563] 
  ( Heading of Chapter 2 repealed (by Sec. 3) and added by Stats. 1998, Ch. 657, Sec. 1. ) 

 

ARTICLE 4. Sale or Lease of Real Property [81360 - 81382] 
  ( Article 4 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

 

81360. 

javascript:submitCodesValues('81311.','3.2.8.2.3','1976','1010','',%20'id_fe9474fa-291e-11d9-971e-9b808ee35dd0')
javascript:submitCodesValues('81311.','3.2.8.2.3','1976','1010','',%20'id_fe9474fa-291e-11d9-971e-9b808ee35dd0')


 
The governing board of a community college district may sell any real property 

belonging to the district or may lease for a term not exceeding 99 years, any real 
property, together with any personal property located thereon, belonging to the 

district which is not or will not be needed by the district for school classroom 
buildings at the time of delivery of title or possession.  The sale or lease may be 

made without first taking a vote of the electors of the district, and shall be made in 
the manner provided by this article. 

(Enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010.) 

 
 
EDUCATION CODE - EDC 

TITLE 3. POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION [66000 - 101060] 
  ( Title 3 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

DIVISION 7. COMMUNITY COLLEGES [70900 - 88810] 
  ( Division 7 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

PART 49. COMMUNITY COLLEGES, EDUCATION FACILITIES [81003 - 
82548] 

  ( Part 49 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 
CHAPTER 2. Property: Sale, Lease, Use, Gift, and Exchange [81250 - 

81553] 
  ( Heading of Chapter 2 repealed (by Sec. 3) and added by Stats. 1998, 

Ch. 657, Sec. 1. ) 
 
ARTICLE 4. Sale or Lease of Real Property [81360 - 81382] 
  ( Article 4 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 
 
81365. 
Before ordering the sale or lease of any property the governing board, in a regular open 
meeting, by a two-thirds vote of all its members, shall adopt a resolution, declaring its 
intention to sell or lease the property, as the case may be. The resolution shall describe 
the property proposed to be sold or leased in such manner as to identify it and shall 
specify the minimum price or rental and the terms upon which it will be sold or leased 
and the commission, or rate thereof, if any, which the board will pay to a licensed real 
estate broker out of the minimum price or rental. The resolution shall fix a time not less 
than three weeks thereafter for a public meeting of the governing board to be held at its 
regular place of meeting, at which sealed proposals to purchase or lease will be 
received and considered. 

(Enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010.) 
 
 
EDUCATION CODE - EDC 

TITLE 3. POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION [66000 - 101060] 
  ( Title 3 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 



 
DIVISION 7. COMMUNITY COLLEGES [70900 - 88810] 
  ( Division 7 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

PART 49. COMMUNITY COLLEGES, EDUCATION FACILITIES [81003 - 
82548] 

  ( Part 49 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 
CHAPTER 2. Property: Sale, Lease, Use, Gift, and Exchange [81250 - 

81553] 
  ( Heading of Chapter 2 repealed (by Sec. 3) and added by Stats. 1998, 

Ch. 657, Sec. 1. ) 
 
ARTICLE 14. Leasing for Production of Gas [81510 - 81512] 
  ( Article 14 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 
 
81511. 
The board shall not enter into and be a party to any such lease unless the following 
conditions have been met: 

(a) A resolution authorizing such action and prescribing the terms of the lease has been 
adopted by the unanimous vote of all the members elected or appointed to the board; 

(b) Such resolution has been published in a newspaper of general circulation published 
in the district, or if there be no such newspaper, in a newspaper having a general 
circulation in the district, once a week for three weeks prior to the execution of the lease 
by the board. 

(Enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010.) 
 
 
EDUCATION CODE - EDC 

TITLE 3. POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION [66000 - 101060] 
  ( Title 3 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

DIVISION 7. COMMUNITY COLLEGES [70900 - 88810] 
  ( Division 7 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

PART 49. COMMUNITY COLLEGES, EDUCATION FACILITIES [81003 - 
82548] 

  ( Part 49 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 
CHAPTER 2. Property: Sale, Lease, Use, Gift, and Exchange [81250 - 

81553] 
  ( Heading of Chapter 2 repealed (by Sec. 3) and added by Stats. 1998, 

Ch. 657, Sec. 1. ) 
 
ARTICLE 7. Sale or Lease Between Agencies [81430 - 81433] 
  ( Article 7 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 
 
81432. 



 
The board shall not enter into and be a party to any such sale, exchange, or lease 
unless the following conditions have been met: 

(a) A resolution authorizing such action and prescribing the terms of the sale, exchange, 
or lease has been adopted by the unanimous vote of all the members elected or 
appointed to the board; 

(b) Such resolution has been published in a newspaper published in the district and 
having a general circulation there; or if there be no such newspaper, then in a 
newspaper having a general circulation in the district; or, if there is no such newspaper, 
then in a newspaper having a general circulation in a county in which the district or any 
part thereof is situated. Notice shall be published no less than once a week for three 
weeks prior to the making of the sale, exchange, or the execution of the lease by the 
board. 

(Enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010.) 
 
 
Government Code Sections 53094 and 54950 et seq. 
 
GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV 

TITLE 5. LOCAL AGENCIES [50001 - 57550] 
  ( Title 5 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 

DIVISION 2. CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 55821] 
  ( Division 2 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 

PART 1. POWERS AND DUTIES COMMON TO CITIES, COUNTIES, AND 
OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 54999.7] 

  ( Part 1 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 
CHAPTER 1. General [53000 - 53165] 
  ( Chapter 1 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 

 
ARTICLE 5. Regulation of Local Agencies by Counties and Cities [53090 - 53097.5] 
  ( Article 5 added by Stats. 1959, Ch. 2110. ) 
 
53094. 
(a) Notwithstanding any other provision of this article, this article does not require a 
school district to comply with the zoning ordinances of a county or city unless the zoning 
ordinance makes provision for the location of public schools and unless the city or 
county has adopted a general plan. 

(b) Notwithstanding subdivision (a), the governing board of a school district, that has 
complied with the requirements of Section 65352.2 of this code and Section 21151.2 of 
the Public Resources Code, by a vote of two-thirds of its members, may render a city or 
county zoning ordinance inapplicable to a proposed use of property by the school 
district. The governing board of the school district may not take this action when the 
proposed use of the property by the school district is for nonclassroom facilities, 



 
including, but not limited to, warehouses, administrative buildings, and automotive 
storage and repair buildings. 

(c) The governing board of the school district shall, within 10 days, notify the city or 
county concerned of any action taken pursuant to subdivision (b). If the governing board 
has taken such an action, the city or county may commence an action in the superior 
court of the county whose zoning ordinance is involved or in which is situated the city 
whose zoning ordinance is involved, seeking a review of the action of the governing 
board of the school district to determine whether it was arbitrary and capricious. The city 
or county shall cause a copy of the complaint to be served on the board. If the court 
determines that the action was arbitrary and capricious, it shall declare it to be of no 
force and effect, and the zoning ordinance in question shall be applicable to the use of 
the property by the school district. 

(Amended by Stats. 2001, Ch. 396, Sec. 2. Effective January 1, 2002.) 
 
 
GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV 

TITLE 5. LOCAL AGENCIES [50001 - 57607] 
  ( Title 5 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 

DIVISION 2. CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 55821] 
  ( Division 2 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 

PART 1. POWERS AND DUTIES COMMON TO CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER 
AGENCIES [53000 - 54999.7] 

  ( Part 1 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 

 
CHAPTER 9. Meetings [54950 - 54963] 
  ( Chapter 9 added by Stats. 1953, Ch. 1588. ) 

 

54950. 
In enacting this chapter, the Legislature finds and declares that the public 
commissions, boards and councils and the other public agencies in this State exist 

to aid in the conduct of the people’s business. It is the intent of the law that their 
actions be taken openly and that their deliberations be conducted openly. 

The people of this State do not yield their sovereignty to the agencies which serve 
them. The people, in delegating authority, do not give their public servants the 

right to decide what is good for the people to know and what is not good for them 
to know. The people insist on remaining informed so that they may retain control 

over the instruments they have created. 
(Added by Stats. 1953, Ch. 1588.) 

54950.5. 
This chapter shall be known as the Ralph M. Brown Act. 
(Added by Stats. 1961, Ch. 115.) 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54950.','6.2.1.22','1953','1588','',%20'id_c2852197-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54950.5.','6.2.1.22','1961','115','',%20'id_c2852199-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')


 
54951. 
As used in this chapter, “local agency” means a county, city, whether general law or 

chartered, city and county, town, school district, municipal corporation, district, 
political subdivision, or any board, commission or agency thereof, or other local 

public agency. 
(Amended by Stats. 1959, Ch. 1417.) 

54952. 
As used in this chapter, “legislative body” means: 

(a) The governing body of a local agency or any other local body created by state 
or federal statute. 

(b) A commission, committee, board, or other body of a local agency, whether 
permanent or temporary, decisionmaking or advisory, created by charter, 

ordinance, resolution, or formal action of a legislative body. However, advisory 
committees, composed solely of the members of the legislative body that are less 

than a quorum of the legislative body are not legislative bodies, except that 
standing committees of a legislative body, irrespective of their composition, which 

have a continuing subject matter jurisdiction, or a meeting schedule fixed by 
charter, ordinance, resolution, or formal action of a legislative body are legislative 

bodies for purposes of this chapter. 
(c) (1) A board, commission, committee, or other multimember body that governs 

a private corporation, limited liability company, or other entity that either: 
(A) Is created by the elected legislative body in order to exercise authority 

that may lawfully be delegated by the elected governing body to a private 
corporation, limited liability company, or other entity. 

(B) Receives funds from a local agency and the membership of whose 
governing body includes a member of the legislative body of the local agency 

appointed to that governing body as a full voting member by the legislative 
body of the local agency. 

(2) Notwithstanding subparagraph (B) of paragraph (1), no board, commission, 

committee, or other multimember body that governs a private corporation, 
limited liability company, or other entity that receives funds from a local agency 

and, as of February 9, 1996, has a member of the legislative body of the local 
agency as a full voting member of the governing body of that private corporation, 

limited liability company, or other entity shall be relieved from the public meeting 
requirements of this chapter by virtue of a change in status of the full voting 

member to a nonvoting member. 

(d) The lessee of any hospital the whole or part of which is first leased pursuant to 

subdivision (p) of Section 32121 of the Health and Safety Code after January 1, 
1994, where the lessee exercises any material authority of a legislative body of a 

local agency delegated to it by that legislative body whether the lessee is organized 
and operated by the local agency or by a delegated authority. 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54951.','6.2.1.22','1959','1417','',%20'id_c286a83b-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54952.','6.2.1.22','2002','1073','2',%20'id_c286a83d-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')


 
(Amended by Stats. 2002, Ch. 1073, Sec. 2. Effective January 1, 2003.) 

54952.1. 
Any person elected to serve as a member of a legislative body who has not yet 

assumed the duties of office shall conform his or her conduct to the requirements of 
this chapter and shall be treated for purposes of enforcement of this chapter as if 

he or she has already assumed office. 
(Amended by Stats. 1994, Ch. 32, Sec. 2. Effective March 30, 1994. Operative April 1, 1994, by Sec. 23 of Ch. 32.) 

GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV 
TITLE 5. LOCAL AGENCIES [50001 - 57607] 
  ( Title 5 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 

DIVISION 2. CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 55821] 
  ( Division 2 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 

PART 1. POWERS AND DUTIES COMMON TO CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER 
AGENCIES [53000 - 54999.7] 

  ( Part 1 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 

 

CHAPTER 9. Meetings [54950 - 54963] 
  ( Chapter 9 added by Stats. 1953, Ch. 1588. ) 

 

54952.2. 
(a) As used in this chapter, “meeting” means any congregation of a majority of the 
members of a legislative body at the same time and location, including 

teleconference location as permitted by Section 54953, to hear, discuss, deliberate, 
or take action on any item that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the 

legislative body. 

(b) (1) A majority of the members of a legislative body shall not, outside a meeting 
authorized by this chapter, use a series of communications of any kind, directly or 

through intermediaries, to discuss, deliberate, or take action on any item of 
business that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body. 

(2) Paragraph (1) shall not be construed as preventing an employee or official of 
a local agency, from engaging in separate conversations or communications 

outside of a meeting authorized by this chapter with members of a legislative 
body in order to answer questions or provide information regarding a matter that 

is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the local agency, if that person does 
not communicate to members of the legislative body the comments or position of 

any other member or members of the legislative body. 

(3) (A) Paragraph (1) shall not be construed as preventing a member of the 

legislative body from engaging in separate conversations or communications on 
an internet-based social media platform to answer questions, provide information 

to the public, or to solicit information from the public regarding a matter that is 
within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body provided that a 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54952.1.','6.2.1.22','1994','32','2',%20'id_c286a83f-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')


 
majority of the members of the legislative body do not use the internet-based 

social media platform to discuss among themselves business of a specific nature 
that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body. A member of 

the legislative body shall not respond directly to any communication on an 
internet-based social media platform regarding a matter that is within the subject 

matter jurisdiction of the legislative body that is made, posted, or shared by any 
other member of the legislative body. 

(B) For purposes of this paragraph, all of the following definitions shall apply: 

(i) “Discuss among themselves” means communications made, posted, or 
shared on an internet-based social media platform between members of a 

legislative body, including comments or use of digital icons that express 
reactions to communications made by other members of the legislative 

body. 

(ii) “Internet-based social media platform” means an online service that is 

open and accessible to the public. 

(iii) “Open and accessible to the public” means that members of the 

general public have the ability to access and participate, free of charge, in 
the social media platform without the approval by the social media 

platform or a person or entity other than the social media platform, 
including any forum and chatroom, and cannot be blocked from doing so, 

except when the internet-based social media platform determines that an 
individual violated its protocols or rules. 

(c) Nothing in this section shall impose the requirements of this chapter upon any 
of the following: 

(1) Individual contacts or conversations between a member of a legislative body 
and any other person that do not violate subdivision (b). 

(2) The attendance of a majority of the members of a legislative body at a 
conference or similar gathering open to the public that involves a discussion of 
issues of general interest to the public or to public agencies of the type 

represented by the legislative body, provided that a majority of the members do 
not discuss among themselves, other than as part of the scheduled program, 

business of a specified nature that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the 
local agency. Nothing in this paragraph is intended to allow members of the 

public free admission to a conference or similar gathering at which the organizers 
have required other participants or registrants to pay fees or charges as a 

condition of attendance. 

(3) The attendance of a majority of the members of a legislative body at an open 

and publicized meeting organized to address a topic of local community concern 
by a person or organization other than the local agency, provided that a majority 



 
of the members do not discuss among themselves, other than as part of the 

scheduled program, business of a specific nature that is within the subject matter 
jurisdiction of the legislative body of the local agency. 

(4) The attendance of a majority of the members of a legislative body at an open 
and noticed meeting of another body of the local agency, or at an open and 

noticed meeting of a legislative body of another local agency, provided that a 
majority of the members do not discuss among themselves, other than as part of 

the scheduled meeting, business of a specific nature that is within the subject 
matter jurisdiction of the legislative body of the local agency. 

(5) The attendance of a majority of the members of a legislative body at a purely 

social or ceremonial occasion, provided that a majority of the members do not 
discuss among themselves business of a specific nature that is within the subject 

matter jurisdiction of the legislative body of the local agency. 

(6) The attendance of a majority of the members of a legislative body at an open 

and noticed meeting of a standing committee of that body, provided that the 
members of the legislative body who are not members of the standing committee 

attend only as observers. 

(d) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2026, and as of that 

date is repealed. 

(Amended by Stats. 2020, Ch. 89, Sec. 1. (AB 992) Effective January 1, 2021. Repealed as of January 1, 

2026, by its own provisions. See later operative version added by Sec. 2 of Stats. 2020, Ch. 89.) 

 
 
GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV 

TITLE 5. LOCAL AGENCIES [50001 - 57607] 
  ( Title 5 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 

DIVISION 2. CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 55821] 
  ( Division 2 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 

PART 1. POWERS AND DUTIES COMMON TO CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER 
AGENCIES [53000 - 54999.7] 

  ( Part 1 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 
 

CHAPTER 9. Meetings [54950 - 54963] 
  ( Chapter 9 added by Stats. 1953, Ch. 1588. ) 

 

54952.2. 
(a) As used in this chapter, “meeting” means any congregation of a majority of the 

members of a legislative body at the same time and location, including 
teleconference location as permitted by Section 54953, to hear, discuss, deliberate, 

or take action on any item that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the 
legislative body. 



 
(b) (1) A majority of the members of a legislative body shall not, outside a meeting 

authorized by this chapter, use a series of communications of any kind, directly or 
through intermediaries, to discuss, deliberate, or take action on any item of 

business that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body. 

(2) Paragraph (1) shall not be construed as preventing an employee or official of 

a local agency, from engaging in separate conversations or communications 
outside of a meeting authorized by this chapter with members of a legislative 

body in order to answer questions or provide information regarding a matter that 
is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the local agency, if that person does 
not communicate to members of the legislative body the comments or position of 

any other member or members of the legislative body. 

(c) Nothing in this section shall impose the requirements of this chapter upon any 

of the following: 

(1) Individual contacts or conversations between a member of a legislative body 

and any other person that do not violate subdivision (b). 

(2) The attendance of a majority of the members of a legislative body at a 

conference or similar gathering open to the public that involves a discussion of 
issues of general interest to the public or to public agencies of the type 

represented by the legislative body, provided that a majority of the members do 
not discuss among themselves, other than as part of the scheduled program, 

business of a specified nature that is within the subject matter jurisdiction of the 
local agency. Nothing in this paragraph is intended to allow members of the 

public free admission to a conference or similar gathering at which the organizers 
have required other participants or registrants to pay fees or charges as a 

condition of attendance. 

(3) The attendance of a majority of the members of a legislative body at an open 

and publicized meeting organized to address a topic of local community concern 
by a person or organization other than the local agency, provided that a majority 
of the members do not discuss among themselves, other than as part of the 

scheduled program, business of a specific nature that is within the subject matter 
jurisdiction of the legislative body of the local agency. 

(4) The attendance of a majority of the members of a legislative body at an open 
and noticed meeting of another body of the local agency, or at an open and 

noticed meeting of a legislative body of another local agency, provided that a 
majority of the members do not discuss among themselves, other than as part of 

the scheduled meeting, business of a specific nature that is within the subject 
matter jurisdiction of the legislative body of the local agency. 

(5) The attendance of a majority of the members of a legislative body at a purely 
social or ceremonial occasion, provided that a majority of the members do not 



 
discuss among themselves business of a specific nature that is within the subject 

matter jurisdiction of the legislative body of the local agency. 

(6) The attendance of a majority of the members of a legislative body at an open 

and noticed meeting of a standing committee of that body, provided that the 
members of the legislative body who are not members of the standing committee 

attend only as observers. 

(d) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2026. 

(Repealed (in Sec. 1) and added by Stats. 2020, Ch. 89, Sec. 2. (AB 992) Effective January 1, 2021. 

Section operative January 1, 2026, by its own provisions.) 

 
 
GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV 

TITLE 5. LOCAL AGENCIES [50001 - 57607] 
  ( Title 5 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 

DIVISION 2. CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 55821] 
  ( Division 2 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 

PART 1. POWERS AND DUTIES COMMON TO CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER 
AGENCIES [53000 - 54999.7] 

  ( Part 1 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 
 

CHAPTER 9. Meetings [54950 - 54963] 
  ( Chapter 9 added by Stats. 1953, Ch. 1588. ) 

 

54953. 
(a) All meetings of the legislative body of a local agency shall be open and public, 

and all persons shall be permitted to attend any meeting of the legislative body of a 
local agency, except as otherwise provided in this chapter. 

(b) (1) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the legislative body of a local 
agency may use teleconferencing for the benefit of the public and the legislative 

body of a local agency in connection with any meeting or proceeding authorized by 
law. The teleconferenced meeting or proceeding shall comply with all otherwise 

applicable requirements of this chapter and all otherwise applicable provisions of 
law relating to a specific type of meeting or proceeding. 

(2) Teleconferencing, as authorized by this section, may be used for all purposes 
in connection with any meeting within the subject matter jurisdiction of the 

legislative body. If the legislative body of a local agency elects to use 
teleconferencing, the legislative body of a local agency shall comply with all of the 

following: 

(A) All votes taken during a teleconferenced meeting shall be by rollcall. 



 
(B) The teleconferenced meetings shall be conducted in a manner that 

protects the statutory and constitutional rights of the parties or the public 
appearing before the legislative body of a local agency. 

(C) The legislative body shall give notice of the meeting and post agendas as 
otherwise required by this chapter. 

(D) The legislative body shall allow members of the public to access the 
meeting and the agenda shall provide an opportunity for members of the 

public to address the legislative body directly pursuant to Section 54954.3. 

(3) If the legislative body of a local agency elects to use teleconferencing, it shall 
post agendas at all teleconference locations. Each teleconference location shall be 

identified in the notice and agenda of the meeting or proceeding, and each 
teleconference location shall be accessible to the public. During the 

teleconference, at least a quorum of the members of the legislative body shall 
participate from locations within the boundaries of the territory over which the 

local agency exercises jurisdiction, except as provided in subdivisions (d) and (e). 

(c) (1) No legislative body shall take action by secret ballot, whether preliminary or 

final. 

(2) The legislative body of a local agency shall publicly report any action taken 

and the vote or abstention on that action of each member present for the action. 

(3) Prior to taking final action, the legislative body shall orally report a summary 

of a recommendation for a final action on the salaries, salary schedules, or 
compensation paid in the form of fringe benefits of a local agency executive, as 

defined in subdivision (d) of Section 3511.1, during the open meeting in which 
the final action is to be taken. This paragraph shall not affect the public’s right 

under the California Public Records Act (Division 10 (commencing with Section 
7920.000) of Title 1) to inspect or copy records created or received in the process 

of developing the recommendation. 

(d) (1) Notwithstanding the provisions relating to a quorum in paragraph (3) of 
subdivision (b), if a health authority conducts a teleconference meeting, members 

who are outside the jurisdiction of the authority may be counted toward the 
establishment of a quorum when participating in the teleconference if at least 50 

percent of the number of members that would establish a quorum are present 
within the boundaries of the territory over which the authority exercises 

jurisdiction, and the health authority provides a teleconference number, and 
associated access codes, if any, that allows any person to call in to participate in 

the meeting and the number and access codes are identified in the notice and 
agenda of the meeting. 

(2) Nothing in this subdivision shall be construed as discouraging health authority 
members from regularly meeting at a common physical site within the jurisdiction 



 
of the authority or from using teleconference locations within or near the 

jurisdiction of the authority. A teleconference meeting for which a quorum is 
established pursuant to this subdivision shall be subject to all other requirements 

of this section. 

(3) For purposes of this subdivision, a health authority means any entity created 

pursuant to Sections 14018.7, 14087.31, 14087.35, 14087.36, 14087.38, and 
14087.9605 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, any joint powers authority 

created pursuant to Article 1 (commencing with Section 6500) of Chapter 5 of 
Division 7 for the purpose of contracting pursuant to Section 14087.3 of the 
Welfare and Institutions Code, and any advisory committee to a county-

sponsored health plan licensed pursuant to Chapter 2.2 (commencing with 
Section 1340) of Division 2 of the Health and Safety Code if the advisory 

committee has 12 or more members. 

(e) (1) The legislative body of a local agency may use teleconferencing without 

complying with the requirements of paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) if the 
legislative body complies with the requirements of paragraph (2) of this subdivision 

in either of the following circumstances: 

(A) The legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of 

emergency for the purpose of determining, by majority vote, whether as a 
result of the emergency, meeting in person would present imminent risks to 

the health or safety of attendees. 

(B) The legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of 

emergency and has determined, by majority vote, pursuant to subparagraph 
(A), that, as a result of the emergency, meeting in person would present 

imminent risks to the health or safety of attendees. 

(2) A legislative body that holds a meeting pursuant to this subdivision shall do 

all of the following: 

(A) In each instance in which notice of the time of the teleconferenced 
meeting is otherwise given or the agenda for the meeting is otherwise posted, 

the legislative body shall also give notice of the means by which members of 
the public may access the meeting and offer public comment. The agenda 

shall identify and include an opportunity for all persons to attend via a call-in 
option or an internet-based service option. 

(B) In the event of a disruption that prevents the legislative body from 
broadcasting the meeting to members of the public using the call-in option or 

internet-based service option, or in the event of a disruption within the local 
agency’s control that prevents members of the public from offering public 

comments using the call-in option or internet-based service option, the 
legislative body shall take no further action on items appearing on the 

meeting agenda until public access to the meeting via the call-in option or 



 
internet-based service option is restored. Actions taken on agenda items 

during a disruption that prevents the legislative body from broadcasting the 
meeting may be challenged pursuant to Section 54960.1. 

(C) The legislative body shall not require public comments to be submitted in 
advance of the meeting and must provide an opportunity for the public to 

address the legislative body and offer comment in real time. 

(D) Notwithstanding Section 54953.3, an individual desiring to provide public 

comment through the use of an internet website, or other online platform, not 
under the control of the local legislative body, that requires registration to log 
in to a teleconference may be required to register as required by the third-

party internet website or online platform to participate. 

(E) (i) A legislative body that provides a timed public comment period for each 

agenda item shall not close the public comment period for the agenda item, or 
the opportunity to register, pursuant to subparagraph (D), to provide public 

comment until that timed public comment period has elapsed. 

(ii) A legislative body that does not provide a timed public comment 

period, but takes public comment separately on each agenda item, shall 
allow a reasonable amount of time per agenda item to allow public 

members the opportunity to provide public comment, including time for 
members of the public to register pursuant to subparagraph (D), or 

otherwise be recognized for the purpose of providing public comment. 

(iii) A legislative body that provides a timed general public comment period 

that does not correspond to a specific agenda item shall not close the 
public comment period or the opportunity to register, pursuant to 

subparagraph (D), until the timed general public comment period has 
elapsed. 

(3) If a state of emergency remains active, in order to continue to teleconference 
without compliance with paragraph (3) of subdivision (b), the legislative body 
shall, not later than 45 days after teleconferencing for the first time pursuant to 

subparagraph (A) or (B) of paragraph (1), and every 45 days thereafter, make 
the following findings by majority vote: 

(A) The legislative body has reconsidered the circumstances of the state of 
emergency. 

(B) The state of emergency continues to directly impact the ability of the 
members to meet safely in person. 

(4) This subdivision shall not be construed to require the legislative body to 
provide a physical location from which the public may attend or comment. 



 
(f) (1) The legislative body of a local agency may use teleconferencing without 

complying with paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) if, during the teleconference 
meeting, at least a quorum of the members of the legislative body participates in 

person from a singular physical location clearly identified on the agenda, which 
location shall be open to the public and situated within the boundaries of the 

territory over which the local agency exercises jurisdiction and the legislative body 
complies with all of the following: 

(A) The legislative body shall provide at least one of the following as a means 
by which the public may remotely hear and visually observe the meeting, and 
remotely address the legislative body: 

(i) A two-way audiovisual platform. 

(ii) A two-way telephonic service and a live webcasting of the meeting. 

(B) In each instance in which notice of the time of the teleconferenced 
meeting is otherwise given or the agenda for the meeting is otherwise posted, 

the legislative body shall also give notice of the means by which members of 
the public may access the meeting and offer public comment. 

(C) The agenda shall identify and include an opportunity for all persons to 
attend and address the legislative body directly pursuant to Section 54954.3 

via a call-in option, via an internet-based service option, and at the in-person 
location of the meeting. 

(D) In the event of a disruption that prevents the legislative body from 
broadcasting the meeting to members of the public using the call-in option or 

internet-based service option, or in the event of a disruption within the local 
agency’s control that prevents members of the public from offering public 

comments using the call-in option or internet-based service option, the 
legislative body shall take no further action on items appearing on the 

meeting agenda until public access to the meeting via the call-in option or 
internet-based service option is restored. Actions taken on agenda items 
during a disruption that prevents the legislative body from broadcasting the 

meeting may be challenged pursuant to Section 54960.1. 

(E) The legislative body shall not require public comments to be submitted in 

advance of the meeting and must provide an opportunity for the public to 
address the legislative body and offer comment in real time. 

(F) Notwithstanding Section 54953.3, an individual desiring to provide public 
comment through the use of an internet website, or other online platform, not 

under the control of the local legislative body, that requires registration to log 
in to a teleconference may be required to register as required by the third-

party internet website or online platform to participate. 



 
(2) A member of the legislative body shall only participate in the meeting 

remotely pursuant to this subdivision, if all of the following requirements are met: 

(A) One of the following circumstances applies: 

(i) The member notifies the legislative body at the earliest opportunity 
possible, including at the start of a regular meeting, of their need to 

participate remotely for just cause, including a general description of the 
circumstances relating to their need to appear remotely at the given 

meeting. The provisions of this clause shall not be used by any member of 
the legislative body for more than two meetings per calendar year. 

(ii) The member requests the legislative body to allow them to participate 

in the meeting remotely due to emergency circumstances and the 
legislative body takes action to approve the request. The legislative body 

shall request a general description of the circumstances relating to their 
need to appear remotely at the given meeting. A general description of an 

item generally need not exceed 20 words and shall not require the member 
to disclose any medical diagnosis or disability, or any personal medical 

information that is already exempt under existing law, such as the 
Confidentiality of Medical Information Act (Chapter 1 (commencing with 

Section 56) of Part 2.6 of Division 1 of the Civil Code). For the purposes of 
this clause, the following requirements apply: 

(I) A member shall make a request to participate remotely at a meeting 
pursuant to this clause as soon as possible. The member shall make a 

separate request for each meeting in which they seek to participate 
remotely. 

(II) The legislative body may take action on a request to participate 
remotely at the earliest opportunity. If the request does not allow 

sufficient time to place proposed action on such a request on the posted 
agenda for the meeting for which the request is made, the legislative 
body may take action at the beginning of the meeting in accordance 

with paragraph (4) of subdivision (b) of Section 54954.2. 

(B) The member shall publicly disclose at the meeting before any action is 

taken, whether any other individuals 18 years of age or older are present in 
the room at the remote location with the member, and the general nature of 

the member’s relationship with any such individuals. 

(C) The member shall participate through both audio and visual technology. 

(3) The provisions of this subdivision shall not serve as a means for any member 
of a legislative body to participate in meetings of the legislative body solely by 

teleconference from a remote location for a period of more than three 



 
consecutive months or 20 percent of the regular meetings for the local agency 

within a calendar year, or more than two meetings if the legislative body 
regularly meets fewer than 10 times per calendar year. 

(g) The legislative body shall have and implement a procedure for receiving and 
swiftly resolving requests for reasonable accommodation for individuals with 

disabilities, consistent with the federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 
U.S.C. Sec. 12132), and resolving any doubt in favor of accessibility. In each 

instance in which notice of the time of the meeting is otherwise given or the agenda 
for the meeting is otherwise posted, the legislative body shall also give notice of the 
procedure for receiving and resolving requests for accommodation. 

(h) The legislative body shall conduct meetings subject to this chapter consistent 
with applicable civil rights and nondiscrimination laws. 

(i) (1) Nothing in this section shall prohibit a legislative body from providing the 
public with additional teleconference locations. 

(2) Nothing in this section shall prohibit a legislative body from providing the 
public with additional physical locations in which the public may observe and 

address the legislative body by electronic means. 

(j) For the purposes of this section, the following definitions shall apply: 

(1) “Emergency circumstances” means a physical or family medical emergency 
that prevents a member from attending in person. 

(2) “Just cause” means any of the following: 

(A) A childcare or caregiving need of a child, parent, grandparent, grandchild, 

sibling, spouse, or domestic partner that requires them to participate 
remotely. “Child,” “parent,” “grandparent,” “grandchild,” and “sibling” have 

the same meaning as those terms do in Section 12945.2. 

(B) A contagious illness that prevents a member from attending in person. 

(C) A need related to a physical or mental disability as defined in Sections 
12926 and 12926.1 not otherwise accommodated by subdivision (g). 

(D) Travel while on official business of the legislative body or another state or 

local agency. 

(3) “Remote location” means a location from which a member of a legislative 

body participates in a meeting pursuant to subdivision (f), other than any 
physical meeting location designated in the notice of the meeting. Remote 

locations need not be accessible to the public. 



 
(4) “Remote participation” means participation in a meeting by teleconference at 

a location other than any physical meeting location designated in the notice of 
the meeting. Watching or listening to a meeting via webcasting or another similar 

electronic medium that does not permit members to interactively hear, discuss, 
or deliberate on matters, does not constitute remote participation. 

(5) “State of emergency” means a state of emergency proclaimed pursuant to 
Section 8625 of the California Emergency Services Act (Article 1 (commencing 

with Section 8550) of Chapter 7 of Division 1 of Title 2). 

(6) “Teleconference” means a meeting of a legislative body, the members of 
which are in different locations, connected by electronic means, through either 

audio or video, or both. 

(7) “Two-way audiovisual platform” means an online platform that provides 

participants with the ability to participate in a meeting via both an interactive 
video conference and a two-way telephonic function. 

(8) “Two-way telephonic service” means a telephone service that does not 
require internet access, is not provided as part of a two-way audiovisual platform, 

and allows participants to dial a telephone number to listen and verbally 
participate. 

(9) “Webcasting” means a streaming video broadcast online or on television, 
using streaming media technology to distribute a single content source to many 

simultaneous listeners and viewers. 

(k) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2026, and as of that 

date is repealed. 

(Amended (as amended by Stats. 2022, Ch. 285, Sec. 1) by Stats. 2023, Ch. 534, Sec. 1. (AB 557) 

Effective January 1, 2024. Repealed as of January 1, 2026, by its own provisions. See later operative 

version, as amended by Sec. 2 of Stats. 2023, Ch. 534.) 

 
 
GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV 

TITLE 5. LOCAL AGENCIES [50001 - 57607] 
  ( Title 5 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 

DIVISION 2. CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 55821] 
  ( Division 2 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 

PART 1. POWERS AND DUTIES COMMON TO CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER 
AGENCIES [53000 - 54999.7] 

  ( Part 1 added by Stats. 1949, Ch. 81. ) 

 

CHAPTER 9. Meetings [54950 - 54963] 
  ( Chapter 9 added by Stats. 1953, Ch. 1588. ) 

 



 
54953. 
(a) All meetings of the legislative body of a local agency shall be open and public, 

and all persons shall be permitted to attend any meeting of the legislative body of a 
local agency, except as otherwise provided in this chapter. 

(b) (1) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the legislative body of a local 
agency may use teleconferencing for the benefit of the public and the legislative 

body of a local agency in connection with any meeting or proceeding authorized by 
law. The teleconferenced meeting or proceeding shall comply with all otherwise 

applicable requirements of this chapter and all otherwise applicable provisions of 
law relating to a specific type of meeting or proceeding. 

(2) Teleconferencing, as authorized by this section, may be used for all purposes 
in connection with any meeting within the subject matter jurisdiction of the 

legislative body. If the legislative body of a local agency elects to use 
teleconferencing, the legislative body of a local agency shall comply with all of the 

following: 

(A) All votes taken during a teleconferenced meeting shall be by rollcall. 

(B) The teleconferenced meetings shall be conducted in a manner that 
protects the statutory and constitutional rights of the parties or the public 
appearing before the legislative body of a local agency. 

(C) The legislative body shall give notice of the meeting and post agendas as 
otherwise required by this chapter. 

(D) The legislative body shall allow members of the public to access the 
meeting and the agenda shall provide an opportunity for members of the 

public to address the legislative body directly pursuant to Section 54954.3. 

(3) If the legislative body of a local agency elects to use teleconferencing, it shall 

post agendas at all teleconference locations. Each teleconference location shall be 
identified in the notice and agenda of the meeting or proceeding, and each 

teleconference location shall be accessible to the public. During the 
teleconference, at least a quorum of the members of the legislative body shall 

participate from locations within the boundaries of the territory over which the 
local agency exercises jurisdiction, except as provided in subdivisions (d) and (e). 

(c) (1) No legislative body shall take action by secret ballot, whether preliminary or 
final. 

(2) The legislative body of a local agency shall publicly report any action taken 
and the vote or abstention on that action of each member present for the action. 

(3) Prior to taking final action, the legislative body shall orally report a summary 
of a recommendation for a final action on the salaries, salary schedules, or 
compensation paid in the form of fringe benefits of a local agency executive, as 



 
defined in subdivision (d) of Section 3511.1, during the open meeting in which 

the final action is to be taken. This paragraph shall not affect the public’s right 
under the California Public Records Act (Division 10 (commencing with Section 

7920.000) of Title 1) to inspect or copy records created or received in the process 
of developing the recommendation. 

(d) (1) Notwithstanding the provisions relating to a quorum in paragraph (3) of 
subdivision (b), if a health authority conducts a teleconference meeting, members 

who are outside the jurisdiction of the authority may be counted toward the 
establishment of a quorum when participating in the teleconference if at least 50 
percent of the number of members that would establish a quorum are present 

within the boundaries of the territory over which the authority exercises 
jurisdiction, and the health authority provides a teleconference number, and 

associated access codes, if any, that allows any person to call in to participate in 
the meeting and the number and access codes are identified in the notice and 

agenda of the meeting. 

(2) Nothing in this subdivision shall be construed as discouraging health authority 

members from regularly meeting at a common physical site within the jurisdiction 
of the authority or from using teleconference locations within or near the 

jurisdiction of the authority. A teleconference meeting for which a quorum is 
established pursuant to this subdivision shall be subject to all other requirements 

of this section. 

(3) For purposes of this subdivision, a health authority means any entity created 

pursuant to Sections 14018.7, 14087.31, 14087.35, 14087.36, 14087.38, and 
14087.9605 of the Welfare and Institutions Code, any joint powers authority 

created pursuant to Article 1 (commencing with Section 6500) of Chapter 5 of 
Division 7 for the purpose of contracting pursuant to Section 14087.3 of the 

Welfare and Institutions Code, and any advisory committee to a county-
sponsored health plan licensed pursuant to Chapter 2.2 (commencing with 
Section 1340) of Division 2 of the Health and Safety Code if the advisory 

committee has 12 or more members. 

(e) (1) The legislative body of a local agency may use teleconferencing without 

complying with the requirements of paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) if the 
legislative body complies with the requirements of paragraph (2) of this subdivision 

in either of the following circumstances: 

(A) The legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of 

emergency for the purpose of determining, by majority vote, whether as a 
result of the emergency, meeting in person would present imminent risks to 

the health or safety of attendees. 

(B) The legislative body holds a meeting during a proclaimed state of 

emergency and has determined, by majority vote, pursuant to subparagraph 



 
(A), that, as a result of the emergency, meeting in person would present 

imminent risks to the health or safety of attendees. 

(2) A legislative body that holds a meeting pursuant to this subdivision shall do 

all of the following: 

(A) In each instance in which notice of the time of the teleconferenced 

meeting is otherwise given or the agenda for the meeting is otherwise posted, 
the legislative body shall also give notice of the means by which members of 

the public may access the meeting and offer public comment. The agenda 
shall identify and include an opportunity for all persons to attend via a call-in 
option or an internet-based service option. 

(B) In the event of a disruption that prevents the legislative body from 
broadcasting the meeting to members of the public using the call-in option or 

internet-based service option, or in the event of a disruption within the local 
agency’s control that prevents members of the public from offering public 

comments using the call-in option or internet-based service option, the 
legislative body shall take no further action on items appearing on the 

meeting agenda until public access to the meeting via the call-in option or 
internet-based service option is restored. Actions taken on agenda items 

during a disruption that prevents the legislative body from broadcasting the 
meeting may be challenged pursuant to Section 54960.1. 

(C) The legislative body shall not require public comments to be submitted in 
advance of the meeting and must provide an opportunity for the public to 

address the legislative body and offer comment in real time. 

(D) Notwithstanding Section 54953.3, an individual desiring to provide public 

comment through the use of an internet website, or other online platform, not 
under the control of the local legislative body, that requires registration to log 

in to a teleconference may be required to register as required by the third-
party internet website or online platform to participate. 

(E) (i) A legislative body that provides a timed public comment period for each 

agenda item shall not close the public comment period for the agenda item, or 
the opportunity to register, pursuant to subparagraph (D), to provide public 

comment until that timed public comment period has elapsed. 

(ii) A legislative body that does not provide a timed public comment 

period, but takes public comment separately on each agenda item, shall 
allow a reasonable amount of time per agenda item to allow public 

members the opportunity to provide public comment, including time for 
members of the public to register pursuant to subparagraph (D), or 

otherwise be recognized for the purpose of providing public comment. 



 
(iii) A legislative body that provides a timed general public comment period 

that does not correspond to a specific agenda item shall not close the 
public comment period or the opportunity to register, pursuant to 

subparagraph (D), until the timed general public comment period has 
elapsed. 

(3) If a state of emergency remains active, in order to continue to teleconference 
without compliance with paragraph (3) of subdivision (b), the legislative body 

shall, not later than 45 days after teleconferencing for the first time pursuant to 
subparagraph (A) or (B) of paragraph (1), and every 45 days thereafter, make 
the following findings by majority vote: 

(A) The legislative body has reconsidered the circumstances of the state of 
emergency. 

(B) The state of emergency continues to directly impact the ability of the 
members to meet safely in person. 

(4) This subdivision shall not be construed to require the legislative body to 
provide a physical location from which the public may attend or comment. 

(f) The legislative body shall have and implement a procedure for receiving and 
swiftly resolving requests for reasonable accommodation for individuals with 

disabilities, consistent with the federal Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 
U.S.C. Sec. 12132), and resolving any doubt in favor of accessibility. In each 

instance in which notice of the time of the meeting is otherwise given or the agenda 
for the meeting is otherwise posted, the legislative body shall also give notice of the 

procedure for receiving and resolving requests for accommodation. 

(g) The legislative body shall conduct meetings subject to this chapter consistent 

with applicable civil rights and nondiscrimination laws. 

(h) (1) Nothing in this section shall prohibit a legislative body from providing the 

public with additional teleconference locations. 

(2) Nothing in this section shall prohibit a legislative body from providing the 
public with additional physical locations in which the public may observe and 

address the legislative body by electronic means. 

(i) For the purposes of this section, the following definitions shall apply: 

(1) “State of emergency” means a state of emergency proclaimed pursuant to 
Section 8625 of the California Emergency Services Act (Article 1 (commencing 

with Section 8550) of Chapter 7 of Division 1 of Title 2). 

(2) “Teleconference” means a meeting of a legislative body, the members of 

which are in different locations, connected by electronic means, through either 
audio or video, or both. 



 
(j) This section shall become operative January 1, 2026. 

(Amended (as amended by Stats. 2022, Ch. 285, Sec. 2) by Stats. 2023, Ch. 534, Sec. 2. (AB 557) Effective 

January 1, 2024. Operative January 1, 2026, by its own provisions.) 

 
 
54953.1. 
The provisions of this chapter shall not be construed to prohibit the members of the 

legislative body of a local agency from giving testimony in private before a grand 
jury, either as individuals or as a body. 
(Added by Stats. 1979, Ch. 950.) 

54953.2. 
All meetings of a legislative body of a local agency that are open and public shall 

meet the protections and prohibitions contained in Section 202 of the Americans 
with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sec. 12132), and the federal rules and 
regulations adopted in implementation thereof. 
(Added by Stats. 2002, Ch. 300, Sec. 5. Effective January 1, 2003.) 

54953.3. 
A member of the public shall not be required, as a condition to attendance at a 

meeting of a legislative body of a local agency, to register his or her name, to 
provide other information, to complete a questionnaire, or otherwise to fulfill any 

condition precedent to his or her attendance. 
If an attendance list, register, questionnaire, or other similar document is posted at 

or near the entrance to the room where the meeting is to be held, or is circulated to 
the persons present during the meeting, it shall state clearly that the signing, 
registering, or completion of the document is voluntary, and that all persons may 

attend the meeting regardless of whether a person signs, registers, or completes 
the document. 
(Amended by Stats. 1981, Ch. 968, Sec. 28.) 

54953.5. 
(a) Any person attending an open and public meeting of a legislative body of a local 

agency shall have the right to record the proceedings with an audio or video 
recorder or a still or motion picture camera in the absence of a reasonable finding 

by the legislative body of the local agency that the recording cannot continue 
without noise, illumination, or obstruction of view that constitutes, or would 
constitute, a persistent disruption of the proceedings. 

(b) Any audio or video recording of an open and public meeting made for whatever 
purpose by or at the direction of the local agency shall be subject to inspection 

pursuant to the California Public Records Act (Division 10 (commencing with Section 
7920.000) of Title 1), but, notwithstanding Section 34090, may be erased or 

destroyed 30 days after the recording. Any inspection of an audio or video 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54953.1.','6.2.1.22','1979','950','',%20'id_c2882ee9-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54953.2.','6.2.1.22','2002','300','5',%20'id_c2882eeb-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54953.3.','6.2.1.22','1981','968','28',%20'id_c2882eed-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54953.5.','6.2.1.22','2021','615','205',%20'id_ca113417-5f75-11ec-b9e6-e768d1537d5c')


 
recording shall be provided without charge on equipment made available by the 

local agency. 
(Amended by Stats. 2021, Ch. 615, Sec. 205. (AB 474) Effective January 1, 2022. Operative January 1, 2023, 

pursuant to Sec. 463 of Stats. 2021, Ch. 615.) 

54953.6. 
No legislative body of a local agency shall prohibit or otherwise restrict the 

broadcast of its open and public meetings in the absence of a reasonable finding 
that the broadcast cannot be accomplished without noise, illumination, or 

obstruction of view that would constitute a persistent disruption of the proceedings. 
(Amended by Stats. 1994, Ch. 32, Sec. 6. Effective March 30, 1994. Operative April 1, 1994, by Sec. 23 of Ch. 32.) 

54953.7. 
Notwithstanding any other provision of law, legislative bodies of local agencies may 

impose requirements upon themselves which allow greater access to their meetings 
than prescribed by the minimal standards set forth in this chapter. In addition 

thereto, an elected legislative body of a local agency may impose such 
requirements on those appointed legislative bodies of the local agency of which all 

or a majority of the members are appointed by or under the authority of the elected 
legislative body. 
(Added by Stats. 1981, Ch. 968, Sec. 29.) 

54953.8. 
(a) (1) An eligible legislative body may use teleconferencing without complying with 
paragraph (3) of subdivision (b) of Section 54953 if the eligible legislative body 

complies with paragraphs (2) to (4), inclusive. 
(2) An eligible legislative body may only use teleconferencing as described in this 

section after all the following have occurred: 

(A) The city council for a city described in subdivision (c) considers whether to 

adopt a resolution to authorize eligible legislative bodies to use 
teleconferencing as described in paragraph (1) at an open and regular 

meeting. 

(B) If the city council adopts a resolution described in subparagraph (A), an 

eligible legislative body may elect to use teleconferencing pursuant to this 
section if two-thirds of the eligible legislative body votes to do so. The eligible 

legislative body shall notify the city council if it elects to use teleconferencing 
pursuant to this section and its justification for doing so. 

(C) Upon receiving notification from a legislative body as described in 
subparagraph (B), the city council may adopt a resolution to prohibit the 

eligible legislative body from using teleconferencing pursuant to this section. 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54953.7.','6.2.1.22','1981','968','29',%20'id_c289b593-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54953.7.','6.2.1.22','1981','968','29',%20'id_c289b593-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54953.8.','6.2.1.22','2023','605','2',%20'id_c7ecebd3-684c-11ee-9c78-87c31dafaaa8')


 
(3) After completing the requirements in paragraph (2), an eligible legislative 

body that holds a meeting pursuant to this subdivision shall do all of the 
following: 

(A) In each instance in which notice of the time of the teleconferenced 
meeting is otherwise given or the agenda for the meeting is otherwise posted, 

the eligible legislative body shall also give notice of the means by which 
members of the public may access the meeting and offer public comment. The 

agenda shall identify and include an opportunity for all persons to attend via a 
call-in option or an internet-based service option. 

(B) In the event of a disruption that prevents the eligible legislative body from 

broadcasting the meeting to members of the public using the call-in option or 
internet-based service option, or in the event of a disruption within the eligible 

legislative body’s control that prevents members of the public from offering 
public comments using the call-in option or internet-based service option, the 

eligible legislative body shall take no further action on items appearing on the 
meeting agenda until public access to the meeting via the call-in option or 

internet-based service option is restored. Actions taken on agenda items 
during a disruption that prevents the eligible legislative body from 

broadcasting the meeting may be challenged pursuant to Section 54960.1. 

(C) The eligible legislative body shall not require public comments to be 

submitted in advance of the meeting and shall provide an opportunity for the 
public to address the legislative body and offer comment in real time. 

(D) Notwithstanding Section 54953.3, an individual desiring to provide public 
comment through the use of an internet website, or other online platform, not 

under the control of the eligible legislative body, that requires registration to 
log in to a teleconference may be required to register as required by the third-

party internet website or online platform to participate. 

(E) (i) An eligible legislative body that provides a timed public comment period 
for each agenda item shall not close the public comment period for the agenda 

item, or the opportunity to register, pursuant to subparagraph (D), to provide 
public comment until that timed public comment period has elapsed. 

(ii) An eligible legislative body that does not provide a timed public 
comment period, but takes public comment separately on each agenda 

item, shall allow a reasonable amount of time per agenda item to allow 
public members the opportunity to provide public comment, including time 

for members of the public to register pursuant to subparagraph (D), or 
otherwise be recognized for the purpose of providing public comment. 

(iii) An eligible legislative body that provides a timed general public 
comment period that does not correspond to a specific agenda item shall 



 
not close the public comment period or the opportunity to register, 

pursuant to subparagraph (D), until the timed general public comment 
period has elapsed. 

(F) At least a quorum of the members of the eligible legislative body shall 
participate from locations within the boundaries of the city in which the 

eligible legislative body is established. 

(G) At least once per year, at least a quorum of the members of the eligible 

legislative body shall participate in person from a singular physical location 
that is open to the public and within the boundaries of the eligible legislative 
body. 

(4) An eligible legislative body that holds a meeting pursuant to this subdivision 
shall do the following, as applicable: 

(A) If the meeting is during regular business hours of the offices of the city 
council member that represents the area that includes the eligible legislative 

body, the eligible legislative body shall provide a publicly accessible physical 
location from which the public may attend or comment, which shall be the 

offices of the city council member who represents the area where the eligible 
legislative body is located, unless the eligible legislative body identifies an 

alternative location. 

(B) If the meeting is outside regular business hours, the eligible legislative 

body shall make reasonable efforts to accommodate any member of the public 
that requests an accommodation to participate in the meeting. For the 

purposes of this subparagraph, “accommodation” means providing a publicly 
accessible physical location for the member of the public to participate from, 

providing access to technology necessary to participate in the meeting, or 
identifying locations or resources available that could provide the member of 

the public with an opportunity to participate in the meeting. 

(b) The legislative body shall comply with all other requirements of Section 54953. 
(c) As used in this section, “eligible legislative body” means a neighborhood council 

that is an advisory body with the purpose to promote more citizen participation in 
government and make government more responsive to local needs that is 

established pursuant to the charter of a city with a population of more than 
3,000,000 people that is subject to this chapter. 

(d) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2026, and as of that 
date is repealed. 
(Added by Stats. 2023, Ch. 605, Sec. 2. (SB 411) Effective October 8, 2023. Repealed as of January 1, 2026, by its 

own provisions.) 

54954. 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54954.','6.2.1.22','2004','257','1',%20'id_e302b677-6513-11d9-bd15-b3cbb5da6f1d')


 
(a) Each legislative body of a local agency, except for advisory committees or 

standing committees, shall provide, by ordinance, resolution, bylaws, or by 
whatever other rule is required for the conduct of business by that body, the time 

and place for holding regular meetings. Meetings of advisory committees or 
standing committees, for which an agenda is posted at least 72 hours in advance of 

the meeting pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section 54954.2, shall be considered for 
purposes of this chapter as regular meetings of the legislative body. 

(b) Regular and special meetings of the legislative body shall be held within the 
boundaries of the territory over which the local agency exercises jurisdiction, except 
to do any of the following: 

(1) Comply with state or federal law or court order, or attend a judicial or 
administrative proceeding to which the local agency is a party. 

(2) Inspect real or personal property which cannot be conveniently brought within 
the boundaries of the territory over which the local agency exercises jurisdiction 

provided that the topic of the meeting is limited to items directly related to the 
real or personal property. 

(3) Participate in meetings or discussions of multiagency significance that are 
outside the boundaries of a local agency’s jurisdiction. However, any meeting or 

discussion held pursuant to this subdivision shall take place within the jurisdiction 
of one of the participating local agencies and be noticed by all participating 

agencies as provided for in this chapter. 

(4) Meet in the closest meeting facility if the local agency has no meeting facility 

within the boundaries of the territory over which the local agency exercises 
jurisdiction, or at the principal office of the local agency if that office is located 

outside the territory over which the agency exercises jurisdiction. 

(5) Meet outside their immediate jurisdiction with elected or appointed officials of 

the United States or the State of California when a local meeting would be 
impractical, solely to discuss a legislative or regulatory issue affecting the local 
agency and over which the federal or state officials have jurisdiction. 

(6) Meet outside their immediate jurisdiction if the meeting takes place in or 
nearby a facility owned by the agency, provided that the topic of the meeting is 

limited to items directly related to the facility. 

(7) Visit the office of the local agency’s legal counsel for a closed session on 

pending litigation held pursuant to Section 54956.9, when to do so would reduce 
legal fees or costs. 

(c) Meetings of the governing board of a school district shall be held within the 
district, except under the circumstances enumerated in subdivision (b), or to do any 

of the following: 
(1) Attend a conference on nonadversarial collective bargaining techniques. 



 
(2) Interview members of the public residing in another district with reference to 

the trustees’ potential employment of an applicant for the position of the 
superintendent of the district. 

(3) Interview a potential employee from another district. 

(d) Meetings of a joint powers authority shall occur within the territory of at least 

one of its member agencies, or as provided in subdivision (b). However, a joint 
powers authority which has members throughout the state may meet at any facility 

in the state which complies with the requirements of Section 54961. 
(e) If, by reason of fire, flood, earthquake, or other emergency, it shall be unsafe to 
meet in the place designated, the meetings shall be held for the duration of the 

emergency at the place designated by the presiding officer of the legislative body or 
his or her designee in a notice to the local media that have requested notice 

pursuant to Section 54956, by the most rapid means of communication available at 
the time. 
(Amended by Stats. 2004, Ch. 257, Sec. 1. Effective January 1, 2005.) 

54954.1. 
Any person may request that a copy of the agenda, or a copy of all the documents 

constituting the agenda packet, of any meeting of a legislative body be mailed to 
that person. If a local agency has an internet website, the legislative body or its 
designee shall email a copy of, or website link to, the agenda or a copy of all the 

documents constituting the agenda packet if the person requests that the item or 
items be delivered by email. If the local agency determines it is technologically 

infeasible to send a copy of all documents constituting the agenda packet or a link 
to a website that contains the documents by email or by other electronic means, 

the legislative body or its designee shall send by mail a copy of the agenda or a 
website link to the agenda and mail a copy of all other documents constituting the 

agenda packet in accordance with the mailing requirements established pursuant to 
this section. If requested, the agenda and documents in the agenda packet shall be 

made available in appropriate alternative formats to persons with a disability, as 
required by Section 202 of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. 

Sec. 12132), and the federal rules and regulations adopted in implementation 
thereof. Upon receipt of the written request, the legislative body or its designee 

shall cause the requested materials to be mailed at the time the agenda is posted 
pursuant to Section 54954.2 and 54956 or upon distribution to all, or a majority of 

all, of the members of a legislative body, whichever occurs first. Any request for 
mailed copies of agendas or agenda packets shall be valid for the calendar year in 

which it is filed, and must be renewed following January 1 of each year. The 
legislative body may establish a fee for mailing the agenda or agenda packet, which 
fee shall not exceed the cost of providing the service. Failure of the requesting 

person to receive the agenda or agenda packet pursuant to this section shall not 
constitute grounds for invalidation of the actions of the legislative body taken at the 

meeting for which the agenda or agenda packet was not received. 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54954.1.','6.2.1.22','2021','763','1',%20'id_ce88b279-5f75-11ec-b9e6-e768d1537d5c')


 
(Amended by Stats. 2021, Ch. 763, Sec. 1. (SB 274) Effective January 1, 2022.) 

54954.2. 
(a) (1) At least 72 hours before a regular meeting, the legislative body of the local 

agency, or its designee, shall post an agenda containing a brief general description 
of each item of business to be transacted or discussed at the meeting, including 

items to be discussed in closed session. A brief general description of an item 
generally need not exceed 20 words. The agenda shall specify the time and location 

of the regular meeting and shall be posted in a location that is freely accessible to 
members of the public and on the local agency’s internet website, if the local 

agency has one. If requested, the agenda shall be made available in appropriate 
alternative formats to persons with a disability, as required by Section 202 of the 

Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sec. 12132), and the federal 
rules and regulations adopted in implementation thereof. The agenda shall include 

information regarding how, to whom, and when a request for disability-related 
modification or accommodation, including auxiliary aids or services, may be made 

by a person with a disability who requires a modification or accommodation in order 
to participate in the public meeting. 

(2) For a meeting occurring on and after January 1, 2019, of a legislative body of 
a city, county, city and county, special district, school district, or political 
subdivision established by the state that has an internet website, the following 

provisions shall apply: 

(A) An online posting of an agenda shall be posted on the primary internet 

website home page of a city, county, city and county, special district, school 
district, or political subdivision established by the state that is accessible 

through a prominent, direct link to the current agenda. The direct link to the 
agenda shall not be in a contextual menu; however, a link in addition to the 

direct link to the agenda may be accessible through a contextual menu. 

(B) An online posting of an agenda, including, but not limited to, an agenda 

posted in an integrated agenda management platform, shall be posted in an 
open format that meets all of the following requirements: 

(i) Retrievable, downloadable, indexable, and electronically searchable by 
commonly used internet search applications. 

(ii) Platform independent and machine readable. 

(iii) Available to the public free of charge and without any restriction that 

would impede the reuse or redistribution of the agenda. 

(C) A legislative body of a city, county, city and county, special district, school 

district, or political subdivision established by the state that has an internet 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54954.2.','6.2.1.22','2023','131','91',%20'id_164c3c61-8565-11ee-bcfe-9f16e66157a6')


 
website and an integrated agenda management platform shall not be required 

to comply with subparagraph (A) if all of the following are met: 

(i) A direct link to the integrated agenda management platform shall be 

posted on the primary internet website home page of a city, county, city 
and county, special district, school district, or political subdivision 

established by the state. The direct link to the integrated agenda 
management platform shall not be in a contextual menu. When a person 

clicks on the direct link to the integrated agenda management platform, 
the direct link shall take the person directly to an internet website with the 
agendas of the legislative body of a city, county, city and county, special 

district, school district, or political subdivision established by the state. 

(ii) The integrated agenda management platform may contain the prior 

agendas of a legislative body of a city, county, city and county, special 
district, school district, or political subdivision established by the state for 

all meetings occurring on or after January 1, 2019. 

(iii) The current agenda of the legislative body of a city, county, city and 

county, special district, school district, or political subdivision established 
by the state shall be the first agenda available at the top of the integrated 

agenda management platform. 

(iv) All agendas posted in the integrated agenda management platform 

shall comply with the requirements in clauses (i), (ii), and (iii) of 
subparagraph (B). 

(D) For the purposes of this paragraph, both of the following definitions shall 
apply: 

(i) “Integrated agenda management platform” means an internet website 
of a city, county, city and county, special district, school district, or political 

subdivision established by the state dedicated to providing the entirety of 
the agenda information for the legislative body of the city, county, city and 
county, special district, school district, or political subdivision established 

by the state to the public. 

(ii) “Legislative body” has the same meaning as that term is used in 

subdivision (a) of Section 54952. 

(E) The provisions of this paragraph shall not apply to a political subdivision of 

a local agency that was established by the legislative body of the city, county, 
city and county, special district, school district, or political subdivision 

established by the state. 



 
(3) No action or discussion shall be undertaken on any item not appearing on the 

posted agenda, except that members of a legislative body or its staff may briefly 
respond to statements made or questions posed by persons exercising their 

public testimony rights under Section 54954.3. In addition, on their own initiative 
or in response to questions posed by the public, a member of a legislative body 

or its staff may ask a question for clarification, make a brief announcement, or 
make a brief report on their own activities. Furthermore, a member of a 

legislative body, or the body itself, subject to rules or procedures of the 
legislative body, may provide a reference to staff or other resources for factual 
information, request staff to report back to the body at a subsequent meeting 

concerning any matter, or take action to direct staff to place a matter of business 
on a future agenda. 

(b) Notwithstanding subdivision (a), the legislative body may take action on items 
of business not appearing on the posted agenda under any of the conditions stated 

below. Prior to discussing any item pursuant to this subdivision, the legislative body 
shall publicly identify the item. 

(1) Upon a determination by a majority vote of the legislative body that an 
emergency situation exists, as defined in Section 54956.5. 

(2) Upon a determination by a two-thirds vote of the members of the legislative 
body present at the meeting, or, if less than two-thirds of the members are 

present, a unanimous vote of those members present, that there is a need to 
take immediate action and that the need for action came to the attention of the 

local agency subsequent to the agenda being posted as specified in subdivision 
(a). 

(3) The item was posted pursuant to subdivision (a) for a prior meeting of the 
legislative body occurring not more than five calendar days prior to the date 

action is taken on the item, and at the prior meeting the item was continued to 
the meeting at which action is being taken. 

(4) To consider action on a request from a member to participate in a meeting 

remotely due to emergency circumstances, pursuant to Section 54953, if the 
request does not allow sufficient time to place the proposed action on the posted 

agenda for the meeting for which the request is made. The legislative body may 
approve such a request by a majority vote of the legislative body. 

(c) This section is necessary to implement and reasonably within the scope of 
paragraph (1) of subdivision (b) of Section 3 of Article I of the California 

Constitution. 
(d) For purposes of subdivision (a), the requirement that the agenda be posted on 

the local agency’s internet website, if the local agency has one, shall only apply to a 
legislative body that meets either of the following standards: 

(1) A legislative body as that term is defined by subdivision (a) of Section 54952. 



 
(2) A legislative body as that term is defined by subdivision (b) of Section 54952, 

if the members of the legislative body are compensated for their appearance, and 
if one or more of the members of the legislative body are also members of a 

legislative body as that term is defined by subdivision (a) of Section 54952. 

(e) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2026, and as of that 

date is repealed. 
(Amended (as amended by Stats. 2022, Ch. 285, Sec. 4) by Stats. 2023, Ch. 131, Sec. 91. (AB 1754) Effective 

January 1, 2024. Repealed as of January 1, 2026, by its own provisions. See later operative version, as amended 

by Sec. 92 of Stats. 2023, Ch. 131.) 

54954.2. 
(a) (1) At least 72 hours before a regular meeting, the legislative body of the local 

agency, or its designee, shall post an agenda containing a brief general description 
of each item of business to be transacted or discussed at the meeting, including 

items to be discussed in closed session. A brief general description of an item 
generally need not exceed 20 words. The agenda shall specify the time and location 

of the regular meeting and shall be posted in a location that is freely accessible to 
members of the public and on the local agency’s internet website, if the local 

agency has one. If requested, the agenda shall be made available in appropriate 
alternative formats to persons with a disability, as required by Section 202 of the 

Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. Sec. 12132), and the federal 
rules and regulations adopted in implementation thereof. The agenda shall include 
information regarding how, to whom, and when a request for disability-related 

modification or accommodation, including auxiliary aids or services, may be made 
by a person with a disability who requires a modification or accommodation in order 

to participate in the public meeting. 
(2) For a meeting occurring on and after January 1, 2019, of a legislative body of 

a city, county, city and county, special district, school district, or political 
subdivision established by the state that has an internet website, the following 

provisions shall apply: 

(A) An online posting of an agenda shall be posted on the primary internet 

website home page of a city, county, city and county, special district, school 
district, or political subdivision established by the state that is accessible 

through a prominent, direct link to the current agenda. The direct link to the 
agenda shall not be in a contextual menu; however, a link in addition to the 

direct link to the agenda may be accessible through a contextual menu. 

(B) An online posting of an agenda, including, but not limited to, an agenda 

posted in an integrated agenda management platform, shall be posted in an 
open format that meets all of the following requirements: 

(i) Retrievable, downloadable, indexable, and electronically searchable by 
commonly used internet search applications. 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54954.2.','6.2.1.22','2023','131','92',%20'id_1becd173-8565-11ee-bcfe-9f16e66157a6')


 
(ii) Platform independent and machine readable. 

(iii) Available to the public free of charge and without any restriction that 
would impede the reuse or redistribution of the agenda. 

(C) A legislative body of a city, county, city and county, special district, school 
district, or political subdivision established by the state that has an internet 

website and an integrated agenda management platform shall not be required 
to comply with subparagraph (A) if all of the following are met: 

(i) A direct link to the integrated agenda management platform shall be 
posted on the primary internet website home page of a city, county, city 
and county, special district, school district, or political subdivision 

established by the state. The direct link to the integrated agenda 
management platform shall not be in a contextual menu. When a person 

clicks on the direct link to the integrated agenda management platform, 
the direct link shall take the person directly to an internet website with the 

agendas of the legislative body of a city, county, city and county, special 
district, school district, or political subdivision established by the state. 

(ii) The integrated agenda management platform may contain the prior 
agendas of a legislative body of a city, county, city and county, special 

district, school district, or political subdivision established by the state for 
all meetings occurring on or after January 1, 2019. 

(iii) The current agenda of the legislative body of a city, county, city and 
county, special district, school district, or political subdivision established 

by the state shall be the first agenda available at the top of the integrated 
agenda management platform. 

(iv) All agendas posted in the integrated agenda management platform 
shall comply with the requirements in clauses (i), (ii), and (iii) of 

subparagraph (B). 

(D) For the purposes of this paragraph, both of the following definitions shall 
apply: 

(i) “Integrated agenda management platform” means an internet website 
of a city, county, city and county, special district, school district, or political 

subdivision established by the state dedicated to providing the entirety of 
the agenda information for the legislative body of the city, county, city and 

county, special district, school district, or political subdivision established 
by the state to the public. 

(ii) “Legislative body” has the same meaning as that term is used in 
subdivision (a) of Section 54952. 



 
(E) The provisions of this paragraph shall not apply to a political subdivision of 

a local agency that was established by the legislative body of the city, county, 
city and county, special district, school district, or political subdivision 

established by the state. 

(3) No action or discussion shall be undertaken on any item not appearing on the 

posted agenda, except that members of a legislative body or its staff may briefly 
respond to statements made or questions posed by persons exercising their 

public testimony rights under Section 54954.3. In addition, on their own initiative 
or in response to questions posed by the public, a member of a legislative body 
or its staff may ask a question for clarification, make a brief announcement, or 

make a brief report on their own activities. Furthermore, a member of a 
legislative body, or the body itself, subject to rules or procedures of the 

legislative body, may provide a reference to staff or other resources for factual 
information, request staff to report back to the body at a subsequent meeting 

concerning any matter, or take action to direct staff to place a matter of business 
on a future agenda. 

(b) Notwithstanding subdivision (a), the legislative body may take action on items 
of business not appearing on the posted agenda under any of the conditions stated 

below. Prior to discussing any item pursuant to this subdivision, the legislative body 
shall publicly identify the item. 

(1) Upon a determination by a majority vote of the legislative body that an 
emergency situation exists, as defined in Section 54956.5. 

(2) Upon a determination by a two-thirds vote of the members of the legislative 
body present at the meeting, or, if less than two-thirds of the members are 

present, a unanimous vote of those members present, that there is a need to 
take immediate action and that the need for action came to the attention of the 

local agency subsequent to the agenda being posted as specified in subdivision 
(a). 

(3) The item was posted pursuant to subdivision (a) for a prior meeting of the 

legislative body occurring not more than five calendar days prior to the date 
action is taken on the item, and at the prior meeting the item was continued to 

the meeting at which action is being taken. 

(c) This section is necessary to implement and reasonably within the scope of 

paragraph (1) of subdivision (b) of Section 3 of Article I of the California 
Constitution. 

(d) For purposes of subdivision (a), the requirement that the agenda be posted on 
the local agency’s internet website, if the local agency has one, shall only apply to a 

legislative body that meets either of the following standards: 
(1) A legislative body as that term is defined by subdivision (a) of Section 54952. 



 
(2) A legislative body as that term is defined by subdivision (b) of Section 54952, 

if the members of the legislative body are compensated for their appearance, and 
if one or more of the members of the legislative body are also members of a 

legislative body as that term is defined by subdivision (a) of Section 54952. 

(e) This section shall become operative January 1, 2026. 
(Amended (as added by Stats. 2022, Ch. 285, Sec. 5) by Stats. 2023, Ch. 131, Sec. 92. (AB 1754) Effective January 

1, 2024. Operative January 1, 2026, by its own provisions.) 

54954.3. 
(a) Every agenda for regular meetings shall provide an opportunity for members of 
the public to directly address the legislative body on any item of interest to the 

public, before or during the legislative body’s consideration of the item, that is 
within the subject matter jurisdiction of the legislative body, provided that no action 

shall be taken on any item not appearing on the agenda unless the action is 
otherwise authorized by subdivision (b) of Section 54954.2. However, the agenda 

need not provide an opportunity for members of the public to address the 
legislative body on any item that has already been considered by a committee, 

composed exclusively of members of the legislative body, at a public meeting 
wherein all interested members of the public were afforded the opportunity to 

address the committee on the item, before or during the committee’s consideration 
of the item, unless the item has been substantially changed since the committee 
heard the item, as determined by the legislative body. Every notice for a special 

meeting shall provide an opportunity for members of the public to directly address 
the legislative body concerning any item that has been described in the notice for 

the meeting before or during consideration of that item. 
(b) (1) The legislative body of a local agency may adopt reasonable regulations to 

ensure that the intent of subdivision (a) is carried out, including, but not limited to, 
regulations limiting the total amount of time allocated for public testimony on 

particular issues and for each individual speaker. 
(2) Notwithstanding paragraph (1), when the legislative body of a local agency 

limits time for public comment, the legislative body of a local agency shall provide 
at least twice the allotted time to a member of the public who utilizes a translator 

to ensure that non-English speakers receive the same opportunity to directly 
address the legislative body of a local agency. 

(3) Paragraph (2) shall not apply if the legislative body of a local agency utilizes 
simultaneous translation equipment in a manner that allows the legislative body 

of a local agency to hear the translated public testimony simultaneously. 

(c) The legislative body of a local agency shall not prohibit public criticism of the 

policies, procedures, programs, or services of the agency, or of the acts or 
omissions of the legislative body. Nothing in this subdivision shall confer any 
privilege or protection for expression beyond that otherwise provided by law. 
(Amended by Stats. 2016, Ch. 507, Sec. 1. (AB 1787) Effective January 1, 2017.) 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54954.3.','6.2.1.22','2016','507','1',%20'id_39f40842-bbf3-11e6-bdd8-d5db002bdb48')


 
54954.4. 
(a) The Legislature hereby finds and declares that Section 12 of Chapter 641 of the 

Statutes of 1986, authorizing reimbursement to local agencies and school districts 
for costs mandated by the state pursuant to that act, shall be interpreted strictly. 

The intent of the Legislature is to provide reimbursement for only those costs which 
are clearly and unequivocally incurred as the direct and necessary result of 

compliance with Chapter 641 of the Statutes of 1986. 
(b) In this regard, the Legislature directs all state employees and officials involved 

in reviewing or authorizing claims for reimbursement, or otherwise participating in 
the reimbursement process, to rigorously review each claim and authorize only 

those claims, or parts thereof, which represent costs which are clearly and 
unequivocally incurred as the direct and necessary result of compliance with 

Chapter 641 of the Statutes of 1986 and for which complete documentation exists. 
For purposes of Section 54954.2, costs eligible for reimbursement shall only include 

the actual cost to post a single agenda for any one meeting. 
(c) The Legislature hereby finds and declares that complete, faithful, and 

uninterrupted compliance with the Ralph M. Brown Act (Chapter 9 (commencing 
with Section 54950) of Part 1 of Division 2 of Title 5 of the Government Code) is a 
matter of overriding public importance. Unless specifically stated, no future Budget 

Act, or related budget enactments, shall, in any manner, be interpreted to suspend, 
eliminate, or otherwise modify the legal obligation and duty of local agencies to 

fully comply with Chapter 641 of the Statutes of 1986 in a complete, faithful, and 
uninterrupted manner. 
(Added by Stats. 1991, Ch. 238, Sec. 1.) 

54954.5. 
For purposes of describing closed session items pursuant to Section 54954.2, the 

agenda may describe closed sessions as provided below. No legislative body or 
elected official shall be in violation of Section 54954.2 or 54956 if the closed 
session items were described in substantial compliance with this section. 

Substantial compliance is satisfied by including the information provided below, 
irrespective of its format. 

(a) With respect to a closed session held pursuant to Section 54956.7: 
LICENSE/PERMIT DETERMINATION 

Applicant(s): (Specify number of applicants) 
(b) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session 

pursuant to Section 54956.8: 
CONFERENCE WITH REAL PROPERTY NEGOTIATORS 

Property: (Specify street address, or if no street address, the parcel number or 
other unique reference, of the real property under negotiation) 

Agency negotiator: (Specify names of negotiators attending the closed session) (If 
circumstances necessitate the absence of a specified negotiator, an agent or 

designee may participate in place of the absent negotiator so long as the name of 
the agent or designee is announced at an open session held prior to the closed 

session.) 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54954.4.','6.2.1.22','1991','238','1',%20'id_c28cc2dd-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54954.5.','6.2.1.22','2012','759','6.1',%20'id_73fbe4ee-4e0f-11e2-bece-f6c402701ba4')


 
Negotiating parties: (Specify name of party (not agent)) 

Under negotiation: (Specify whether instruction to negotiator will concern price, 
terms of payment, or both) 

(c) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session 
pursuant to Section 54956.9: 

CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL—EXISTING LITIGATION 
(Paragraph (1) of subdivision (d) of Section 54956.9) 

Name of case: (Specify by reference to claimant’s name, names of parties, case or 
claim numbers) 
or 

Case name unspecified: (Specify whether disclosure would jeopardize service of 
process or existing settlement negotiations) 

CONFERENCE WITH LEGAL COUNSEL—ANTICIPATED LITIGATION 
Significant exposure to litigation pursuant to paragraph (2) or (3) of subdivision (d) 

of Section 54956.9: (Specify number of potential cases) 
(In addition to the information noticed above, the agency may be required to 

provide additional information on the agenda or in an oral statement prior to the 
closed session pursuant to paragraphs (2) to (5), inclusive, of subdivision (e) of 

Section 54956.9.) 
Initiation of litigation pursuant to paragraph (4) of subdivision (d) of Section 

54956.9: (Specify number of potential cases) 
(d) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session 

pursuant to Section 54956.95: 
LIABILITY CLAIMS 

Claimant: (Specify name unless unspecified pursuant to Section 54961) 
Agency claimed against: (Specify name) 

(e) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session 
pursuant to Section 54957: 
THREAT TO PUBLIC SERVICES OR FACILITIES 

Consultation with: (Specify name of law enforcement agency and title of officer, or 
name of applicable agency representative and title) 

PUBLIC EMPLOYEE APPOINTMENT 
Title: (Specify description of position to be filled) 

PUBLIC EMPLOYMENT 
Title: (Specify description of position to be filled) 

PUBLIC EMPLOYEE PERFORMANCE EVALUATION 
Title: (Specify position title of employee being reviewed) 

PUBLIC EMPLOYEE DISCIPLINE/DISMISSAL/RELEASE 
(No additional information is required in connection with a closed session to 

consider discipline, dismissal, or release of a public employee. Discipline includes 
potential reduction of compensation.) 

(f) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session 
pursuant to Section 54957.6: 

CONFERENCE WITH LABOR NEGOTIATORS 



 
Agency designated representatives: (Specify names of designated representatives 

attending the closed session) (If circumstances necessitate the absence of a 
specified designated representative, an agent or designee may participate in place 

of the absent representative so long as the name of the agent or designee is 
announced at an open session held prior to the closed session.) 

Employee organization: (Specify name of organization representing employee or 
employees in question) 

or 
Unrepresented employee: (Specify position title of unrepresented employee who is 
the subject of the negotiations) 

(g) With respect to closed sessions called pursuant to Section 54957.8: 
CASE REVIEW/PLANNING 

(No additional information is required in connection with a closed session to 
consider case review or planning.) 

(h) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session 
pursuant to Sections 1461, 32106, and 32155 of the Health and Safety Code or 

Sections 37606 and 37624.3 of the Government Code: 
REPORT INVOLVING TRADE SECRET 

Discussion will concern: (Specify whether discussion will concern proposed new 
service, program, or facility) 

Estimated date of public disclosure: (Specify month and year) 
HEARINGS 

Subject matter: (Specify whether testimony/deliberation will concern staff 
privileges, report of medical audit committee, or report of quality assurance 

committee) 
(i) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session 

pursuant to Section 54956.86: 
CHARGE OR COMPLAINT INVOLVING INFORMATION PROTECTED BY FEDERAL LAW 
(No additional information is required in connection with a closed session to discuss 

a charge or complaint pursuant to Section 54956.86.) 
(j) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session 

pursuant to Section 54956.96: 
CONFERENCE INVOLVING A JOINT POWERS AGENCY (Specify by name) 

Discussion will concern: (Specify closed session description used by the joint 
powers agency) 

Name of local agency representative on joint powers agency board: (Specify name) 
(Additional information listing the names of agencies or titles of representatives 

attending the closed session as consultants or other representatives.) 
(k) With respect to every item of business to be discussed in closed session 

pursuant to Section 54956.75: 
AUDIT BY CALIFORNIA STATE AUDITOR’S OFFICE 
(Amended by Stats. 2012, Ch. 759, Sec. 6.1. (AB 2690) Effective January 1, 2013.) 

54954.6. 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54954.6.','6.2.1.22','2011','382','3.5',%20'id_87a42b29-22df-11e1-b409-d59fe8a0aa9b')


 
(a) (1) Before adopting any new or increased general tax or any new or increased 

assessment, the legislative body of a local agency shall conduct at least one public 
meeting at which local officials shall allow public testimony regarding the proposed 

new or increased general tax or new or increased assessment in addition to the 
noticed public hearing at which the legislative body proposes to enact or increase 

the general tax or assessment. 
For purposes of this section, the term “new or increased assessment” does not 

include any of the following: 
(A) A fee that does not exceed the reasonable cost of providing the services, 
facilities, or regulatory activity for which the fee is charged. 

(B) A service charge, rate, or charge, unless a special district’s principal act 
requires the service charge, rate, or charge to conform to the requirements of 

this section. 

(C) An ongoing annual assessment if it is imposed at the same or lower 

amount as any previous year. 

(D) An assessment that does not exceed an assessment formula or range of 

assessments previously specified in the notice given to the public pursuant to 
subparagraph (G) of paragraph (2) of subdivision (c) and that was previously 

adopted by the agency or approved by the voters in the area where the 
assessment is imposed. 

(E) Standby or immediate availability charges. 

(2) The legislative body shall provide at least 45 days’ public notice of the public 

hearing at which the legislative body proposes to enact or increase the general 
tax or assessment. The legislative body shall provide notice for the public 

meeting at the same time and in the same document as the notice for the public 
hearing, but the meeting shall occur prior to the hearing. 

(b) (1) The joint notice of both the public meeting and the public hearing required 
by subdivision (a) with respect to a proposal for a new or increased general tax 
shall be accomplished by placing a display advertisement of at least one-eighth 

page in a newspaper of general circulation for three weeks pursuant to Section 
6063 and by a first-class mailing to those interested parties who have filed a 

written request with the local agency for mailed notice of public meetings or 
hearings on new or increased general taxes. The public meeting pursuant to 

subdivision (a) shall take place no earlier than 10 days after the first publication of 
the joint notice pursuant to this subdivision. The public hearing shall take place no 

earlier than seven days after the public meeting pursuant to this subdivision. 
Notwithstanding paragraph (2) of subdivision (a), the joint notice need not include 

notice of the public meeting after the meeting has taken place. The public hearing 
pursuant to subdivision (a) shall take place no earlier than 45 days after the first 

publication of the joint notice pursuant to this subdivision. Any written request for 



 
mailed notices shall be effective for one year from the date on which it is filed 

unless a renewal request is filed. Renewal requests for mailed notices shall be filed 
on or before April 1 of each year. The legislative body may establish a reasonable 

annual charge for sending notices based on the estimated cost of providing the 
service. 

(2) The notice required by paragraph (1) of this subdivision shall include, but not 
be limited to, the following: 

(A) The amount or rate of the tax. If the tax is proposed to be increased from 
any previous year, the joint notice shall separately state both the existing tax 
rate and the proposed tax rate increase. 

(B) The activity to be taxed. 

(C) The estimated amount of revenue to be raised by the tax annually. 

(D) The method and frequency for collecting the tax. 

(E) The dates, times, and locations of the public meeting and hearing 

described in subdivision (a). 

(F) The telephone number and address of an individual, office, or organization 

that interested persons may contact to receive additional information about 
the tax. 

(c) (1) The joint notice of both the public meeting and the public hearing required 
by subdivision (a) with respect to a proposal for a new or increased assessment on 

real property or businesses shall be accomplished through a mailing, postage 
prepaid, in the United States mail and shall be deemed given when so deposited. 

The public meeting pursuant to subdivision (a) shall take place no earlier than 10 
days after the joint mailing pursuant to this subdivision. The public hearing shall 

take place no earlier than seven days after the public meeting pursuant to this 
subdivision. The envelope or the cover of the mailing shall include the name of the 

local agency and the return address of the sender. This mailed notice shall be in at 
least 10-point type and shall be given to all property owners or business owners 
proposed to be subject to the new or increased assessment by a mailing by name 

to those persons whose names and addresses appear on the last equalized county 
assessment roll, the State Board of Equalization assessment roll, or the local 

agency’s records pertaining to business ownership, as the case may be. 
(2) The joint notice required by paragraph (1) of this subdivision shall include, 

but not be limited to, the following: 

(A) In the case of an assessment proposed to be levied on property, the 

estimated amount of the assessment per parcel. In the case of an assessment 
proposed to be levied on businesses, the proposed method and basis of 

levying the assessment in sufficient detail to allow each business owner to 



 
calculate the amount of assessment to be levied against each business. If the 

assessment is proposed to be increased from any previous year, the joint 
notice shall separately state both the amount of the existing assessment and 

the proposed assessment increase. 

(B) A general description of the purpose or improvements that the assessment 

will fund. 

(C) The address to which property owners may mail a protest against the 

assessment. 

(D) The telephone number and address of an individual, office, or organization 
that interested persons may contact to receive additional information about 

the assessment. 

(E) A statement that a majority protest will cause the assessment to be 

abandoned if the assessment act used to levy the assessment so provides. 
Notice shall also state the percentage of protests required to trigger an 

election, if applicable. 

(F) The dates, times, and locations of the public meeting and hearing 

described in subdivision (a). 

(G) A proposed assessment formula or range as described in subparagraph 

(D) of paragraph (1) of subdivision (a) if applicable and that is noticed 
pursuant to this section. 

(3) Notwithstanding paragraph (1), in the case of an assessment that is proposed 
exclusively for operation and maintenance expenses imposed throughout the 

entire local agency, or exclusively for operation and maintenance assessments 
proposed to be levied on 50,000 parcels or more, notice may be provided 

pursuant to this subdivision or pursuant to paragraph (1) of subdivision (b) and 
shall include the estimated amount of the assessment of various types, amounts, 

or uses of property and the information required by subparagraphs (B) to (G), 
inclusive, of paragraph (2) of subdivision (c). 

(4) Notwithstanding paragraph (1), in the case of an assessment proposed to be 

levied pursuant to Part 2 (commencing with Section 22500) of Division 2 of the 
Streets and Highways Code by a regional park district, regional park and open-

space district, or regional open-space district formed pursuant to Article 3 
(commencing with Section 5500) of Chapter 3 of Division 5 of, or pursuant to 

Division 26 (commencing with Section 35100) of, the Public Resources Code, 
notice may be provided pursuant to paragraph (1) of subdivision (b). 

(d) The notice requirements imposed by this section shall be construed as 
additional to, and not to supersede, existing provisions of law, and shall be applied 



 
concurrently with the existing provisions so as to not delay or prolong the 

governmental decisionmaking process. 
(e) This section shall not apply to any new or increased general tax or any new or 

increased assessment that requires an election of either of the following: 
(1) The property owners subject to the assessment. 

(2) The voters within the local agency imposing the tax or assessment. 

(f) Nothing in this section shall prohibit a local agency from holding a consolidated 

meeting or hearing at which the legislative body discusses multiple tax or 
assessment proposals. 
(g) The local agency may recover the reasonable costs of public meetings, public 

hearings, and notice required by this section from the proceeds of the tax or 
assessment. The costs recovered for these purposes, whether recovered pursuant 

to this subdivision or any other provision of law, shall not exceed the reasonable 
costs of the public meetings, public hearings, and notice. 

(h) Any new or increased assessment that is subject to the notice and hearing 

provisions of Article XIII C or XIII D of the California Constitution is not subject to 
the notice and hearing requirements of this section. 
(Amended by Stats. 2011, Ch. 382, Sec. 3.5. (SB 194) Effective January 1, 2012.) 

54955. 
The legislative body of a local agency may adjourn any regular, adjourned regular, 
special or adjourned special meeting to a time and place specified in the order of 
adjournment. Less than a quorum may so adjourn from time to time. If all 

members are absent from any regular or adjourned regular meeting the clerk or 
secretary of the legislative body may declare the meeting adjourned to a stated 

time and place and he shall cause a written notice of the adjournment to be given 
in the same manner as provided in Section 54956 for special meetings, unless such 

notice is waived as provided for special meetings. A copy of the order or notice of 
adjournment shall be conspicuously posted on or near the door of the place where 

the regular, adjourned regular, special or adjourned special meeting was held 
within 24 hours after the time of the adjournment. When a regular or adjourned 

regular meeting is adjourned as provided in this section, the resulting adjourned 
regular meeting is a regular meeting for all purposes. When an order of 

adjournment of any meeting fails to state the hour at which the adjourned meeting 
is to be held, it shall be held at the hour specified for regular meetings by 

ordinance, resolution, bylaw, or other rule. 
(Amended by Stats. 1959, Ch. 647.) 

54955.1. 
Any hearing being held, or noticed or ordered to be held, by a legislative body of a 

local agency at any meeting may by order or notice of continuance be continued or 
recontinued to any subsequent meeting of the legislative body in the same manner 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54955.','6.2.1.22','1959','647','',%20'id_c28e4983-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54955.1.','6.2.1.22','1965','469','',%20'id_c28e4985-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')


 
and to the same extent set forth in Section 54955 for the adjournment of meetings; 

provided, that if the hearing is continued to a time less than 24 hours after the time 
specified in the order or notice of hearing, a copy of the order or notice of 

continuance of hearing shall be posted immediately following the meeting at which 
the order or declaration of continuance was adopted or made. 
(Added by Stats. 1965, Ch. 469.) 

54956. 
(a) A special meeting may be called at any time by the presiding officer of the 
legislative body of a local agency, or by a majority of the members of the legislative 

body, by delivering written notice to each member of the legislative body and to 
each local newspaper of general circulation and radio or television station 

requesting notice in writing and posting a notice on the local agency’s Internet Web 
site, if the local agency has one. The notice shall be delivered personally or by any 

other means and shall be received at least 24 hours before the time of the meeting 
as specified in the notice. The call and notice shall specify the time and place of the 

special meeting and the business to be transacted or discussed. No other business 
shall be considered at these meetings by the legislative body. The written notice 

may be dispensed with as to any member who at or prior to the time the meeting 
convenes files with the clerk or secretary of the legislative body a written waiver of 
notice. The waiver may be given by telegram. The written notice may also be 

dispensed with as to any member who is actually present at the meeting at the 
time it convenes. 

The call and notice shall be posted at least 24 hours prior to the special meeting in 
a location that is freely accessible to members of the public. 

(b) Notwithstanding any other law, a legislative body shall not call a special 
meeting regarding the salaries, salary schedules, or compensation paid in the form 

of fringe benefits, of a local agency executive, as defined in subdivision (d) of 
Section 3511.1. However, this subdivision does not apply to a local agency calling a 

special meeting to discuss the local agency’s budget. 
(c) For purposes of subdivision (a), the requirement that the agenda be posted on 

the local agency’s Internet Web site, if the local agency has one, shall only apply to 
a legislative body that meets either of the following standards: 

(1) A legislative body as that term is defined by subdivision (a) of Section 54952. 

(2) A legislative body as that term is defined by subdivision (b) of Section 54952, 

if the members of the legislative body are compensated for their appearance, and 
if one or more of the members of the legislative body are also members of a 

legislative body as that term is defined by subdivision (a) of Section 54952. 

(Amended by Stats. 2011, Ch. 692, Sec. 9. (AB 1344) Effective January 1, 2012.) 

54956.5. 
(a) For purposes of this section, “emergency situation” means both of the following: 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.','6.2.1.22','2011','692','9',%20'id_a14c778b-22df-11e1-b409-d59fe8a0aa9b')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.7.','6.2.1.22','1982','298','1',%20'id_c28fd02d-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')


 
(1) An emergency, which shall be defined as a work stoppage, crippling activity, 

or other activity that severely impairs public health, safety, or both, as 
determined by a majority of the members of the legislative body. 

(2) A dire emergency, which shall be defined as a crippling disaster, mass 
destruction, terrorist act, or threatened terrorist activity that poses peril so 

immediate and significant that requiring a legislative body to provide one-hour 
notice before holding an emergency meeting under this section may endanger the 

public health, safety, or both, as determined by a majority of the members of the 
legislative body. 

(b) (1) Subject to paragraph (2), in the case of an emergency situation involving 

matters upon which prompt action is necessary due to the disruption or threatened 
disruption of public facilities, a legislative body may hold an emergency meeting 

without complying with either the 24-hour notice requirement or the 24-hour 
posting requirement of Section 54956 or both of the notice and posting 

requirements. 
(2) Each local newspaper of general circulation and radio or television station that 

has requested notice of special meetings pursuant to Section 54956 shall be 
notified by the presiding officer of the legislative body, or designee thereof, one 

hour prior to the emergency meeting, or, in the case of a dire emergency, at or 
near the time that the presiding officer or designee notifies the members of the 

legislative body of the emergency meeting. This notice shall be given by 
telephone and all telephone numbers provided in the most recent request of a 

newspaper or station for notification of special meetings shall be exhausted. In 
the event that telephone services are not functioning, the notice requirements of 

this section shall be deemed waived, and the legislative body, or designee of the 
legislative body, shall notify those newspapers, radio stations, or television 

stations of the fact of the holding of the emergency meeting, the purpose of the 
meeting, and any action taken at the meeting as soon after the meeting as 
possible. 

(c) During a meeting held pursuant to this section, the legislative body may meet in 
closed session pursuant to Section 54957 if agreed to by a two-thirds vote of the 

members of the legislative body present, or, if less than two-thirds of the members 
are present, by a unanimous vote of the members present. 

(d) All special meeting requirements, as prescribed in Section 54956 shall be 
applicable to a meeting called pursuant to this section, with the exception of the 

24-hour notice requirement. 
(e) The minutes of a meeting called pursuant to this section, a list of persons who 

the presiding officer of the legislative body, or designee of the legislative body, 
notified or attempted to notify, a copy of the rollcall vote, and any actions taken at 

the meeting shall be posted for a minimum of 10 days in a public place as soon 
after the meeting as possible. 
(Amended by Stats. 2002, Ch. 175, Sec. 2. Effective January 1, 2003.) 



 
54956.6. 
No fees may be charged by the legislative body of a local agency for carrying out 

any provision of this chapter, except as specifically authorized by this chapter. 
(Added by Stats. 1980, Ch. 1284.) 

54956.7. 
Whenever a legislative body of a local agency determines that it is necessary to 
discuss and determine whether an applicant for a license or license renewal, who 
has a criminal record, is sufficiently rehabilitated to obtain the license, the 

legislative body may hold a closed session with the applicant and the applicant’s 
attorney, if any, for the purpose of holding the discussion and making the 

determination. If the legislative body determines, as a result of the closed session, 
that the issuance or renewal of the license should be denied, the applicant shall be 

offered the opportunity to withdraw the application. If the applicant withdraws the 
application, no record shall be kept of the discussions or decisions made at the 

closed session and all matters relating to the closed session shall be confidential. If 
the applicant does not withdraw the application, the legislative body shall take 

action at the public meeting during which the closed session is held or at its next 
public meeting denying the application for the license but all matters relating to the 

closed session are confidential and shall not be disclosed without the consent of the 
applicant, except in an action by an applicant who has been denied a license 

challenging the denial of the license. 
(Added by Stats. 1982, Ch. 298, Sec. 1.) 

54956.75. 
(a) Nothing contained in this chapter shall be construed to prevent the legislative 

body of a local agency that has received a confidential final draft audit report from 
the Bureau of State Audits from holding closed sessions to discuss its response to 

that report. 
(b) After the public release of an audit report by the Bureau of State Audits, if a 

legislative body of a local agency meets to discuss the audit report, it shall do so in 
an open session unless exempted from that requirement by some other provision of 

law. 
(Added by Stats. 2004, Ch. 576, Sec. 4. Effective January 1, 2005.) 

54956.8. 
Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, a legislative body of a local 

agency may hold a closed session with its negotiator prior to the purchase, sale, 
exchange, or lease of real property by or for the local agency to grant authority to 

its negotiator regarding the price and terms of payment for the purchase, sale, 
exchange, or lease. 

However, prior to the closed session, the legislative body of the local agency shall 
hold an open and public session in which it identifies its negotiators, the real 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.7.','6.2.1.22','1982','298','1',%20'id_c28fd02d-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.7.','6.2.1.22','1982','298','1',%20'id_c28fd02d-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.75.','6.2.1.22','2004','576','4',%20'id_e45db29b-6513-11d9-bd15-b3cbb5da6f1d')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.8.','6.2.1.22','1998','260','3',%20'id_c29156cf-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')


 
property or real properties which the negotiations may concern, and the person or 

persons with whom its negotiators may negotiate. 
For purposes of this section, negotiators may be members of the legislative body of 

the local agency. 
For purposes of this section, “lease” includes renewal or renegotiation of a lease. 

Nothing in this section shall preclude a local agency from holding a closed session 
for discussions regarding eminent domain proceedings pursuant to Section 

54956.9. 
(Amended by Stats. 1998, Ch. 260, Sec. 3. Effective January 1, 1999.) 

54956.81. 
Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, a legislative body of a local 

agency that invests pension funds may hold a closed session to consider the 
purchase or sale of particular, specific pension fund investments. All investment 

transaction decisions made during the closed session shall be made by rollcall vote 
entered into the minutes of the closed session as provided in subdivision (a) of 

Section 54957.2. 
(Added by Stats. 2004, Ch. 533, Sec. 20. Effective January 1, 2005.) 

54956.86. 
Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, a legislative body of a local 

agency which provides services pursuant to Section 14087.3 of the Welfare and 
Institutions Code may hold a closed session to hear a charge or complaint from a 

member enrolled in its health plan if the member does not wish to have his or her 
name, medical status, or other information that is protected by federal law publicly 

disclosed. Prior to holding a closed session pursuant to this section, the legislative 
body shall inform the member, in writing, of his or her right to have the charge or 

complaint heard in an open session rather than a closed session. 
(Added by Stats. 1996, Ch. 182, Sec. 2. Effective January 1, 1997.) 

54956.87. 
(a) Notwithstanding any other provision of this chapter, the records of a health plan 

that is licensed pursuant to the Knox-Keene Health Care Service Plan Act of 1975 
(Chapter 2.2 (commencing with Section 1340) of Division 2 of the Health and 

Safety Code) and that is governed by a county board of supervisors, whether paper 
records, records maintained in the management information system, or records in 

any other form, that relate to provider rate or payment determinations, allocation 
or distribution methodologies for provider payments, formulas or calculations for 

these payments, and contract negotiations with providers of health care for 
alternative rates are exempt from disclosure for a period of three years after the 
contract is fully executed. The transmission of the records, or the information 

contained therein in an alternative form, to the board of supervisors shall not 
constitute a waiver of exemption from disclosure, and the records and information 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.81.','6.2.1.22','2004','533','20',%20'id_e4f0f1ed-6513-11d9-bd15-b3cbb5da6f1d')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.86.','6.2.1.22','1996','182','2',%20'id_c29156d1-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.87.','6.2.1.22','2015','190','65',%20'id_1893f623-9f9d-11e5-bacb-c9b7c1eb246b')


 
once transmitted to the board of supervisors shall be subject to this same 

exemption. 
(b) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the governing board of a health 

plan that is licensed pursuant to the Knox-Keene Health Care Service Plan Act of 
1975 (Chapter 2.2 (commencing with Section 1340) of Division 2 of the Health and 

Safety Code) and that is governed by a county board of supervisors may order that 
a meeting held solely for the purpose of discussion or taking action on health plan 

trade secrets, as defined in subdivision (f), shall be held in closed session. The 
requirements of making a public report of action taken in closed session, and the 
vote or abstention of every member present, may be limited to a brief general 

description without the information constituting the trade secret. 
(c) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the governing board of a health 

plan may meet in closed session to consider and take action on matters pertaining 
to contracts and contract negotiations by the health plan with providers of health 

care services concerning all matters related to rates of payment. The governing 
board may delete the portion or portions containing trade secrets from any 

documents that were finally approved in the closed session held pursuant to 
subdivision (b) that are provided to persons who have made the timely or standing 

request. 
(d) Nothing in this section shall be construed as preventing the governing board 

from meeting in closed session as otherwise provided by law. 
(e) The provisions of this section shall not prevent access to any records by the 

Joint Legislative Audit Committee in the exercise of its powers pursuant to Article 1 
(commencing with Section 10500) of Chapter 4 of Part 2 of Division 2 of Title 2. 

The provisions of this section also shall not prevent access to any records by the 
Department of Managed Health Care in the exercise of its powers pursuant to 

Article 1 (commencing with Section 1340) of Chapter 2.2 of Division 2 of the Health 
and Safety Code. 
(f) For purposes of this section, “health plan trade secret” means a trade secret, as 

defined in subdivision (d) of Section 3426.1 of the Civil Code, that also meets both 
of the following criteria: 

(1) The secrecy of the information is necessary for the health plan to initiate a 
new service, program, marketing strategy, business plan, or technology, or to 

add a benefit or product. 

(2) Premature disclosure of the trade secret would create a substantial probability 

of depriving the health plan of a substantial economic benefit or opportunity. 

(Amended by Stats. 2015, Ch. 190, Sec. 65. (AB 1517) Effective January 1, 2016.) 

54956.9. 
(a) Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to prevent a legislative body of a local 

agency, based on advice of its legal counsel, from holding a closed session to confer 
with, or receive advice from, its legal counsel regarding pending litigation when 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.9.','6.2.1.22','2021','615','206',%20'id_d280eebb-5f75-11ec-b9e6-e768d1537d5c')


 
discussion in open session concerning those matters would prejudice the position of 

the local agency in the litigation. 
(b) For purposes of this chapter, all expressions of the lawyer-client privilege other 

than those provided in this section are hereby abrogated. This section is the 
exclusive expression of the lawyer-client privilege for purposes of conducting 

closed-session meetings pursuant to this chapter. 
(c) For purposes of this section, “litigation” includes any adjudicatory proceeding, 

including eminent domain, before a court, administrative body exercising its 
adjudicatory authority, hearing officer, or arbitrator. 
(d) For purposes of this section, litigation shall be considered pending when any of 

the following circumstances exist: 
(1) Litigation, to which the local agency is a party, has been initiated formally. 

(2) A point has been reached where, in the opinion of the legislative body of the 
local agency on the advice of its legal counsel, based on existing facts and 

circumstances, there is a significant exposure to litigation against the local 
agency. 

(3) Based on existing facts and circumstances, the legislative body of the local 
agency is meeting only to decide whether a closed session is authorized pursuant 

to paragraph (2). 

(4) Based on existing facts and circumstances, the legislative body of the local 

agency has decided to initiate or is deciding whether to initiate litigation. 

(e) For purposes of paragraphs (2) and (3) of subdivision (d), “existing facts and 

circumstances” shall consist only of one of the following: 
(1) Facts and circumstances that might result in litigation against the local 

agency but which the local agency believes are not yet known to a potential 
plaintiff or plaintiffs, which facts and circumstances need not be disclosed. 

(2) Facts and circumstances, including, but not limited to, an accident, disaster, 
incident, or transactional occurrence that might result in litigation against the 
agency and that are known to a potential plaintiff or plaintiffs, which facts or 

circumstances shall be publicly stated on the agenda or announced. 

(3) The receipt of a claim pursuant to the Government Claims Act (Division 3.6 

(commencing with Section 810) of Title 1 of the Government Code) or some 
other written communication from a potential plaintiff threatening litigation, 

which claim or communication shall be available for public inspection pursuant to 
Section 54957.5. 

(4) A statement made by a person in an open and public meeting threatening 
litigation on a specific matter within the responsibility of the legislative body. 



 
(5) A statement threatening litigation made by a person outside an open and 

public meeting on a specific matter within the responsibility of the legislative 
body so long as the official or employee of the local agency receiving knowledge 

of the threat makes a contemporaneous or other record of the statement prior to 
the meeting, which record shall be available for public inspection pursuant to 

Section 54957.5. The records so created need not identify the alleged victim of 
unlawful or tortious sexual conduct or anyone making the threat on their behalf, 

or identify a public employee who is the alleged perpetrator of any unlawful or 
tortious conduct upon which a threat of litigation is based, unless the identity of 
the person has been publicly disclosed. 

(f) Nothing in this section shall require disclosure of written communications that 
are privileged and not subject to disclosure pursuant to the California Public 

Records Act (Division 10 (commencing with Section 7920.000) of Title 1). 
(g) Prior to holding a closed session pursuant to this section, the legislative body of 

the local agency shall state on the agenda or publicly announce the paragraph of 
subdivision (d) that authorizes the closed session. If the session is closed pursuant 

to paragraph (1) of subdivision (d), the body shall state the title of or otherwise 
specifically identify the litigation to be discussed, unless the body states that to do 

so would jeopardize the agency’s ability to effectuate service of process upon one 
or more unserved parties, or that to do so would jeopardize its ability to conclude 

existing settlement negotiations to its advantage. 
(h) A local agency shall be considered to be a “party” or to have a “significant 

exposure to litigation” if an officer or employee of the local agency is a party or has 
significant exposure to litigation concerning prior or prospective activities or alleged 

activities during the course and scope of that office or employment, including 
litigation in which it is an issue whether an activity is outside the course and scope 

of the office or employment. 
(Amended by Stats. 2021, Ch. 615, Sec. 206. (AB 474) Effective January 1, 2022. Operative January 1, 2023, 

pursuant to Sec. 463 of Stats. 2021, Ch. 615.) 

54956.95. 
(a) Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to prevent a joint powers agency 

formed pursuant to Article 1 (commencing with Section 6500) of Chapter 5 of 
Division 7 of Title 1, for purposes of insurance pooling, or a local agency member of 

the joint powers agency, from holding a closed session to discuss a claim for the 
payment of tort liability losses, public liability losses, or workers’ compensation 

liability incurred by the joint powers agency or a local agency member of the joint 
powers agency. 

(b) Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to prevent the Local Agency Self-
Insurance Authority formed pursuant to Chapter 5.5 (commencing with Section 
6599.01) of Division 7 of Title 1, or a local agency member of the authority, from 

holding a closed session to discuss a claim for the payment of tort liability losses, 
public liability losses, or workers’ compensation liability incurred by the authority or 

a local agency member of the authority. 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.95.','6.2.1.22','1989','882','3',%20'id_c292dd77-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')


 
(c) Nothing in this section shall be construed to affect Section 54956.9 with respect 

to any other local agency. 
(Added by Stats. 1989, Ch. 882, Sec. 3.) 

54956.96. 
(a) Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to prevent the legislative body of a 

joint powers agency formed pursuant to Article 1 (commencing with Section 6500) 
of Chapter 5 of Division 7 of Title 1, from adopting a policy or a bylaw or including 

in its joint powers agreement provisions that authorize either or both of the 
following: 

(1) All information received by the legislative body of the local agency member in 
a closed session related to the information presented to the joint powers agency 

in closed session shall be confidential. However, a member of the legislative body 
of a local agency member may disclose information obtained in a closed session 

that has direct financial or liability implications for that local agency to the 
following individuals: 

(A) Legal counsel of that local agency member for purposes of obtaining 
advice on whether the matter has direct financial or liability implications for 

that local agency member. 

(B) Other members of the legislative body of the local agency present in a 
closed session of that local agency member. 

(2) Any designated alternate member of the legislative body of the joint powers 
agency who is also a member of the legislative body of a local agency member 

and who is attending a properly noticed meeting of the joint powers agency in 
lieu of a local agency member’s regularly appointed member to attend closed 

sessions of the joint powers agency. 

(b) (1) In addition to the authority described in subdivision (a), the Clean Power 

Alliance of Southern California, or its successor entity, may adopt a policy or a 
bylaw or include in its joint powers agreement a provision that authorizes both of 

the following: 
(A) A designated alternate member of the legislative body of the Clean Power 

Alliance of Southern California, or its successor entity, who is not a member of 
the legislative body of a local agency member and who is attending a properly 

noticed meeting of the Clean Power Alliance of Southern California, or its 
successor entity, in lieu of a local agency member’s regularly appointed 

member, to attend closed sessions of the Clean Power Alliance of Southern 
California, or its successor entity. 

(B) All information that is received by a designated alternate member of the 
legislative body of the Clean Power Alliance of Southern California, or its 
successor entity, who is not a member of the legislative body of a local agency 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.96.','6.2.1.22','2019','248','1',%20'id_c8d7c4e0-1c70-11ea-b366-4d5a39f643ad')


 
member, and that is presented to the Clean Power Alliance of Southern 

California, or its successor entity, in closed session, shall be confidential. 
However, the designated alternate member may disclose information obtained 

in a closed session that has direct financial or liability implications for the local 
agency member for which the designated alternate member attended the 

closed session, to the following individuals: 

(i) Legal counsel of that local agency member for purposes of obtaining 

advice on whether the matter has direct financial or liability implications for 
that local agency member. 

(ii) Members of the legislative body of the local agency present in a closed 

session of that local agency member. 

(2) If the Clean Power Alliance of Southern California, or its successor entity, 

adopts a policy or bylaw or includes in its joint powers agreement a provision 
authorized pursuant to paragraph (1), the Clean Power Alliance of Southern 

California, or its successor entity, shall establish policies to prevent conflicts of 
interest and to address breaches of confidentiality that apply to a designated 

alternate member who is not a member of the legislative body of a local agency 
member who attends a closed session of the Clean Power Alliance of Southern 

California, or its successor entity. 

(c) If the legislative body of a joint powers agency adopts a policy or a bylaw or 

includes provisions in its joint powers agreement pursuant to subdivision (a) or (b), 
then the legislative body of the local agency member, upon the advice of its legal 

counsel, may conduct a closed session in order to receive, discuss, and take action 
concerning information obtained in a closed session of the joint powers agency 

pursuant to paragraph (1) of subdivision (a) or paragraph (1) of subdivision (b). 
(d) This section shall remain in effect only until January 1, 2025, and as of that 

date is repealed. 
(Amended by Stats. 2019, Ch. 248, Sec. 1. (SB 355) Effective January 1, 2020. Repealed as of January 1, 2025, by 

its own provisions. See later operative version added by Sec. 2 of Stats. 2019, Ch. 248.) 

54956.96. 
(a) Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to prevent the legislative body of a 

joint powers agency formed pursuant to Article 1 (commencing with Section 6500) 
of Chapter 5 of Division 7 of Title 1, from adopting a policy or a bylaw or including 

in its joint powers agreement provisions that authorize either or both of the 
following: 

(1) All information received by the legislative body of the local agency member in 
a closed session related to the information presented to the joint powers agency 

in closed session shall be confidential. However, a member of the legislative body 
of a local agency member may disclose information obtained in a closed session 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.96.','6.2.1.22','2019','248','2',%20'id_660939b6-1c60-11ea-b366-4d5a39f643ad')


 
that has direct financial or liability implications for that local agency to the 

following individuals: 

(A) Legal counsel of that local agency member for purposes of obtaining 

advice on whether the matter has direct financial or liability implications for 
that local agency member. 

(B) Other members of the legislative body of the local agency present in a 
closed session of that local agency member. 

(2) A designated alternate member of the legislative body of the joint powers 
agency who is also a member of the legislative body of a local agency member 
and who is attending a properly noticed meeting of the joint powers agency in 

lieu of a local agency member’s regularly appointed member to attend closed 
sessions of the joint powers agency. 

(b) If the legislative body of a joint powers agency adopts a policy or a bylaw or 
includes provisions in its joint powers agreement pursuant to subdivision (a), then 

the legislative body of the local agency member, upon the advice of its legal 
counsel, may conduct a closed session in order to receive, discuss, and take action 

concerning information obtained in a closed session of the joint powers agency 
pursuant to paragraph (1) of subdivision (a). 

(c) This section shall become operative on January 1, 2025. 
(Repealed (in Sec. 1) and added by Stats. 2019, Ch. 248, Sec. 2. (SB 355) Effective January 1, 2020. Section 

operative January 1, 2025, by its own provisions.) 

54956.97. 
Notwithstanding any provision of law, the governing board, or a committee of the 

governing board, of a public bank, as defined in Section 57600 of the Government 
Code, may meet in closed session to consider and take action on matters pertaining 

to all of the following: 
(a) A loan or investment decision. 

(b) A decision of the internal audit committee, the compliance committee, or the 
governance committee. 

(c) A meeting with a state or federal regulator. 
(Added by Stats. 2019, Ch. 442, Sec. 14. (AB 857) Effective January 1, 2020.) 

54956.98. 
(a) For purposes of this section, the following definitions shall apply: 

(1) “Shareholder, member, or owner local agency” or “shareholder, member, or 
owner” means a local agency that is a shareholder of a public bank. 

(2) “Public bank” has the same meaning as defined in Section 57600. 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.97.','6.2.1.22','2019','442','14',%20'id_78e03938-1c60-11ea-b366-4d5a39f643ad')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54956.98.','6.2.1.22','2019','442','15',%20'id_8690b5aa-1c60-11ea-b366-4d5a39f643ad')


 
(b) The governing board of a public bank may adopt a policy or a bylaw or include 

in its governing documents provisions that authorize any of the following: 
(1) All information received by a shareholder, member, or owner of the public 

bank in a closed session related to the information presented to the governing 
board of a public bank in closed session shall be confidential. However, a member 

of the governing board of a shareholder, member, or owner local agency may 
disclose information obtained in a closed session that has direct financial or 

liability implications for that local agency to the following individuals: 

(A) Legal counsel of that shareholder, member, or owner local agency for 
purposes of obtaining advice on whether the matter has direct financial or 

liability implications for that shareholder local agency. 

(B) Other members of the governing board of the local agency present in a 

closed session of that shareholder, member, or owner local agency. 

(2) A designated alternate member of the governing board of the public bank 

who is also a member of the governing board of a shareholder, member, or 
owner local agency and who is attending a properly noticed meeting of the public 

bank governing board in lieu of a shareholder, member, or owner local agency’s 
regularly appointed member may attend a closed session of the public bank 

governing board. 

(c) If the governing board of a public bank adopts a policy or a bylaw or includes 

provisions in its governing documents pursuant to subdivision (b), then the 
governing board of the shareholder, member, or owner local agency, upon the 

advice of its legal counsel, may conduct a closed session in order to receive, 
discuss, and take action concerning information obtained in a closed session of the 

public bank governing board pursuant to paragraph (1) of subdivision (b). 
(Added by Stats. 2019, Ch. 442, Sec. 15. (AB 857) Effective January 1, 2020.) 

54957. 
(a) This chapter shall not be construed to prevent the legislative body of a local 

agency from holding closed sessions with the Governor, Attorney General, district 
attorney, agency counsel, sheriff, or chief of police, or their respective deputies, or 

a security consultant or a security operations manager, on matters posing a threat 
to the security of public buildings, a threat to the security of essential public 

services, including water, drinking water, wastewater treatment, natural gas 
service, and electric service, or a threat to the public’s right of access to public 

services or public facilities. 
(b) (1) Subject to paragraph (2), this chapter shall not be construed to prevent the 

legislative body of a local agency from holding closed sessions during a regular or 
special meeting to consider the appointment, employment, evaluation of 
performance, discipline, or dismissal of a public employee or to hear complaints or 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54957.','6.2.1.22','2013','11','1',%20'id_d63c4425-644d-11e3-a7a3-bf206d1f6db2')


 
charges brought against the employee by another person or employee unless the 

employee requests a public session. 
(2) As a condition to holding a closed session on specific complaints or charges 

brought against an employee by another person or employee, the employee shall 
be given written notice of his or her right to have the complaints or charges 

heard in an open session rather than a closed session, which notice shall be 
delivered to the employee personally or by mail at least 24 hours before the time 

for holding the session. If notice is not given, any disciplinary or other action 
taken by the legislative body against the employee based on the specific 
complaints or charges in the closed session shall be null and void. 

(3) The legislative body also may exclude from the public or closed meeting, 
during the examination of a witness, any or all other witnesses in the matter 

being investigated by the legislative body. 

(4) For the purposes of this subdivision, the term “employee” shall include an 

officer or an independent contractor who functions as an officer or an employee 
but shall not include any elected official, member of a legislative body or other 

independent contractors. This subdivision shall not limit local officials’ ability to 
hold closed session meetings pursuant to Sections 1461, 32106, and 32155 of 

the Health and Safety Code or Sections 37606 and 37624.3 of the Government 
Code. Closed sessions held pursuant to this subdivision shall not include 

discussion or action on proposed compensation except for a reduction of 
compensation that results from the imposition of discipline. 

(Amended by Stats. 2013, Ch. 11, Sec. 1. (AB 246) Effective January 1, 2014.) 

54957.1. 
(a) The legislative body of any local agency shall publicly report any action taken in 
closed session and the vote or abstention on that action of every member present, 

as follows: 
(1) Approval of an agreement concluding real estate negotiations pursuant to 

Section 54956.8 shall be reported after the agreement is final, as follows: 

(A) If its own approval renders the agreement final, the body shall report that 

approval and the substance of the agreement in open session at the public 
meeting during which the closed session is held. 

(B) If final approval rests with the other party to the negotiations, the local 
agency shall disclose the fact of that approval and the substance of the 

agreement upon inquiry by any person, as soon as the other party or its agent 
has informed the local agency of its approval. 

(2) Approval given to its legal counsel to defend, or seek or refrain from seeking 
appellate review or relief, or to enter as an amicus curiae in any form of litigation 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54957.1.','6.2.1.22','2006','538','311',%20'id_d69c26d2-8f68-11db-9801-f57d41d6b535')


 
as the result of a consultation under Section 54956.9 shall be reported in open 

session at the public meeting during which the closed session is held. The report 
shall identify, if known, the adverse party or parties and the substance of the 

litigation. In the case of approval given to initiate or intervene in an action, the 
announcement need not identify the action, the defendants, or other particulars, 

but shall specify that the direction to initiate or intervene in an action has been 
given and that the action, the defendants, and the other particulars shall, once 

formally commenced, be disclosed to any person upon inquiry, unless to do so 
would jeopardize the agency’s ability to effectuate service of process on one or 
more unserved parties, or that to do so would jeopardize its ability to conclude 

existing settlement negotiations to its advantage. 

(3) Approval given to its legal counsel of a settlement of pending litigation, as 

defined in Section 54956.9, at any stage prior to or during a judicial or quasi-
judicial proceeding shall be reported after the settlement is final, as follows: 

(A) If the legislative body accepts a settlement offer signed by the opposing 
party, the body shall report its acceptance and identify the substance of the 

agreement in open session at the public meeting during which the closed 
session is held. 

(B) If final approval rests with some other party to the litigation or with the 
court, then as soon as the settlement becomes final, and upon inquiry by any 

person, the local agency shall disclose the fact of that approval, and identify 
the substance of the agreement. 

(4) Disposition reached as to claims discussed in closed session pursuant to 
Section 54956.95 shall be reported as soon as reached in a manner that identifies 

the name of the claimant, the name of the local agency claimed against, the 
substance of the claim, and any monetary amount approved for payment and 

agreed upon by the claimant. 

(5) Action taken to appoint, employ, dismiss, accept the resignation of, or 
otherwise affect the employment status of a public employee in closed session 

pursuant to Section 54957 shall be reported at the public meeting during which 
the closed session is held. Any report required by this paragraph shall identify the 

title of the position. The general requirement of this paragraph notwithstanding, 
the report of a dismissal or of the nonrenewal of an employment contract shall be 

deferred until the first public meeting following the exhaustion of administrative 
remedies, if any. 

(6) Approval of an agreement concluding labor negotiations with represented 
employees pursuant to Section 54957.6 shall be reported after the agreement is 

final and has been accepted or ratified by the other party. The report shall 
identify the item approved and the other party or parties to the negotiation. 



 
(7) Pension fund investment transaction decisions made pursuant to Section 

54956.81 shall be disclosed at the first open meeting of the legislative body held 
after the earlier of the close of the investment transaction or the transfer of 

pension fund assets for the investment transaction. 

(b) Reports that are required to be made pursuant to this section may be made 

orally or in writing. The legislative body shall provide to any person who has 
submitted a written request to the legislative body within 24 hours of the posting of 

the agenda, or to any person who has made a standing request for all 
documentation as part of a request for notice of meetings pursuant to Section 
54954.1 or 54956, if the requester is present at the time the closed session ends, 

copies of any contracts, settlement agreements, or other documents that were 
finally approved or adopted in the closed session. If the action taken results in one 

or more substantive amendments to the related documents requiring retyping, the 
documents need not be released until the retyping is completed during normal 

business hours, provided that the presiding officer of the legislative body or his or 
her designee orally summarizes the substance of the amendments for the benefit of 

the document requester or any other person present and requesting the 
information. 

(c) The documentation referred to in subdivision (b) shall be available to any 
person on the next business day following the meeting in which the action referred 

to is taken or, in the case of substantial amendments, when any necessary retyping 
is complete. 

(d) Nothing in this section shall be construed to require that the legislative body 
approve actions not otherwise subject to legislative body approval. 

(e) No action for injury to a reputational, liberty, or other personal interest may be 
commenced by or on behalf of any employee or former employee with respect to 

whom a disclosure is made by a legislative body in an effort to comply with this 
section. 
(f) This section is necessary to implement, and reasonably within the scope of, 

paragraph (1) of subdivision (b) of Section 3 of Article I of the California 
Constitution. 
(Amended by Stats. 2006, Ch. 538, Sec. 311. Effective January 1, 2007.) 

54957.2. 
(a) The legislative body of a local agency may, by ordinance or resolution, 

designate a clerk or other officer or employee of the local agency who shall then 
attend each closed session of the legislative body and keep and enter in a minute 

book a record of topics discussed and decisions made at the meeting. The minute 
book made pursuant to this section is not a public record subject to inspection 
pursuant to the California Public Records Act (Division 10 (commencing with Section 

7920.000) of Title 1), and shall be kept confidential. The minute book shall be 
available only to members of the legislative body or, if a violation of this chapter is 

alleged to have occurred at a closed session, to a court of general jurisdiction 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54957.2.','6.2.1.22','2021','615','207',%20'id_d7638afd-5f75-11ec-b9e6-e768d1537d5c')


 
wherein the local agency lies. The minute book may, but need not, consist of a 

recording of the closed session. 
(b) An elected legislative body of a local agency may require that each legislative 

body all or a majority of whose members are appointed by or under the authority of 
the elected legislative body keep a minute book as prescribed under subdivision 

(a). 
(Amended by Stats. 2021, Ch. 615, Sec. 207. (AB 474) Effective January 1, 2022. Operative January 1, 2023, 

pursuant to Sec. 463 of Stats. 2021, Ch. 615.) 

54957.5. 
(a) Agendas of public meetings are disclosable public records under the California 

Public Records Act (Division 10 (commencing with Section 7920.000) of Title 1), 
and shall be made available upon request without delay and in compliance with 

Section 54954.2 or Section 54956, as applicable. However, this section shall not 
apply to a writing, or portion thereof, that is exempt from public disclosure. 

(b) (1) If a writing is a public record related to an agenda item for an open session 
of a regular meeting of the legislative body of a local agency and is distributed to 

all, or a majority of all, of the members of a legislative body of a local agency by a 
person in connection with a matter subject to discussion or consideration at an 

open meeting of the body less than 72 hours before that meeting, the writing shall 
be made available for public inspection pursuant to paragraph (2) at the time the 
writing is distributed to all, or a majority of all, of the members of the body. 

(2) (A) Except as provided in subparagraph (B), a local agency shall comply with 
both of the following requirements: 

(i) A local agency shall make any writing described in paragraph (1) 
available for public inspection at a public office or location that the agency 

shall designate for this purpose. 

(ii) A local agency shall list the address of the office or location designated 

pursuant to clause (i) on the agendas for all meetings of the legislative 
body of that agency. 

(B) A local agency shall not be required to comply with the requirements of 
subparagraph (A) if all of the following requirements are met: 

(i) An initial staff report or similar document containing an executive 
summary and the staff recommendation, if any, relating to that agenda 

item is made available for public inspection at the office or location 
designated pursuant to clause (i) of subparagraph (A) at least 72 hours 

before the meeting. 

(ii) The local agency immediately posts any writing described in paragraph 

(1) on the local agency’s internet website in a position and manner that 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54957.5.','6.2.1.22','2022','971','1',%20'id_011bc71c-7cac-11ed-acb9-a59a0646e1a6')


 
makes it clear that the writing relates to an agenda item for an upcoming 

meeting. 

(iii) The local agency lists the web address of the local agency’s internet 

website on the agendas for all meetings of the legislative body of that 
agency. 

(iv) (I) Subject to subclause (II), the local agency makes physical copies 
available for public inspection, beginning the next regular business hours 

for the local agency, at the office or location designated pursuant to clause 
(i) of subparagraph (A). 

(II) This clause is satisfied only if the next regular business hours of the 

local agency commence at least 24 hours before that meeting. 

(c) Writings that are public records described in subdivision (b) and distributed 

during a public meeting shall be made available for public inspection at the meeting 
if prepared by the local agency or a member of its legislative body, or after the 

meeting if prepared by some other person. These writings shall be made available 
in appropriate alternative formats upon request by a person with a disability, as 

required by Section 202 of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (42 U.S.C. 
Sec. 12132), and the federal rules and regulations adopted in implementation 

thereof. 
(d) This chapter shall not be construed to prevent the legislative body of a local 

agency from charging a fee or deposit for a copy of a public record pursuant to 
Section 7922.530, except that a surcharge shall not be imposed on persons with 

disabilities in violation of Section 202 of the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 
(42 U.S.C. Sec. 12132), and the federal rules and regulations adopted in 

implementation thereof. 
(e) This section shall not be construed to limit or delay the public’s right to inspect 

or obtain a copy of any record required to be disclosed under the requirements of 
the California Public Records Act (Division 10 (commencing with Section 7920.000) 
of Title 1), including, but not limited to, the ability of the public to inspect public 

records pursuant to Section 7922.525 and obtain copies of public records pursuant 
to either subdivision (b) of Section 7922.530 or Section 7922.535. This chapter 

shall not be construed to require a legislative body of a local agency to place any 
paid advertisement or any other paid notice in any publication. 
(Amended (as amended by Stats. 2021, Ch. 615, Sec. 208) by Stats. 2022, Ch. 971, Sec. 1. (AB 2647) Effective 

January 1, 2023.) 

54957.6. 
(a) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a legislative body of a local agency 

may hold closed sessions with the local agency’s designated representatives 
regarding the salaries, salary schedules, or compensation paid in the form of fringe 
benefits of its represented and unrepresented employees, and, for represented 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54957.6.','6.2.1.22','1998','260','5',%20'id_c2946421-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')


 
employees, any other matter within the statutorily provided scope of 

representation. 
However, prior to the closed session, the legislative body of the local agency shall 

hold an open and public session in which it identifies its designated representatives. 
Closed sessions of a legislative body of a local agency, as permitted in this section, 

shall be for the purpose of reviewing its position and instructing the local agency’s 
designated representatives. 

Closed sessions, as permitted in this section, may take place prior to and during 
consultations and discussions with representatives of employee organizations and 
unrepresented employees. 

Closed sessions with the local agency’s designated representative regarding the 
salaries, salary schedules, or compensation paid in the form of fringe benefits may 

include discussion of an agency’s available funds and funding priorities, but only 
insofar as these discussions relate to providing instructions to the local agency’s 

designated representative. 
Closed sessions held pursuant to this section shall not include final action on the 

proposed compensation of one or more unrepresented employees. 
For the purposes enumerated in this section, a legislative body of a local agency 

may also meet with a state conciliator who has intervened in the proceedings. 
(b) For the purposes of this section, the term “employee” shall include an officer or 

an independent contractor who functions as an officer or an employee, but shall not 
include any elected official, member of a legislative body, or other independent 

contractors. 
(Amended by Stats. 1998, Ch. 260, Sec. 5. Effective January 1, 1999.) 

54957.7. 
(a) Prior to holding any closed session, the legislative body of the local agency shall 

disclose, in an open meeting, the item or items to be discussed in the closed 
session. The disclosure may take the form of a reference to the item or items as 

they are listed by number or letter on the agenda. In the closed session, the 
legislative body may consider only those matters covered in its statement. Nothing 

in this section shall require or authorize a disclosure of information prohibited by 
state or federal law. 

(b) After any closed session, the legislative body shall reconvene into open session 
prior to adjournment and shall make any disclosures required by Section 54957.1 

of action taken in the closed session. 
(c) The announcements required to be made in open session pursuant to this 

section may be made at the location announced in the agenda for the closed 
session, as long as the public is allowed to be present at that location for the 
purpose of hearing the announcements. 
(Amended by Stats. 1993, Ch. 1137, Sec. 15. Effective January 1, 1994. Operative April 1, 1994, by Sec. 23 of Ch. 

1137.) 

54957.8. 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54957.7.','6.2.1.22','1993','1137','15',%20'id_c2946423-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54957.8.','6.2.1.22','2006','427','1',%20'id_dc985cd2-4eed-11db-bdca-f867815b34c3')


 
(a) For purposes of this section, “multijurisdictional law enforcement agency” 

means a joint powers entity formed pursuant to Article 1 (commencing with Section 
6500) of Chapter 5 of Division 7 of Title 1 that provides law enforcement services 

for the parties to the joint powers agreement for the purpose of investigating 
criminal activity involving drugs; gangs; sex crimes; firearms trafficking or felony 

possession of a firearm; high technology, computer, or identity theft; human 
trafficking; or vehicle theft. 

(b) Nothing contained in this chapter shall be construed to prevent the legislative 
body of a multijurisdictional law enforcement agency, or an advisory body of a 
multijurisdictional law enforcement agency, from holding closed sessions to discuss 

the case records of any ongoing criminal investigation of the multijurisdictional law 
enforcement agency or of any party to the joint powers agreement, to hear 

testimony from persons involved in the investigation, and to discuss courses of 
action in particular cases. 
(Amended by Stats. 2006, Ch. 427, Sec. 1. Effective September 22, 2006.) 

54957.9. 
In the event that any meeting is willfully interrupted by a group or groups of 

persons so as to render the orderly conduct of such meeting unfeasible and order 
cannot be restored by the removal of individuals who are willfully interrupting the 
meeting, the members of the legislative body conducting the meeting may order 

the meeting room cleared and continue in session. Only matters appearing on the 
agenda may be considered in such a session. Representatives of the press or other 

news media, except those participating in the disturbance, shall be allowed to 
attend any session held pursuant to this section. Nothing in this section shall 

prohibit the legislative body from establishing a procedure for readmitting an 
individual or individuals not responsible for willfully disturbing the orderly conduct 

of the meeting. 
(Amended by Stats. 1981, Ch. 968, Sec. 34.) 

54957.95. 
(a) (1) In addition to authority exercised pursuant to Sections 54954.3 and 

54957.9, the presiding member of the legislative body conducting a meeting or 
their designee may remove, or cause the removal of, an individual for disrupting 

the meeting. 
(2) Prior to removing an individual, the presiding member or their designee shall 

warn the individual that their behavior is disrupting the meeting and that their 
failure to cease their behavior may result in their removal. The presiding member 

or their designee may then remove the individual if they do not promptly cease 
their disruptive behavior. This paragraph does not apply to any behavior 

described in subparagraph (B) of paragraph (1) of subdivision (b). 

(b) As used in this section: 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54957.9.','6.2.1.22','1981','968','34',%20'id_c295eac7-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54957.95.','6.2.1.22','2022','171','2',%20'id_3554e054-7cab-11ed-acb9-a59a0646e1a6')


 
(1) “Disrupting” means engaging in behavior during a meeting of a legislative 

body that actually disrupts, disturbs, impedes, or renders infeasible the orderly 
conduct of the meeting and includes, but is not limited to, one of the following: 

(A) A failure to comply with reasonable and lawful regulations adopted by a 
legislative body pursuant to Section 54954.3 or any other law. 

(B) Engaging in behavior that constitutes use of force or a true threat of force. 

(2) “True threat of force” means a threat that has sufficient indicia of intent and 

seriousness, that a reasonable observer would perceive it to be an actual threat 
to use force by the person making the threat. 

(Added by Stats. 2022, Ch. 171, Sec. 2. (SB 1100) Effective January 1, 2023.) 

54957.10. 
Notwithstanding any other provision of law, a legislative body of a local agency may 
hold closed sessions to discuss a local agency employee’s application for early 

withdrawal of funds in a deferred compensation plan when the application is based 
on financial hardship arising from an unforeseeable emergency due to illness, 

accident, casualty, or other extraordinary event, as specified in the deferred 
compensation plan. 
(Added by Stats. 2001, Ch. 45, Sec. 1. Effective January 1, 2002.) 

54958. 
The provisions of this chapter shall apply to the legislative body of every local 
agency notwithstanding the conflicting provisions of any other state law. 
(Added by Stats. 1953, Ch. 1588.) 

54959. 
Each member of a legislative body who attends a meeting of that legislative body 
where action is taken in violation of any provision of this chapter, and where the 

member intends to deprive the public of information to which the member knows or 
has reason to know the public is entitled under this chapter, is guilty of a 

misdemeanor. 
(Amended by Stats. 1994, Ch. 32, Sec. 18. Effective March 30, 1994. Operative April 1, 1994, by Sec. 23 of Ch. 32.) 

54960. 
(a) The district attorney or any interested person may commence an action by 

mandamus, injunction, or declaratory relief for the purpose of stopping or 
preventing violations or threatened violations of this chapter by members of the 

legislative body of a local agency or to determine the applicability of this chapter to 
ongoing actions or threatened future actions of the legislative body, or to determine 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54957.10.','6.2.1.22','2001','45','1',%20'id_c295eac9-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54959.','6.2.1.22','1994','32','18',%20'id_c295eacd-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54959.','6.2.1.22','1994','32','18',%20'id_c295eacd-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54960.','6.2.1.22','2012','732','1',%20'id_78cd4322-4e0f-11e2-bece-f6c402701ba4')


 
the applicability of this chapter to past actions of the legislative body, subject to 

Section 54960.2, or to determine whether any rule or action by the legislative body 
to penalize or otherwise discourage the expression of one or more of its members is 

valid or invalid under the laws of this state or of the United States, or to compel the 
legislative body to audio record its closed sessions as hereinafter provided. 

(b) The court in its discretion may, upon a judgment of a violation of Section 
54956.7, 54956.8, 54956.9, 54956.95, 54957, or 54957.6, order the legislative 

body to audio record its closed sessions and preserve the audio recordings for the 
period and under the terms of security and confidentiality the court deems 
appropriate. 

(c) (1) Each recording so kept shall be immediately labeled with the date of the 
closed session recorded and the title of the clerk or other officer who shall be 

custodian of the recording. 
(2) The audio recordings shall be subject to the following discovery procedures: 

(A) In any case in which discovery or disclosure of the audio recording is 
sought by either the district attorney or the plaintiff in a civil action pursuant 

to Section 54959, 54960, or 54960.1 alleging that a violation of this chapter 
has occurred in a closed session that has been recorded pursuant to this 

section, the party seeking discovery or disclosure shall file a written notice of 
motion with the appropriate court with notice to the governmental agency that 

has custody and control of the audio recording. The notice shall be given 
pursuant to subdivision (b) of Section 1005 of the Code of Civil Procedure. 

(B) The notice shall include, in addition to the items required by Section 1010 
of the Code of Civil Procedure, all of the following: 

(i) Identification of the proceeding in which discovery or disclosure is 
sought, the party seeking discovery or disclosure, the date and time of the 

meeting recorded, and the governmental agency that has custody and 
control of the recording. 

(ii) An affidavit that contains specific facts indicating that a violation of the 

act occurred in the closed session. 

(3) If the court, following a review of the motion, finds that there is good cause 

to believe that a violation has occurred, the court may review, in camera, the 
recording of that portion of the closed session alleged to have violated the act. 

(4) If, following the in camera review, the court concludes that disclosure of a 
portion of the recording would be likely to materially assist in the resolution of 

the litigation alleging violation of this chapter, the court shall, in its discretion, 
make a certified transcript of the portion of the recording a public exhibit in the 

proceeding. 



 
(5) This section shall not permit discovery of communications that are protected 

by the attorney-client privilege. 

(Amended by Stats. 2012, Ch. 732, Sec. 1. (SB 1003) Effective January 1, 2013.) 

54960.1. 
(a) The district attorney or any interested person may commence an action by 

mandamus or injunction for the purpose of obtaining a judicial determination that 
an action taken by a legislative body of a local agency in violation of Section 54953, 

54954.2, 54954.5, 54954.6, 54956, or 54956.5 is null and void under this section. 
Nothing in this chapter shall be construed to prevent a legislative body from curing 

or correcting an action challenged pursuant to this section. 
(b) Prior to any action being commenced pursuant to subdivision (a), the district 

attorney or interested person shall make a demand of the legislative body to cure 
or correct the action alleged to have been taken in violation of Section 54953, 

54954.2, 54954.5, 54954.6, 54956, or 54956.5. The demand shall be in writing 
and clearly describe the challenged action of the legislative body and nature of the 

alleged violation. 
(c) (1) The written demand shall be made within 90 days from the date the action 

was taken unless the action was taken in an open session but in violation of Section 
54954.2, in which case the written demand shall be made within 30 days from the 
date the action was taken. 

(2) Within 30 days of receipt of the demand, the legislative body shall cure or 
correct the challenged action and inform the demanding party in writing of its 

actions to cure or correct or inform the demanding party in writing of its decision 
not to cure or correct the challenged action. 

(3) If the legislative body takes no action within the 30-day period, the inaction 
shall be deemed a decision not to cure or correct the challenged action, and the 

15-day period to commence the action described in subdivision (a) shall 
commence to run the day after the 30-day period to cure or correct expires. 

(4) Within 15 days of receipt of the written notice of the legislative body’s 
decision to cure or correct, or not to cure or correct, or within 15 days of the 

expiration of the 30-day period to cure or correct, whichever is earlier, the 
demanding party shall be required to commence the action pursuant to 

subdivision (a) or thereafter be barred from commencing the action. 

(d) An action taken that is alleged to have been taken in violation of Section 54953, 

54954.2, 54954.5, 54954.6, 54956, or 54956.5 shall not be determined to be null 
and void if any of the following conditions exist: 

(1) The action taken was in substantial compliance with Sections 54953, 
54954.2, 54954.5, 54954.6, 54956, and 54956.5. 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54960.1.','6.2.1.22','2002','454','23',%20'id_c2977171-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')


 
(2) The action taken was in connection with the sale or issuance of notes, bonds, 

or other evidences of indebtedness or any contract, instrument, or agreement 
thereto. 

(3) The action taken gave rise to a contractual obligation, including a contract let 
by competitive bid other than compensation for services in the form of salary or 

fees for professional services, upon which a party has, in good faith and without 
notice of a challenge to the validity of the action, detrimentally relied. 

(4) The action taken was in connection with the collection of any tax. 

(5) Any person, city, city and county, county, district, or any agency or 
subdivision of the state alleging noncompliance with subdivision (a) of Section 

54954.2, Section 54956, or Section 54956.5, because of any defect, error, 
irregularity, or omission in the notice given pursuant to those provisions, had 

actual notice of the item of business at least 72 hours prior to the meeting at 
which the action was taken, if the meeting was noticed pursuant to Section 

54954.2, or 24 hours prior to the meeting at which the action was taken if the 
meeting was noticed pursuant to Section 54956, or prior to the meeting at which 

the action was taken if the meeting is held pursuant to Section 54956.5. 

(e) During any action seeking a judicial determination pursuant to subdivision (a) if 

the court determines, pursuant to a showing by the legislative body that an action 
alleged to have been taken in violation of Section 54953, 54954.2, 54954.5, 

54954.6, 54956, or 54956.5 has been cured or corrected by a subsequent action of 
the legislative body, the action filed pursuant to subdivision (a) shall be dismissed 

with prejudice. 
(f) The fact that a legislative body takes a subsequent action to cure or correct an 

action taken pursuant to this section shall not be construed or admissible as 
evidence of a violation of this chapter. 
(Amended by Stats. 2002, Ch. 454, Sec. 23. Effective January 1, 2003.) 

54960.2. 
(a) The district attorney or any interested person may file an action to determine 
the applicability of this chapter to past actions of the legislative body pursuant to 

subdivision (a) of Section 54960 only if all of the following conditions are met: 
(1) The district attorney or interested person alleging a violation of this chapter 

first submits a cease and desist letter by postal mail or facsimile transmission to 
the clerk or secretary of the legislative body being accused of the violation, as 

designated in the statement pertaining to that public agency on file pursuant to 
Section 53051, or if the agency does not have a statement on file designating a 

clerk or a secretary, to the chief executive officer of that agency, clearly 
describing the past action of the legislative body and nature of the alleged 
violation. 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54960.2.','6.2.1.22','2012','732','2',%20'id_6e1e1258-4e0a-11e2-bece-f6c402701ba4')


 
(2) The cease and desist letter required under paragraph (1) is submitted to the 

legislative body within nine months of the alleged violation. 

(3) The time during which the legislative body may respond to the cease and 

desist letter pursuant to subdivision (b) has expired and the legislative body has 
not provided an unconditional commitment pursuant to subdivision (c). 

(4) Within 60 days of receipt of the legislative body’s response to the cease and 
desist letter, other than an unconditional commitment pursuant to subdivision 

(c), or within 60 days of the expiration of the time during which the legislative 
body may respond to the cease and desist letter pursuant to subdivision (b), 
whichever is earlier, the party submitting the cease and desist letter shall 

commence the action pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section 54960 or thereafter 
be barred from commencing the action. 

(b) The legislative body may respond to a cease and desist letter submitted 
pursuant to subdivision (a) within 30 days of receiving the letter. This subdivision 

shall not be construed to prevent the legislative body from providing an 
unconditional commitment pursuant to subdivision (c) at any time after the 30-day 

period has expired, except that in that event the court shall award court costs and 
reasonable attorney fees to the plaintiff in an action brought pursuant to this 

section, in accordance with Section 54960.5. 
(c) (1) If the legislative body elects to respond to the cease and desist letter with 

an unconditional commitment to cease, desist from, and not repeat the past action 
that is alleged to violate this chapter, that response shall be in substantially the 

following form: 
 

To ______________________: 
 

The [name of legislative body] has received your cease and desist letter dated 
[date] alleging that the following described past action of the legislative body 
violates the Ralph M. Brown Act: 

 

[Describe alleged past action, as set forth in the cease and desist letter submitted 

pursuant to subdivision (a)] 
 

In order to avoid unnecessary litigation and without admitting any violation of the 
Ralph M. Brown Act, the [name of legislative body] hereby unconditionally commits 

that it will cease, desist from, and not repeat the challenged past action as 
described above. 

 

The [name of legislative body] may rescind this commitment only by a majority 

vote of its membership taken in open session at a regular meeting and noticed on 



 
its posted agenda as “Rescission of Brown Act Commitment.” You will be provided 

with written notice, sent by any means or media you provide in response to this 
message, to whatever address or addresses you specify, of any intention to 

consider rescinding this commitment at least 30 days before any such regular 
meeting. In the event that this commitment is rescinded, you will have the right to 

commence legal action pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section 54960 of the 
Government Code. That notice will be delivered to you by the same means as this 

commitment, or may be mailed to an address that you have designated in writing. 
 

Very truly yours, 

________________________________________________ 
[Chairperson or acting chairperson of the legislative body] 

 

(2) An unconditional commitment pursuant to this subdivision shall be approved 

by the legislative body in open session at a regular or special meeting as a 
separate item of business, and not on its consent agenda. 

(3) An action shall not be commenced to determine the applicability of this 
chapter to any past action of the legislative body for which the legislative body 

has provided an unconditional commitment pursuant to this subdivision. During 
any action seeking a judicial determination regarding the applicability of this 

chapter to any past action of the legislative body pursuant to subdivision (a), if 
the court determines that the legislative body has provided an unconditional 

commitment pursuant to this subdivision, the action shall be dismissed with 
prejudice. Nothing in this subdivision shall be construed to modify or limit the 

existing ability of the district attorney or any interested person to commence an 
action to determine the applicability of this chapter to ongoing actions or 

threatened future actions of the legislative body. 

(4) Except as provided in subdivision (d), the fact that a legislative body provides 
an unconditional commitment shall not be construed or admissible as evidence of 

a violation of this chapter. 

(d) If the legislative body provides an unconditional commitment as set forth in 

subdivision (c), the legislative body shall not thereafter take or engage in the 
challenged action described in the cease and desist letter, except as provided in 

subdivision (e). Violation of this subdivision shall constitute an independent 
violation of this chapter, without regard to whether the challenged action would 

otherwise violate this chapter. An action alleging past violation or threatened future 
violation of this subdivision may be brought pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section 

54960, without regard to the procedural requirements of this section. 
(e) The legislative body may resolve to rescind an unconditional commitment made 

pursuant to subdivision (c) by a majority vote of its membership taken in open 
session at a regular meeting as a separate item of business not on its consent 

agenda, and noticed on its posted agenda as “Rescission of Brown Act 



 
Commitment,” provided that not less than 30 days prior to such regular meeting, 

the legislative body provides written notice of its intent to consider the rescission to 
each person to whom the unconditional commitment was made, and to the district 

attorney. Upon rescission, the district attorney or any interested person may 
commence an action pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section 54960. An action under 

this subdivision may be brought pursuant to subdivision (a) of Section 54960, 
without regard to the procedural requirements of this section. 
(Added by Stats. 2012, Ch. 732, Sec. 2. (SB 1003) Effective January 1, 2013.) 

54960.5. 
A court may award court costs and reasonable attorney fees to the plaintiff in an 
action brought pursuant to Section 54960, 54960.1, or 54960.2 where it is found 

that a legislative body of the local agency has violated this chapter. Additionally, 
when an action brought pursuant to Section 54960.2 is dismissed with prejudice 

because a legislative body has provided an unconditional commitment pursuant to 
paragraph (1) of subdivision (c) of that section at any time after the 30-day period 

for making such a commitment has expired, the court shall award court costs and 
reasonable attorney fees to the plaintiff if the filing of that action caused the 

legislative body to issue the unconditional commitment. The costs and fees shall be 
paid by the local agency and shall not become a personal liability of any public 
officer or employee of the local agency. 

A court may award court costs and reasonable attorney fees to a defendant in any 
action brought pursuant to Section 54960 or 54960.1 where the defendant has 

prevailed in a final determination of such action and the court finds that the action 
was clearly frivolous and totally lacking in merit. 
(Amended by Stats. 2012, Ch. 732, Sec. 3. (SB 1003) Effective January 1, 2013.) 

54961. 
(a) No legislative body of a local agency shall conduct any meeting in any facility 
that prohibits the admittance of any person, or persons, on the basis of ancestry or 

any characteristic listed or defined in Section 11135, or which is inaccessible to 
disabled persons, or where members of the public may not be present without 

making a payment or purchase. This section shall apply to every local agency as 
defined in Section 54951. 

(b) No notice, agenda, announcement, or report required under this chapter need 
identify any victim or alleged victim of tortious sexual conduct or child abuse unless 

the identity of the person has been publicly disclosed. 
(Amended by Stats. 2007, Ch. 568, Sec. 35. Effective January 1, 2008.) 

54962. 
Except as expressly authorized by this chapter, or by Sections 1461, 1462, 32106, 

and 32155 of the Health and Safety Code, or by Sections 37606, 37606.1, and 
37624.3 of the Government Code as they apply to hospitals, or by any provision of 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54960.5.','6.2.1.22','2012','732','3',%20'id_7aea7dd4-4e0f-11e2-bece-f6c402701ba4')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54963.','6.2.1.22','2002','1119','1',%20'id_c298f819-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')
javascript:submitCodesValues('54963.','6.2.1.22','2002','1119','1',%20'id_c298f819-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')


 
the Education Code pertaining to school districts and community college districts, 

no closed session may be held by any legislative body of any local agency. 
(Amended by Stats. 2006, Ch. 157, Sec. 2. Effective January 1, 2007.) 

54963. 
(a) A person may not disclose confidential information that has been acquired by 

being present in a closed session authorized by Section 54956.7, 54956.8, 
54956.86, 54956.87, 54956.9, 54957, 54957.6, 54957.8, or 54957.10 to a person 

not entitled to receive it, unless the legislative body authorizes disclosure of that 
confidential information. 

(b) For purposes of this section, “confidential information” means a communication 
made in a closed session that is specifically related to the basis for the legislative 

body of a local agency to meet lawfully in closed session under this chapter. 
(c) Violation of this section may be addressed by the use of such remedies as are 

currently available by law, including, but not limited to: 
(1) Injunctive relief to prevent the disclosure of confidential information 

prohibited by this section. 

(2) Disciplinary action against an employee who has willfully disclosed 

confidential information in violation of this section. 

(3) Referral of a member of a legislative body who has willfully disclosed 
confidential information in violation of this section to the grandjury. 

(d) Disciplinary action pursuant to paragraph (2) of subdivision (c) shall require 
that the employee in question has either received training as to the requirements of 

this section or otherwise has been given notice of the requirements of this section. 
(e) A local agency may not take any action authorized by subdivision (c) against a 

person, nor shall it be deemed a violation of this section, for doing any of the 
following: 

(1) Making a confidential inquiry or complaint to a district attorney or grand jury 
concerning a perceived violation of law, including disclosing facts to a district 

attorney or grand jury that are necessary to establish the illegality of an action 
taken by a legislative body of a local agency or the potential illegality of an action 

that has been the subject of deliberation at a closed session if that action were to 
be taken by a legislative body of a local agency. 

(2) Expressing an opinion concerning the propriety or legality of actions taken by 
a legislative body of a local agency in closed session, including disclosure of the 

nature and extent of the illegal or potentially illegal action. 

(3) Disclosing information acquired by being present in a closed session under 

this chapter that is not confidential information. 

javascript:submitCodesValues('54963.','6.2.1.22','2002','1119','1',%20'id_c298f819-291f-11d9-878a-d40868cd9c22')


 
(f) Nothing in this section shall be construed to prohibit disclosures under the 

whistleblower statutes contained in Section 1102.5 of the Labor Code or Article 4.5 
(commencing with Section 53296) of Chapter 2 of this code. 
(Added by Stats. 2002, Ch. 1119, Sec. 1. Effective January 1, 2003.) 

 
 
Code of Civil Procedure Section 1245.240 
 
CODE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE - CCP 

PART 3. OF SPECIAL PROCEEDINGS OF A CIVIL NATURE [1063 - 1822.60] 
  ( Part 3 enacted 1872. ) 

TITLE 7. EMINENT DOMAIN LAW [1230.010 - 1273.050] 
  ( Title 7 repealed [comm. with Section 1237] and added by Stats. 1975, Ch. 

1275. ) 
CHAPTER 4. Precondemnation Activities [1245.010 - 1245.390] 
  ( Chapter 4 added by Stats. 1975, Ch. 1275. ) 

 
ARTICLE 2. Resolution of Necessity [1245.210 - 1245.270] 
  ( Article 2 added by Stats. 1975, Ch. 1275. ) 
 
1245.240. 
Unless a greater vote is required by statute, charter, or ordinance, the resolution shall 
be adopted by a vote of two-thirds of all the members of the governing body of the 
public entity. 
(Added by Stats. 1975, Ch. 1275.) 
 



 
BP 2015 
 

Board Policy 
Chapter 2 – Board of Trustees 

 
 

BP 2015 Student Members 
 
Reference: 

Education Code Section 72023.5 
 
 
The Board of Trustees shall include two student members.  In addition to the five 
elected trustees there will be one student trustee from each college.  Following 
procedures prescribed by the Board, the student trustees will be chosen by the students 
enrolled in the colleges.  The term of the student trustees will be one year commencing 
on June 1.  NOTE:  BP 2105 Election of Student Members addresses how the student 
trustees are elected and reflects language that complies with the Education Code that 
all students enrolled be permitted to participate in the selection of this student member.  
Also see, 62 Ops. California Attorney General 126 (1979). 
 
The student member shall be enrolled in and maintain a minimum of eight quarter units 
in the District at the time of nomination and throughout the term of service and a 
minimum cumulative grade point average of 2.0 at the time of nomination and 
throughout the term of service. 
 
The student member is not required to give up student employment with the Ddistrict. 
 
The student trustees will shall be seated with the elected trustees at during the open 
session portion of all public meetings of the Board and will shall be recognized at those 
meetings as full members of the Board for the purpose of questioning witnesses, 
discussing issues and making and seconding motions.  The student members are 
entitled to participate in discussion of issues and receive all materials presented to 
members of the Board, except for issues and items discussed in closed session. 
 
The student members shall be entitled to any mileage allowance necessary to attend 
board meetings to the same extent as publicly elected trustees.  The student members 
shall have the opportunity to cast an advisory vote immediately before the regular 
members of the Board cast votes.  The student members’ advisory votes shall not be 
included in determining the vote required to carry any measure before the Board. 
 
The student trustees will be entitled to an advisory vote although the vote shall not be 
included in determining the vote required to carry any measure before the board.  If a 
student trustee wishes to cast an advisory vote, it shall be taken prior to the Board’s 
vote.  Furthermore, the student trustees will receive all material presented to the publicly 



 
elected trustees, except material that relates to matters considered in closed session.  
Student trustees do not attend closed session. 
 
NOTE:  Boards of trustees are responsible to decide whether to grant the following 
privileges to student members by May 15 of each year.  Inclusion of the following policy 
will remind boards of this requirement for annual review and action.  It is not required 
that boards adopt the following language.  However, boards must annually decide 
whether to grant privileges (if any) to the student trustee.  The following lists possible 
privileges. 
 
On or before May 15 of each year, the Board shall consider whether to afford the 
student member any of the following privileges: 
 

• The privilege to make and second motions; 

• The privilege to attend closed sessions, other than closed sessions on 
personnel or collective bargaining matters; 

• The privilege to receive compensation for meeting attendance at a level of 
$550 per month prorated to the meetings that the student trustees are 
expected to attend as determined by the Board.  (See BP 2725 Board 
Member Compensation); 

• The privilege to serve a term commencing on May 15 instead of on June 1. 
 
For meeting attendance, the student trustees shall be entitled to compensation of $550 
per month prorated to the meetings that the student trustees are expected to attend as 
determined by the Board. 
 
This policy will be reviewed by the Board and either readopted, revised or repealed by 
May 15 of each year. 
 
Also sSee AP 2015 Student Members, BP/AP 2100 Board Elections, BP/AP 2105 
Election of Student Member(s) Administrative Procedure 2105 Student Trustee 
Selection Procedures and BP 2725 Board Member Compensation. 
 
 
NOTE:  This policy is legally required and the language in red ink is recommended by the Policy & 
Procedure Service and its legal counsel (Liebert Cassidy Whitmore) to comply with the law.  The Policy & 
Procedure Service provided legal updates to this policy in February 2002, February 2008, March 2012, and 
April 2024.  The language in black ink is from current FHDACCD BP 2015 Student Members adopted 
on 5/3/82, Readopted 5/4/98, 5/3/99; 3/6/00; 3/5/01, 4/15/02; 4/21/03, Readopted 4/18/05, 5/1/06; 4/30/07, 
5/5/08, 5/4/09, 5/2/11, 4/2/12, Readopted 5/5/14, 5/4/15, Readopted 5/7/18, 5/6/19, 5/4/20, Readopted 
5/2/22; Readopted 5/8/23; and amended on 5/6/85, 5/1/92, 5/1/95, 5/6/96, 2/3/97, 5/4/98, amended on 
5/3/04; amended (and renumbered) on 5/13/13 (formerly BP 9110.1), 5/2/16, 5/1/17, and 5/3/21.  The 
language in blue ink is included for consideration.  The language in yellow highlighting is included to draw 
the reviewers’ attention, and this language will be removed upon final approval.  The language in gray 
highlighting was uniquely added by the FHDACCD and requires careful review by leaders to ensure the 
language remains accurate and up-to-date.  The legal citation language reflected after the page break 
(below) should be removed following review and revision. 



 
 

Adopted:  5/3/82 
Readopted:  5/4/98, 5/3/99, 3/6/00, 3/5/01, 
4/15/02, 4/21/03, Readopted 4/18/05, 5/1/06, 
4/30/07, 5/5/08, 5/4/09, 5/2/11, 4/2/12, 
Readopted 5/5/14, 5/4/15, Readopted 5/7/18, 
5/6/19, 5/4/20, Readopted 5/2/22; Readopted 
5/8/23 
Amended Revised:  5/6/85, 5/1/92, 5/1/95, 
5/6/96, 2/3/97, 5/4/98, 5/3/04, 5/13/13, 5/2/16, 
5/1/17, 5/3/21, ________ 
 

 

  



 
Legal Citation for BP 2015 

 
Education Code Section 72023.5 
 
EDUCATION CODE - EDC 

TITLE 3. POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION [66000 - 101060] 
  ( Title 3 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

DIVISION 7. COMMUNITY COLLEGES [70900 - 88810] 
  ( Division 7 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

PART 45. DISTRICTS AND GOVERNING BOARDS [72000 - 72701] 
  ( Part 45 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

CHAPTER 1. General Provisions [72000 - 72036.5] 
  ( Chapter 1 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 

 
ARTICLE 3. Organization of District Boards [72022 - 72036.5] 
  ( Article 3 enacted by Stats. 1976, Ch. 1010. ) 
 
72023.5. 
(a) (1) (A) The governing board of each community college district shall order the 
inclusion within the membership of the governing board, in addition to the number 

of members otherwise prescribed, of one or more students.  These students shall 
have the right to attend each and all meetings of the governing board, except that 

student members shall not have the right, or be afforded the opportunity, to attend 
executive sessions of the governing board. 

(B) A student member shall have the opportunity to cast an advisory vote 
immediately before votes are cast by the regular members of the governing 

board. 

(2) A student selected to serve on the governing board shall be enrolled in a 

community college of the district and shall be chosen, and shall be recalled, by 
the students enrolled in the community colleges of the district in accordance with 

procedures prescribed by the governing board. If the seat of a student member 
becomes vacant during the student member’s term, the governing board may 

authorize the officers of student body associations established pursuant to 
Section 76060 at each community college in the district to appoint a student to 

serve the remainder of the term in accordance with procedures established by the 
governing board.  A student member shall be required throughout the term of the 
student member’s appointment to be enrolled in a community college of the 

district for at least five semester units, or its equivalent, and shall meet and 
maintain the minimum standards of scholarship for community college students 

prescribed by the community college district.  The term of a student member 
shall be one year commencing on June 1 of each year. 



 
(3) A student member appointed pursuant to this section shall be entitled to 

mileage allowance to the same extent as a regular member, but is not entitled to 
the compensation prescribed by Section 72024. 

(4) A student member shall be seated with the members of the governing board 
and shall be recognized as a full member of the board at the meetings, including 

receiving all materials presented to the board members and participating in the 
questioning of witnesses and the discussion of issues. 

(5) A student member shall not be included in determining the vote required to 
carry any measure before the board. 

(6) A student member shall not be liable for any acts of the governing board. 

(b) Notwithstanding subdivision (a), a student member selected to serve on the 
governing board of a community college district pursuant to subdivision (a) may do 

any of the following: 

(1) Make and second motions at the discretion of the governing board. 

(2) Attend closed sessions, other than closed sessions on personnel matters or 
collective bargaining matters, at the discretion of the governing board. 

(3) Receive compensation, at the discretion of the governing board, up to the 
amount prescribed by Section 72024. 

(4) Serve a term of one year commencing on May 15 of each year, at the 
discretion of the governing board. 

(c) It is the intent of the Legislature that any decision or action, including any 
contract entered into pursuant thereto, upon the motion or second of a motion of a 

student member, shall be fully legal and enforceable against the community college 
district or any party thereto. 

(d) The governing board of each community college district shall, by May 15 of each 
year, adopt rules and regulations implementing this section. These rules and 

regulations shall be effective until May 15 of the following year. 

(e) If a state court finds this section is unlawful, the court may order, as equitable 
relief, that the administering entity that is the subject of the lawsuit terminate any 

waiver awarded under this statute or provision, but no money damages, tuition 
refund or waiver, or other retroactive relief may be awarded.  In any action in 

which the court finds this section is unlawful, the California Community Colleges are 
immune from the imposition of any award of money damages, tuition refund or 

waiver, or other retroactive relief. 

(Amended by Stats. 2023, Ch. 103, Sec. 1. (AB 1541) Effective January 1, 2024.) 
 



 
Additional Related Reference 

 
 
62 Ops. Cal. Atty. Gen. 126, 1979 WL 29208 (Cal.A.G.) 
 

Office of the Attorney General 
State of California 

Opinion No. CV 78-104 
March 23, 1979 

 
THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF THE CALIFORNIA COMMUNITY COLLEGES 
 
THE BOARD OF GOVERNORS OF THE CALIFORNIA COMMUNITY COLLEGES 
through Gary M. Gallery, legal counsel, has requested an opinion on the following 
questions: 
 
1. Are the student members of community college district governing boards required to 
meet all eligibility requirements set forth in Education Code section 72103? 
 
2. In addition to the eligibility requirements set forth in Education Code Section 72023.5 
and those which may be required under Education Code Section 72103, may community 
college district governing boards establish additional eligibility requirements for student 
members, such as minimum academic standards, number of units completed, current unit 
load, day student status, prohibition of concurrent district employment or of concurrent 
occupation of any student body office? 
 
3. Does Education Code section 72023.5 require that student members be selected in a 
majority vote election which is open to all community college students enrolled in the 
district? Or, alternatively, may the community college district governing board establish 
procedures whereby the student board member is: (a) selected by the student body 
senate; (b) selected by the student body president; (c) the student body president (if just 
one college in the district); or (d) appointed by the board? 
 
4. Are student members required to be sworn in and given the oath of office in the same 
manner as are other members of the community college district governing board? 
 
5. May a student member serve as either the president or secretary of the community 
college district governing board? 
 
6. Are student members authorized to attend special meetings of the community college 
district governing board? 
 
7. Is a student member entitled to make, amend and second motions which are to be 
voted upon by the community college district governing board? 
 



 
8. Are student members entitled to all fringe benefits which are provided by a community 
college district governing board to the other members of the board? 
 
9. Are student members entitled to transportation costs for visits to schools or 
conferences authorized for elected members of a community college district governing 
board? 
 
The conclusions are: 
1. Student members of community college district governing boards are not required to 
meet all eligibility requirements set forth in Education Code section 72103. 
 
2. A community college district governing board may not establish eligibility requirements 
for student members in addition to those set forth in Education Code section 72023.5. 
 
3. Student members are required to be selected in an election by a majority or plurality of 
all community college students enrolled in the district. 
 
4. Student members are required to be sworn and given the oath of office in the same 
manner as are other members of the community college district governing board. 
 
*2 5. A student member may not serve as the president of the community college district 
governing board. A student member may serve as the secretary of the community college 
district governing board provided that such student member may not attend executive 
sessions of said board. 
 
6. Student members are authorized to attend special meetings of the community college 
district governing board. 
 
7. A student member is not entitled to make, amend and second motions to be voted upon 
by the community college district governing board. 
 
8. A student member is not entitled to all fringe benefits which are provided by a 
community college district governing board to other members of the board. 
 
9. Student members are not entitled to transportation costs for visits to schools or 
conferences authorized for other members of a community college district governing 
board which are not conducted in conjunction with an annual, regular or special meeting 
of the board. 
 

ANALYSIS 
 
The series of questions presented concerns the interpretation and analysis of section 
72023.5 of the Education Code [FN1] pertaining to student members of a community 
college district governing board: 



 
‘The governing board of each community college district shall order the inclusion 
within the membership of the governing board, in addition to the number of members 
otherwise prescribed, one or more nonvoting students who are residents of the district.  
Such students shall have the right to attend each and all meetings of the governing 
board, except that student members shall not have the right, or be afforded the 
opportunity, to attend executive sessions of the governing board. 
 
‘The students selected to serve on the governing board, in addition to being residents 
of the district, shall be enrolled in a community college of the district and shall be 
chosen, and shall be recalled, by the students enrolled in the community colleges of 
the district in accordance with procedures prescribed by the governing board.  The 
term of the student members shall be one year commencing on July 1 of each year. 
 
‘The nonvoting student members appointed pursuant to this section shall be entitled 
to the mileage allowance prescribed by Section 72123 to the same extent as regular 
members, but are not entitled to the compensation prescribed by Section 72425. 
 
‘A nonvoting student member shall be seated with the members of the governing 
board and shall be recognized as a full member of the board at the meetings, including 
receiving all materials presented to the board members and participating in the 
questioning of witnesses and the discussion of issues. 
 
‘The nonvoting student member shall not be included in determining the vote required 
to carry any measure before the board. 
 
‘The nonvoting student member shall not be liable for any acts of the governing board.’ 
 

The first inquiry is whether a student member of a community college district governing 
board is required to meet all of the eligibility requirements set forth in section 72103.  That 
section, prescribing the qualifications for election or appointment as a member of a 
governing board of a community college district, provides as follows: 

*3 ‘Any person, regardless of sex, who is 18 years of age or older, a citizen of the 
state, a resident of the community college district, a registered voter, and who is not 
disqualified by the Constitution or laws of the state from holding a civil office, is eligible 
to be elected or appointed a member of a governing board of a community college 
district.’ 

 
Prior to the enactment of section 72023.5 (Stats. 1977, ch. 1184, § 7) section 72103 
(formerly § 1112, Stats. 1963, ch. 629, § 2, p. 1529, as amended by Stats. 1971, ch. 
1748, § 31, p. 3749) clearly pertained exclusively to governing board members elected in 
accordance with sections 72022 and 72023. It is equally apparent that the Legislature did 
not intend to require student members selected under the provisions of section 72023.5 
to meet all of the qualifications prescribed for governing board members in section 72103. 
The Legislature expressly set forth in section 72023.5 the eligibility requirements of 
student members. Specifically, such a member must be a resident of the district and 



 
enrolled in a community college of the district. No reference, express or implied, is made 
to the requirements of section 72103 that the member be 18 years of age, a citizen of the 
state, a registered voter, and not disqualified by the Constitution or laws of the state from 
holding a civil office. 
 
Under the maxim ‘expressio unius est exclusio alterius' the enumeration of items within a 
statute implies the exclusion of other items within the enumerated class. (55 
Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 338, 340 (1972); 32 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 238, 239 (1958).) Thus, the 
express inclusion in section 72023.5 of one of the requirements set forth in section 72103, 
i.e., residence within the district, implies the exclusion of the remaining requirements. 
Consequently, while section 72103 expressly includes the requirements that the member 
be 18 years of age, a citizen of the state, a registered voter, and not disqualified by the 
Constitution or laws of the state from holding a civil office, section 72023.5 impliedly 
excludes such requirements. In the event of an ostensible conflict between two state 
statutes, the more specific enactment will control over the more general one. (Mitchell v. 
County Sanitation District (1958) 164 Cal.App.2d 133, 141; Civ. Code, § 3534; 59 
Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 73, 79 (1976).) Section 72023.5 pertains specifically to student 
members and therefore controls over the more general provisions of section 72103. 
Moreover, if all of the requirements set forth in section 72103 were applicable to student 
members, the requirement in section 72023.5 that a student member be a resident of the 
district would be rendered meaningless since that requirement is contained in section 
72103. A cardinal rule of statutory construction is that an interpretation rendering some 
words surplusage is to be avoided. (People v. Gilbert (1969) 1 Cal.3d 475, 480.) It will be 
presumed that every word, phrase, and provision of a statute was intended to have some 
meaning and to perform some useful office. (Van Nuis v. Los Angeles Soap Co. (1973) 
36 Cal.App.3d 222, 228-229.) 
 
*4 Finally, the extension to student members of the requirements specified in section 
72103 is neither logically nor rationally indicated. Regular members of a governing board 
must be elected pursuant to sections 72022 and 72023 by electors who are themselves 
required to be citizens of the United States and 18 years of age. (Cal. Const., art. II, § 2.) 
Student members are chosen by the students enrolled in the community colleges of the 
district. (§ 72023.5.) The authority and duties of a student member are fundamentally 
different from those of a regular member. It is sufficient to note that a student member is 
not authorized to vote at a meeting or to attend executive sessions. (§ 72023.5.) Thus, 
the application of different qualifications is entirely reasonable. It may be additionally 
noted that the requirement that a member of the governing board be 18 years of age 
would have a far different effect upon the number of students who would be eligible for 
student membership than it has on the eligibility of electors in the community at large to 
be elected to the governing board. We perceive in the statutory scheme and purpose no 
legislative intent to disqualify such a substantial proportion of the students represented. 
 
 



 
Although section 72103 does not apply to student members, other provisions pertaining 
to eligibility for public office should be examined. Government Code section 1020 
provides: 

‘A person is incapable of holding a civil office if at the time of his election or 
appointment he is not 18 years of age and a citizen of the state.’ [FN2] 

A member of a governing board of a community college district is clearly a holder of a 
civil office. (Gov. Code, § 1001; cf. 55 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 94, 95 (1972).) It remains to be 
determined, however, whether a student member holds a ‘civil office’ within the purview 
of Government Code section 1020. The term is not limited to the enumeration of those 
officers designated in Government Code section 1001 as civil executive officers. (15 
Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 146, 148 (1950).) It has been stated that the duties constitute the 
principal test of a civil or public office. (Id., at p. 149.) The right, authority, and duty 
conferred by law must be continuing and permanent, not transient, occasional or 
incidental, involve an exercise of some of the sovereign power of the state, and require 
the exercise of judgment and discretion. (Spreckels v. Graham (1924) 194 Cal. 516, 528-
530; 57 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 498, 501 (1974); 57 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 303, 306-307 (1974); 
15 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 146, 148-149 (1950); 2 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 461, 463-465 (1943).) 
The delegation of some portion of the sovereign functions of government is almost 
universally regarded as essential to the existence of a public office. (57 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 
498, 501 (1974).) Under the provisions of section 72023.5 a student member cannot vote, 
is not included in determining the vote required to carry any measure before the board, 
may not attend executive sessions of the board, is not compensated, and is not liable for 
any acts of the governing board. Although a student member is ‘seated with the members 
of the governing board’ and ‘recognized as a full member of the board at the meetings, 
including receiving all materials presented to the board members and participating in the 
questioning of witnesses and discussion of issues,’ he does not participate in the actual 
determination of a course of action. It cannot be said, therefore, that a student member 
exercises a part of the sovereign power of the government.  Consequently, a student 
member does not hold a civil office and is not subject to the requirements of Government 
Code section 1020. [FN3] It may be noted that section 72103 expressly refers to the 
qualifications prescribed by law for the holding of a civil office, whereas section 72023.5 
contains no such reference to such qualifications or to the term ‘civil office.’ It is concluded 
that the student members of community college district governing boards are not required 
to meet all eligibility requirements set forth in section 72103. 
 
*5 The second inquiry is whether a community college district governing board may 
establish eligibility requirements for student members, such as minimum academic 
standards, number of units completed, current unit load, day student status, prohibition 
of concurrent district employment or of concurrent occupation of any student body office, 
in addition to the eligibility requirements set forth in section 72023.5.  That section 
provides in pertinent part that the students selected to serve on the governing 
board, in addition to being residents of the district, shall be enrolled in a community 
college of the district and shall be chosen, and shall be recalled, by the students 
enrolled in the community colleges of the district in accordance with procedures 
prescribed by the governing board.  As previously noted, under the maxim 



 
‘expressio unius est exclusio alterius' the inclusion of one or more qualifications 
implies the exclusion of others.  Moreover, student members are chosen by the 
students.  The statute does not provide for participation in the selection by the governing 
board.  Thus, while the board may prescribe the procedures by which the students choose 
their representative, it may not circumscribe their choice by means of imposing eligibility 
limitations.  It is concluded that a community college district governing board may 
not establish eligibility requirements for student members in addition to those set 
forth in section 72023.5. 
 
The third inquiry is whether student members must be selected in a majority vote election 
which is open to all community college students enrolled in the district. Section 72023.5 
expressly provides that student members shall be chosen and subject to recall ‘by the 
students enrolled in the community colleges of the district.’ Every person who is a student 
and who is enrolled in one of the community colleges of the district is equally eligible to 
participate in the selection process. In the absence of any statutory indication or inference 
to the contrary, the participation of each such person must be equally weighted. In view 
of the statutory language presented, no other intent can be reasonably ascribed to the 
Legislature. It is concluded that student members must be selected in an election by a 
majority or plurality of all community college students enrolled in the district. 
 
The fourth inquiry is whether student members are required to be sworn and given the 
oath of office in the same manner as are other members of the community college district 
governing board. California Constitution, article XX, section 3 provides that ‘. . . all public 
officers and employees . . . except such inferior officers and employees as may be by law 
exempted, shall, before they enter upon the duties of their respective offices, take and 
subscribe . . .’ the oath or affirmation therein prescribed. That section further provides that 
the term ‘public officer and employee’ includes every officer and employee of the state or 
of its political subdivisions, including any division or instrumentality thereof. Thus, the 
provision applies to public officers (cf. Gov. Code, §§ 1360, 1367, 1303, 1026) and to 
public employees (cf. Gov. Code, §§ 3101-3107, 1027; and see Smith v. County Engineer 
(1968) 266 Cal.App.2d 645, 653; San Francisco Police Officers Assn. v. City and County 
of San Francisco (1977) 69 Cal.App.3d 1019, 1023) including employees of a community 
college district (cf. Chilton v. Contra Costa Community College Dist. (1976) 55 Cal.App.3d 
544). The constitution and cited statutes requiring public employees to take and subscribe 
the oath preempt the field (San Francisco Police Officers Assn. v. City and County of San 
Francisco, supra, 69 Cal.App.3d, at 1024) and are mandatory (Smith v. County Engineer, 
supra, 266 Cal.App.2d, at 653-654). 
 
*6 The constitutional requirement applies to all public officers and employees except such 
inferior officers and employees as may be by law exempted. With the exception of those 
persons who may be by law exempted, the requirement is universal and absolute. A 
student member is not exempted by any law from the subject provisions. Although the 
role of a student member is limited, he does perform some of the functions which are 
traditional prerogatives of the duly elected members of the board. For this reason, section 
72023.5 provides that he ‘shall be recognized as a full member of the board at the 



 
meetings.’ It is concluded therefore that student members are required to be sworn and 
given the oath of office in the same manner as are other members of the community 
college district governing board. 
 
The fifth inquiry is whether a student member may serve as either the president or 
secretary of the community college district governing board. Sections 72025, 72125, and 
72402 which were enacted prior to the enactment of section 72023.5 expressly provide 
that the president shall be elected by the board from among its members. These statutes 
clearly referred to those regular members who were eligible to cast a vote. Section 
72023.5 delineates the function of a student member and contains no indication of 
legislative intent to change the meaning of the earlier enacted provisions. On the contrary, 
while a student member is ‘seated with’ the members of the board and ‘recognized as a 
full member of the board at the meetings,’ he cannot vote or be counted in determining 
the vote required to carry any measure before the board, and may not attend executive 
sessions of the board. (§ 72023.5.) We cannot attribute to the Legislature an intent to 
permit the exclusion of the president of the board from such functions. Consequently, it 
is concluded that a student member may not serve as president of the board. 
 
The board is also required to select a secretary. (§§ 72025, 72030, 72125.) Section 72405 
provides as follows: 

‘The governing board of any community college district may employ a person not a 
member of the board to act as secretary and bookkeeper for the board, and may 
delegate to such secretary the duties prescribed in subdivisions (a) and (c) of Section 
72600.’ 

Government Code section 54957.2 provides that a local agency may designate a clerk or 
other officer or employee of the local agency to attend each executive session of the 
legislative body and to keep and enter in a minute book a record of topics discussed and 
decisions made at the meeting. A student member is, however, expressly excluded from 
attendance at any such executive session of the board. (§ 72023.5.) Since the governing 
board is not compelled to designate its secretary as the person authorized to attend 
executive sessions, it is concluded that a student member who is otherwise qualified may 
serve as secretary of the board provided that such student member may not attend 
executive sessions of the board. 
 
*7 The sixth inquiry is whether a student member is authorized to attend special meetings 
of the community college district governing board. Section 72129 provides for special 
meetings at the call of the president of the board or of a majority of its members. Section 
72023.5 provides in pertinent part that student members shall have the right to attend 
‘each and all meetings' of the governing board, except that student members shall not 
have the right, or be afforded the opportunity, to attend executive sessions of the board. 
Section 72122 provides for the holding of executive sessions. The term ‘each and all 
meetings' is universal and absolute and includes special meetings and executive 
sessions. Thus, the exclusion of student members from executive sessions is stated in 
the form of an express exception. Special meetings are not included within the exception. 
As previously noted, under the maxim ‘expressio unius est exclusio alterius' the inclusion 



 
of one or more qualifications implies the exclusion of others. Since the meaning of the 
term ‘each and all meetings' is unequivocal and special meetings are not expressly 
excluded, it is concluded that a student member is authorized to attend such meetings of 
the board. 
 
The seventh inquiry is whether a student member is entitled to make, amend and second 
motions which are to be voted upon by the board. It is clear that a student member is not 
authorized to vote. (§ 72023.5.) The voting process in parliamentary procedure is 
universally initiated by the presentation of a motion. Thus, such presentation is an integral 
function of the voting process. A motion is both a formal proposal that an official course 
of action be followed, and an indication that the proposal has, in the judgment of at least 
one of the voters, sufficient merit to warrant the consideration of the voting membership 
as a whole. For the same reason, a motion typically requires a second. Since a student 
member may not vote, a motion presented by such member would be void of such 
assurances. If a course of action sought to be proposed by a student member is viewed 
by any voting member as worthy of consideration, the voting member may present it in 
the form of a motion. On the other hand, if a suggested course of action is not deemed 
sufficiently meritorious by any voting member, the presentation of such a motion would 
be a futile exercise. 
 
Finally, section 72023.5 provides that a student member is entitled to receive all materials 
presented to the board members, and to participate in the questioning of witnesses and 
the discussion of issues. No reasonable inference may be drawn from the purview of such 
expressly stated powers that the Legislature intended to confer the power to make a 
motion. On the contrary, the term ‘discussion of issues' is so manifestly limited as to 
clearly imply the exclusion of the power to present a motion. It is concluded therefore that 
a student member is not entitled to make, amend and second motions to be voted upon 
by the board. 
 
*8 The eighth inquiry is whether a student member is entitled to all fringe benefits which 
are provided by a community college district governing board to the other members of the 
board. Government Code section 53201 provides that the legislative body of a local 
agency, [FN4] subject to such conditions as may be established by it, may provide for any 
health and welfare benefits of its officers and employees [FN5] who elect to accept such 
benefits. Any member of a legislative body may participate in any such benefit plan 
without regard to any statutory limitation upon compensation. (Gov. Code, § 53208; 54 
Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 124 (1971).) Consequently, a community college district governing 
board is authorized to provide health and welfare benefits for its members, including a 
student member who is otherwise precluded under section 72023.5 from receiving 
compensation. However, neither the provisions of the Government Code referred to 
above, nor of the Education Code require that equal benefits be provided to all classes of 
employees or officers. On the contrary, the Legislature clearly perceived a distinct 
classification between regular members who are entitled to compensation (§ 72425), and 
student members who are not (§ 72023.5). Nothing in this statutory scheme implies that 
student members should otherwise be treated equally with regular members. Nor is there 



 
any constitutional requirement of uniform treatment of various categories of personnel, 
but only that there be a reasonable basis for each classification. (Bilyeu v. State 
Employees' Retirement System (1962) 58 Cal.2d 618, 623.) Such a basis clearly exists 
with respect to the distinction between student members and regular members. The 
former serve one year terms (§ 72023.5) while the latter are elected to four year terms 
(§§ 72022, 72023). Both the student member's authority and liability for the acts of the 
governing board are specifically limited. (§ 72023.5.) Such differences would plainly justify 
a distinction with regard to benefits and compensation. (Cf. Bilyeu v. State Employees' 
Retirement System, supra.) It is concluded therefore that a student member is neither 
statutorily nor constitutionally entitled to all fringe benefits which may be provided by a 
community college district governing board to the other members of the board. 
 
The final inquiry is whether a student member of a community college district governing 
board is entitled to transportation costs for visits to schools which are required of the 
board under section 72236 [FN6] or to conferences authorized for elected board 
members. Section 72023.5 provides in pertinent part that student members shall be 
entitled to the mileage allowance prescribed by section 72123 to the same extent as 
regular members. Section 72123 provides in part as follows: 

‘Each member of the governing board of a community college district may be allowed 
for travel necessary to attend annual, regular and special meetings of the governing 
board the rate of mileage determined by the governing board.’ 

*9 This section refers to annual, regular and special meetings. No express reference is 
made to school visitations or conferences. The principal inquiry, then, is whether such 
school visitations or conferences are annual, regular, or special meetings within the 
purview of section 72123. An annual meeting is held for the specified purposes of 
organization and election of a president and secretary. (§ 72125.) The regular business 
of the board may also be conducted at such a meeting. (§ 72124.) Regular meetings of 
the board (§§ 72120, 72126) are held for the purpose of conducting its regular business 
(§ 72121). Special meetings may be called (§ 72129) for the transaction of business 
specified in the call, except that by unanimous consent any business matter may be 
transacted (§ 72131). School visitation is a statutory obligation imposed in addition to and 
apart from the conduct of annual, regular, and special meetings. The purpose and 
function of such visitations are to examine into the management, needs, and conditions 
of the schools. The exclusive function is fact finding. [FN7] There is no requirement for an 
agenda or the taking of minutes as in the case of a meeting. (Cf. § 72121.) There is no 
provision for the transaction of business. Indeed, the purely investigative function may be 
performed by the district superintendent or his assistants. (§ 72236.) Consequently, 
school visitations are not annual, regular, or special meetings within the purview of section 
72123. 
 
Nor do conferences which are not conducted in conjunction with an annual, regular, or 
special meeting of the governing board fall within the provisions of section 72123. [FN8] 
Moreover, section 72023.5 provides specifically that student members shall be 
recognized as full members of the board at the meetings. Thus, student members are not 
entitled to recognition and have no authority or responsibility apart from their limited 



 
participation at the meetings of the board. [FN9] There would be no basis therefore for an 
allowance for transportation costs for any function other than attendance at the meetings. 
It is concluded that a student member is not entitled to transportation costs for visits to 
schools or for conferences which are not conducted in conjunction with an annual, regular 
or special meeting of the governing board. 
 
GEORGE DEUKMEJIAN 
Attorney General 
 
ANTHONY S. DaVIGO 
Deputy Attorney General 
 
[FN1]. Hereinafter, all section references are to the Education Code unless otherwise 
indicated. 
 
[FN2]. Citizens of the state are also citizens of the United States. (Gov. Code, § 241; U.S. 
Const., Amend. 14, § 1.) With regard to the minimum age requirement, Government Code 
section 275.2 does not provide to the contrary. (57 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 498, 500 (1974).) 
 
[FN3]. We have previously held that Government Code section 1020 is unconstitutional 
to the extent that it precludes a noncitizen from holding any civil office. (61 
Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 528 (1978).) The validity of the minimum age requirement was not 
considered. (Id., fn. 5.) The constitutional issues are not pertinent to the present 
discussion since it is concluded that the statute is inapplicable to student members. 
 
[FN4]. The term ‘local agency’ refers to any public agency of the state, including a school 
district. (Gov. Code, § 53200, subd. (a).) 
 
[FN5]. The term ‘employees' includes members of the legislative body. (Gov. Code, § 
53200, subd. (e).) 
 
 
[FN6]. The section provides as follows: 

‘The governing board of any community college district shall visit each school in its 
district at least once each term, and examine carefully into the management, needs, 
and conditions of the schools. In any district which employs district superintendents of 
schools, it shall either visit the schools or provide that they shall be visited by the 
district superintendent of schools or his assistants.’ 

 
[FN7]. The problem of defining the term ‘meeting’ has been presented in connection with 
the secret meeting laws. (Gov. Code, § 54950 et seq.; 11120 et seq.) Divergent 
viewpoints as to whether fact finding per se falls within the scope of such laws have been 
propounded. (See Adler v. City Council (1960) 184 Cal.App.2d 763, 773; cf. Sacramento 
Newspaper Guild v. Sacramento County Bd. of Suprs. (1968) 263 Cal.App.2d 41, 47-48.) 
We do not consider the problem here. The present inquiry is not whether a school 



 
visitation is a meeting but whether it is an annual, regular, or special meeting within the 
specific context of section 72123. 
 
[FN8]. Again, related questions in connection with the secret meeting laws are not 
apposite. (See generally, 43 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 36 (1964); 42 Ops.Cal.Atty.Gen. 61 
(1963).) 
 
[FN9]. Section 72423 provides that the governing board of each community college 
district shall provide for the payment of the traveling expenses of any representatives of 
the board when performing services directed by the board. The present inquiry, however, 
relates only to a student's service as a student member of the board, i.e., not as a 
representative of the board, but of the students. 
 



 
 

BP 2200 
 

Board Policy 
Chapter 2 – Board of Trustees 

 
 

BP 2200 Board Philosophy, Mission, and Roles and Responsibilities 
 
References: 

ACCJC Accreditation Standard IV.B.1.d 4 
 
 
NOTE:  This policy is suggested as good practice.  Board duties and responsibilities 
are also reflected throughout the board policy templates and are addressed in BP 2715 
Code of Ethics/Standards of Practice. 
 
Insert local practice; sample concepts are provided below in red ink. 
 
The Board of Trustees governs on behalf of the citizens of the [ District ] in accordance 
with the authority granted and duties defined in Education Code Section 70902. 
 
The Board is committed to fulfilling its responsibilities to: 
 

• Represent the public interest 

• Establish policies that define the institutional mission and set prudent, ethical and 
legal standards for college operations 

Optional:  Include language stating the Trustee’s responsibility to be anti-racist.  For 
example: 

• Assure the Board operates in an open, accessible, welcoming spirit, and 
maintains an anti-racist culture 

• Establish policies that ensure the District operates in an anti-racist manner. 

• Hire and evaluate the Chancellor 

• Delegate power and authority to the chief executive to effectively lead the District 

• Assure fiscal health and stability 

• Monitor institutional performance and educational quality 

• Advocate and protect the District 
 
NOTE:  Additional duties and responsibilities may be added. 
 
Philosophy of the Board of Trustees 
(approved 3/15/99, reaffirmed 10/2/00, and amended and reaffirmed 7/12/04) 
 

http://www.accjc.org/wp-content/uploads/2012/11/Accreditation-Standards_Edited-Nov-2012.pdf


 
We, the trustees of the Foothill-De Anza Community College District, commit ourselves 
individually and collectively to the highest standards of conduct.  We acknowledge that 
each of us shares a profound obligation to exercise our best possible judgment as we 
face the matters affecting the health and vitality of this institution which we hold in trust 
for current and future generations.  We pledge to work together on behalf of our 
community in a spirit of cooperation and collaboration. 
 
Mission of the Board of Trustees 
(adopted 5/11/92, amended and reaffirmed 7/12/04) 
 
The Board of Trustees carries out the philosophy, mission, and priorities of Foothill-De 
Anza Community College District through the execution of the following responsibilities: 
 

• Determines policy and direction of the institution, and evaluates the 
implementation of policy recognizing the philosophy of participatory governance 
that exists in the District; 

• Establishes and protects districtwide a climate in which teaching and learning are 
deeply valued, where the worth and dignity of each individual is respected, and 
where cultural diversity is celebrated; 

• Acknowledges students, their opportunities, and their progress as the central 
purpose of our colleges and supports their academic pursuit through careful 
program review; 

• Ensures the fiscal health and stability of the Colleges and Central Services by 
having close working relationships with the Chancellor, financial staff, and 
auditors, and assures that proper procedures are in place to monitor this fiscal 
stability; 

• Appoints, supports and assesses the performance of the Chancellor, and 
assures integrity and oversight of the evaluation processes for all district 
employees and the Board itself; 

• Ensures quality teaching through its oversight of policies and procedures for 
hiring, tenure review, and professional growth of faculty and administrative staff, 
and clearly recognizes the contribution of classified staff in enabling teaching and 
learning to take place; 

• Acts as a community bridge, recognizing that community priorities are to be 
addressed through program offerings, types of facilities, and neighborly 
cooperation; 

• Serves as a positive agent of change, recognizing that it holds the Colleges in 
trust for future generations of students; 

• Serves as a court of appeal; and 

• Works constantly to improve the Board's quality of trusteeship through 
orientation, education, and assessment of its own performance. 

 
Roles and Responsibilities 
(adopted 3/15/99, amended and reaffirmed 7/12/04) 



 
 
The Board of Trustees fulfills its roles and responsibilities in each of the following areas: 
 

A. BOARD LEADERSHIP, OVERSIGHT, AND REPRESENTATION 
1. To establish and oversee the District’s mission, purposes, goals, policies, 

programs, services, and needs, and ensure implementation through the 
Chancellor. 

2. To appoint, support, and evaluate the Chancellor. 
3. To hold the educational welfare of the students attending the colleges as a 

primary concern of the Trustees. 
4. To preserve the institutional autonomy and integrity of the District by serving as a 

model for all to emulate. 
5. To represent a broad cross section of the community and reflect the public 

interest; to represent the District, its Colleges, its aspirations, its students, and 
the taxpayers; to serve the District as a whole rather than any special interests; 
and to serve as a bridge between the community, the District and its Colleges. 

6. To ensure that the District is well managed. 
7. To assure long range planning. 
8. To fulfill its fiduciary responsibilities to the public by approving the District’s 

budget, ensuring that it reflects the District’s mission, priorities and goals; and 
informing the community of the financial needs of the District. 

9. To provide leadership and advocacy to obtain and assure adequate funding, 
fiscal soundness, and sustainability of the District’s programs and facilities. 

10. To support the Foundation and Chancellor in implementing fundraising strategies 
through donor cultivation and solicitation. 

11. To participate in the life of the Colleges’ communities (e.g., attending staff and 
student recognition ceremonies, special events, fundraisers, etc.) and to be 
willing to serve on committees. 

12. To advocate for legislation to meet the needs of the District and be active and 
supportive of political activity at the local, state, and national level concerning 
laws and funding activities of the community college system, and to remain 
informed of and participate in community college trustee organizations to keep 
each member abreast of state and national trends and issues. 

 
B. BOARD CONDUCT, PERFORMANCE AND STATUTORY RESPONSIBILITIES 
1. To observe all state and federal statutes and administrative regulations, including 

the open meeting requirements of the Brown Act, the Education Code, the 
Government Code, and the Labor Code. 

2. To follow all statutes regarding conflicts of interest, to avoid even the appearance 
of a conflict of interest that might embarrass the Board or the institution, and to 
reveal any possible conflict of interest to the Board in a timely fashion. 

3. To attend all Board meetings regularly and promptly, and review all materials 
sent out in advance of the meetings in order to assure meaningful participation 
and make informed decisions. 



 
4. To ask appropriate, timely and substantive questions at Board meetings 

consistent with one's conscience and convictions. 
5. To periodically suggest agenda items for Board meetings to ensure that 

significant policy-related matters are addressed. 
6. To vote on all motions of the Board except when removal from action for conflict 

of interest is declared, to make decisions only after all the facts have been 
presented and discussed. 

7. To maintain the confidentiality of the Board's closed sessions. 
8. To serve as a court of appeal. 
9. To support and defend all appropriate actions by the Chancellor, the Presidents, 

Administration, Faculty, and Staff. 
10. To make judgments, without prejudice, based upon information received from 

individuals on the campuses and encourage those with real or perceived 
grievances to follow established policies and procedures through their 
supervisors.  All matters of potential significance should be brought to the 
attention of the Chancellor or Board President.  Any personal criticisms of staff 
should be presented to the Chancellor. 

11. To consult with the Chancellor’s designated contact persons responsible for 
board items; to request special information, studies or board items through the 
Board or Board President; to be at all times polite and respectful of staff, 
remembering that they have other duties and responsibilities, and to avoid 
placing or appearing to place pressure of any kind on individual students, faculty, 
staff, or administrators. 

12. To speak for the Board only when designated to do so if contacted by the media. 
13. To follow the same rules, regulations, and policies of the District as do other 

employees related to benefits, travel, parking, financial reimbursements, etc. 
14. To encourage periodic review of the Board's performance. 
15. To communicate with the Chancellor's Office regarding extended absences, 

vacations, etc. 
 
Also see BP 2715 Code of Ethics/Standards of Practice. 
 
 
NOTE:  The language in red ink is suggested as good practice and recommended by the Policy & 
Procedure Service and its legal counsel (Liebert Cassidy Whitmore).  This policy template was issued by 
the Policy & Procedure Service in August 2008 with revisions in November 2014 (to reflect the accreditation 
standard section reference), April 2021, and April 2024 (to reflect the new 2024 ACCJC Accreditation 
Standard Section).  The language in black ink is from current FHDACCD BP 2200 Board Philosophy, 
Mission, and Roles and Responsibilities adopted on 2/3/14 and reviewed on 7/11/22 with the following 
additional notes:  Philosophy of the Board of Trustees approved 3/15/99, reaffirmed 10/2/00, and amended 
and reaffirmed 7/12/04, Mission of the Board of Trustees adopted 5/11/92, amended and reaffirmed 7/12/04 
Roles and Responsibilities adopted 3/15/99, amended and reaffirmed 7/12/04.  The language in blue ink 
is included for consideration.  The language in yellow highlighting is included to draw the reviewers’ 
attention, and this language will be removed upon final approval.  The language in gray highlighting was 
uniquely added by the FHDACCD and requires careful review by leaders to ensure the language remains 
accurate and up-to-date.  The legal citation language reflected after the page break (below) should be 
removed following review and revision. 

 



 
Adopted:  2/3/14 
Revised:  ________ 
Reviewed:  7/11/22 
 

 

  

  



 
Legal Citation for BP 2200 

 
Standard 4: Governance and Decision-Making 
 
The institution engages in clear and effective governance practices that support the 
achievement of its mission.  Governance roles and responsibilities are delineated in 
widely distributed policies, and institutional decision-making processes provide 
opportunities for meaningful participation and inclusion of relevant stakeholders. 
 
4.1 The institution upholds an explicit commitment to principles of academic freedom, 

academic integrity, and freedom of inquiry. 
 
4.2. Roles, responsibilities, and authority for decision-making are clearly defined 

and communicated throughout the institution.  The institution’s structure for 
decision-making provides opportunities for stakeholder participation and ensures 
the inclusion of relevant perspectives. 

 
4.3. The institution’s decision-making structures are used consistently and effectively.  

Institutional decision-making practices support a climate of collaboration and 
innovation that advances the mission and prioritizes equitable student outcomes. 

 
4.4. Acting through policy, the governing board takes responsibility for the 

overall quality and stability of the institution, and regularly monitors 
progress towards its goals and fiscal health. 

 
4.5. The governing board selects and evaluates the institution’s chief executive officer 

(CEO).  The governing board gives the CEO full authority to implement board 
policies and ensure effective operations and fulfillment of the institutional 
mission. 

 
4.6. The governing board functions effectively as a collective entity to promote the 

institution’s values and mission and fulfill its fiduciary responsibilities.  The 
governing board demonstrates an ability to self-govern in adherence to its bylaws 
and expectations for best practices in board governance. 

 
 
Required Documentation – Governance and Decision-Making 
 
Within the Institutional Self-Evaluation Report, the institution will provide narratives and 
a variety of evidence sources to describe and demonstrate alignment with each 
Standard.  Institutions must also include documentation of the required items below.  
This documentation can be included as supporting evidence for the Standard narratives 
if appropriate, or they may be provided as stand-alone files.  Peer Review Teams will 
confirm these items during the comprehensive review process using a checklist. 
 



 
• Governing board policies/procedures for selecting and regularly evaluating its 

chief executive officer 
 

• Governing board policies/procedures/bylaws related to Board Ethics 
 

• Governing board policies/procedures/bylaws related to conflict of interest 
 


	06/14/2024, Chancellor’s Advisory Council Agenda
	RETIRE - BP 5065 Counseling
	RETIRE - BP 6210 Philosophy for Counseling Program
	RETIRE - BP 2306 Representative to Vote for County Committee (County Committee on School District Organization)
	PROPOSE TO RETIRE - BP 1140 Community Service
	PROPOSE TO RETIRE - BP 1150 Community Services Short Courses and Fee-Based Programs
	PROPOSE TO RETIRE - BP 1800 Auxiliary Organizations
	DRAFT - BP 2010 Board Membership
	EDUCATION CODE - EDC
	TITLE 3. POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION [66000 - 101060]
	DIVISION 7. COMMUNITY COLLEGES [70900 - 88810]
	PART 45. DISTRICTS AND GOVERNING BOARDS [72000 - 72701]
	CHAPTER 1. General Provisions [72000 - 72036.5]
	ARTICLE 3. Organization of District Boards [72022 - 72036.5]

	EDUCATION CODE - EDC
	TITLE 3. POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION [66000 - 101060]
	DIVISION 7. COMMUNITY COLLEGES [70900 - 88810]
	PART 45. DISTRICTS AND GOVERNING BOARDS [72000 - 72701]
	CHAPTER 2. Meetings and Members [72101 - 72129]
	ARTICLE 1. Membership [72101 - 72104]

	EDUCATION CODE - EDC
	TITLE 3. POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION [66000 - 101060]
	DIVISION 7. COMMUNITY COLLEGES [70900 - 88810]
	PART 45. DISTRICTS AND GOVERNING BOARDS [72000 - 72701]
	CHAPTER 2. Meetings and Members [72101 - 72129]
	ARTICLE 1. Membership [72101 - 72104]


	DRAFT - BP 2100 Board Elections
	EDUCATION CODE - EDC
	TITLE 1. GENERAL EDUCATION CODE PROVISIONS [1. - 32500.]
	DIVISION 1. GENERAL EDUCATION CODE PROVISIONS [1. - 32500.]
	PART 4. ELECTIONS [5000. - 5442.]
	CHAPTER 1. Election of School District Board Members [5000. - 5095.]
	ARTICLE 1. Elections [5000. - 5033.]

	EDUCATION CODE - EDC
	TITLE 3. POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION [66000 - 101149.5]
	DIVISION 7. COMMUNITY COLLEGES [70900 - 88933]
	PART 45. DISTRICTS AND GOVERNING BOARDS [72000 - 72701]
	CHAPTER 1. General Provisions [72000 - 72036.5]
	ARTICLE 3. Organization of District Boards [72022 - 72036.5]


	DRAFT - BP 2110 Vacancies on the Board
	EDUCATION CODE - EDC
	TITLE 1 GENERAL EDUCATION CODE PROVISIONS [1. - 32500]
	DIVISION 1 GENERAL EDUCATION CODE PROVISIONS [1. - 32500]
	PART 4. ELECTIONS [5000 - 5442]
	CHAPTER 1. Election of School District Board Members [5000 - 5095]
	ARTICLE 3. Vacancies [5090 - 5095]

	GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV
	TITLE 1. GENERAL [100 - 7914]
	DIVISION 4. PUBLIC OFFICERS AND EMPLOYEES [1000 - 3599]
	CHAPTER 4. Resignations and Vacancies [1750 - 1782]
	ARTICLE 2. Vacancies [1770 - 1782]


	ELECTIONS CODE - ELEC
	DIVISION 1. ESTABLISHED ELECTION DATES [1000 - 1500]
	CHAPTER 1. Election Dates [1000 - 1003]
	1000.
	1001.
	1002.
	1003.



	ELECTIONS CODE - ELEC
	DIVISION 1. ESTABLISHED ELECTION DATES [1000 - 1500]
	CHAPTER 2. Election Day [1100- 1100.]
	1100.



	ELECTIONS CODE - ELEC
	DIVISION 1. ESTABLISHED ELECTION DATES [1000 - 1500]
	CHAPTER 3. Statewide Elections [1200 - 1202]
	1200.
	1201.
	1202.



	ELECTIONS CODE - ELEC
	DIVISION 1. ESTABLISHED ELECTION DATES [1000 - 1500]
	CHAPTER 4. Local Elections [1300 - 1304]
	1300.
	1301.
	1302.
	1302.1.
	1302.2.
	1302.3.
	1302.4.
	1302.5.
	1303.
	1304.




	DRAFT - AP 2110 Vacancies on the Board
	EDUCATION CODE - EDC
	TITLE 1 GENERAL EDUCATION CODE PROVISIONS [1. - 32500]
	DIVISION 1 GENERAL EDUCATION CODE PROVISIONS [1. - 32500]
	PART 4. ELECTIONS [5000 - 5442]
	CHAPTER 1. Election of School District Board Members [5000 - 5095]
	ARTICLE 3. Vacancies [5090 - 5095]

	GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV
	TITLE 1. GENERAL [100 - 7914]
	DIVISION 4. PUBLIC OFFICERS AND EMPLOYEES [1000 - 3599]
	CHAPTER 4. Resignations and Vacancies [1750 - 1782]
	ARTICLE 2. Vacancies [1770 - 1782]

	GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV
	TITLE 1. GENERAL [100 - 7931.000]
	DIVISION 7. MISCELLANEOUS [6000 - 7599.113]
	CHAPTER 1. Publications and Official Advertising [6000 - 6078]
	ARTICLE 4. Manner of Publication [6060 - 6066]



	DRAFT - BP 2210 Officers of the Board
	EDUCATION CODE - EDC
	TITLE 3. POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION [66000 - 101060]
	DIVISION 7. COMMUNITY COLLEGES [70900 - 88810]
	PART 45. DISTRICTS AND GOVERNING BOARDS [72000 - 72701]
	CHAPTER 1. General Provisions [72000 - 72036.5]
	ARTICLE 1. Naming [72000- 72000.]


	DRAFT - BP 2220 Committees of the Board
	GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV
	TITLE 5. LOCAL AGENCIES [50001 - 57550]
	DIVISION 2. CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 55821]
	PART 1. POWERS AND DUTIES COMMON TO CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 54999.7]
	CHAPTER 9. Meetings [54950 - 54963]

	EDUCATION CODE - EDC
	TITLE 1 GENERAL EDUCATION CODE PROVISIONS [1. - 32527]
	DIVISION 1 GENERAL EDUCATION CODE PROVISIONS [1. - 32527]
	PART 10. SCHOOL BONDS [15100 - 17204]
	CHAPTER 1.5. Strict Accountability in Local School Construction Bonds Act of 2000 [15264 - 15288]
	ARTICLE 2. Citizens’ Oversight Committee [15278 - 15282]

	EDUCATION CODE - EDC
	TITLE 1 GENERAL EDUCATION CODE PROVISIONS [1. - 32527]
	DIVISION 1 GENERAL EDUCATION CODE PROVISIONS [1. - 32527]
	PART 10. SCHOOL BONDS [15100 - 17204]
	CHAPTER 1.5. Strict Accountability in Local School Construction Bonds Act of 2000 [15264 - 15288]
	ARTICLE 2. Citizens’ Oversight Committee [15278 - 15282]


	DRAFT - BP 2305 Annual Organizational Meeting
	EDUCATION CODE - EDC
	TITLE 3. POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION [66000 - 101060]
	DIVISION 7. COMMUNITY COLLEGES [70900 - 88810]
	PART 45. DISTRICTS AND GOVERNING BOARDS [72000 - 72701]
	CHAPTER 1. General Provisions [72000 - 72036.5]
	ARTICLE 1. Naming [72000- 72000.]

	EDUCATION CODE - EDC
	TITLE 1 GENERAL EDUCATION CODE PROVISIONS [1. - 32527]
	DIVISION 1 GENERAL EDUCATION CODE PROVISIONS [1. - 32527]
	PART 4. ELECTIONS [5000 - 5442]
	CHAPTER 1. Election of School District Board Members [5000 - 5095]
	ARTICLE 1. Elections [5000 - 5033]

	EDUCATION CODE - EDC
	TITLE 1 GENERAL EDUCATION CODE PROVISIONS [1. - 32527]
	DIVISION 1 GENERAL EDUCATION CODE PROVISIONS [1. - 32527]
	PART 4. ELECTIONS [5000 - 5442]
	CHAPTER 1. Election of School District Board Members [5000 - 5095]
	ARTICLE 1. Elections [5000 - 5033]


	DRAFT - BP 2310 Regular Meetings of the Board
	EDUCATION CODE - EDC
	TITLE 3. POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION [66000 - 101060]
	DIVISION 7. COMMUNITY COLLEGES [70900 - 88810]
	PART 45. DISTRICTS AND GOVERNING BOARDS [72000 - 72701]
	CHAPTER 1. General Provisions [72000 - 72036.5]
	ARTICLE 1. Naming [72000- 72000.]

	GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV
	TITLE 5. LOCAL AGENCIES [50001 - 57607]
	DIVISION 2. CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 55821]
	PART 1. POWERS AND DUTIES COMMON TO CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 54999.7]
	CHAPTER 9. Meetings [54950 - 54963]

	GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV
	TITLE 5. LOCAL AGENCIES [50001 - 57607]
	DIVISION 2. CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 55821]
	PART 1. POWERS AND DUTIES COMMON TO CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 54999.7]
	CHAPTER 9. Meetings [54950 - 54963]

	GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV
	TITLE 5. LOCAL AGENCIES [50001 - 57607]
	DIVISION 2. CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 55821]
	PART 1. POWERS AND DUTIES COMMON TO CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 54999.7]
	CHAPTER 9. Meetings [54950 - 54963]
	54953.


	GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV
	TITLE 5. LOCAL AGENCIES [50001 - 57607]
	DIVISION 2. CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 55821]
	PART 1. POWERS AND DUTIES COMMON TO CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 54999.7]
	CHAPTER 9. Meetings [54950 - 54963]


	DRAFT - BP 2315 Closed Sessions
	EDUCATION CODE - EDC
	TITLE 3. POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION [66000 - 101060]
	DIVISION 7. COMMUNITY COLLEGES [70900 - 88922]
	PART 45. DISTRICTS AND GOVERNING BOARDS [72000 - 72701]
	CHAPTER 2. Meetings and Members [72101 - 72129]
	ARTICLE 2. Meetings [72121 - 72129]

	GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV
	TITLE 5. LOCAL AGENCIES [50001 - 57607]
	DIVISION 2. CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 55821]
	PART 1. POWERS AND DUTIES COMMON TO CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 54999.7]
	CHAPTER 9. Meetings [54950 - 54963]

	GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV
	TITLE 5. LOCAL AGENCIES [50001 - 57550]
	DIVISION 2. CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 55821]
	PART 1. POWERS AND DUTIES COMMON TO CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 54999.7]
	CHAPTER 9. Meetings [54950 - 54963]

	GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV
	TITLE 5. LOCAL AGENCIES [50001 - 57607]
	DIVISION 2. CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 55821]
	PART 1. POWERS AND DUTIES COMMON TO CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 54999.7]
	CHAPTER 9. Meetings [54950 - 54963]

	GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV
	TITLE 5. LOCAL AGENCIES [50001 - 57550]
	DIVISION 2. CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 55821]
	PART 1. POWERS AND DUTIES COMMON TO CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 54999.7]
	CHAPTER 9. Meetings [54950 - 54963]

	GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV
	TITLE 5. LOCAL AGENCIES [50001 - 57550]
	DIVISION 2. CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 55821]
	PART 1. POWERS AND DUTIES COMMON TO CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 54999.7]
	CHAPTER 9. Meetings [54950 - 54963]

	GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV
	TITLE 5. LOCAL AGENCIES [50001 - 57550]
	DIVISION 2. CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 55821]
	PART 1. POWERS AND DUTIES COMMON TO CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 54999.7]
	CHAPTER 9. Meetings [54950 - 54963]

	GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV
	TITLE 2. GOVERNMENT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA [8000 - 22980]
	DIVISION 3. EXECUTIVE DEPARTMENT [11000 - 15986]
	PART 1. STATE DEPARTMENTS AND AGENCIES [11000 - 11894]
	CHAPTER 1. State Agencies [11000 - 11148.5]
	ARTICLE 9. Meetings [11120 - 11132]


	DRAFT - BP 2320 Special and Emergency Meetings
	EDUCATION CODE - EDC
	TITLE 3. POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION [66000 - 101060]
	DIVISION 7. COMMUNITY COLLEGES [70900 - 88810]
	PART 45. DISTRICTS AND GOVERNING BOARDS [72000 - 72701]
	CHAPTER 2. Meetings and Members [72101 - 72129]
	ARTICLE 2. Meetings [72121 - 72129]


	DRAFT - AP 2320 Special and Emergency Meetings
	EDUCATION CODE - EDC
	TITLE 3. POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION [66000 - 101149.5]
	DIVISION 7. COMMUNITY COLLEGES [70900 - 88933]
	PART 45. DISTRICTS AND GOVERNING BOARDS [72000 - 72701]
	CHAPTER 1. General Provisions [72000 - 72036.5]
	ARTICLE 3. Organization of District Boards [72022 - 72036.5]

	EDUCATION CODE - EDC
	TITLE 3. POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION [66000 - 101060]
	DIVISION 7. COMMUNITY COLLEGES [70900 - 88810]
	PART 45. DISTRICTS AND GOVERNING BOARDS [72000 - 72701]
	CHAPTER 2. Meetings and Members [72101 - 72129]
	ARTICLE 2. Meetings [72121 - 72129]


	DRAFT - BP 2330 Quorum and Voting
	EDUCATION CODE - EDC
	TITLE 1 GENERAL EDUCATION CODE PROVISIONS [1. - 32500]
	DIVISION 1 GENERAL EDUCATION CODE PROVISIONS [1. - 32500]
	PART 10. SCHOOL BONDS [15100 - 17199.6]
	CHAPTER 1.5. Strict Accountability in Local School Construction Bonds Act of 2000 [15264 - 15288]
	ARTICLE 1. General Provisions [15264 - 15276]

	EDUCATION CODE - EDC
	TITLE 3. POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION [66000 - 101060]
	DIVISION 7. COMMUNITY COLLEGES [70900 - 88810]
	PART 45. DISTRICTS AND GOVERNING BOARDS [72000 - 72701]
	CHAPTER 1. General Provisions [72000 - 72036.5]
	ARTICLE 1. Naming [72000- 72000.]

	EDUCATION CODE - EDC
	TITLE 3. POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION [66000 - 101149.5]
	DIVISION 7. COMMUNITY COLLEGES [70900 - 88933]
	PART 49. COMMUNITY COLLEGES, EDUCATION FACILITIES [81003 - 82548]
	CHAPTER 2. Property: Sale, Lease, Use, Gift, and Exchange [81250 - 81563]
	ARTICLE 2. Dedication of Real Property [81310 - 81315]

	EDUCATION CODE - EDC
	TITLE 3. POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION [66000 - 101149.5]
	DIVISION 7. COMMUNITY COLLEGES [70900 - 88933]
	PART 49. COMMUNITY COLLEGES, EDUCATION FACILITIES [81003 - 82548]
	CHAPTER 2. Property: Sale, Lease, Use, Gift, and Exchange [81250 - 81563]
	ARTICLE 4. Sale or Lease of Real Property [81360 - 81382]

	EDUCATION CODE - EDC
	TITLE 3. POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION [66000 - 101060]
	DIVISION 7. COMMUNITY COLLEGES [70900 - 88810]
	PART 49. COMMUNITY COLLEGES, EDUCATION FACILITIES [81003 - 82548]
	CHAPTER 2. Property: Sale, Lease, Use, Gift, and Exchange [81250 - 81553]
	ARTICLE 4. Sale or Lease of Real Property [81360 - 81382]

	EDUCATION CODE - EDC
	TITLE 3. POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION [66000 - 101060]
	DIVISION 7. COMMUNITY COLLEGES [70900 - 88810]
	PART 49. COMMUNITY COLLEGES, EDUCATION FACILITIES [81003 - 82548]
	CHAPTER 2. Property: Sale, Lease, Use, Gift, and Exchange [81250 - 81553]
	ARTICLE 14. Leasing for Production of Gas [81510 - 81512]

	EDUCATION CODE - EDC
	TITLE 3. POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION [66000 - 101060]
	DIVISION 7. COMMUNITY COLLEGES [70900 - 88810]
	PART 49. COMMUNITY COLLEGES, EDUCATION FACILITIES [81003 - 82548]
	CHAPTER 2. Property: Sale, Lease, Use, Gift, and Exchange [81250 - 81553]
	ARTICLE 7. Sale or Lease Between Agencies [81430 - 81433]

	GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV
	TITLE 5. LOCAL AGENCIES [50001 - 57550]
	DIVISION 2. CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 55821]
	PART 1. POWERS AND DUTIES COMMON TO CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 54999.7]
	CHAPTER 1. General [53000 - 53165]
	ARTICLE 5. Regulation of Local Agencies by Counties and Cities [53090 - 53097.5]


	GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV
	TITLE 5. LOCAL AGENCIES [50001 - 57607]
	DIVISION 2. CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 55821]
	PART 1. POWERS AND DUTIES COMMON TO CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 54999.7]
	CHAPTER 9. Meetings [54950 - 54963]

	GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV
	TITLE 5. LOCAL AGENCIES [50001 - 57607]
	DIVISION 2. CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 55821]
	PART 1. POWERS AND DUTIES COMMON TO CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 54999.7]
	CHAPTER 9. Meetings [54950 - 54963]

	GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV
	TITLE 5. LOCAL AGENCIES [50001 - 57607]
	DIVISION 2. CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 55821]
	PART 1. POWERS AND DUTIES COMMON TO CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 54999.7]
	CHAPTER 9. Meetings [54950 - 54963]

	GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV
	TITLE 5. LOCAL AGENCIES [50001 - 57607]
	DIVISION 2. CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 55821]
	PART 1. POWERS AND DUTIES COMMON TO CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 54999.7]
	CHAPTER 9. Meetings [54950 - 54963]

	GOVERNMENT CODE - GOV
	TITLE 5. LOCAL AGENCIES [50001 - 57607]
	DIVISION 2. CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 55821]
	PART 1. POWERS AND DUTIES COMMON TO CITIES, COUNTIES, AND OTHER AGENCIES [53000 - 54999.7]
	CHAPTER 9. Meetings [54950 - 54963]

	CODE OF CIVIL PROCEDURE - CCP
	PART 3. OF SPECIAL PROCEEDINGS OF A CIVIL NATURE [1063 - 1822.60]
	TITLE 7. EMINENT DOMAIN LAW [1230.010 - 1273.050]
	CHAPTER 4. Precondemnation Activities [1245.010 - 1245.390]
	ARTICLE 2. Resolution of Necessity [1245.210 - 1245.270]



	DRAFT - BP 2015 Student Members
	EDUCATION CODE - EDC
	TITLE 3. POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION [66000 - 101060]
	DIVISION 7. COMMUNITY COLLEGES [70900 - 88810]
	PART 45. DISTRICTS AND GOVERNING BOARDS [72000 - 72701]
	CHAPTER 1. General Provisions [72000 - 72036.5]
	ARTICLE 3. Organization of District Boards [72022 - 72036.5]


	DRAFT - BP 2200 Board Philosophy, Mission, and Roles and Responsibilities




